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STATE TRIALS,
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611. Proceedings on the Trial of RoBerr THomas Cross-
rierp for High Treason; at the Sessions House in the
Old Bailey, on Wednesday the 11th and Thursday the
12th Day of May: 36 George IIl. A. p. 1796.*

On the 31st of August, 1795, Robert
Thomas Crossfield was apprehended at
Fowey in Cornwall, sent up to London,
and was committed by the privy council
to the Tower.

On the $4th of Ji , 1796, the Grand
Jury for the city ot London, sitting at
the Sessions-house in the Old Bailey,
returmed a true bill against Robert
Thomas Crossfield, Paul Thomas Le

Maitre, John Smith and George Higgins, |.

for high treason.

On the 15th of January, Paul Thomas Le

* Misitre, John Smith, and George Higgins
surrendered themselves in court, and
were committed to Newgate.

On the 20th of Janyary, Mr. Gurney was
assigned by the Court, of counsel for

Thomas Le Maitre, Jobn Smith,
and George Higgins.

On the 16th of February, Mr. White, so-
Hcitor to the Treasury, delivered to each
of the prisoners a copy of the indictment,
a list of the jurors impannelled by the
sheriffs, and a list of the witnesses to be
produced by the crown, for proving the

id indictment

On the 17th of i’ebmary, Mr. Adam was |

igned by the Court, of counsel for
Paul Thomas Le Maitre, John Smith,
and George Higgins. '

On the s0th of February, Mr. Adam, and
Mr. Gurney were assigned of counsel for
Robert Thomas C eld.

On the 5th of April, Robert Thomas Cross.
field was removed by Habeas Corpus
from the Tower to Newgate.

At the sessian, on the 6th of April, the
prisoners were arraigned on the follow-
gg indictrent, severally pleaded

ot Guilty.

# Taken in short-hand by Joseph Gurey.
VOL. XXVI.

v

CaprioN.— London.

AT the general session of oyer and ter-
miner of our lord the king holden for the
city of London at Justice Hall in the
Old Bailey within the parish of Saint
Sepulchre in the ward of Farringdon
without in London aforesaid on Wednes-
day the thirteenth day of January in the
thirty-sixth year of the reign of our so.
vereign lard George the third king of
Great Britain &c.’ before William Curtis
esquire mayor of the city of London sir
Archibald Macdonald knight chiefbaron
of our said lord the king of his court of
exchequer John Heath esquire one of
the justiges of our said lord the king of
his court of Common Pleas Sir Alex-
ander Thompson knight one of the ba-
rons of our said lord the king of his said
Court of Exchequer Richard Clarke
esquire William Pickett esquire Paul Le
Mesurier esquire Stephen Langston es-
guire aldermen of the said city John

ilvester esquire and others their fellow
{ustices of our said lord the king assigned

y letters patent of our said lord the
king made under the great scal of our
said lord the king of Great Britain To
the same justices above named and others
or any two or more of them directed to
inquire more fully the truth by the cath
of good and lawful men of the city of
London and by other ways means and
methods by which they shall or may bet-
ter know as well within liberties as with.
out by whem the truth of the matter
may be better known of all treasons
misprisions of treason insurrections rebel-
lions counterfeitings clippings washings
false coinings andother falsitiesof themo-
ney of Great Britain and other kingdoms

or dominions whatsoever and of all mur--
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thersfelonies manslaughterskillingsburg-
laries rapes of women unlawful meetings
conventiclesunlawfulutteringof wordsas-
semblies misprisionsconfederaciesfalseal-
legations trespasses riots routs retentions
escapes contempts falsities negligences
concealmerits maintenances oppressions
champartys deceipts and all other evil
doings offences and injurics whatsoever

and also the accessaries of them within’

the city aforesaid (as well within liberties
as without) by whomsoever and in what
manner soever done committed or perpe-
frated and by whom or to whom when
how and after what manner and of
all ether articles and circumstances con-
eerning the premises and every of them
or any of them in any manner whatso-
ever and the said treasons and other the

remises to hear and'determine accord-
ing to the laws and customs of England
by the oath of Henry Rutt William
Arthur Adam Dennis William Hunter
Thomas Knott Joshua Knowles Alex-
ander Lean Thomas Ayres John Tombs
.Charles ‘Aldridge John Guy Thomas
Fellows James Slatford John Back
Charles Scliolfield Joseph Aldridge and
William Kine good and lawful men of
the said city now here sworn and charged
to inquire for our said lord the king for
the body of thesaid city It is presented
in manner and form following (that is to

say)
INprcTMENT.— London to wit.

. The jurors for our lord the king upon their

oath present that Robert Thomas Cross-
field late of London gentleman Paul
Thomas Le Maitre late of the parish of
Saint Ann Soho in the county of Middle-
sex watch case maker John Smith late of
Westminster in the county of Middlesex
aforesaid bookseller and George lliggins
late of London druggist being subjects of
our said lord the king not having the fear
of God in their hearts nor weighing the
duty of their allegiance but being moved
and seduced by the instigation of the
devil as false traitors against our said

lord the king their supreme true lawful |.

and undoybted lord and wholly withdraw-
ing the cordial love and true and due obe-
dience which every true and faithful sub-
Jject of our said lord the king should and
of right ought to bear towards our said
lord the king on the first day of Septcm.
ber in the thirty-fourth year of the reign
of our sovereign lord George the third
by the grace of God king of Great Bri-
tain France and Ireland %)efender of the
Faith &c. and on divers other days and
times as well before as after at London
aforesaid (to wit) in the parish of Saint
Dunstan in the West in the ward of
Farringdor without maliciously and trai-

. torously with force and arms &s. did_

v

compass imagine and intend to bring
and l;::t our sﬁd lord the king to death.

And to fulfil perfectand bring to effecttheir
most evil and wicked treason and trea-
sonable compassing and imagination
aforcsaid they the said Robert Thomas
Crossfield Paul Thomas Le Maitre John
Smith and George Higgins as such false
traitors as aforesaid on the said first day
of September in the thirty-fourth year
aforesaid and on divers other days and
times as well before as after at London
aforesaid in the parish of Saint Dunstan
aforesaid and ward aforesaid did together
with divers other false traitors whose
names are to the said jurors unknown:
with force and arms maliciously and trai~
torously conspire combine consult consent
and agree to proourc make and provide
and caused to be procured and
provided a certain' instrument for the
purpose of dischariing an arrow and also
a certain arrow 19 be charged and loaded
with poison with intent to discharge and*
cause to be discbz?edtheuid arrow 90
charged and loaded with poison from and
out of and by means of the said instru~
ment at and against the person of our
said Jord the king, and thereby and there-
with to kill and put to death our said
lord the king. .

And farther to fulfil perfect and bring to:
effect their most evil and wicked treason
and treasonable compassing and imagi-
nation aforesaid they the said Robert
Thomas Crossfield Paul Thomas Le
Maitrc John Smith and George Higgi
as such false traitors as aforesaid on 132
said first day of September in the thirty-
fourth year aforesaid at London aforesaid
in the parish of Saint Dunstan aforesaid
in the ward aforesaid with furce and
anns maliciously and traitorously did em-
m and engage and cause to be employerl

engaged one Jobn Hill to make and
fashion divers (to wit) two picces of wood
to be used as models for the making and
forming certain parts of the said instru-
ment from and outof and by means of
which the said arrow was so intended to-
be discharged at and against the person
of our sail lord the king as aforesaid for
the traitorous purpose aforesaid and did
then and there deliver and cause to be de-
livered to the said John Hill a certain
per with certain drawings thcreon
rawn and designed as instructions and
directions for making such models.

And further to fulfi] perfect and bring to ef-
fect their most evil and wicked treason
and treasonable compassing and imagina~
tion aforesaid they the said Robert
Thomas Crossfield Paul Thomas Le
Maitre John Smith and George Higgins
as such false traitors as aforesaid on the
said first day of September in the thirty-
fourth yenr-taforcsa.id‘and on divers other



Jdad farther o fulfil
eflect their most evil and wicked treason |-
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and times as well before as afler
force and arms at London aforesaid
] ish of Saint Dunstan aforesaid
ward aforesaid did meet consult and
-deliberate among themselves and toge-
ther with divers other false traitors whose
names are to the said jurors unknown of
and concerning their said intended trai-
torous killing and putting to death of our
seid lord the king by the means and in-
strument aforesaid and how and where
such killing and putting to death might
be most readily and eftectually accom-

plished. .
And further to fulfil perfect ard bring to.ef-
foct their most evil and wicked treason

nation aforesaid they the said Robert
Thomas Crossfield Paul Thomas Le
jtre John Smith and George Higgins
false traitors as aforcsaid on the
said first day 8f September in the thirty-
fourth year aforesaid at London aforesaid
4n the parish of Saint Dunstan aforesaid
apd ward aforesaid with force and arms
maliciously and traitorously did employ
and en aud cause to be employed and
m‘ ed one Thomas Upton to assist in
:‘g the said instrument from and

out ot and by means of which the said
armow was so intended to be discharged at
and against the person ef our said lord
Iheki:g as aforesaid for the traitorous pur-
pose sforekaid and did then and there for
that purpose deliver and cause to be de-
Jivered to the said Thomas Upton a cer-
tain paper with certain f‘iigures and draw-
ings thereon drawn and designed as in-
structions and directions for making such
isstrument and also certain pieces to wit

1734
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two pieces of wood as models for the |,

anaking and forming certain parts of the
wnid instrument
And further to fulfil perfect and bring to
effect their most evil and wicked treason
and treasonable compassing and imagi-
mation aforesaid they the said Robert
Thomas Crossfield Paul Thomas Le
Maitre John Smith and George Higgins
as such false traitors as sforesaid on the
said first day of September in the thirty-
fourth year aforesaid at Lortdon aforesaid
4n the parish of Saint Dunstan aforesaid
snd ward aforesaid with force and arms
emliciously and traitorously did deliver
and cause to be delivered to the said
Thomss Upton a certain metal tube to be
uweed by him the said Thomas Upton
in the making and forming of the said
tnstrument from and out of and by means
of which the said arrow was so intended
% be discharged at and against the per-
som of our saM lord the king as aforesaid
the traitorous purpose aforesaid and
as a part of suth instrument
rfect and bring to

"A.D. 179. - 6

-and treasonable compassing and imagi-

nation aforcsaid they the said Robert
Thomas Crossfield Paul Thomas Le
Maitre Jobn Smith and George Higgins
as such false traitors as aforesaid on the
said first day of September in the thirty-
‘fourth year aforesaid and no divers other
days and times as well before as after at
London aforesaid in the parish of Saint
Dunstan aforesaid and ward aforesaid did
together with divers others false traitors
whose names are to the said jurors un-
known with force and arms-maliciousl
and traitorously conspire combine consult
consent and agreé to procure make and
provide and cause to be procured made
and provided a certain other instrument
with intent thereby and therewith and
by means thereof to kill and put to death
our said lord the kin

And further to fulfil perfect and bring to

effect their most evil and wicked treason
and treasonable compassing and imagi-
nation aforesaid they the said Robert
ThomasCrossfield Paul Thomas Le Maitre
John Smith and George Higgins as such
false traitors as aforesaid on the said first
day of September in the thirty-fourth year
aforesaid at London aforesaid in the parish
of Saint Dunstan aforesaid in the ward
aforcsaid with force and arms maliciously
and traitorously did employ and engage
and cause to be employed and engaged
one John Hill to make and fashion ﬁivers
to wit two pieces of wood to be used as
models for the making and forming cer-
tain parts of the said last mentioned in-
strument for the traitorous ﬁurpose last
aforesaid and did then and there delivel
and cause to be delivered to the said John
Hill a certain other paper with certain
drawings thereon drawn and designed as
instructions and directions for making
such models

And further to fulfil perfect and bring to

effect their most evil and wicked treason
and treasonable compassing and imagi-
nation aforesaid they the said Robert
Thomas Crossfield Paul Thomas Le Maitre
John Smith and George Higgins as such
false traitors as aforesaid on the said first
day of September in the thirty-fourth year
aforesaid and on divers other days and
times as well before as after with furce
and arms at London aforesaid in the
parish of Saint Dunstan aforesaid and
ward aforesaid did meet consult and deli-
berate_among themselves and together
with divers other false traitors whose
names are to the said jurors unknown of'
and concerning their said intended trai-
torous killing and putting to death of our
said lord the king by the means and
instrument last aforesaid and how and
where such killing and putting to death
might be most rcadily and effectually ac-
complished

y N
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And further to fulfil perfect and bring to
effect their most evil and wicked treason
and treasonable cempassing and imagi-
nation aforesaid they the said Robert
Thomas Crussfield Paul Thomas Le
Maitre John Smith and George Higgins
as such false traitors as aforesaid on the
said first day of September in the thirty-
fourth year aforesaid at London aforesaid
in the parish of Saint Dunstan aforesaid
and ward aforesaid with force and arms
maliciously and traitorously did employ
and engage and cause to be employed
and engagetl'.};)ne ‘Thomas Upton to assist
in making the said last mentioned in-
strument for the traitorous
aforesaid and did then and there for that
purpose deliver and cause to be delivered
to m said Thomas Upton a certain other
paper with certain figures and drawings

. thereon drawn and designed as instruc-
tions and directions for making such last
amentioned instrument and also certain

sieces to wit two pieces of wood as mo-

els for the making and forming certain
parts of the said last menti instru-
ment

And further to fulfil perfect and bring to
effect their most evil and wicked treason
and treasonable compassing and imagi-
nation aforesaid they the said Robert
Thomas Crossfield Paul Thomas Le Maitre
Jolin Smith and George Higgins as such
false traitors gs aforesaid on the said first
day of September in the thirty-fourth
year aforesaid at London aforesaid in the
parish of Saint Dunstan aforesaid and
ward aforesaid with force and arms mali-
ciously and traitorously did deliver and
cause to be delivered to the said Thomas
Upton a certain metal tube to be used by
him the said Thomas Upton in the
making and forming of the said last
mentioned instrument for the traitorous
pur| last aforesaid and as a part of
such last mentioned instrument against
the duty of the allegiance of them the
the said Robert Thomas Crossfield Paul
ghomasHLe Maitee Jot‘;:: Smithofand

eorge Higgins against peace of our
said lord the kin;g?ﬂs crown and dignity
and against the form of the statute in
that case made-and provided.

[it appearing to the Court that the T
'oﬂ!’cer r:;g not summoned the _p:";) p:n
time for the prisoners to take their trial
at the present session, the trial was post-
poued to the next session. ]

Sessions House in the Old Bailey.—Wednesday
May the 11th, 1796. ’

Present, Lord Chief Justice Eyre; Mr. Jus-
tice Grose; Mr. Recorder; and others his
Majesty's Justices, &c.

Counsel for the Crown.—Mr. Atiorney Ge-
neral [Sir John Scott, aflerwards Intd.ghﬁ-

Trial of Robert Thomas Crossficld - [8

cellor Eldon]; Mr. Soliciter General [Sir John
Mitford, afterwards Lord Redesdale and Lord
Chancellor of Ireland]; Ms. Lew [afterwards
Dord Ellen b, end Lord Chief Justice of
the Court of 's Bench]; Mr. Gerrow
[afterwards a Baron of the
uer]; Mr. Wood [afterwards a Baron of the
aom of Exchequer]; Mr. Fielding ;—Mr.
Abbott [afterwards, successively, a Judge of the
Court of Common Pleas, and now (1618) Loed
Ch;:lf J uniceJof the mf King's Bench.}
icitor.~Joseph Whi . Solicitor to
the Board of Treasury. e

Counsel Assigned for the Prisoner—Mr.
Adan [afterwards Lord Chief Commissioner
of the Jury Court, and a Baron of the
(‘);mm of Exchequer of Scotland]; Mr.

Assictent Counsel for the Prisoner.—Mr.
Moore; Mr. Mackintosh [afterwards Recordes
of Bombay.] ¢

Solicitors for the Prisorier.

Messrs. Foulkes and Cooke, Hart street,
Bloomsbury square.

The Attorney General said, that as he un-
derstood the prisoners meant tp separate their

proceed %0 the

challen, e proposed to
trial of E?.T’..aenf“’ first.
Robert Thomas Crosgfield set to the dar.

[ M. Shelton, the Clerk of the Arraigns, called

over the Panel.]

Hilton Wray, esq. challenged by the prisoner.

John And?ryso:?x‘nerchant, not a freeholder in
the city of Londen to the value of 10i.a

year.

John Vincent Gandolfi, merchant, challenged
by the prisoner.

Thomas Dunnage, merchant, excused on ac-

P eoux{x)t o cused of
eter Pope, esq. ex: oh account of age.

Abraham F:v'eqne, merchant, excused o ac-
count of illness.

John Naylor, merchant, challenged by the
prisoner.

Joseph Norville, merchaat, not a fresholder.

David Jones, merchant, challenged by the
crowa,

Thomas Latham, merchant, not properly
described in the panel. P .

Jobn Mair, merchant, not a fresholder.

Sir Walter Rawlinson, banker, excused on
accouat of itiness.

John Henry Schneider, merchant, challenged
by the prisoner.

Claude Scott, corn-factor, challenged by the
prisoner.

Rowland Stephenson, banker, excused on ac-
count of deafness.

James Atkinson, merchant, challenged by the
prisoner. .
ichard Heatley, merchant, not a faechelder.

Duncan Hunter, merchant, challenged by the
crown.,

Willism Azxe, stock-broker, wmot propexly
described in the panel,
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William A crchant, “ not

r:-pd, . t, ot properly
John Gresaside, corn-factor, swern. -
William Ward, coal-factor, challenpd by the

John Pmtmdge, bop-merchant, not a free-
‘l'hnma.s Fothetgxll, corn-factor, dnlknged by

the prisoser.

Heary Foudrimier, statiener, dallenged by
the prisoner.

Fwaucis Barstow Nixen, merchant, sworn.

Nathaniel Brassey, banker, euuud on ac-
count of illness.

William Morley, sen. corn-facter, not a house-
holder in the city of London.

Lewis Tennr, werchant, challenged by tbe

Rud, coal-factor, not a householder.
Robert Reeve, corn-factor, challeaged by the
crown.

Pul A excused on account of
“qmercbant mota ﬁeeholdt;ge

s.-al Bnndnm. meschent, challenged by
Ch-dslhmenun,eq. not properly.described

W&m m nachut,dnﬂengsdbythe
isoner.

Wil extused t
g ks, geatleman, on accoun

Willism Walker, baker, sworn.
David Pugh, grocer, not a freeholder.
Edwasd Simees, morchant, chalicuged by the

Heary Stokes, snerchant, ast a househicldes.
Perunl Naﬂ.h, grocer, challeuged by the

Rxhudlm, sugar baker, not a free-

Heacy Mittan, banker, not a householder.

Henry'l‘umu, muchant, challengetl by the

Bd-md Btocksopp cora-factor, challenged
by the prisemer.

Alexander Black, merchant, swera

Wdlu- Bobuu-, meschant, elullenged by

WlﬂnnShone,mnnclmt,m
Daniel ghirley, wine -uchmt, net a free-

J&nﬁuﬂ,bhuht,dlwbytbe

Tho-s lggns,g-n'
Johi-:-el, hllngdby

Jolngﬁha,madnm,dnlhnpdtyche

priscver.

Joaeph Stonard, corn-factor, challenged by she

Sm-ﬂlhbuum, mercer, challenged by tive
prisener,

.
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Bei:zl Isherwood, paper-msker, not a free.

indham Knatchbull, nota bousebolder.
Wnlham Ascough, undertaker, challenged by

J ohn Addnson, linen draper, eha.l.lengul by the

prisoner.

Thomas anht. soap-boiler, not propesiy
described in the list delivered to the pri-
soner.

Arthur Windus, Sworm.

Richard Clarke, coach-master, not properly
described in the

Pesny, glover, not a bouseholder.
Muchael Eaton, hosier, challenged by the

u;:thy Fisher, linen-draper, not a house-

Ider.

Edward Newberry, bricklayer, challenged by
the prisoner.

William Norris, mason, sworn.

Thomas Loveland, bakes, challenged by the
prisoner.

William Lynes, varobousemm. excused on
account of illness.

William Gosling, carpenter, sworn.

Benjamin Hanson, orange merchant, net o

freeholder
James roker, not'a frecholder.
, hatter, chailenged by the

Benry
prisoner.

Henry Thomas Avery, currier, excused ¢n ac-
count of illness.

Nicholas Browning, baker, chalienged by the

Joﬂm , Bot & freecholder.
Jehn Bo-buek, hnka, not properly described

Joseph Wnu-', gmeer, chelienged by the

Tl:)“mu Whi dvmnh, excused on
acosunt of

JohnCmtchﬁcld, oilmen, challenged by the

Wmiham Ctuu:hﬁeld, oilman, chal!engad by
the prisoner.

Daaniel Pinder, masen, sworn.

Henry Nettleship, gent. not a frecholder.

James Lyou, lighterman, challenged by the
risoner.
Wﬁb:ln Leach, vintaer, not properly described
John Tww, linea draper, challenged by the
W?II- Hmphtoys, senior, grocer, challenged
Thowy Browty
Amnthosy fishbroker, excused on ac-
cowm of
Wdteer mmmth excused on account
Oh::gﬁm ﬁs;lltb, wine merchant, chal-
Mtl-d‘d f‘zhet, heberdasher, aot a freeholder.
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Thomas Ovey, hatter, challenged by the
crown.

John Mackenzie, ofiman, challenged by the

nvﬁme.;'mi linen drape f th
omas Je| 1nen r, one of the
le called 5. ’

illiam Parker, glassman, excused on account |-

of illness.

Thomas Abbott Green, silversmith, not a
freeholder.

Walter West, ironmonger, challenged by the
prisoner.

Benjamin White, bookseller, sworn.

Stephen Adams, silversmith, excused on ac-
count of illness.

Andrew Abbott, potter, not a freeholder.

John Reid, distiller, sworn.

Phillip Rundle, goldsmith, challenged by the

crown.

William Collier, gent. challenged by the pri-
soner.

John Coe, taylor, sworn.

The Jury.

John Greenside, William Norris,
Fran,BarstowNixon, William Gosling,

William Walker, Daniel Pinder,
Alexander Black, Benjamin White,
William Shone, John Reid,
Arthur Windus, Joha Coe.

The Clerk of the Arraigns charged the
Jury with the Prisoner in tlm8 usual form.

The Indictment was opened by Mr. Abbott :

Mr. Attorney General.—May it please your
lordship, gentlemen of the Jury; In the
discharge of the very painful duty, which
belongs to the situation which I hoid, Iam
called upon this day to address you with
reference to a case of & most serious nature,
whether it is considered with regard to the
public, or the prisoner who stands at the bar.
—Gentlemen, the indictment which you have
heard read char the prisoner with the
highest offence known to the law of our
country, and it charges the prisoner with the
most vated species of that highest
offence.—It charges him with compassin,
and imagining the death of the king, ans
with having, for the purpose of carrying that
imagination into execution, pre g the
means of destroying the person of the sove-

reign.

é?antlemen 1 shall have very little occasion,
in the course of what 1 have to offer to your
attention, to say much to you upon the law of
this particular case ; I shall state it to you in
the words of a great judge, a man attached
unquestionably to the genuine principles of
this constitution, whose name has long been
revered and will continue to be revered whilst
the constitution of the country itself shall
endure—I mean the late Mr. Justice Foster—
He states the statute of the 25th Edward Srd
upon which this indictment is framed, ami
which you probably will hear read and com-
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mented upon by modern living autho-
rities: he states the statute in these words—
“ When a man doth compass or imagine
the death of our lord the king, and
thereof be upon sufficient proof attainted of
open deed by people of his own condition.”—

e states that in the case of the king, this

statute of 25th Edward 3cd, has with
ropriety retained the rule that the willis to,
taken for the deed. With respect to homi-
cide in the case of individuals, the law of this
country once was, that even as to them the
will should be taken for the deed: that law
hath been altered in the case of private indi-
viduals; but it remains unchanged with re-
spect to the sovereign of the country, and the
reason why the law hath been continued, as
it anciently was, with respect to the king, is
stated in the book which I have been mdu':ﬁ
toyou, as follows :  The principle upon whi
this is founded is too obvious to need much
enlargement: the king is considered as the
head of the body politic, and the members of
that body are considered as united and kept
together by a political union with him, and
with each other: his life cannot in the ordi-
nary course of things be taken away by trea-
sonable practices without involving a whole
nation in blood and confusion: consequently
every stroke levelled at his is, in the
ordinary course of things, levelled at the public
tranquillity. The law, therefore, ereth
the safety of the king with an anxious concern,
and, if I may use the expression, with a con-
cern bordering upon jealousy. It considereth
the wicked imaginations of the heart to be of
the same degree of guilt as if carried into ac-
tual execution from the moment”—(And I
would beg your attention, gentlemen, to this
:) * From the moment that measures
appear to Aave been takem to remder them
ectual.”

Gentlemen, God alone can read the heart
of man: and the legislature has, therefore,
insisted upon this, in every trial between the
king and a prisoner indicted, that he shall be
attainted of open deed by people of his cen-
dition: that is to say, that some measures
shall be taken to e e that evil ima-

ination of the heart, some fact shall be

one or attempted to be done, in order to
prove to man’s judgment that that coucep-
tion and that imagination did enter into the
man’s heart.—This measure, proof of which
is made necessary by the law, is ordinarily
known by the name of an oyert-act, and every
indictm‘ehnt t&r treason, as you wtll(:x_eu, rp::;
C e that the party compassed and imagi
math of the king, and then it must state,
upon the face of it, those circumstances and
facts, which are the measures, by which the
prosecutor insists that the party has disclosed
that traitorous compassing and imagination of
his heart. . .

Gentlemen, the present indictment specifies
several such overt-acts. With respect.to many
of them, conspiracy with othersis of the es-

-
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sence of them—with respect to many others
of shem they are so framed that, if this pri-
soper is alone guilty, the circumstance that
he is the sole person to whom, upon that su
position, guilt could be imputed will be no o
Jection to his being found guilty, if the justice
of the case, upon a due attention to the cir-
cumstances of the case before a jury of his
wm‘xl:zias affecting him alone, requires that
be be convicted.—I say that circum-
stance—that he is, in this way of putting the
case, the only person guilty, will form no ob-
jection to his conviction.

Geatlemen, I state no more upon the law
of the case but to add a single word to what I
bave already mentioned, and that is this ob-
servation—that if 8 jury,—and to this I would
humbly beg the attention of the Court, as
well as your attention—that if a jury shall be
nnsﬁed" that the measures, which were taken
by the person indicted, were measures in his
inteotion calculated to the end of destroying
the king, in hisidea effectual for the purpose
in\mdes , i cannot be a question which ought
mlangle your consciences at all, whether

measures could have effectually exe-
cuted the purpose with reference to which
they were taken.

Gentlemen, I have stated to you that the
offence with which the prisoner is charged, is
the highest known to the law of England.—I
bave stated to you that it makes the party, in
the case of the king, answerable for the in-
tenticn demonstrated by an overt-act to the
same extent as that in which he would be re-
sponsible for the actual execution of that act
in the case of a private person.—When I have
stated that, I am also to add, that the consti-
tution of the country has provided more se-
curity for the person accused in the case of
treason, than it has provided for any party,
whd is the object of accusation in any other
case known to the law of England. It has
provided in ancient times many of these se-
curities : it has provided many of these secu-
nities in times to which the legislature which
ordained them did not think proper practi-
ally to apply those provisions, which they
were enacting for the defence of their poste-
mty, or such of their posterity as should
be accused of such offences. In the case
of murder, one of the highest offences
hnown to the law of England, the party
may be convicled upon the evidence of a

witness: he meets in the court,
where he is tried, thei' , whose names are
at that moment first known to him; he sees
in thatcourt for¢he first time the witnesses,
upoa whose testimony the deliverance is to be
made between bim and the country; to that
moment he may be, and he generally is, ig-
nbrant even of the names of those witnesses ;
and ove witness credited will convict him.
Qur ancestors have provided otherwise in the
case of treason ; they have required (and it is
y duty 50 to state it to you), that the proof
shoubd not only be such, as should. satisfy the
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minds of a jury of the guilt of the prisener,
but that it must be formal proof too, such as
the law requires; that is, if an individual to
whom every one of you should be disposed to
give the utmost credit, upon whose veracit;
you would pledﬁ:. our own lives, if an indi-
vidual witngss shall speak to a single fact,
though you may believe that witness, you
cannot convict the prisoner; there must in
treason be_two witnesses to convict $he pri-
soner; at least one witness to prove one
overt-act laid in the indictment, and another
witness to srove another overt-act of the same
treason laid ; that is, there need not be two
witnesses to each overt-act, but one witness
to onc overt-act and another to another overt
act are required, md%allowed by the law
to be sufficient witnessds to convict in a case
of treason.

Gentlemen, the individual accused meets
the accusation in the face of his country-also
under circumstances, which form a great pro-
tection to him, which I wiil state to you pre-
sently in the worls of the same great judge,
whose authority I have before cited to you,
which do.in some degree endanger public jus-
tice; and I will state to you distinctly, wf}y 1
beg ‘v]our attention te his words upon this part
of the case. Gentlemen, the law has re-
quired, that in the case of treason, the pri-
soner should have his indictment for a given
number of days before he is called upon to.
plead to it.—It likewise requires that at the
same time, when a copy of theindictment is
given to him, a list of his jurors shall be
given to him, and that a list of the witnesses,
whb are to be produced in order to establish
the charge, shall be put into his hand. The
prosecutor, therefore, meets a person accused
of this offence in this situation—a situation
new in the Jaw of England till a very late
period. I think the trial of lord George
Gordon,* was the first which, in the history
of this country, admijted the application of
the statute of queen Anne, with reference to
the point, upon which I am now addressing
you; for the legislature that passed this act,
did not venture to apply the provisions which
I have last stated, to the country, situated as
the country then was, but postponed the ap-
plication of them till a period, which did not
arrive, I think, till about twenty years ago.

Mr. Justice Foster, writing upon this statute
before these provisions took place, states him-
self thus :—* The furnishing. the prisoner
with the names, professions, and places of
abode of the witnesses and jur{, so long be-
fore the trial, may serve many bad purposes,
which are too obvious to be mentioned: one
good , and but one it may serve: it

ivedr to the prisoner an opportunity of in-
orming himself of the character of the wit-
nesses and jury; but this single advantage
will weigh very little in the scale of justice or
sound policy, against the many bad ends

® See it, anté, Vol. 21, p. 485.

-
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which may be answered by it. However, if
it weigheth any thing in the scale of justice,
the Crown is entitled to the same opportu-
nity of sifting the character of the prisoner’s
witneseses.

Gentlemen, with respect to this matter of
the witnesses, we meet to day to try a cause
where the prisoner has been in possession of
the names of all that can be prodaced, in
order %o support the indictment; while, at
this moment, the namcs of those, who are to
mﬂ the «id’enee, although givenin to an

of the court, are very properly, with a
view to do justice to the intcation of the
Jegislature, withheld from those who are to

rosecute.

. _ Gentlemen, I mention this circumstance
for the purpese only of desiring your attention
te an observation which I am now about to
state to you, in a case of the extraordinary
natare, the circumstances of which I have to
dehilﬁoﬁu. It may possibly occur that I
may be obliged to call witnesses in this case,
who may be unwilling enough even to state
the truth to you upon this subject. You will
give, I am persuaded you will, that attention,
which the gohcy and spixit of such provisions
as those which I have mentioned, must re-
ire from a jury;—I mean a jealous and
anxiows attention to the testimony, and the
niature of the testimony, which every witness,
on every side, in this important business, shall
lay before your consciences, rememberingthat
the country and an individual meet together,
lllld:'l,' these disadvantages which I have been

stating,

Gengtlemen. some of the overt acts, stated
in this indictment, charﬁe the prisoner with
oonspirinﬁ with the other parties named
in it, Paul Thomas Le Maitre, John Smith,
and George Higgins, to procure and pro-
vide a certain Instrument for the purpose
of discharging an arrow, aud likewise an
arrow to be charged and loaded with poisen,
with intent to discharge, and cause to be dis-
charged the same arrow, by means of the in-
strument, against the king's person, and
thereby to kill him. The next overt act is,
that the prisoner employed a person, of the
name of Hill, to make two pieces of wood to
Be used as models, for the making and form-
ing certain parts of the said instrument, for
the traitorous purpose last aforesaid, and did
deliver to him a certain paper with certain
drawings thereon, drawn and designed as in-
structions and directions for making such
models. There are likewise charged consul-
tations among the ies, and the employ-
ment of a man of the rame of Upton, to
whom this paper was' delivered, for the pur-
pose of forwarding the preject, and the m-
vering to him of a metal tube, which was te
be part of the instrument. And then the in-
dictment charges again the same overt-acts,
leaving out the fact of the consultation about,
and the construction of the arrow charged
with poison, with intent to kill the king by
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means of the arrow; but charging the fact of
the fabrication of the instrument’ or air-gan,
for the purpose of discharging it, as it might
be discharged against the person of the king,
withowt makini:he poisoned arrow part of
the contents to be discharged.

Gentlemen, before 1 siate to you what I
shall be able to do without employing & great
deal of your time and attention in this case, [
mean the circumstances of it, you will give
me leave to statc, veryshortly, what has
relative to this matter, before I had the ho-
nour of addressing you impanelled in thet
seat.—There was a person of the name of
Upton, whose name occurs upon this indiet-
ment, and whose mame fyou will hear very
frequently in the course of this trial, who was
2 mechanic, that lived in Bell-yard, near
Temple-bar, who gave an information to the
highest magistrates of this country, I mean
his majesty’s privy council, a considerable
time ago, in which he distinctly charged him-
self, the prisoner at the bar, and other per-
sons whose names occur upon this record
with the offence, the charge relative to which
you are this day to determine upon.

Gentlemen, I before stated to you that the
law of England requires two witnesses in the
case of high treason; they must be two cre-
dible persons, and one should have to lament,
certainly, if one of them was an accomplice
in the fact. It became necessary to scruti-
nize, wilh reference to this provision of the
law, this mysterivus matter, as in some parts
of it perhaps it may appear to you to be, very
diligently, and accurately. The prisoner
at the bar, c with this affence, thought
proper, as I shall prove to you asIam in-
structed, to fly from the accusation, and not
to meet the justice of his country. The other
persons, whose names occur in this indiet-
ment, were apprehended. That species of
diligent examination was given to the subject,
which it was the duty of these great magis- -
trates to give, in a casc which aimed directly
at the life of the sovereign. In the course of
this business those persons, so apprehended,
were discharged upon bail—after the disel
of those persons upen bail, Mr. Crossfield,
prisoner, came from France to this country,
under circumstances which it will be my duty
to state to you,and aecompanied with a.bod
of evidence upon this subject to which it wiil
be necessary, when I do state them, that you
should give particular attention ; and which
made it incumbent upon those who have mat-
ters of this sort to direct, to to a grand
Jjury of the country the e of the case,
with a view that they should determine, in
the first instance, whether this charge ougint
to be submitted to that jury of the country
which is to day to decide vpon it. -

Gentlemen, this business, if looked at with
reference to all the circumstances which
affect all the parties in it, is extremely com-
plicated : it was carvied in the form of an in- v
dictment before a grand jury of the cquntry,
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] pﬁmﬁ' Pe—whether that principle was
fombd in the law of the couug:ly ol?::ot, it
is not material for me at this moment to con-
sider—but from princ'mlle, they refused to
it the evidence in this business to be laid
efore them in the order which had a natural
tendency to make that evidence intelligible ;
they took the whole matter into their own
hands, and, examining all the parties upon
the mbjeci,hand particularly examining that
of the name of Upton, whom I have
re described to you as an accomplice,

lh&fonnd the bifl against all the prisoners.
ntlemen, unwiliing as any person wonld
bhave been, undoubtedly, to ﬂave tried this
cause upon the credit of Upton alone, or of
Upton confirmed by any other individual, or
confirmed even by strong circumstances, it
would unquestionably have been my duty, if
it'had been in my power, to have called that
n here to-day, to have given his evi-
to you, but withal to bave stated, as
far ad it became me, and under the correction
of the wisdom which presides here, that his
evidence ought to have been received with
great jealousy and with great attention; that
you ought to protect, against such a witness,
aprisoner, put upon his deliverance before
you, till your unwillingness to receive his tes-
timony had been subdued by a conscientious
conviction, arising out of ull the circumstances
of the case, not only that he was as guilty as
be admitted himself to be, but that other per-
sons represented by him to be equally guilty

with himself actually were so.

‘Gentlemen, it has however happened, whe-
ther fortunately for justice or not I will not
tske upon myself to determine, because in
my situation and as a man I do feel that, if
oa tlie part of the public I have to regret that
this man’s testimony cannot be offered to
you, on the other hand, that I ought to re-
member, that if this man’s testimony could
have been refuted by any circumstances esta-
blished on the part of the prisoner, or if by
amy examination addressed to him by the pn-
sonier, or by others, the innocence of the
prisoner could ‘be established, it would be
undoubtedly a public duty to produce such a
person ;—he ought to be produced, with a view
that guilt might be detected if it does exist,
and, on the other hand, that innotence may be
established if it has been improperly accused.
Sinee the bill however was found, it has hap-
pened that by the act of God that man has
ceased to éxist: he is dead; and I shall have

octasion probably, in the course of whatI
have to offer to your attention, to prove that
citcumstance. It is very remarkable that—

as T should unquestionably have asked you,
P 'hed hdd that person to have produced as
2 witness at the bar this day, not to convict
the prisoner upon his evidence, unless you
had been satisfied by his evidence as con-
firtnod by other testimony -in the cause of the
prisoer’s guitt—I ”é it happens very re-
markably, that T have‘a case to lay before
VOL. XXVL

" A. D. 196, (18

you, in which T may say in the outset, as I
should bave ‘been disposed, if he had been
here, to have said in the conclusion, that you
may lay his testimony out of the case frum
the beginning to the end of it.

Gentlemen, I shall proceed now to state
1o you the circumstances uf this case, as t

ect the prizoner at the bar, Mr. Crossfield.
It was in the month of August, I think, 1794,
{l]lat the q:hd was first brou%:\t forward b
Upton; and being very unwill though it
is botha deliu't:g and a difficult n‘g”s( to asv]:)id
it) to make any such direct representation to
m as he made to others upon the subject, I

better, perhaps, proceed to state to you
the effect of that representation, by wen-
tioning to you the facts which I am instructed
to say the witnesses whom I shail call will
prove against the prisoner, than detail to you
what Upton personally represented with re-
spect to any one of these facts.

Gentlemen, there are two questions of fact,
which will deserve your particular attention.
The first is, whether the prisoner at the bar
really was engaged in a concern to fabricate
such an iostrument as is mentioned upon this
record; and the next question for you to try
will be, whether, if that be demonstrable and
clear, it is or is not equally clear that that in-
strument, which he was so engaged in fabri-
cating, was fabricated with the intent and for
the purpose charged in this indictment—that
i3, to compass what he had imagined, the
death of the king. With respect to the furmer
of these facts, you will find by a witness whom
1 shall call to you, of the name of Dowding,
that in September, 1794, upon the 8th of
that month (and I should here advise you,
that some of those witnesses whose testimon
I am about to state do not know the indiv
duals, or some of the individuals, who ap-
plied to them, but it will be distinctly proved
to you by other persons.that will be called
who those individuals were), a person of the
name of Dowding, who is a journeyman to &
Mr. Penton, that lives in New-street square,
and who is a brass. founder, will inform yoa
that, upon the 8th of that month, in the
afternoon, three men—whom I now state to
you were Upton, who is dead; the prisoner,
Mr. Crossfield; and a person of the name of
Palmer, who will bhe called, came to his
master’s shop; that they asked him for &
tube three feet long, and of five-eighths of an
inch diameter in the bore: you will find he
states the dimensions to be the same as other
brass founders to whom they apply—five-
eighths of an inch in the bore, and it was to
be smooth and correct in the cylinder in the
inside The witness will inform you, if I am
rightly instructed, that he showed them a
piece of a tube, and asked if that would do
with respect to the size of it; that they in-
formed him it would do, but that it must be
thicker, in order that it might be smaller in
the bore; the expense of it they seemed
anxicus about in their inquiries: the cxpense

C
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he stated to them in _would be high,
hut what would be particular expense of
it he could not take upon himself to state:
he inquired what they wanted this tube for;
and you will find, if l am rightly instructed
with respect to his evidence, that the answer
iven to that was, that the purpoge for which
wanted it was a secret, and that they
eou{d n&disclo::eitm hﬁd the
Gentlemen, they upon same
daytoanothetpuson.pzfthemmc of Bland

L

19]

the former not being able to
Srith the article t.l:tm'iq wan
brass-founder at No. 40, Shoe-
orssoally v b and you. wil bo siished
origi to him, you sati
that they were Upton and the prisoner. They
asked for a tube, for a pattern to make ano-
ther by : after the asked for this tube,
Paliper came in. This witness not being able
t?‘ supply them, you 'itlllxe find they made ano-
ther ication u same day to a per-
son o &a name o’ James Hub who lrve:s
‘in Cock-lane, Snow-hill, and is likewise a
brass-founder ; helives in the shop of a per-
son of the name of Michael Barnett, to whom-
he was apprentice: and upon their address-
ing a question to him similar to that which
they had addressed to the witnesses whose
names I have before-mentioned, he referred
them to a person of the name of Flint, who is
& man in the same shop, and who will like-
wise be called to you ; and he will inform you
that they asked him also for a tube; the bar-
rel, I believe, was to be five-eighths of an
inch in the bore, and about the eighth of an
inch in thickness; that they proposed to
finish it themselves, if the witness would cast
and bore it: the witness told them that he
must liave a pattern; and then some conver-
sation pauer with respect to this pattern.
They were very anxious to know, as you will
find from his testimony, how long it would
be before this barrel could be made : he gave
them an answer upon that subject: and
will hear under what circumstances t|
rned with him. After these applications

ad been made to these several brass-founders,
Upton and Crossfield, the prisoner at the bar,

plied to man of the name of Hill, who will
likewise be called to you, Palmer being also
in their company ; and the evidence that Hill
will give you is this—that Crossfield pro-
d to him a paper, which I have now in
my band, which contains the model of part
[ nn_air-gun; that is to say, it contains a
drawing, by whigh drawing whose busi-
ness was that of a turner in was to fa-
bricate the wooden part of the mstrumeént.”
Hill, you will also find, asked them what they
wanted this instrument for : they did not in-
form him that it was a secret; but they
:zl_d him that it was for an electrical ma-

ine.

Gentlemen, this will deserve your
very particular attenriz‘l):? because I have rea-
son to believe that you will find not oaly that
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: you
to give your particular attention 10 these
Gentlemen, besides all this, it will likewise
be proved to you, that there was in the pos-
session of U another drawing, containing
models ’fﬂwﬁmm?:h'xh we have
charged in rat of the indictment was
10 eject an arrow foprut‘he of destroy-
ing the king; and when [ bave to state to
you by-md-gy the conversations of the pri-
soner Crosafield which will be proved with
respect to the tube and the arrow, and the
nature of the instrument, you will see the maj
teriality of me circumstances to w'}\‘i;h I lb.:r‘
at present calling your attention. e ol
poger I have i:gm hand; and it contains
different parts of this intended instrumeant.
There is one part of it, to which you may
think your particular sttention is due; be-
cause, if I prove the circumstances that I have
already stated, it will be incumbent upon the
prisoner, I apprehend, more particularly after
the evidence which I have to offer to yeu
with respect to the intent, to give you some
evidence for whmurpose such an instrument
as this was actually constructed. Hereisa
of the arrow, which is of the form
that you may see perhaps by my holdm&:he

per up to you in this manner. Itis ke a

arpoon, and it has this liar circum-
stance about it, thatitis s0 formed, that when
it presses aguinst any hard substance the two
forks of it compreas together, enter into the
substance, and there is a bolo at the end of
n"::ich would then emit some substance,
which it is calculated so hold.

Gentlemen of the Jury, it will also be
proved by another witness whom I shall have
to call, of the name of Cuthbert, that Upton
mdtbeghonamt to him some time in
the month of August, 1794, for the
of looking at an air-gun that Cuthbert had.
Cuthbert appears to have been an
ance of Upton’s.  You will hear from the wit-
ness himself what was the conduct of the pri-
soner at the bar with to that ai
in the possession of Cuthbert: he e
it; he handled it; stated that it would do
very well for the ; and after & con-
versation of this sort they left Cuthbert.

o (;eenllemon, it l;:;yprobably hcu&mnd,:‘_f
i necessary with respect to case

this prisoner, that some of these instruments
which 1 have besn stating were in the baods

drawing
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of the other parties whose names are upon
this record; it is also possible that papers,
material to establish the facts alleged against
some of thess parties, may be thought, accord-
ing tothe course which this cause may take, ne-

to be produced in evidence upon this
m without detaining you with respect
to the particulars of the evidence which ap-
lles to other persons, I think, if I prove the
?lets that have been a eadi:lmed as against
Mr. Crossfield, and if you shall find that there
is distinct evidence of the intention with
which he was engaged, in drawing these
models, and providing for the fabrication of
these instruments, that there can be very
little doubt indeed in respect of his case.

Gentlemen, rlen the other parties were

hended, I have before told you that Mr.
mﬁeld absconded. Ibelieve I shall beable
10 prove to your satisfaction by a witness whom
1 have to call to you of the name of
Palmer, whose name 1 have before men.
tioned, some of the circumstances I am now
about to open to your attention, as well as a
great many of the circumstances which I have
already stated.

Mr. Crossfield usually lived in London.
The first place in which he hjd himself, after
this charge was made, was Bristol: he returned
aﬂnnmg from Bristol to London: and from
London he went to Portsmouth, where he
engaged himself on board a ship called the
Pomona, which was employed in the South
Sea Whale fishery. I probably need not
mention to you gentlemen that the vo
of a ship, enE:ged in that commerce, 18 of
a considerable duration—sixteen or eigh-
teen months I believe—being a surgeon, he
hired himself at Portsmouth on board that
vessel. He went usually by the name of
doctor : it will be proved to you by witnesses
who come fomnl in this business under cir-
cumstanees, that entitle them to great credit,
a\ east 20 I submit to your consideration, that
this vessel sailed from Portsmouth to Fal-
mouth; that during the voyage frem Ports-
mouth tanlm‘zuth you will‘g: ,if [ am rightly
instructed, wi to tations
that the ﬁuhemtd thml have
made, Crossfield .conducted himself with the
m decency and propriety; his name

er was wnknown. They sailed from
Falmouth, and after they got out to sea in
the progress of their voyage, Mr. Orossfield
jnformedthe witnesseswho will be called to you
who he was. You will hear the account that
be gave of himself, the account that he gave
of the part, that he had in this transaction,
the circumstance of his relating his y
aud his declarations that, if it was known that
he was leaving this coun ‘intbatdveu?nl..lhe
government would probably send a te
after him, that he states in the mostdiutgct
manner, even before the capture of the Po-
mona,. 10 some of the witnesses that will be
called to you, circumstances of his own con-
nexion apd transection in tho hueiness, which
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I have Leen opening to you, with express
and clear and g:imed reference to these
models, to the tube, to the arrow, and to the
other particulars that I bave opened.
Gentlemen, in the course of the voyage this
vessel was taken by a French Corvette, the
La Vengeance : she was carried into Brest:
you will hear from the witnesses the conver-
sation that passed between them and Mr.
Crossfield, when this capture took place: the
satisfaclion which he expressed that he had¢
got even out of that situation of danger which
e conceived himself'to be in whilst he was
a part of the crew of any English ship: the
satisfuction that he-had, in having been cap-
tured by a French frigate, and taken into that
country where he would be safe. You will
hear what the whole of his demeanor was
whilst he remained on board that French
ship which captured him, and when he was
in the harbour of Brest. He was first re-
moved, in consequence of conduct, the details
of which will be given by the witnesses as
connected with this business, from the French
Corvette into another vessel called the Eliga-
beth, which was an English ship, that had
been captured by the French, and out of her
into another vessel, which was called the
Humphries, and there are persons in respect-
able situations from among the prisoners,
that were detained in each of these vessels to
state to you evidence which, without detailing
it to cularly, I think cau leave, if it
is entitled to any credit, no doubt upon your
minds that, if Mr, Crossfield was concerned in
the fabrication of these instruments, or the
drawing of these models, the intent, with
which he was concerned in that fabrieation
and that drawing, was most distinctly the
purpose and the intent charged in this indict-
ment, i, ¢. the intent to kill the king. -
Gentlemen of the jury, you will not be sur-
prised if you hear from witnesses, whose tes-
timony will be given to you, that Mr. Cross-
field, being carried into Brest under such cir-
cumstances as I have stated, was rather in
the situation” of a superintendant over the
English prisoners on behalf of the French,
than as & companion with those unfortuoate
persons who had been captured by the French,
and were detained in their prison ships there.
I have reason to think that you will also find
that it was his project either to remain there
or to go into Holland. In a course of time
however cartel ships were to come over into
this country ; with what intention Mr. Cross-
field came over into this country it is not for
me to examine nor to insifluate. You will
collect this yourselves from the testimony
which those witnesses will g‘i)ve you; but you
will hear circumstances which are remarkable
enough—that Mr. Crossfield wasconstantly in
company with the commjssary of the Freuch
prisoners—that he will appear, according to
the testimoany of oune of the witnesses, to have
gone ashore a day or two before these cartel
ships left Brest, in order to meet & member
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. or members of the Convention ; that shertly
before he left that country he took the name
of Wilson: that in his own heud-writing he
was mustered among the prisoners by the
pame of Wilson, as having been captured by
the La Veageance, not out of this vessel called
the Pomona, but out of a vessel called the
Hope ; for what purpese he changed his name,
or for what purpose be changed the name of
the vessel in which he was captured, it will
be for you to determine, when you have heard
the whole of the evidence.

The witnesses will also state to you the
circumstances which took place when the
prisoners were put on board the cartel ships,
and you will see that it was familiar 1o the
commissary of the French prisouners, that this
::q ibguld pass by the 1‘1::\;{ of Wilsgr:‘,u

een captured in the Hope, and that
unyel:s that false name he slwukfecome over
to this ceuntry. Gentlemen, you will also
hear the witaesses inform you that in the
course of the voyage bhetween Brest and this

gouniry, Mr. Crossfield distinculy desired one | ab

of them, the only one I believe who was in
the vessel in which he came over, not te
statc his name, and not o state those circum-

stances of conduct and the declarations which |-

bad taken place -whilst he and that witness
were detained together in the harbour of Brest.
They landed I think at Fowey in Cornwall, in
the neighbourhood of Mevagissy. Some of
these seamen, the witnesses, who are persons
10 respactable situalions on board ships, mates
and officers, thought it their duty, under a
very different impression with respect to Mr.
Crossfipld's conduct, than perhaps that which
they might bave had if they bad kaown what

been passing in this country, but yet
ugder an extremely serious impression in their
minds, to go instantly to a magistrale to
indorm him what had passed in France, with
respect to the conduct of this person. In
consequence of that charge made by persons,
who kuew nothing of what had been passing
in this country, except so far as the circum-
stances that had been passing in this country
had been rclated by the prisoner himself, the
prisoner wasapprehended; beingapprehended,
1t will be in evidence before you that, us he
went before the magistrate from Fowey or
Mevagissy to the county gsol, that he nti-
mated to the persons who were conducting
him there, that it might be for their interest
to permit him to es : he stated to them
that & sum of five shillings was all that they
could expect for the execution of the duty,
which they were then upon: that he had the
mean, of giving them much more. These
persons will state to you the whole of the
canversation which passed, and on the sug-
gestion 1 think of one of themn that the plan
would not 2nawer the purpose of Mr. Cross-
field, because the driver would still beto be
disposed of, amd asking the question what
would become of the post bay, the apswer.
gven to that was that the post bay might be.
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disposed of by the uss of a pistol which one
of thede officers had. : i

Mr. Crossfield was brought up before his
majesty’s privy council,and he was commitled
to the Tower, and in uence of all this
additional testimony, which has immediata
relation to Mr. Crossfield, but which conunects
itself with the circumstances which have be~
fore been stated with respect to the other pri-
soners, it became a matter of duty to submit
the whole of the case toa jury of the

country. They found the bill, the prisoner’s
deliverance upon which is now before you.

I have studiously forborne to mention
several circumstances which relate more par-
ticularly, and more especially to other persona
whose names are upon this record. If I prave
this case, as I am instructed to say I shalk
prave it, and if I prove it as I have o it
to you, I apprehend there can be no doubt of
this prisoner’s guilt, If that be the result of
the testimony which is given to you, gen-
tlemen, though it is a painful duty, it is a duty
sojutely incumbent upon me, to ask at your
hands, on the bebalf of the country, the
verdict of GuiLty. On the other hand, if

ou are not salisfied that the offence of

igh treason according to the siajute, is
proved by evidence according to law, against
the prisoner, certainly you do no more in that
case, than your duty to your country requires,
in acquitling the prisoner. .

You have before you a case of great import~
ance. Itis a case, which [ am sure you wilk
listen to with great attention. Iamc &
that you will decide it with unimpeachable
integsity, and in your verdict, whatever it
may be, I hope the country will feel a perfect
satisfaction that they have had the case deli-"

considered, and benestly decided
upon, by the twelve men, to whom I have the
honour to address myself.

Lord Chief Justice Egre.—Mr. Atlerney
General you do not open any particular can-
versation upon the point of connexion of this
instrument with the use that you suppose was.
meant to be made of it; if you in your j
ment conceive that the conversation that did
pass will support thal connexion, 1 shall be so

rfectly satisfied with that declaration, that

think we may go oa; if it were otherwise,
an ohseérvation would oocur upon the case as
you have opened it.

Ms. dttorney General.—1 will state why I
did not mention the particulars of the corver«
sation, I think it is better the witnesses should
slate the convessalion in their own way of
stating it, than that counsel should undestaka
to make a rcpresentation of it; I understand
myself to be pledged to the Couxt, to this, that
the gggv%ruﬁon e:lv}s th; mtdimo:‘ that can,
possi be stated for the proving
an inlentien as eonmume the. instaw-
meat. .

. Lord Chief Justice Kyve~] am perfectly.
. satisfied with thet declaration.

ﬁ Mr. ditarncy GensralswXet if the Cowrt
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think it the betier way that I should state in
detail the conversation, I am perfectly ready
todoit. “ Damn me I was the ringleader of
the thsee that intended to blow a dart at his

e -
Chief Justice Eyre.—Yon have said
quite enocugh for my satwfaction,

Mr. ditorney General.—My reason for not
stating the particulars of canversation
which this man had with each of the witnesses,
was this, and no other; I could have repre-
sented generally the nature of the conversa-
tion, but I bave collected an opinion in which
1 may be wrong, that it is more just towards

the prisoner, a rall toa jury
that conversations 5:: h m and such
an effect, to leave the detail of the particulare
:; the wnnmu,mtb‘a‘t tl‘:e witnesses’ account

it may the due impression upon
the mind of the jury, rather than to mﬁe
a representation myself, whete ik I happea
to be mistaken, 1 may create a prejudice in
the minds of the jury.

Evipencs For ToE CROWN,
John Dowding son:Bumiud by Mr.

In the month of September, 1764, where
did you live and work ?—I worked with My,
Penton, in New-street-square,.No. 39.

What is Mr. Peaton'’s business ?>—A brass-
founder.

Do you remember being in his emmployment
on.l t.ha 8th of September, 1704 i—Perfectly
weil.

Do you reeollect on that day any men
coming to his heuss who were not knowa to
you?—I was called down oa the 8th of Sep-
tember, by the clerk ; whea I came down into
the couating-house, there were three men
standing there.

Do you recollect any thing particular of
the persan of one of them M—One of them was
a lame man.

Did yow see that man aflerwards 30 as to
ensble you now to sey whe that lame man
was?—Yes.

Who was that lame man ?—Upton; one of
the others was a tall man.

I)o’yoi:I now knml'; who the other two men
were }—Not to my knowledge.

If you saw thesn again should you recollect
them ?—I cannot say.

into the counting-houss they asked me if I
could make them a tube; I asked them what
sort of a tube ; they said it was o be three
feet long, the eighth of an inch thick,
eighths of an inch imeide the bore, and to be
sesem cigliths the outside ; it was to be quite
perfect, and the inside was to be quite s

e c’.vpon. that, show them of
s
ambemukdthenwhunnohymh
was 80 be; they acked me¢ what the price
would be; I told them X could-net: tell ;
ashed meo if I csuld toll to » few shillingss

i

=¥
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told them I could not, as my master was not
within ; then I showed them a pieceofa tube,

Mr. Law.—Was that the piece of tube you
showed them ? [showing the witness a Lrass

S
itmess.—It was a piece of a similar size;
they said that would do if it was smaller in-
side, that it was of the right size the outside, -
but it must be thicker, and then the bore
would be less.

Did you ask what it was for?—I did not
then ; they asked me then if I could not tell
them ncarly what the price would be; I told
them no, I could not, ause it was an out-
of-the-way job, and I must make tools on
purpose to make it ; that I must make a tool
to draw it on, to make it smoeth inside.

Did you ask them what was to be the use
of it?--I told them if they would teill me the
use of it, I could be a better judge hew to
make it, and, perhaps, could make it better
for their use ; they answered it was a secret;
it was Upton made anawer it was s secret,
and the others ssemed to agsee with him,
they all seemed to be in one voice, saying
that it was a secret, .

Did you undertake the job ?—I did not.

Did you give any reason why you would
not itP—Yes. WhenI was talk-
ing of makit:E things for it, be asked me if I
kansw what the prict of it would be, I said I
oould not tell the priee of it.

Relate what more passed when you were
peesent —When they asked me about the
price, I told them it was rather an out-of-the-
way job, and that to make it quite paraliel in
the inside, I must make tools on pusrpose to
make it; they asked me how much the ex-
pense would be ; T told them I could not tel}s
they asked me if I could not tell to a few
shillings, I said I could not, that my master
was not within, and I was very busy myself;
¥ told them at last that it was a job not worth
whihunduhhingulmmw_bmy;lnld
them then as I said before, if they would
tell me the nse of it. I could be a bebter judge
how to make i, nd,‘g:lhp, could make it
better for their use ; they answered me it was
a secret. Then they produeed a pioce of tube
that they had bought before at our house, and
had somve money returned, which was, I think
ten-pence ; the money was returned to Upton.

howm did shey deliver that back to?—To
me; but the clerk returned the money.

What is his name?—Muason; but he is not
in our serviee now ; it was such a bit of tube
as this, it was of the same sizg. )

Did they all scem to be concerned in the
sam¢ business ~—They appearod to de of the
same sort. .

You stated, that what one said, the restas-
sended to ?—Yes; they seeified to be thesame
company; what one sxid the others steod te ;
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Jokn Dowding cross-examined by Mr. 4dam.

This you say passed on the 8th of Septem-
ber,ﬂoi?—- oz:;mlrbooksmgmlh';.il;lslmwTh it.
?—They were
toE:the:whenIcmodown; Iannzt say
whether they came together into the count-

ing-bouse.
I)ﬁ‘he only one of these whom you canspeak
:ﬁe positively is Upton ?—I never saw any of
rest

Youx;enruvmyoﬂhaoﬂuu either be-
fore or since?—Upton I have seen since.
I can swesar to him.

turned ?—1 cannot say.
Howanrywtellﬂnuhey
your house !—The clerk
to them,
You cannot say any thing
knowledge, about the tube that was returned ?
There was a tube got from your house ?—Yes;
:;weshuﬂdnot ve returned the,money to

em,
Got by Upton?—I cannot say which of
them got it.
The money was returned at that time It

was.

You say Upton was the person who spoke ?
—He wasthe person that spoke the most, the
rest joining sometimes.

Do you recollect any thing particularly that
Upton said ?—He was the person who spoke
to me when I came down, and asked me if I
could make a piece of tube.

Then you disconrsed about the price of it ?
—Not then, it was afterwards.

Did you ask any particular price 2—1I asked
no .r‘;ceat;ll.. 1 be a thi .

id you say it wou [} of great
cost ?—I said it wmldbeexpemi?cg. &

When they asked how much expense, did
you say how much ¢=—No.

Then you gave them no idea of whether it
would cest them a guines, five guiness, or ten
guineas ?—Being & Journeyman I could not

tell.
Tlnd?imoy'nlbwtthem' was quite
—Yes.

Can you swear, positively, that these
mwzeptuemd i t&wholeemv:::
tion between you and ?—I can swear
positively, that there were three in the room
all the ime.

Are there not women em in your
house in lacquering brass ?—~There are,
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Does the operation of uering brass
onintheumephce,orimndiunilgolg
—1In the same bouse. :

In the same apartment ?—Not in the same

room.
Therefore, if any of theas persons wenttoa
woman that was i of course
they must have beerrin &
pose s bave, passel it you P They i
to have with you P—
not go out while I talked with them, they
might before I came down ; tomy knowledge
they did not; [ did not see any of them go

You cannot speak to the ns of the
other two, you never saw them before *—Not
to my know!

Nar since - tololsknowhdge,

And the thing went off eatirely upon your
saying, it could net be done but at some cer-

es.

I think you seid, that whea it was told
itmtnuu,itumeﬁomvan'svoiuy?.—“-
I did not hear them all, but1 can swear Upton
said that ; but they were all just together.

The two other s did not say any

i .Mywunmmmwith?
~No, I cannot.

Did they say any thing about its being a
secret ?—1t was just as they were going away
it was said it was s secret.

And its being s secret came from Upton’s
voice, and not from either of the others ?—I
m:war to any other wm'%voine,

seemed to join together, ton's
voice I heard in parti .-—Asforthcpothﬂ'
voices I canoot tell.

Joseph  Flint sworn.—FExamined by Mr.
Garrow.

You are, I believe, & brass-founder, in €ock
Lane, 8now Hill ?-—Yes, the

‘Do you remember being applied to, in
month of September, 1794, to attend any per-
sons in respect to a brass tube that was want-
ed ?—1I do. :

Can you recollect what day of the monthit
was P—No. ‘

What day of the week P—No. :

Do you recollect what hour of the day —
It was some time after dinner, I believe.

Do you remémber in what part of the
month the anniversary of his mqiestz;s coro-
nation falls ?—On the 29d of September.

Was it before or after the 22d of Septem-
ber?—Being called t.li: January, 1795, I made
an inquiry among the men.

Mr. Garrow—Do not tell us any thing
that is the mere effect of information' from
others. But have you, after an inl:s::y, been
able to satisfy your own mind in what part of
the month it was ¥—Not at all. .

What time of the day was it?—I believe
i i after dinner.

Yow were called by your servant to attend
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10 thase peroons P—By my apprentite, James
Hubbart.

How many people came to you?—Three
persons.

Did you make any observation upon the
person of any one of them !—One I observed
to be a Jame man.

Did you observe whether he had any iron
ou or not™—No; I observed one to limp as
.he was going out at the door.

o e T
sons.— y of all, fora
;ie:tol-hml; produced & mmkmoo&bm
to them; it was observed that would not do,

they did not want it pl at the end;
fm&vx that I oboerved‘: t!l;p hended it
must be a straight cylinder that they wanted;

they said it was; that it must be about five-
ciggt}u of an inch diameter in the bore, and
the eighth of an inch thick ; and they said, if
I would cast it, and bore it, they would
finish it themselves. I tald them, I should
not undertake to do it without they brought
s pattern; one of them observed, would not
a rocket-case do; I said it would, if they
up the end.
hat was for 8 model !—Yes.

What was to be the length? —There was
no length specified at that ime; they went
away afler that. I believe one of them asked
.bow long it would take making, to which I
answered about three days,

During the time these persons were with
you, did they all take a share in the conyer-
sation, or was it confine to any one of them ?
—The lame man seemed to be the principal.

Did the others interfére in the course of
the conversation ?—1I know it was not the
lame man that asked me as to the time when
it might be done.

In general it was the lame man that con-
verseg- with you upon the subject ?—In gene-
ral it was.

I believe, since the time of this conversa-
tion, you have seen a person of the name
of Upton?—I saw him in September, 1795.

Did you, when you saw him then, recoliect
ba:)i:i secn him before ?—1 did not.

Did you know whether he was the lame
man that conversed with you?—I cannot

say.
Yb that all you know upon the subject '—
es,

Joseph Flint cross-examined by Mr. Gurney.

When you were called down, say,
'ha'ea persons J:ere ia your tl:::&:);-ke es.

-wwho was the person to you
first ?—TI believe it was the lame man,

Do _you recollect any thing that either of
them besides the lame man said, except ask-
ing as to the time it would take making?—
‘There was something respecting a rocket-case,

-but [ cannot recollect now what it was,

Every thing else passed between you and

the lame man ?—Yes.

Ac Dn lm ° [w
Joseph Flint re-examined by Mr. Garrow.
Did the question with respect to the time
that would be' oocupied in doing the job re-
late to that about which the lame man had
been conversing?—Yes; the time it would
take to make the tube.
YOfwhichtbeother had been speaking ?-—
es. -
Were you examined before the privy coun-
52 o so0 Upton thers 1T saw him
i see t! —] saw him in
Sephmm, 1195.13“
Are you able to say with certainty whether
Upton was the person with whom you con-
versed ?—1 cannot say that.

Thomas Bland, sworn.—Examined by Mr.
Wood,

What is your business?—A brass-founder.

Where do you live ;—At No. 40, in Shoe-
lane, Fleet-street.

Do you remember any body coming to your
shop in September, 1794?—1 do, very well,

Can you tell what time in September it
was —-I cannot tell the day.

Was it in the beginning or the end of the
month ?—I cannot say.

How many s came ! —First two men
came, and in five minutes one man came to
inquire after these two men.

Chief Justice Eyre.—Do you mean
that one man came in while they were there,
or after they were gone?—After they were

ne.
8"Mr. Wood—What did the two men come
for?—They asked for a tube or a barrel; I
told them it was not in my line of business ;
if they wanted a barrel they must lpplLto the
clock-makers, or if they wanted & tube they
must ap&léy to those that draw tubes.

Did they say what tl:’y wanted it for ?—
No; they wentaway, and then another came
and asked for the two gentlemen.

Do you know who that man was?—I think
the third that came-in was Peregrine Palmer.

That was all that he said?—Yes, to the

“best of my knowlm; they were gone down

the lane, he went
ThAomas Bland cross-examined by Mr.
Adam.

Do you know Palmer?—I have seen him.

Did you know him at that time ?—1 did not.

How long after was it before you knew
Palmer’s person?—I was never acquainted
with Palmer; I saw him before the privy
council, they told me his name was Palmer;
I said, 1o the best of my knowledge, thatwas
the third man that came to inquire for the
other two.

You do not know who the other persons
were »—One was a lame man.

They staid but a few minutes ?—A. very few.

Aund you did not supply them with any
thing ofy any sort ?—Nothiog at all,
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‘David Cathbert sworn.—Examined by Mr.
. Law,

Where do you live >—In Graham-court,
Arundel Street.
You are a mathematical instrument maker?
—Yes.
Do you remember calling upon Upton at
any time P—Yes, very well,
led you to call upon him >—T called
upon him on purpose to subscribe a little
money for the wives and children of those
Eo le that were in prison under suspicion of
igh treason.
you remember at that time having any
conversation with him2—Very little at that

time.

Does that little dwell upon your memory ?
—]t was so insignificant that I took no notice
of it :—I do not know what passed at all the
first time ; the second time I called upon him
on purpose to know how the subscription
weqt on; instead of answering concerning
the'subscription, he answered me concerning
the Corresponding Society.

We will not go at large into that.—Was
there any thing 5nat led to the production of
any instrument?—No such a thinE.

you remember calling upon him durin
Bartholomew fair?—I had given him an invi-
tation when I first called there, seeing he was
& watch-maker, to come and look at an en-
gine of mine, which I thought very likely
might be a treat to him, as beingin thatline;
it was rather out of the way, as such; he did
come; that was nearly about Bartholomew
fair time; the distance between the times
that I had called on him and that time I can-
not well determine, but the way that I know
that he called upon me at Bartholomew fair
time was, a son of mine was lying ill at that
time, and I remember very well he was making
an observation

We must not hear what your son observed
to you; but, when you saw Upton, do you
recollect having any particular conversation
with him about the power of air?—Yes, exactl,
80; he saw an air-pump lying in my shop,
explained it to him in the best manner I
could; I showed him an air-gun, and explain.
ed it in the best manner I could.

After having explained it to him, did he
come again toﬁook at this air-gun ?—He did,
next day.

Did he come alone ?—No, there was a man
with him.

Do you recollect any thing particular about
the man who came with him?—No; Upton
had displeased me in his conversation in the
second interview I had with him, and there-
fore I neither liked him nor his acquaintance.

Did you observe any thing particalar about
the hand of that person ?—No; the gentleman
that came with him told me he was very fond
of shooting, and that he had lost some of his
fingers by the explosion of a gnn; but whe-
ther he had or had not, I do not know, for I

Trial of Robert Thowas Crossfield
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did not look at his hand; I was mther dis-
fu.nedwith Mr. Upton as I said before, and
did not pay any regard to Lim nor his ac-
quaintance. )
But he said his hand had received an in-

j the ion of & ?—He did.
N%i:’he hmhe gun, %':nwhal did he do?
~He viewed it, and said it wasa handsome

job for him.

P'Did he appl do
id he apply % you to do an;
uiex i a job, I re-

~—Upton me if I wan
8’. I had got more business than I could de.

he person who was with him was by at the
time when he asked you to take this job?—
The person that was with him was on the out-
side of the door and he was in the door-way,
it was just as he was leaving the house.

That man is the person who handled the
air-gun ’—He did. '

And praised it?’—He did as a handsome
piece, which it really was.

Had you any conversation with him about
the properties of air —Not & word, I was at
dimner—I did not get up from my seat all the
time they were there, till they were just a

ing, and that was merely because I thought
they stopped too long.

ave you seen the man who came with
Upton any where since?—Never in my life,
nor I don’t think I should bave known him
six hours or three hours after he left my place,
I took so little notice of him.

You had so great a dislike to Upton that you
would not let yourself know the persons &lt
came with him ?!—I did not take notice of
him, nor I do not know that I should have
known him if I had met him in the streeta
minute after. .

Did you see any person afterwards with
Upton before the privy council >—No; I never
saw Upton at all at the privy council.

Did you see any person before the pri
council who had lost any of his fingers?—Not
that I know of; I was at the privy council
when Mr. Dundas presided, and there wasa
man of the name of Dennis, a sailer, in the
lobby ; at the same time a man came out, he
said there he goes; I asked who? why, said
he, Crossfield; said I do you know him? yes,
said he, damn his eyes, I would know his
ashes was he burnt, or any such damned ras-
cal as he was; so I understood that to be the
man.

I do not ask you to declarations of other
people; but I ask you whether vou did not
see a who had a defect in his fin
where the privy council were sitting ?—No ;
I took the man that came with Upton to me,
‘V?I hbe a taller manv-almost as talf ag Mr.

ite.

David  Cuthbert cross-exsmined by Mr. -

Gurney.
Do you know in what of the month of
September Bartholomew fhir is held ?--Some-

where about the 9th T suppose—-itds all sup~
position, for I do not know,
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;d\tm m invited Upton to come to

: W at an engine of yours, which

“Fou thougit might entertain him t—¥es,
Having an air-pump iit your shop induced

you to talk to him about the properties of

it 1—Yes,

. Hud e asked you any thing about the pro-

és of air befote you introduced the sub-

t )—1I do not think he did.

- Ditl he appear at the timé to be conversant

;1:: the properties of air ?—1I do not think he

And therefore he asked you for the purpose
of enlig‘htaenin his ighorance »—Yes,

Mr. .—Was this at the beginning of
Bartholomiew fair, or when?—I cannot tell.

Mr. Perogrine Palmer sworn.—Examined
by Mr. Garrow.

. g Believe you reside in Barnard’s Inn P—
0.

You are ah attorney bgegtofession P—I am.

How lopp have you been acquainted with
the prisonét Crossfield 7—I believe about fif-
teen or sixteen years,

What is he by profession ?—He is a physi-
cian by profession.

Where did he reside >—He has resided at a
number of places since I first knew him.

Did heé reside in London in the latter part
of the timé during which you were intimate
with him ?—He refided in Dyers-buildings,
i}olﬁm : that was the last place I knew him

ve in. L.

Weté you very intimate with him ?—VYes;
there was a great intimacy between us.

Did you belong to any club or society of
which he was a member !—Yes.

What might it be?—I su’pgose you allude

to the Corrésponding Soctety. I did belong o
several societies of which he was a member,
arhong others I was a member of the London
Comonding Soeiety.
‘ Clief Justice Eyré.—Was he also a
member of that society >—I do not know
'v;lhether he was or not; I have seen him
thete.

M:.d Garrovﬁ.;l undemang. you to have an-
red to my first tion, that you supposed
alludéd to the q‘(:'?rrespondini Smi?'; 1
ask youupon your oath have you any the least

 that he was a member of that society ?
—1J have not.

You have reasons to know—You were

F dellffsté were not you ?—I was at one time,
Y

And a chairman of the committee ?—I
ﬁia;ce know what you mean by a chair-

I agk you upon your oath whether you
Wete fot a chairman of a committee of {he
Lobndon Corresponding Sociéty ?—I consider a
delegate as a kind of a chairman.

d Mr. Crossfield attend the meetings
Krétt'y régularly ?—I believe I may have seen
im there about. three or four times ; I can-
noY téll the exact number at this distance of
fimet "~ -
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Washeof the samedivision with you *—Yes.

I ask you upon your oath, did not he attend”
very regularly !—I have seen him there se-
veral times.

Was not he a regularly attending member?
—T have seen him there trequently, three, four
or five times, I believe, Icannot tell the num-
ber of times at this distance.

-Do you know a person who was called
Upton ?—Yes. .

Do you remember in the month of Septem-
ber 1794, accompanying the prisoner Cross-
field to Upton’s house?—Yes ; I do.

About what time in the month was it >—In
the beginning of the month; I cannot tell
the day.

Did you and Crossfield accompany Upten
to any place ?—Yes.

Where did you go to >—A house ; T do not
know whether it is in New-street or in New-
street-square.

- In the neighbourhood of Gough-square?—
es.

Was it a house of any trade or husiness ?—
1 believe it was a brass-founder’s,

You and Crossfield and Upton went there
together }—Yes.

at passed at the brass-founder’s when
you were so in company ?—1I know nothing of
what passed ; Upton had some business there
as I understood.

I am asking what passed at the brass-
founder's when you were present making one
of the company, and I desire you to state it
upon t{‘our oath ?—]I have no recollection of
m{i ing that passed there,

r. Garrow.—Attend towhat you are about,
aid speak the truth. )

Witness.—I kmow what I am about, and
shall speak nothing butthe truth.

How long were you in co y with Cross-
field and Upton at the brass-founder’sin New-
street P—A few minutes.

You can recollect what passed P—I can re-
collect nothing at all about it.

That will not satisfy the Court, I should
think ?—I will say the truth, I can say no
more about it.

Was there any business transacted at this
brass-founder’s ?7—I do not know what the
business was, it was Upton’s business as I
understood ; Upton.said he had some business
at this brass-founder’s, what his business was
T know not.

Nor am I asking you, except as you col-
lected it from what passed on the spot; what
passed there?—I cannot recollect; it was
something in the way of his own business.

Did you see any thing produced at the
brass-founder’s 2—Not to my recollection.

Will you swear there was not ?—1 will not ;
but I have no recollection of any thing.

After you had finished your business there.
where did you go ¥—The next place we went
to, was a house in Shoe-lane I think.

What business was carticd oo there?—The
same business.

D
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A brass-founder >—Yes.

You went immediately from the house we
%m talked of, to the house in Shoe-lane ?—

es. .

How long were you there in company with
Crossficld agnd Upl{m {—Notatall; I ngd not
go into the house.

You waited for them without?—Yes.

How long were they there ?—A very short
time indee(f. .

How long do you think ?—I suppose a mi-
pute or two minutes, a very short time.

Where did you go to from the brass-
;‘ounder’s in Shoe-lane ?—To a house in Cock-

ane.

You did not go with them into the house in
Shoe-lane ?--1 did not.

Upon your oath did you go in afterwards to
inquire after them P—{did.

t would have been as well to have told us
that—then after they were gone from the
brass-founder’s in Shoe-lane you went in to
in u‘i’r_:i where the two gentlemen were gone?
-1 did.

In consequence of the information you re-
ceived there of your two friends, you went
after them ?—Yes.

Ilow soon did you overtake Crossfield and
Upton?—I overtook them in Shoe-lane; I
was informed they were just gone out.

v Then you walked together to Cock-lane ?—
es.

To what house of trade there?—To a person
of the same business.

A brass-founder >—Yes.

Did you go in with them there?—Yes; 1
believe I went into the shop.

Have you any doubtaboutit?—No ; I have
not,

You three went into the brass-founder’s in

Cock-lane together P—Yes.
" What passed there?—I know nothing
about it, only there were some directions given
by Upton to the brass-founder, what these
directions were I do not know.

Directions given with re:gecl 1o what?—I
do not know, something in the way of Upton’s
business.

With respect to doing what>—I have no re-
collection, I am not a brass-founder ; I do not
know.

Do you know what a tube is?—Yes; cer-
tainly, any man must know what a tube is.

Was there any conversation there about a
brass tube and its dimensions?—I have no
recollection of any thing of that kind.

Recollect that ‘you are upon your oath P—-
I know that perfectly well; and therefore I
shall say nothing but the truth.

Was there any conversation about a model ?
—There might be such conversation pass;
but T do not know whether there did or not.

Do you mean to swear you do not recol-
lect any thing about a model for a brass tube,

about its dimensions, or how it was to be ap-
plied?—I do swear I do not recollect about
the particular business.
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Tam not asking you about particulars, but
give us some ix?gmnﬁon of what passed;
was any brass tube produced by any body ?—
I have no recollection that there was.

Have you ever seen any thing like this be-
fore? |showing the witness a brass tube]
—I recollect I saw that at the privy council.

Did you never see this before, as a subject
upon which persons were conversing at the
:!i_::e you saw it ?-—I do not recollect that ¥

Did you ever see these before? [showing
the witness the models]—No; I never did.

I am afraid you will Torget your own chris-
tian name by-and-by; you have been long

uainted with Crossfield ’—I have.
% are well acquainted with his hand-
}niting ?—Upon my word I cannot say that
am,

Upon your oath cannot you venture to
swear to his hand-writing?—There is but
one thing that I can swear to his hand by, that
is the signing of his name.

You have frequently scen him write P—I
have.

Have you ever corresponded with him?—
I never received five letters from Mr Cross-
lf;'eld in the course of my acquaintance with

im.

Look at this paper [showing it to the wit-
ness] and tell me whose hand-writing you
believe that to be ?—I cgnnot swear to this
hand-writing.

I do not ask youto swear toit, and you
who are an attorney know I do not: upon
the oath you have t?ken whose hand-writing
do you believe that to be?—I cannot swear
to a belief of this hand-writing.

Do you mean to swear that you have no
belief upon the subject?-—I have not.

Do you mcan to swear that you believe
that is or not the hmd-wtitin§ of a man
you are acquainted with ?—I do not know
enough of it to be able to form an opinion
upoun it.

Now open this paper and look at it ; have
you ever seen it before >—1 do not know upon
my word,

r. Garrow—Iamsorry to be obliged so
often to admonish you, that you are upon
your oath?

Witness.--You might save yourself all thag
trouble I know it very well.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre--You recollect
that when you answer upon your word, that
is not exactly answering on the obligation
that you are speaking under, that was the oc-
cpsion of your being reminded that you are_
upon your oath.

Witness.~-1 consider that when I first
eu:: into court, I was sworn to speak the

truth.

Lord Chief Justicc Eyre.—But it is not the
proper manner of answering to say ¢ upon my
word’ it may be so and so.

Witness. It may not be a proper way of an-
swering ; but I consider that every thing I
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am“:ayhg in this court, I am saying upon my
oath,
Mr. Garrow.—Then upon the oath you
have taken, have you ever seen that paper
before.—There were some papers shown me
before the privylcouncil, whether this is one
I cannot tell upon my oath I do not know.
Have you the least doubt that that paper
was shown to_you before the privy council,
that you were interrogated to the subject, and
that zou gave answers respecting it?—I do
not know whether this piece of paper was
shown me or not; there were some pieces of
paper shown me.
u mean to swear now, that you have
00 belief whose hand-writing that is, after
Jooking at it?~I can form no belief
about it.
You cannot be sure that you ever saw this
paper before I handed it to you ?—No.
ave you ever seen any paper which ap-
peared to you to describe the same subject ; I
am not speaking of your examination at the
privy council, but had you before you were ex-
amined by the privy council seen a paper con-
taining such drawings as I have shown you;
I1tell you now that 1 have your examination
in my hand—upon lZo'ur oath bad you before
examination by the privy council ever
geen, and I shall ask you presently in whose
custody, anxo paper with similar drawings
I do not

:'gn Igis recollect any thing of the
Are you equal to the swearing that you

gever had -1 cannot swear that I never saw
sucb, but I have no recollection of any thing
of the kind.

Have you any belief of the kind ?—I can
form no ‘elief.

I ask you once more upon your oath have
you never eaid when you were upon your
ou::b,, that you had seen a paper similar to

t?

Mr. Adam.~-Does your lordship think this
i;n tgg proper way of examining a witness in

ief?

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—~The whole
course of this species of examination is not
regular. This is a witness for the crewn; if
he di s himself, which it is the tendency
of this examination to make him do, they
lose the benefit of his testimony. The idea
of extracting truth from a witness for the
crown, who isﬁnces himsel, is in my appre-
hension, and always has been, a thing per-
fectly impracticable, for the moment he has
goue to the length of discrediting his testi-
mouy, by the manner in which he shuffles
with your examination, there is an end of all
oredit to him. You recollect upon a very so-
lemn occasion, the judges were all of opinion,
that that kind of examination on the part of

:mealﬁon was improper, for that it always
in destroying the credit of your own
withess.

My'. Garrow.—-My object was, to refresh his

memory. Be sp good as look at this paper
{another paper] dogyou koow it?—I do not.
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Do you recollect ever seeing it before ?-.I
cannot say I recollect ever sceing it before, but
it appears to me to be a paper similar to what
was shown me at the privy council.

You are correct in that---that is the paper
that was shown to you before the privy coun-
cil—supposing that to be the same paper, do
you recollect ever to have seen it before it
was shown to you at the privy council P—I
do not.

Do you know whose hand-writing it is?—
I domot; it appearsto be a different hand-
writing from the last you showed me.

Nor the drawings whose they are ?—No.

Do you know whose hand-writing this is?
—It is a hand-writing I am not acquainted
with.

The last place that they were at I think
was the brass-founder's in Cock-lane-~how
long were you, Crossfield, and Upton at the
brass-found{r's in Cock-lane?~-A very few
minutes.

Where did you go next ?---To Mr. Hill’s in
Bartholomew-close.

What business does he carry on ?—I believe
he is a turner.

A turner in brass or wood P---I do notknow :
I have heard he is a turner.

Is he a member of the London Corres-
ponding Society P— He was at that time.

Both Upton and Crossfield, if I understand
{‘ou nﬁh‘dt, accompanied you to Mr. Hill's ?—

s0.

W

hat passed there?—I recollect Upton
iving some instructions to Hill for some- .
ing, I think the word model was made use

of, Eut 1 am not a mechanic myself; the

word model or pattern, or something of that

nature was mentioned.

Was any drawing produced upon that occa-
sion ?—1 think I remember Upton producing
some drawing.

For what purpose ?—As instructions for
something that Hill was to make.

Was thatdrawing left with Hill>—1 cannot
say.

J{'ou did not see the drawing made at the
time ?-—I think Upton made it at the time;
but I will not rosihvely swear that.

Do you recollectany thing more that passed
at Hill’s >—No.

Do you recollect any thing else being pro-
duced at Hill's besides the drawing?—I do
not recollect it, there might be such a thing
produced, but T have no recollection of it.

After you had left Hill's where did you go
to next P—Mr. Crossfield and I were guing
somewhere upon some business together; it
was merely an accidental business Upton’s

3ing with us.

That can be no answer to my present ques-
tion; which is, where you went to from
Hill's —1I cannot recollect.

Did you part there, or go any where toge-
ther afterwards ?—I believe we parted some-
where thereabouts—I do mot recollect guing
any whcre after that.
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Where did Upton live?—In Bell-yard.

How many times do you think, speaking
within compass, may you have met Mr.
Crossfield at Upton’s?—I suppose I might
have seen him once or twice befare.

How often afterwards2—I do not recallect
whether I was there afterwards or not.

What is the impression upon your mind
—At the timic these things were going on, I
had no'idea that they were of a nature that
1 should be called into a court of justice
to give evidence upon, and therefore I con-
sidered them as mere trivial things.

You heard of the circumstance that certain
persons were taken into custody upon Upton’s
information?—Yes ; certainly.

Where was Crossfield living at that time ?---
‘Where I told you before, in Dyer's-build-

ings.

ﬁow soon after the information given by
Upton became ]public did Crossfield remove
from Dyer’s buildings }—1 cannot say.

How soon did you miss him from London?
~] have no recollection upon the subject; I
left London about that time If, I gene-
xally go into the West of England about that
time In the year.

Perhaps he went with you!—He and 1
went to Bristol u;fether.

ow soon afler Uptlon's examination
before the privy council was it that Cross-
field and you lev({ London?-—I cannot say.

Was it before or after you knew that a re-
ward was advertised for the apprehension
of Crossfield >---Many months before that.

You went to Bristol together P—Yes.

When did you go to Bristol?>-~I think in
the month of October 1794, butl cannot be
«certain,

Has Mr. Crossfield any family, oris he a
single man?—He is 8 married man.

8id his wife reside with him in town?—
She did not reside with him at the time you
are speaking of; she did not reside with hi
in Dyer’s-buildings, I believe.

I meant mercly to ask whether his family
went with him, or he wentalone with you ?—
His wife did not accompany us.

You and he went alone >—Yes.

How lonE did you continue at Bristol ?—I
continued there a few days, and I left him at
Bristol ; he had some idea of settling at Bris-
tol, as a physician; he went down with that
ntent.

Did you ever see him at Bristol again ?—I
did not.

Did you see him in any other of Eng-

soon after you left him at Bristol ?—Yes;
1 saw him in London.

. How soon after you came back to London
did he return from Bristol >—It was about the
time that I was first examined before the
pri‘v council, that he came to London.

here did he reside when he came to
London ?—I do not knew.

_Did he go back to Dyer’s-buildings ?—He

did not,
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Did you .carrespond with him whilst be
was at Bristol ?—1I think I received one letter
from bim whilst he was s Bristol, and but

ane.

Did you write to him ?—I da not recnllect.

1 wish you would uy to recollect whether
vou answered his letter when he was ag Bris-
tol? I do not recollect whether I did; I did
no:’enht:rp'hiinletgcﬁ .

erl i might assist your memory, te
ask you wbethe:syou addressed to him by the
name of Crosafield, or any other name? —If I
addressed to him at Bristol, it was by the
name of Crossfield. .

Then did you write to him thers or not?—
I do nat recollect ; but I do nat think I wrote.
% him at all.

How long did he continue in town after his
retwrn from Bristol7—1 thiok I might have
seen him at the distance of a fortaight os
three weeks.

Was this ahout the time tlat you were at-.
w?ingtbcp:ivy council from time 1o time?
—Yes.

Nudywdomkmwvhaoho resided ?—

0.

Whete did you mest himl—I never saw
him but at my owa chambers. .

Did you him where he resided, if you
should have occasion to.call on him or to
write to bim?—I do not know whether | did
or not; yes, I think I did.

But you did not know where he was to be
found? —No.

Do you know whare he went 1o afier he
left Bristol ?—Only from hearsay.

Did heconuwnd with you afier he leR
London agsin?—Na.

You probably then did not see him agaia

till after he was in custody }—1I have seen

him once since he was in London, thas

was at the privy council.

Mr. Peregrine Palmer cross-examined b
e Mr, Adam, y

You have known Mr Crossfield for fileea
aor sixteen years; was he in the babit of fye-
quently coming to your chambers?—Yes; I
was ugon terros of great intimacy with his.

And he came frequently to your chambers
in the months of Ay icp\embct, and Oc-
tober, 1794 ?—He di

Did you to know at that tims the
Mp_am'cu ar state of Mr. Crossfield’s health !—X

What state of health was he in?—I knew
he was in a very ill state of health.

Was he under the necessity of taking
medicines to alleviate pain ?—I kpew be w
at that time, to take lage quantitiea of

um.

I think you said, that upon a particwles dey
in September, 1794, but the particulnr day of
the month you 0ol MORLKB, you WeMd
with him to Upton's?—Yes.

Do you happen to know how Cross-
field and Upton had been i belors
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tbat time *—I do not know how long before,
some very shtt::‘ time befom.f be inted

How | you yourself been acquain
with Upw before tzas time?—I suppose a
month, or two moaths.

Cau you tell whether Mr. Crossfield’s ac-
quaintance with Upton, was in consequence
of your acquaintance with Upton P—I believe
Crossfield’s acquaintance with Upton was by
seeing him at a division of the Corresponding
Sociely.

Can you tell how long this was antecedently

to the time when you went to Urton’s house | Y

with Crossfield ?—I have no recollection.

Uptlon was a watchmaker, was not he?—
He was.

Do you happen to know whether he is a
mechanic in any other respect than as a
watchwaker A—1 remember seeinmhin shop
an electrical machine that he made,
which he showed us as a curiosity.

Upton was a member of the Corresponding
Society?—He was. -

Do you happen to know whether there was
any inqnirr)gom; forward in that Society, in
regard to Upton’s character and conduct?—
I remember be was disgraced in that so-
ciety.

Do you happen to know whether any of
the persons, who are charged upon this in-
dictmsent, were among those who disﬁued
him in that Society?—I know that Mr. Le
:l@aih'e was one that particularly objected to

m.
Do you know of any other?—1I do not.
Can you tell whether the inquiries, re-
z:etindg Upton, ‘were going forward about
end of August, or the beginning of Sep-
temlm.lg.?l,lmd down to the latter end of
September?—1 cannot charge my memory as
to dates; about that time I was in theol:yabil
of attending some of the meetings of the so-
ciety, and it was dusing that time that this

intg:y took place.
You recollect at what particular (i

you were in the habits of attending the
ciety ?—T¥ think in the montbs of August and
September of that year.

ou say, that on the day on which you and
Mr. Crossfield went to Upton’s house, you
weant with him to New-street, or New-street-
square, you cannot recollect which —There
are two or three strebts there that are called
New-street, and New-street-square.

What was the circumstance which led you
to go to Upton's on that particufar day P—
Upton had a watch of mine to repair, Cross-
field and I, [ think, though I do not mean

think,

pmi\iwz to swear to that lmﬁmlar circum-
stance, d and I di that day to-
gether, and I called afterwards with Crossfield
upon Upton for my watch.

Do yeu recollect where you dined that day?
~I have no recoliention. -
. Do you recollect in what part of the towa
it was /—Bemewhese in the neighbourbood of
Tesmple-bar,
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Upton lived in Bell-yard ?—Yes,
Then, for the reason you have given, you
called upon Uptlon t—Yes.

And thence you went to the houss in New-
street?—Yes.

That was a brass-founder’s?—Yes.

Did you all three go in?—1I believe we did.

Do you know who came to you upon that
occasion, wheth.: it was the master ar the
servant?—I have 1o recollection of either the
master or servant in the business.
From thence you went to Cock-lane?—

es.
You said you did not go inte the house in
Cock;lane ?-‘;No, tha;lvl;as in Shoe-Jane.

Did any thin icular prevent your goi
into the houseg ﬁnShoe-hne ?—1 recol?:cﬁ
had a natural occasion to stop.

You went in afterwards and inquired whe-
ther they were gone >—Yes.

And then you saw them in the street P~
Yes, I followed them.

Was itin consequence of ovestaking them
there that you went with them to the next
place !—Mr. Crossfield and I were going to-
¥eth¢r into the city ; when I called at Upton’s

oz my watch, Upton eaid he was going the
same way and would ¥ us, that was
one reason I know why Upton accompanied
us upon that occasion.

You went to Cock-lane next ?~—Yes.

Did you go to any other place that night?
—Yes ;’I l to Hill's I&M i:gu-
tholomew-close.

You were asked by my leamed friend, with
respect to Mr, Crossfield’s place of abode ; he
lived in Dyer’s-buildings?—Yes.

: Did he live in family there?—No, in

you remember to have seen Crossfield
about the time Smith, Le Maitre, and Hig-"
gins were committed ?—I do.

Do you semember to have seen him about
at that time, just as publicly as before >—Yes,
just the same.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—Was that after
his return from Bristol /—No, before he went
”3"“‘:" Did hire repeated]

r. Adam.—Did you see him r ly
about this time ?—Frequently ; I staid in town
but a few days before 1 went to Bristol.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—You went %o
Bristo) soon after Le Maitre and Smith- were
in custody }—Soon after. .

Mr. Adsm.—Do you recollect any thing
that puaedh between you and Cll‘o 112 re-
specting this journey to Bristol?—}J know
(mxﬁegld intended 10 go to Briswl three or
four months before that time, %o see whether
it would be an eligible place for him to settle:
in as a physician; and that he imtended to-
make some experiments upon tho Bristol and
Bath waters, which he thought might be of
service to him in his medical capacity.

Huw long had he this intention before the
tise we are speaking of !—For severa)



A3] 36 GEORGE IIL
How long did you remain at Bristol P—A
fewdays.ng 7
And Crossfield with you?—Yes.

Had uent ogFommi ties of seein,
CmﬁemtﬁSrquwl ?—Yes, every d‘i. 8
Did he go about {.lblicly!-—As publicly as
any man could possibly do.
ou left him at Bristol, and he remained
there sometime?—He remained there till the
time when I was first called before the privy
council; he returned to town about that

tume.

You saw him then ?—Yes, in London.

Did he use any mystery about himself, or
his situation then ?—No, did not at the
time when I first saw him; I never made any
particular inquiries about it.

Do you know at what time he left Lon-
don?—I think, the last time I recollect to
have seen him, was on the day I was last
called before the privy council: I was called
three times before the privy council, in a week
or ten days: the last time I saw him was, I
think, in the month of January.

Then Upton being called before the privy
council, when Higgins and Le Maitre were
before the privy council, was in the end of
September?—I think it was in the month of

Seﬂembet.

y learned friend asked you with re;:ect
to his being advertised, and a reward offered
for ending him; when did you first sce
that?—I cannot speak as to the ime when it
w; but this I know, thal it was a con-

ble time after I last saw him, and a
&n:a;‘denble time after I heard that he was
Had you ever any conversation with Upton,
with regard to the instrument ?—I never had.

Mr. Peregrine Palmer re-examined by Mr.

Garrow,

It will be n to ask you one or iwo
uestions. You told my learned friend, that
the last time you saw Crossfield, was before
he went abroad ; was it on the day you were
last examined before the privy council, before
he went abroad ?—Yes.
Where did you see him that day ?—At my
own chambers.
Y That was after your return from Bristol?—
es.
You told him you had been examined be-
fore the privy council P—Yes.
Have you been examined more than once
by the privy council ?—Yes, three times.
Upon which of your three examinations be-

fore the priv%ncouncil did you undertake, if
mible, to find Crossfield, and to produce
im before the privy council as a witness ?—

At my first examination, I think, it was.
How often, between your first and your
third examination, did Crossfield visit your
chambers?—I cannot say.
Was it d:illy?—No, 1t might be once or
twice; when I say once or twice, I do not
mean to say that he was no more than twice
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at my chambers; I cannot perticularly say
the number of times.

The last time you saw him was on the day
on which you concluded your examination
before the privy council, after you had been
examined ?—I think it was betore I attended
the council.

You saw him, probably, in the early part of
the day, and went and was examined after-
wards by the pan council?—Yes.

There is one other thing I wish to have ex-
plained. You said Crossfield went to Bristol
with a view to see whether that was an eligi-
ble situation for him to settle in as a physi-
cian; and to try some experiments upon the
Bristol and Bath waters. Did he announce

* himselfas a rlhysician newly arrived at Bris-
t!

tol, or at Bath?—He did not go to practise as
a physician, he went to see whether Bristol
would be an eligible situation for him to prac-
tise as a physician.
There is one thing more that may be mis-
taken unless I put a question upon it—In
our answer to Mr. Adam, you said that
fore he went for Bristol, he was publicly
T by you i tha though
And, ink, you sai t you
inquired of him, after his return, you never
learned from him where his residence wasP

And you only saw hith at your own cham-
inly ; and the reason he assigned
to me was———
Mr. Garrox.—I do not ask your reasons.
Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—It is part of the
lanation.
itness.—The reason he stated was this—
I told him the circumstance of my being
summoned before the privy council at the
first time; and I acquainted him that his at-
:lendance was likewise mmd, ‘I;'e told me
e was en, to go al as the surgeon
of a ship;g‘&;dt heiold no kind of objection
to attend the privy council; but he knew
nothing of the matter then before the council;
and that his staying in town would be the
means of detamning him from going the

voyage.

WGW.—YN explained to him that
the privy council wished much that he should
attend, and that you had promised to procure
his attendance as a witness?—Yes.

To which he answered, that knowing no-
thing of the affairs that were transacted
and being en, to go abroad, he shoul

, and not continue any longer in town for

t purpose P—Yes.

Did you-ever communicate, in either of
your examinations, to the privy council, that
the gentleman did not attend because it was
inconvenient to his affairs?—My examination
will show that.

Or whether your examination did not close
without the 'y';:;y council having the least
conception, any thing stated to
thclx:,em knew where to find Crossfield ?

inly did not know where to find bim.
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Johw Hill sworn.—Examined by Mr. Law.

You are a turner?*—Yes.
Where do you live ’—In Bartholomew-

close.

What division of the Corresponding So-

ciety were you a member of ?—Division six.
ere you acquainted with Upton, in Sep-
tember, 1794 ?—1I knew him. .

Do you know Mr. Palmer, who has just
been examined ?—Yes.

Do you remember Upton and Palmer com-
_inﬁ to your house about that time >—Upton,
Palmer, and another man came to my house
about that time. .

September, 1794?—Yes.

Do you remember any question being put
t0'you by Palmer, or that other man, when
they came to Jour house at the time you
méentionedP—Upton asked me if I could
turn in wood, I told him yes; he asked me if
T would do him a job, I said yes.

Did he mention any thing about a sketch?
~—No; he began to tell me about what sort
of job it was to be—1I did not rightly under-
stand, according to what he said to me, what
sort of thing he wanted, but they made a
sketch of it.

Look at this paper, is that the sketch P—
I think that is the sketch that was produced.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—~Was it done in
ink, or with a pencil %;—In ink, I believe—I
lent them a pen and ink.

Mr. Law.—I see there is written on the
otherside ¢ This house to let, inquire within.”
~——Was that wrilten on the paper before they
made the sketch upon it?---Yes.

Was that a paper of your’s they found at
your house ?—Yes.

Were all the three persons you have men-

tioned, Palmer, Upton, and the third pesson
to whom you have not given a name, present
wheén that sketch was drawn?-—Yes.
. Had you any conversation with them in
which way the thing that was so sketched
out was to be done?-—I asked Upton what it
was for; he said it was for something in the
electrifying machine way; he told me to
bring it to his house, and that I should be
paid for it.

Was any thing said how it was to be done?
-—Nothing more than that.

Do you recollect whether Upton, Palmer,
or the stranger, sketched that out?-—The
stranger did something to it, to the best of

recollection.

ere there more persons than one that
did something to it?—I think I did some-
thing to it.

Under whose direction did you do that
something >~ Directions from Upton.

Was the whole done between you, Upton,
and the stranger?—Yes.

Palmer did no part of it?~I do not recol-
lect that he did.

There is a straight piece-~was there any
conversation about doing the straight piece?
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—T asked what it was for, they said it was
something in the electrifying machine way.

Was it said how the straight piece was to
be done?—1It was to be quite straight, like s
round ruler.

Is that [showing the model in wood] one
of the things you made, in consequence of
that direction, as a round ruler ?~-1 think itis.

Was that the thing you did as a model for
the brass-work ?-—Yes that looks like it.

One was to be done in wood-work, the
other in brass-work ; you did this as meaning
to conform to the directions contained in the
sketch ?—~Yes; and I took them to Upton’s
house, for him to look at them to see if they
were right.

Did the persons who bespoke them order
you to do so?-~Upton ordered me to do so. -

Which of them told you you should be paid
for them?---Upton.

Are you sure it was Upton that told you
that —Yes.

Are you sure none of the others mentioned
any thing about paying for themp—Yes.

Do you remember whom you saw when
you went to Upton’sP—~I saw a man playing
at cards with him; I do not know wl‘:o that
man was,

Did you see Mrs. Upton thereP---I cannot
recollect whether I did; only I recollect per-
fectly well he was playing at cards with a man,

as there no woman of the party ?---I
think I did see a woman; she ¢ame into the
place in the mean time, I think.

And you left these things?-—-I did.

‘When did you carry the things to Upton ?
---About three days after they were ordered.

Do you happen to recollect the day of Sep-
tember when thege were ordered ?-—Towards
the latter end of September, I believe it was.

John Hill cross-examined by Mr. Gurney.

You have stated that you yourself were a
member of the Corresponding Socigty---of
that society Upten likewise was a member?
—Yes he was.

Hawve youany knowledgeofany inquiries that
were going forward at that time in the Cor-
responding Society respecting Upton---were
there any imputations thrown upon Upton’s
character in the Corresponding Society?---
There were.

Do you knew any of the persons who were
principally concerned in throwing those im-
putations—--was Mr. Le Maitre active in that?
--I cannot say exactly; Higgins said some-
thing which affronted Upton, when they were
about to investigate his character.

Were you present at any other meeting
whenanyperson whateverbroughtany charges
against Upton? .

Mr. Law.—I object to that question.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—The object of the
examination is, to fix that Upton for
some reasons, which they mean to W,
conceived malice against some of those per-
sons.
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Mr. Law.—-I submit they are to get at that

OBmdbEWJmtTe:m y .—The means they

is, to show some of these people
some c! against Upton, in conse-
Ssence of which the former witness said

nwudnfnmd. :
'?:r. Lew.---1 do not object to any thing
that is asked respecting Maitre, or any

body by name, but the question is put in ge-

neral.

Lord Chief Justice —1n ral, un-
less it can be followed?;‘wmeth;‘;?pmnd
to some one of these people, it amounts to
nothing;ﬂ:t&n the enminatlol; ullm already

ne to tre being one of the .
‘oMr. Gurnsy.—I assure lordsmn:b-
stained from mentioning the names of any one
of the that it might not be said I put
the words in his;noiﬁh; but as that gives rise
to an objection, I will put my questions more
directly.——Do remem whether,
pending that examination into Upton’s cha-
racter, you heard Higgins say any thing in
the society respecting Upton’s character?---
Upton was going to save the society the tiou-
ble of e g him—he was going to take
himself away; with that Higgins said, ¢ there
he hops oB": be affronted Upton directly,
because it was casting a reflection upon his
lameness

Were there, or were there not, expressions
of violent animosity between Le Mai-
tre, Higgins, Smith, and Upton, in the society?
—There was some animosity between them,
but I did not particularly notice what it arose
from, nor how it ended.

In point of fact, were Le Maitre, Smith,

- and Higgins, pursuing any inquiry into the
character of Upton?—-Not that I know of,

At any time after you had delivered this
model to Upton, did be call upon you at your
house, sfter Lo Maitre, Higygins, and Smith
were apprehended P—After D Was g
hended himself, on the Sunday, he

upon me.

pﬁw long before that had he himself been
taken up?---Only on the Saturdsy night,
according to his own account.

What did Upton then say to you respecting
Le Maitre?

Mr. Attorney General.—1 would just inti.
mate to Mr. Gurney, that I have not offered
any evidence of acts or declarations of Upton,
unless in the presence of the prisoner.

Mr. Gurney.—Your lotdship has already
observed the object of mry cross-examination
is to prove the animosity in Upton’s mind
respecting some of the persons in this indict-
ment, I am geing to ask a question to point
out that animosity, by showing something
Upton said concerning one of those persons.

Lord Chief Justice iyrc.-—'!'he difficulty of
thecas? is, \h?‘! at esen{' thete is n((;( ing
properly speakin m_ Upton in evidence,
Snd thcr\:g;re:l yaﬁ? showing that Upton had
animosity aganst any ol these prisoners, is
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rather going before the point; it will be bet-
ter for you {o examine to that, in case the
can establish any declaration of Upton’s whic
will be evidence agaimnst your client, then it
will be proper for you to show that Upton had

malice t your client.

Mr. m.—-lf your lordship will direct
:ll::ibgnutfnnﬁnfg;:mimu, 1 m;,',lﬂ;hb

ject of m, n more particularly.

Mr. AM—{ mit to your lordship that
the line of examination Mr. G is now
following up is admissible in the J;resem
stage of the cause. Your lordship will ob-
serve tlu:‘l !hlx:” indictment lays, as the l::okr-
ney sta a conspiracy to take
.“’ge&ee life of th‘:diing; l::‘t are
counts which contain an allegation of con-
:ginc{'; and, as the attorueng_menl statéd,

ere is likewise part o:fthe _lctmenthw%
contains no allegation of conspiracy : the
soner is b t up upon the whole of the in-
dictment, has pleaded to the whole of the
indictment ; what part of the indictment is to
be submitted to the consideration of the jury
as proved, and what part of the indictment
is to be submitted to the jury as mot proved,
it is impossible for me at the moment
to know. All that I know at present is, that
the prisoner stands indicted with having con-
spired with three others who are known, and
with others who are not known to the and
Jury, for the purpose ofukin§ sway the life of
the king; and it is parti y alle&ed in the
diﬂ_'etentovmms,witbregndto e p
ration of this instrument which is mppomo
be made for that purpose, and with
pega: Nt? the conm‘hl’htions su ed toU have

among s Upton,

whom my learned fnm luwltotein
the other world, and whom therefore he can-
ouly one of the principel conepirtiss, b i
only one o 1pal conspirators, but
materialone ; and not only :o,but that this
instrument was delivered to him for the parti-
cular purpose stated in the different overt acts:
'l!“th vn‘s’h to atlget:e attention of m rCourtr
tois this, Upton appeats upon face o
ﬂmchlrgetobelpusonwho:ewme,whosc
character, whose mind, whose demesnour,
whose intention, with regard to these es
is ._;nicl:mrily implicated, andtherefore th"Lnk
13 WS, a3 8 consequence, that
when a witness m b ts:} prosecution
from whot the counsel for the prisoner ima-
gine they can derive imtelfigence with re
to Upton's animosity, and the nature ot his
mind, they are entitled to give such colour
and such sppearante to the ¢ ter of that
person, who evidently isa principal actor
according to the evidence before the Court
as will fa%rly tend to exculpate the prisoner ;
for yeur lordship observes, in every step that
has been taken, throughout afl the peregrina-
tion in the different streets to the different
brass founders—that throughout the whole
Upton has been the foremost man ; and there-
fore I contend, that, as the whole secms to
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bave itsued from Upton; as Upton is named
upon the record, your lordships and the jury
have to try HIS CONDUCT AND HIS CHARACTER :
but, above all, I contend that that which my
fearned friend.is examining to, namely, the
animosity of Uﬁton, is a fit subject for exami-
natioh ; and whatever makes out that animo-
sity, which shows that any of the persons
charged with this conspiracy could not con-
spire with Upton, on accountof the animosity
in which they lived, is primé facie ground for
ur examination; we do mean, if we are un-
der the necessity of going into our case, to
give your lordship such evidence in chief’; but
at present, if the crown bring a witness from
whom we imagine we can prove that fact,
all we claim of the Court is, to be allowed to
Uo it now.

Mr. Gurney.—Perhaps it would exclude ail
objection if I were to state the exact object of
the question I was proposing :—it is, to prove
an attempt of Upton to suborn Hill to swear,
before the privy council, that Le Maitre was
the person who called upon him with
Palmer when he received the order for these
models, . ,

Mr. Attorney General.—I rise for the pur-

of stating to your lordship, that I do not

| any anxiety with respect to what the Court
may think proper to direct upon this subject:
It #as in consequence of an intimation given
by me, that g‘our lordship had the trouble of
Learing any discussion upon it ; because, when
Mr. Gurney was putting a question respect-
i:g‘é a deelmul'mf I‘{pton’s ig the absence of
prisoner, ught it my duty to intimate

20 him that I bad cautiousfy and. studiously

abstained from asking any question, wit

sespect to any declaration or act of Upton,
where I havenot evidence to offer that the pri-
soner was one of the t::sons present: I have
no objection to its being taken in any way
Mr. Gurney chooses to etate, that Upton had
s much animosity as possible against Hig-

ns, Le Maitre and others; what I state 13
is, that the declarations of Upton never can
be evidence in a case of this sort, unless we,
on the other hand, had given some evidence
of the declarations of Upton, with respect to
the party now at the bar. Mr. Adam says
that Upton is stated upon this record to have
conspired withthese persons; that is pot the
fact; we are to prove the conduct of the pri-
soner; having donme that, it must be not by
the declarations of Upton, but by evidence,
independent of these declarations, that the
purpose and intention of his mind must be
pm;ed w be such as is charged upon this re-
cord.

Mr. Law.—~There is no one charge of a con-
spiracy with Upton through the whole of the
indictment, nor is his name mentioned as a
conspirator ; we have not attempted to give
apy evidence of any acts of Upton but in the
presence of Palmer; and a third person, whom
ave have shown tobe the prisoner : if we bad
given evidence of declarations of his at a dis-
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tinct and detached lime, it would have open-
ed a door to this evidence.—If it is fit to ask
this question, we submit we should be at -
berty 1o go into declurations of the same man
Upton.

Mr. Garrow.—It seems to me, that ths
very manner in which it may be insisted that
this is,a proper examination, goes to demon-
strate 1t cannot be. proper in this stage of the
cause: I am aware there is a stage of the
cause, a8 has been hinted, when this may by
possibility become competent evidence: it is
as it is oxened, to show the animosity of Up-
ton: and from whence the learned gentlemen
state that they mean to infer, first, that Up-
ton could not by any possibility or probability
conspire with those with whom he was i a
state of constant animosity, and that probably
he was of course not conspirins with them
but against them. Now I could understand
the application and the importance of this
argument, and the examination, if the course
‘the attorney general had taken had been this
instead of charging and laying before your
lordship the acts of the prisoner now at the
bar, and his acts alone, or the acts of others
when in his company and ptesence, the at-
torney general had given in evidence cither
the acts of Upton when alone, and when he
might have been actuated by animosity against
any of these persons, or declarations of his
when he might have been actuated by the
same animosity ; to repudiate all those acts
of Upton, to get rid of the impression of all
these assertions and declarations of Upton, so
circumstanced, I could easily imagine the ex-
treme importance of showing that Upton had
decldred he had set about doing this with a
view to injure others, but it seems to me that
that can by no means be evidence at prescnt.

Mr. Adam.—Your lordéhip will favour me
with a few words in reply. Your lordship
will observe what the natute of the question
is that is proposed to be put, for it is only by
referring to the particular question that yout
lotilship canjudge of the propriety or impro-
priety of putting it; the question my learn
friend proposes to put is this, whether in point
of fact Upton did upon a certain day, and ata
certain time, after the discovery of this sup-
Pposed conspiracy—whether he did or did not
endeavour to get the witness -at the bar to
make a false accusation against Le Maitre,
one of the persons accused of this conspiracy.
Now your lordship will observe, thatthat is a
question which does not go to Upton's gene-
ral declarations—which does not go to his ge-
neral demcanour—which does not even go to
establish an universal prevailing animosity in
the mind of Upton, but it goes to establish
this clear and distinet point, that there exist-
ed in the mind of Upton either such an ani-
mosity, or such a desire of self-preservation,
that he was determined to get a person to lay
the whole blame upon, in order that he might
‘either escape harmless, or possibly that he
‘might wrcak his vengeance upon the per-

E
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son who had offended him, agsinst whom
he had an animosity: and 1 contend that, as
this isan indictment for a conspiracy to take
away the life of the king, and as in that Upton
is mentioned by name as one of the persons
:J)oned to make this particular instrument
as he is brought forward as a particular
character in this transaction, my friend is en-
titled to defend the prisoner by an examina-
tion into the attempts of Upton to suborn
this roan 1o perjury against one of the persons
indicted for this conspiracy. .
Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—1I doubt whet
the fact (if distinctly proved) that Upton had
done any thing that marked animosity, or that
he hadmade;nct;lcadechn:onu is, can,
ingny stage o cause, when one comes to
ez.;gn'iat%ebe admitted; I will not pronounce
& positive opinion upon that, because I do not
know cxactly what will be the course of the
evidence, or what ultimately we may think

fit to receive, which may let in these declara- | all

tions. At present it is notreceivable, because
they are declarations not upon cath—declara-
tions not upon oath of a man dead, not under

circumstances which place it upon the
footing of an oath; and therefore whatever
Upton may have said is not in its own nature
evidence, and consequently cannot be re-
ceived, unless in one particular case, and that
is where it is ar, ad hominem, by way
of taking off the credit of any thing the wit-
ness had said at another time upon his oath,
there it may be gone into, though not upon
oath; for i!a man is upon oath in one story,
and makes a declaration before or after of a
different kind, this will take off from the cre-
dit of that testimony ; otherwise, in the nature
of the thing, Upton’s declaration is no evi-
dence at all.

Mr. Garrow.—1 now propose to call John
Le Bretton.

Mr. Adam.—1 should be obliged to my
friend to state to what points he proposes to
examine this witness,

Mr. Garrow.—I call this witness to two
facts, both of which, as it appears to us, are
of considerable importance ; the first is to the
time and manner of the flight of the prisoner,
after this accusation was made known against
Upton; the next is, to his distinct declarations
of the share of the guilt he had in this trans-
action,

Mr. Adem.—My friend has stated that the
principal point to which he means to call this
witness, is to the declarations of the prisoner
with respect to his participation in the guilt
of this transaction. If my learned friend has
any particular fact, that is a different question,
and I have no objections at all to his calling
Le Bretton to prove that fact; but if he means,
after he has proved that particular fact, to go
on to examine Le Bretton to declarations of
‘the prisoner, I then have to submit to your
lordship, with great humility, but I think with
greatconfidence, that your fordship, when you
come Yo consider the siluation of this prose-

’
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¢ution, will be of opinion, that there is no
ground w ondmiui::lf wsuch evidence
of declaration.—First of permit me to
state to the Court how I understand the facts
in this case to stand ; secendly, permit me to
state to the Court— . .

Mr. Garrow—I was going to submit to my
friend’s j whether it would not be
more proper to wait till I had exhausted that
to which my friend feels no objection;
because it is not impossible that in the first
part of my examination of this wituess I ma;
remove a part of my friend’s ebjection.—
mean to show the distinct fact of hus flight.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—But you must
first show the ew;ml delicti. Does this maa
fly because he and two other persons went inte
a brass founder's shop, or a turner’s shop, and
ordered instruments of particular description
—what then? If there was an examination
before the privy council—what then? What
this means at present I know nothing of,
nor can the jury know any thing of it; you
must first of all show that iu somebody this
was an offence, and you may, for I
know, show it by the very medium of the
evidence which you propose to call, but thea
you mnstbblegin l::t the other ;nd of it; there
18 a possibilit you might give a sense
ands meaninyg to this obscure and unintelli-
gible evidence which we have had already, that
may connect and ‘PP‘{ it to the particular
%, but at J)resent should say, we have
heard a great deal about a turner’s shop, and
a brass founder’s shop, and it is all nothing.

Mr. Garrow.—Your lordship must be aware
that the attorney-general would not have left
this case as it is brought now.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—~Certainly not.

Mr. Garrew—We are now guing to give
those facts the solution which the Court is
asking for. :

Mr. Adam.—The only misfortune I labour
under is, that the train of my thoughts has
suffered some degree of interruption from my
learned friend ; not, I am sure, with any ia-
tention of that sort, because I always experi-
ence kindoess and civility from him. I will
endeavour to recover the train in which I was
proceeding as well as I can.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—What are we
about? Mr. Adam do you mean to say that
the prisoner’s confession of his guilt, if any
such thing bappened, is not to be given ia
evidence against him, owt of his own mouth?

Mr. Justice Grose.—What he has said per-
haps is respecting the purpose for-which these
things were ordered.

Mr. Adam.—Will your lordship it me
to state the %mmdsuponwhich mean to
address myself to your lordship -—I was en-
deavouring to draw your lordship’s attention
to the nature of the facts, and to.the manper
in which these facts were proved, and then to
ask your lordship whether there was, accord-
ing to the proof that now lies before the Coust,
any evidence whatever, in a prosecution for a

:
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crime of this sort, that could entitle my friends
to give in evidence. these declarations, and
thesc confessions; and I found my observa-
tion in the nature of this prosecution, and the
law of bi treu;z. h_d{friond,t.hemomey
geoeral stated, wit t correctness,
that there must be mqvﬁthid.in the
indictmest; that that overtact must be proved
not by one witness but by two, unless there
Ste Toay be. proved by oue 4od ancther by
one may be pro y one, ano y
snother witness. What is the nature of the
evidence already given?—Your lordship has
had given in evidence, as I stated it before—
not with a view of stating it in any way but

the model. :
Mr, Adam—The first witness called was
Dowding ; that witness did say he believed
all assented, but that Upton alone spoke:
at that place nothing was of apy sort.
They then went to another brass founder’s,
where nothing was dene. They then went
%0 a third, where nothing was done. Then,
afterwards, they came to the turner’s, where
there were directions given ‘go make a oga.rti—
thing, in a pasticulsr form, in wood.—
Now, what I contend before your lordship is
this, that to that fact there is but one wit-
Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—To what fact?
Mr. Adam.—To the fact of making that
model which lies upon the table, and the only-
witness to that fact is the last witness who

E

|

whatever passed when ] .
was never carried into execution at all; and,
therefore, as far as Mr. Palmer’s evidence
he daes not advance one iota beyond
position in which the evidence stands
*with regard to the brass founders, namely,
an inchoate direction, but which inchoate
direction is not even proved specifically to be
given by the prisoner, and certainly thers is
ing praved to have been executed in con-
sequence of that inchoate direction. Now
i if there is any?—it is
t model : t
if it is an overt act suf-
ficient to entitle your lordship to admit the
l'id.l::: of dofeclnrwom' n and of confession,
upon the, i , 18 an gvert act
proved mem”tlty byon:mwim; therefore, I
r d upon that ground, according to the

Wmm igh treason, that it s
e for wi ving es
i shat overt act clearly and manifestly,

hree | with me, that

the { thinks,
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%lhe evidence of two witnesses, to found any
thing that can advance one iota in f of
the guilt of the prisoner; and I state that con-
fidently upon this ground, because if it were
in your lordship’s breast to admit the overt
act to be proved blie. single witness, and after-
wards to admit declarations of the pri-
soner, to give colour to the use of that instru-
meat; you, in point of fact, send to the jury
a question to try, with respect to treason,
where the foundation, that is to say that which
establishes the corpus delicti, is established
by one witness only, and not by two as the
law requires.—I contend, therefore, upon that
ground, that if your lordship is of opinion
have stated that evidence
correctly, that the only overt act, if it be an
overt act, is the making that model, that
that gvert act is proved only by one witness;
and comeqlt:'en ly, according to the rules of
proceeding in high treason, the Court have it
not in their power, and the Court ought not—
L.C. J. —You are right, what they
oug:n not, they have it not in their power to do.
r. Adam.—Hitberto I have argued u
the idea, that there has been sufficient colour
given to the nature of that model, the only
overt act proved, the only thing proved to be
done (for that is the meaning of an overt act)
that tends to infer an attempt to take away
the life of the king: your lordship will con-
sider whether any colour is given to it or
not; and then your lordship will consider
this whether in point of fact if your lord- -
ship thinks there is no particular colour or
complexion given to this, that takes it out
of the situation of a common instrument for a
mere matter of mechanical curiosity, you will
admit confessional evidence in MJQI‘ to give
that colour and appearance to it. I contend,
that that which now lies before the Court,
according to the evidence which has been
given about it, stands in a situation in its
nature perfectly indifferent ; it may havebeen,
for aught I know, meant for a very bad pur-
it may have been meant for a very
purpose, it may have been meant for a
purpose perfectly indifferent, most undoubt-
edly I am entitled to put all these supposi-
tions.—Now I ask in a criminal case of this
sort, with evidence in the nature of confes-
sional evidence, about which I am sure I will
not trouble your lordship at apy length in the
l:::ent 8! of this business, because your
ship is better aware of the nature of that
evidence than any thiog, I can ssy, can make
you aware of it—I ask whether your lordship
i in a criminal ing of this sort,
where the thing done 1s proved only as I have
stated it, where it is not proved to be done
with any parti colour,—I ask, I say, whe-
ther, until colour is given to it, by some such
evidence as tends to prove an overt act, out
of the mouth of witnesses that have received
it} or are supposed to receive it from the mouth
of the prisoner, your lordship thinks it right
toadmat it,
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~The patuee of confessional evidence is this,
that undoubtedly it is good or bad, accordin
to the situation and circemstances under whic
it is given; and if your lordship permits con-
fessional evidence to be given, does it not
amount to this, that your lord:hip is allowing
the words and declarations of a ner, Dot
to a particular fact, but to the intent? if the
words and declaration of the prisanes are to
be proved upon this occasian, they do not go
% prove an identical fact, but they.go to
prove a particular inteat or a
disposition of the mind.—Now to apply that
again to the situation of this case, to the
oolour that is given to the use to which that
}strument was meant to apply, I must then
ask humbly, but most firmly, whether your
lordship thinks, that in this stage of the cause,
without going fasther, it is possible for my.
friends to give the confessional evidence of
the declarations of the prisoner in this case ?
—above all, I submit that this instrument

uced, is the only overt act proved, that

1t is proved only by one witness, and conse-
quently that they do not stand in a situation
to show the mind of the prisoner, till they
have established most clearly and indisputably
this overt act, either by two witnesses, or till
they shall have given such colour and com-
Pplexion to it, a3 to eatitle your lordship to
think evidence of confession admissible, as
confirmatory and corroboratary. Your lord-
ship knows the doctrine of evideuce of con-
fession ; there was a time when it was merely
treated as cosroborstive evidence, though of
late it has been admitted.
. Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—~Whether there
um{ rule of law, which requires that there
should beacertain quantia;o colour ofcharge
proved in evidence before the Courl canreceive
the confession of the prisoner ?

Mr. Gurucy.—Mf; lord, T am about to
cite an authority which I conceive will fur-
nish an answer to your lordship’s question ;
but I will first beg to state what evidence the
crown has offered in support of this indict-
ment. The attorney general has not yet
stated the overt act, to which he intends to
apply his evidence; but, I sut , the overt
act intended to be supported by it is the se-
cond, in which it is stated, that the prisoaer,
and others, did emplog and engage Jobn Hill,
to make two pieces of wood, 1o be used as
models for the making and formi
parts of an instrument, to be used for the
traitorous purpose charged in the indictment.

Now of any concern which the prisoner
may be said to have had in that direction, I
submit to your lordship that we have the tes-
timony but of one witness; the identity of
Crossfield, even as being present when these
directions were given, been spoken to
only by Palmer—Hill has not spoken to the
Mdentity of Crossfield, or any other persoa
whatever, bat Upton, and Palmer. The
authority I allude to is this, in Mr. Justice
Foster’s discourse upon the subject of. high

certain
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tressen, 841: “ In the ¢ase of Framcs
Wilkis, the counsel for the crown called a

witness to prove what the prisoner had said o
him touching the share he had in the treasen
he then stood charged with.—The prisoner’s
counsel obj %o this sort of evidence, and
insisted, t by this ast no coufession, ex~
cept it be made in open court, shall be ad-
mitted in evidence; but the judges presemt
were very clear thatsuch confession is evidence
admissible, to beleft %0 a jury, and
will go in ion of other evidence to
the overt acts ; o it might be still a dis-
putable point, w a confession out of
court, proved by two witnesses, is of itself
sufficient to convict.—Upon this last poiat
nooe of them, except chief baron Ward, deli-
vered any direct opmion, his words are ¢ A
¢ confession shall notsupply the want of a wit-
‘ ness, thonnlullbetwb:x;m-lh&n
¢ treason notwithstanding; to say it shall
¢ not be given in evidence, there is mo ground
¢ for it ttorney-general (sir James
Montague) admitted, that two witnesses are
necessary, besides the confession. The solicitos
(sir Robert Eyre) is more explicit, and saith,
“be (the ) shall not be convicted on &
¢ trial without two lawfl witmesses, that is
¢ the thing provided for. It was to exclude
nt that had been settled in Tong’s
¢ case (the case already cited from K and
< Hale), but it was not desi 10 exc (1)
¢ confessions. That was ev! st law, and
¢ always must be so. The design of the act
¢ was 1o exclude confessions from having the
¢ fc}rce olfd a cox:lvicﬁon unless ei:nwfeninleowl
¢ of record; and to prevent a confession
‘by two witnesses from being a nm
¢ for a conviction.’ ”*
submit that this is a direct and positive
authority, that there must be two witnesses o
treacon, previous to the production of any
oorroborative evidence. ’
Lord Chief Justice Byre.—To put an ead to
this objection, it will be sufficient toom
that even upon the reasoning of the
for the prisoner, this evidence ought to bec ad-
mitted, for here are two witnesses, and more
than two to the very overt act that is now im-
sisted upon, in the way in which the prisoner's
own coumsel put it; for unquestionably it
being proved that these throe persons were
all wogether at ui'l:;z and & model having
been there made, approved of by one, a3
least, and they all present, it is a question
for the jmx, whether those who were presant,
and who did not express particalar marks of
approbation, did or notconcur in it: and if
they did concur in it, there are three witnesses
to the overt act ; but if it were not so it may
bea objection to make, in a future stage
of the cause, that tl}e;e 'B'I: bmmmeum “’z
any one overt-act of high treason,
!hg confessional evidence, upon your rule,

* See the trial of Francis Willis, onsd, Vob. '
15, p. 683,
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will pot supply the waat of another witness;
tbtt.::{pmihlyhe, but the use of the con-
fosai evidence is at present to make the
first part of the evidence intelligible, which
it is not, nor do I know ift'r:::h will (li)e ;lab::
it whay, perbaps, appear ese declara-
tions of '.hehparf:onu, whether the tar's
evidence can be renderod intelligible or not,
out of the moeuth of the prisoner—the autho-~
rity cited shows, that the prisoner’s confession
is to be veceived in explanation, and corrobo-

ration of the evidence offered, and it may be’

offered upon the ground of there being already
two witnesses to the overt act insisted upon ;
l;nlam ofom:, that it might be offered
ifbut one w at psesent appeared,
e snober e s ey b e
this evi intelligible, may come and give
ather evidence of another branch of the osvert
act; there isno rule of law which says, that
mhall establish the overt act by-the evi-

of two witnesses first, before you shalt
hear any confessional evideace, and thatis
the only questionin the cause. .

John Le Bretton sworn.—Examined by Mr,

Garrow.

You sailed from Falmouth, ‘I understand,
on board the Pomona P—Yes.
'What were you ?—Bosat-steerer.

What was the PomonaRA—~A South Sea

whaler.
You sailed from Falmouth, on the 19th of
February, 1795 I—We did. :
Whaere were you bound to?—The Southern
fishery, round Cape Horn.
Do you know the prisoner, Croesfield ?—I

- How long before you sailed, had you seen
bimd—He came on board our ship about a
week before we sailed from Portsmouth.

Can you tell usat what time be did sail
from Portsmouth ?—On the 29th or 30th of
hmnr{., I cannot say which. '

In what character did he come on board P
oAs surgeon.

By what name did he pass, from the time
he came on board at mouth till you
sailed P—By- the name of  the doctor,” as is

Did u:m;n b: ’md:scnpm

id you thattobe a ipti
of his profession as doctor }—Yes.

Did yeu know bis name at that time?—I
did not.

Lord Chief Justics Eyre.—Do you rective
men in this situation without having their
name taken down?

* Witwess.—The eaptain might have his name
taken down, but I did not know his name.

Mr. Garrow.—You sailed on the 13th }—

u.

On the' 15th you were taken by a Fremeh
Lorvetts called La Ve P—Yes.

And were cyvied into Brest?—Yes.

You arrived there on the 23rd?>—We did, %
the best of wy knowledge. - -

Until after you wers captusred by the French
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corvette, had you ever heard, from the pri-
soner, what his name was, or heard him call-
ed by any. deseription but “ the dootor #’—
Not until we arrived at Brest.

What name did he then assume?—He
wrote his own name in the list that wasto be
seat on shore, “ Robert Thomas Crossficld.”

Were. you shifted before you went into
Brest .L—Z\m of us were takea into the
Frenchman.

Did the prisoner or you go in the first num-
ber that went out of the English ship into the
French- ship?-—~The prisoner went in the first
number.

Do you recollect any expression of the
prisoner, when he went over the ship's
side?—Yes; as he was going over the side, he
wished me and the chief-mate good by,
saying, ¢ he was happy hs was going to
France, he would sooner go there than to
England.” -

hen you arrived at Brest, did you find the
isoner P—Yes; on the same
Aher you had goae with your ship into
you ne your ship into
Bmt,wenyoupu%oon board the same shi
with him ?~The Pomona .was turned adri
and we were taken into the same corvette as
they were in.

By what name did he pass in France ?—His

O W ore you amered roquently I—Y
ere you mu ently }-—Yes,

‘What was she conduct of the prisoner on
board the Pomona, before he was captured ?—

~:‘.ﬂa;d Chie&imﬁco E e.-—l-);f you mean to
apply it to this particular subject, very well;
lngtﬂuto any other misconduct of any othen

nde—

Mr. Garrow—I meay to prove what was
his conduct before he was taken, and theu

| to contrast it with his conduct en this pattie

cular subjeot.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre—But I think,
there ought to be nothing given in evidence
against the prisoner, that may operate %o his
dusadvantage, until you have fixed lomethi:ﬂ
upon him to which that has a relation; ti
then it is all prejudice. .

Mr. Goarrow.—Then I must the
evidence.—After you had arrived at Brest,
did you hear the prisoner make use of any
expressions, with to his majesty the
king of England; or as to any share he had
had in any matter which related to his ma~
Jjesty P—Yes, I did.

Be so good as state very deliberately what
they were P—I heard him say, he was one of
those who invented the air-gun, to asignate
his I;ndqiesty—to shoet his majesty.

- Did you an stion in consequence
of hilsya in?thﬂ -T;‘ees, T asked him what
it was like; he told me the arrow was to ge
through o kind of tube by the foree of in-
flammable air.

- Did he desotibe the arrow ?—Yes; he de-
scribed it ke ane of our harpoons, which we
kill whales with. ‘



59) 36 GEORGE III.
The barpoon is a barbed instrument?—
be in the ies of the barbe

gons vou heard from

prison at Brest, the
passing by the name of Croesfield P—

ill we came away.

In what manner were you to be brought
ﬁomBmttoﬂxiseounuar—Bysarul
which came from the West Indi

When the cartel was ready, and you were
about to be transferred into that, what name
did the prisoner assume !—The name of “ H.
Wilson.” .

Who made out the muster list for the pur-

ofm:fuﬂgymﬁonﬂ\ermhship
was one himself.

Had he acted at all as muster master >—
Not at all, any used to write
the names—he s at the gang-way, and
rtumh'smu_down.lndhopméown

is own name “ H, Wilson,” the first or se-
“Did you bear the called

persons over

ing to the list?—We had not the

:m called over; I saw that wrote
it.

Did he embark in the cartel by the name
of Wilsen !—He did.

The ship out of which Crossfield was taken
was the Pomona —It was.

‘Was he described in the list as H. Wilson
of the Pomona or as of any other ship?—
As of—* the Hope.”

Mr. Adem.—Your lordship obeerves the
witness is now giving parol testimony of &

Chief Justice Eyre.—This paper I
hend ought to be in some public 4
. Attorney-G Itis left in France.
Mr. Adam.—Do you know what became of
that muster list.
. Witness.—I do not; I believe it goes to the
Gﬁveofl%eﬂ. on do-
r. Garrow—Was any profession
-uibedt—ltm“H.Wilazn,oﬂheﬂope,a
passenger taken by the same vessol.”
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pur- | while

(6o

Did hear any other disrespectfel or
8 is
File were at Bn'st?—ld?:otmlhct
an

iotdChicf Justice The whole i
he sbatendod ; Sl obes b was 0 mourrn v
i name. Idonot
subject is evidence

Jokn Le Bretton cross-examined by Mr.
Adam.

Do you know any thing of your own know.
jedge with respect to the manner in which
this muster list is disposed of =1 cannot

tell.

For any thing you know, this muster list is
sent over m Admiralty of England }~—It
may be for what I know.

Are you sure you read this muster list with
attention, at the time you have been speaking
to?—I am surc that i both saw and read it
over.

And you can charge memory cor-
recﬂyuthisdistlmofmvilhwhu you
have stated ?—Yes.

What was your situation on board the
Pomona ?—Boat-steerer.

WI?"I"’” 'h.th'ee, ) § tbol:‘lkt,h:hn .
crew P—Twenty- tain
included ? od o

What was the captain's neme ?—Charles

Clarke,

Did be continus s pri in France with
you all the time P—He did.

'gi‘“” I-‘.nghnd?mliu:d:d ship
wil o —] 5
Hu’{iiwmhinﬁw’ﬁm
came bEnghld?—ldillgoodwE
since.

How long since ?-—=Never since last Christ-

mas.
Were you examined before the privy coun-
cil this business ?—I was. Lt
as captain Clarke examined before the
privy council 2—1 believe he was not.
Ddhe.undutbeﬁnelwauuded?—-’
Not at the privy council he did not.
Have you seen him since examination
before the privy council?—Yes.
Where ?—In London.
In what particular place? —Atthe solicitor’s.
Mr. White’s.
lyhveyonmmhiminnyothetphuf
—Yes.
Where ?—On board his ship.
Have you never seen him at any hewse on
;l;:b.nbof_th:vrivqr Thames?—1 have at
lodgings in
Wbenwmhhm in Wapping }—By
i e the landiad g:f the lodg
is ly at
Wapping ?—I do not righily mtbo
mame.
Should you recollect the name if it were
mentioned to you ?—1I should.
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Itisnot a very uncommon name, you know?
I do nolk':owaortbal. : IO

Was the name White '—No.

Thompeon P—No.

Was it Williamson ?—No,

Was it Smith ?—No, it was not.

His landlady’s name then is not Smith?
—Not at the last time he came to London.

But since your return from captivity, have
you seen him at Mrs. Smith’s at Wapping?
—Yes; I was there once or twice with him,
but he did not lodge there.

Do you know Mrs. Smith of Wapping ?—
ilio farther than just by calling there with

m.

When was it saw him two or three
times at Mrs. Smith’s P—At the time he was
g:i&bis ship out, after his retorn from

Had you any conversation with him at that
time nm this subject }—I cannot rightly say
that I had.

Then if any body were to come and say
that you had conversation with him upon this
subject at Mrs. Smith's at Wapping since
your return from France, they must of course
not be lpeskiaf truth ?—No; I do*not know
that they could.

Then for any thing that you recollect, yuu
may bad had conversation with him at Mrs.
Sml:t_h's at Wapping !—I might'have talked
to him,

I am not asking you about
sation; but whether you talked about Mr,
Crossfield the prisoneri—I do not recollect,

. Your recollection is very accurate to the
words Mr. Croasfield spoke, and to words you
read in a paper, aud both those things bap-
a great while before this meeting at
rs. Smith's at Wapping. I ask you, upon
Your oath, do you not recollect any conversa-
tion ‘gou had with captain Clarke at Mrs,
Smith’s at Wapping, since you came back
from France, upon the subject of Mr. Cross-
field and upon this accusation ?—I do not.

Will you positively take upon yourself to
sweer {::lnever had any?—No farther than
I twld him I bad been examined before the
privy council. )

D now you recollect that you had been
examined before the privy council, and that

you told him so?—Yes.

In consequence of your telling him that
you had been exsmi at the privy council,
did nothing farther pass relative to Mr. Cross-
field —No, it did not.

Did you not ask him whather he had not
overheard Mr. Crossfield say such and auch
words the subject>—No, I did noL.

I put it to you again, and recollect that you
are upon your oath. You say youdo not re-
collect having bad any couversation with
eaptain Clarke about what captain Clarke
must have overbead pass between you and
Mr. Crossficid, upon the subject of this accu-
sation?—No, I did not.

Neither at Mrg. Smith’s m%r. any where

neral conver-
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else, since return from France, nor since
Your examination at the privy council?—I did
not; nor captain Clarke never was 30 inqui-
sitive as to ask me.

Nor were you so communicative as to tell
M ow ohen migh ptain Clark

ow often might you see captai L]
at Mrs. Smith’s PEI do not know that I called
there with him above two or three times,

Is he your captain now ?—Yes.

Where is he now?—He may be on the
coast of Africa for aught I know,

How long is it since he left England :—At
Christmas Jast. :

When did you return from France ?—I be-
lieve we landed the 1st or 2nd of September,
I cannot say for a day or two.

1 think you told us Mr, Crossfield came om
board the ship at Portsmouth ?—I did.

And that §ou sailed upon the 13th from
Fal;:muth?—- es; and were taken upon the
15th. .

What day did you sail from Portsmouth ?—
On the 20th or 30Mh, I cannot say which,

How long had Crossfield been at Ports.
mouth before you sailed ?—He came on board
us about a week before we sailed.

And you knew him by the name of “ the
doctor;” for aught you know your captain
might have koown his real name ?—He

igh

.

%un'n the time that the ship hg.tt Ports.
mouth, gefore she sailed from Si. Helen’s,
were you frequently in company with Mr,
Crosshield 2—At meal times. .

Did you ever come on shore with him ?—
He was on shore two difforent evenings with
me, at Portsmouth, . .

Who came on shore besides him and you?
—The boat’s crew. .

How many might that boat’s crew consist
of >—Five men.

Did you come on shore together?—Yes.

Did you go to places of public resort?—~No.
Mr. Crossfield went publicly about the
streets with ?—Yes..

This was 1n the month of January ?—Yes,

You were driven into Falmouth?—We
went into Falmouth.

What was the ship loaded with?—Casks
of water, and provisions for the voyage.

Do you mean to say upon your oath, that
casks of water and provisions for the v
were all tha:_ thebcnptain and ‘t_.be ship’s crew
bad laid in, for the purpose of trafficking to
the South Seas?—No.

What was there besides?—The captain’s
private trade.

What did that consist of ?—I canmot say.

Had not you private trade of your own—
Nathing but two dozen pair of stockings.

Did not the private trade of the
and the crew consist of jewellery, trinkets,
watches, and other articles?—He had somec-
thing of that kind.

And to a considerable value?—Yes, Lbo-
lieve he had,
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You put imte Falmouth by stress of wea- | Had you any interconrse with the English
prisoners of other s at that time >—Not

theri-:ndy the wind getting on to the west-
ward, we were afraid to stay at sea, on
account of the French.

- What day did you put inte Falmoeuth ?—I
believe it was the 2nd of February, I can-
;:: "::r rightly for the day, having lost my
You sailed the 18th, end remained tea or
eleven days at Falmouth 7—Yes.

Did you remain some time in the harbour?
~We went to the Roads.

- Were you frequently on shore P—Yes.

‘Was Mr. Crossfield frequently on shore at
Falmouth ?—He was never oh shore more
than once, if he was that. :

That you are-positive to —Yes.

Were you on shore with him at tht time?—
I cannot say that I was.

You cannot tell how long he remained on
shore?—1 do not know that he was on shore
at all; if he was on shore, it was not more
than once, . '

If you do not know that he was on shore,
zou cannot take upon yourself to say any

hing about it?—No, I cannot tell whether
he was on shore or not, I do mot
know any thing about it.

You sailed upon the 18th, and were cap-
tured upon the 15thP—VYes,

As soon as you wereeaphn'ed, were you all
gt on board the corvette P—No.

How leng was it before being put on
board the i’nnch ship, after your capture,
and being carried into Brest?—From the 15th
to the 23rd.

During that time, what sort of weather had
You ?—Pretty moderate for the time of year.

How mmg English prisoners were there of
you altogether on board that ship ?—There
#rere none but our ship’s crew at first,

Do you recollect any scheme upon the part
of your ship's crew to take possession of the
French ship?—Yes, I do.

Who was concerned in that scheme ?—We
were all concerned in it, as far as I know,

Captain Clarke was concerned ?—He was.

. You were coneerned ?—Yes,
Mr. Crossfield was concerned ?—1 believe

was.

And that was between the period of your
¢apture and the period ef youp:‘;:tingyi:to‘
Brest?—It was about three days after our

re.

ow.did that scheme fail>—By one or two
being disheartened, and the prisoners we took
from ather ships being outlandish men, and

no:vaiﬁree'mg to it.
ill you swear that Mr. Crossfield was not
one of the foremost in that attempt; was he
not ready to enter sword-in-band into the
#abin, to make that rescue?—I was notin
the cabin, and I cannot pretend to say what I
did net see.
Where were you first taken to, when you
went into Brest harbour ?—Into the Roads.
Did you go along-side any other English
ship?—No.

until we got on board the prison-ship. -

You were removed from the ship ia which
you were taken into a prison-ship?—We
were. .

Did you meet any English prisoners in that
other prison-ship ?—Yes, numbers.

Do you recollect the names of any of them?
—No, not rightly. .

Was not Mr. Crossfield carried on board the
prison-ship with you?P—He was. :

‘What was the name of that prison-ship?—
The Elizabeth. - -

What ship lay slong-side the Elizabetb, the
nearest ship ?—I cannot rightly say what was
the nearest ship tous. -

Do you remember the L’Achille ?—Yes.

5 Wd?s not she close to you?—Preity near
an :

Was not the Normandy close to you P—8he
was pretty near.

I need not ask you whether Mr. Crossfield
speaks French ?—He does. R

Did not he serve in common as an inter-
preter between the prisoners that could speak
French, dhd those who could not?—Some-
times he did; there were several that could
talk French.

Do you kpow any of the English sailors
that were on board the L’Achille or the Nor-
mandy ?—Not the particular ones.

Do you remember any captains ?—Not the
know their names; I should remember them
if I saw their persons.

Do you remember eaptain Yellowley?—
Not in particular ; there was a captain Yek
lowley, who was captain of the transport we
tare over in; he was not on board the prisen-

ship.
. \glhemdld you meet him#—~In Landerman
river.

Do you remember Mr. Cleverton?—1 de.

Where did know him ?—He was taken
by the same ship, two or three days after we
were.

Did he come on board the same prison:
son shig with you?>—He did. ' -

Did he stay on board that prison-ship, the
Elizabeth, during the whole timie Mr. Cross-
field dnd youﬁxere «;_n board her?—He did.

Mr. Crossfield, of eourse, was acquednted
with him ?—For augbt I know he was.

You did not mess with Mr. Crossield; at
this time, did you?—I did not. .

Do you know whether Mr.. Cleverton
messed with him ?—-I believe he did. -

Do you know captain Collins?—T'here was
a c\a&ﬁiu Collins there. '

as he on board the Elizabeth privoreship?
—1 do not know; I remember a person of
that name being there.

You were afterwards removed from the Bli-
sabeth prison-ship to another; what ship
were you removed to?-—The ship I weat on
board of was the Peggy.

What ship lay along-side, next the Peggy?

4

. .
o
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~The Active Increase; they were lashed
;lgng-nidemh other; they lay so close that
Jjum

from one to the other.
And they were

both used as prison-ships?

~They were. .

- Did Mr. Crossfield go on board ‘the Peggy
with you ?—He was on board the Peggy.

Was Mr. Cleverton on board the Peggy?---
He was.

Was captain Yellowley an board the Peggy?
--1 do pot know that he was.

‘Was captain Collins on board the Peggy —
1 do not remember any name on rd
the Peggy.

Do you remember such a name on board
the Active Increase ?—I do not.

Captain Clarke was on board the Peggy P—

was,

Now, from the time you were removed
from the Elizabeth prison-ship, in Brest har-
bour, to the Peggy and Active Increase in
Landernau river, till you came back to Eng-
land, Crossfield, yourself, Clarke, and Cle-
verton, were all on board the same ship?--
Notall the time, they were not.

. But the greatest part of the time?—I can-
not say how long.

At what time was any one removed P—MTr.
Cleverton was'sick, and at the hospital, for

1 hel e, wh 7 ppeared

ieve, when any prisoners a to
be sick, or stated theml:elves to be sick, they
were immed’melz taken from on board the
prison-ships to the hospital on shore ?—Yes.

So that if any of the prisoners on board

ships were taken with an accidental
sickness, they were removed to the hospital ?
~<They were carried to the hospital on shore
when were very bad,

Were they not carried on shore when there
‘was any reason to suspect they had any dis-
ease ?-—-They let them be pretty bad first; and
then they were taken on shore.

After Mr, Cleverton recovered, he came
back to the prison-ship?-—~Yes.

..And then he remained on board the Peng
till you all embarked on board the cartel for
England2—Yes.

commanded the cartel >~Captain
Gallowley, or Yellowley, I do not know whe-
ther his name is with a Y ora G.

Was captain Collins on board the cartel2—-
I cannot tell whether he was or not; there
was a captain Collins, who commanded one
of the transports there.

Iongnbe ore the return of the cartel, you
knew that the person who was called « The
Doctor,” was Mr. Crossfield ¢--Yes.

And so did all the ship’s crew ?-—T cannot
pretend to say that; I saw his name wrote,
and I saw him,

I think you said that he continued a pri-
soner under the name of Crossfield till you
came away ?—Till nearly we came away.

Of course he was known as a prisoner by
the name of Crossfield?—-By the name of
“ The Doctor,” in general, -
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But any body that chose to be eatisfied
about his real name, would know his name
was Crossfield ?—Yes, there was no secret
about it. .

You said the captain’s private trade and
your private trade consisted of some cotton
stockings P—Yes.

Did they take up any considerable room in
the ship ?—I cannot say they did.

They were easily stowed away?--There
were three or four large trunks.

They could have passed perfectly well for
the clothes and wearing apparel of the persons®
to whom they belonged ?—1, do not kuow for
that, because a person could not wear a con-
siderable number of stockings and all that.

Upon your oath, were not those articles
conveyed on beard the prison -ships, and made
the subject of sale, by the different persons
who had been taken prisoners >—There was a
trifle which they had, which they broke open,

There was a trifle taken and sold ?2—The
ahi‘g;s crew got them among them. -

as there anrv quasrelling and any dispute
about them P—I do not remember any.

Do you remember Mr. Crossfield making
an{lobservation about it ?—1I do not. '

ad you never any words with Mr. Cross-
field upon that subject?—I never had any
words with Mr. Crossfield to my knowledge.

You are perfectly sure that there pever
were any words between you and Mr. Cross-
field upon this subject?>—I do not know that
I ever a word in anger with him.

Did you ever hear him tell the people that
had those stores, that he would inform the
underwriters that they ncver had been cap-
tured ?— 1 never did.

Thomas Dennis sworn.—Examined by Mr.
Wood.

YWem you chief mate of the Pomona ?—
es.

Did you sail in her from Portsmouth?—
Yes, the latter end of January.

Do you remember the day ?—No ; I believe
between the 29th and 31st. .

Did the prisoner sdil in the ship with you?
—He did.

In what capacity ?—As surgeon,

What name was he called by ?—I did not
rightly know his name ; he went always by
the name of “ Doctor.”

How soon did you know his name?—Not
till we got into France.

Was the Pomona captured ?—Yes, on the
16th of February, by the La Vengeance, a
corvette.

Where was she carried into ?>—Into Brest.

Had you ever seen the prisoner before he
came on board at Portsmouth ?—Never.

In the course of your voyage, did you ever
hear him say any thing about what would be
done if it was known where he was gone #-—
Yes; the nightafter we sailed frem Falmouth,
he said « ;:'Igin knew.where he was, he'would
send a frigate after him;” moreover ¢ that

F
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Pitt would have been shot, only he crossed
some bridge in the room of Westminster-
bridge ;” the bridge I have forgot.

Did you ever hear him say any thing about
his majesty ?—Yes; 1 heard him say “ his
majesty was to be assassinated at the play-
house with a dart blown through a tube, and
that he knew how the dart was constructed.”

Did he tell you how it was constructed ?—
No, I heard nothing farther about the dart.

Did he say any thing about the form of it ?

No, I never heard him mention any thin
about the form; I believe he mention
something about * its beit:gjin the shape of

a hnrgoon;" but I cannot 3
Did you hear him say any thing mreuron
that subject P—Nothing more about the king,
Did you understand from Bim what was to
be dupe with this dart?—No more than he
;aid “ his majesty was to be assassinated
it.”
yDid he say any thing about the construc-
tion of the tuie ?—No farther than * thatthe
dart was to be blown through » tube.”

After the capture, did you heav him say
any thing about his being glad to leave Eng-
land >—When we were taken, Crossfie
took me by the hand, and said « he wished
I might get a ship safe to England ; he was

lad he was going to France, and was happy
e had got out of England.”

On your arrival at Brest, was there any
muster taken ?—Yes, the list of prisoners was
made out, and sent on shore.

Did Crossfield sign his name ?—Yes;
¢ R. T. Crossfield ;” and he said * he had no
occasion 1o be ashamed,” or “ to be afraid,”
1 am not sure which, “ of his name now.”

How long did he go by that nsme ?!—All
the time he was in France.

Did he change it to_any other name?—
Yes; th:e day the list o{ thc was made
out to sent to En changed his
name to “ H, Wilson.”8 and,

Did you see the list in which the name of
H. Wilson was entered ?—Yes, I over-hauled
it; it mentioned « his being captured in the

, Ho}ge Brig,” instedd of the Pomona.

y what ship was it mentioned he was cap-
tured ?— By the same ship, the La Vengeance.
Was that in his own hand-writing ?—Yes.
Did you hear the list called over?—I did.
Br:svmw‘ed it over ?—The commissary from

t.

What name was he called by ?—H. Wilson,

Did he answer to that name >—Yes, and
he walked aft directly.

Were you the person who gave information
to the magistrate of Crossfield ?7—No; I heard
of it upon the road, as I was eoming from
Cornwall to town, at a place called St. Austle,
or at Bodmin; at Bodmin, I believe.

* 'Whom did you inform of this >—I was sub-
peenacd before the privy council,

But to whom (ﬁ(f ou give intelligence of
what had passed ':'---Ty

" 1 o nobody ; I never men-
tioned it before,
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You did net go before suy magistrate
No; I never mentioned his pame to any body
tilliwassubpmned; I was going to sea the
next day.

Thomas Dennis cross-sxamined by Mr.
Gurney.

You sailed from Falmouth on the 1Sth, and
were taken on the 15th—low many days
were you your voyage to Brest, after
you were taken?—I believe we got into Brest
on the 22nd or 28rd.

Then you were seven or eight days upon
your voyage ¥—Yes.

Do you recollect any plan being formed in
the course of that voyage, among the English
prisoners, to seize the French ship ?—I do.

Were you concerned in that plan P—Yes.

Was captain Clarke concerned in it ?—~Yes.,

And Mr. Crossfield ?—Yes, I believe he in-
tended to be one.

In ﬁc:;udyw all meant to rise upon the
French, and to seize the ship ?—Yes.

Were you of that party in which Mr. Cross-
field was to be?—The people were to be upon
deck, and those in the cabin were to seize the

| arms in the cabin.

You were put on board the Elizabeth in
Brest harbour »—Yes.

Near which there were the L’'Achille and
the Normandy ?—Yes.

The corvette took another vessel after she
hax“lr taken you, before she got back to Brest?
—Yes.

What was the name of that other vessel ?
—The Hope brig.

Who was captain of her P—Mr. FPaulkner.

Was Mr. Clevertoa on board that vessel '—
He was.

Was he put on board the Elisabeth with
you and Mr. Crossfield p—He was.

How long did he remain on board the Eli-
zabeth 2—As lung as we staid.

Were captain Yellowley and captain Collins
on board the Elizabeth ?—No.

They were captains of cartels?—-Yes, in
Landernau river.

The Active Increase was close to the Peggy?
—Along:-side of ber.

Captain Yellowley and captain Collins were
“B;'m’ of two cartels near you >—Yes.

. You had access to these vessels ?—3ome-

tumes.
Mr. Crossfield, after some time, Jeft the

Peggy ?—Yes.
n board what ship did he go?—One of
the ships in which captain Collins, captain
Yellowley, or captain Alexander were—I can-
not tell which.

Who was captain of the Active Increase?
—Captain Fearnley : he died.

You were enabled, by the politeness of the
French captain, to save some part of the
pri;ate trade of the captain and of yourselves ?
—Yes.

What did that private property consist of ?
—Stockings, chiefly,
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Some watches >—The captain saved some
watches. ,

And jewellery, some trinkets —Yes. :

Was this property insured?—I do not

ﬁ%:ly know.
> not you know that >—Ihad none of my
own insured.

Do you not know that captain Clarke’s was
insured ?—I have heard it was.

These articles were afterwards the subject
of traffic on board the prison-ship, were they
ot P—Yes.

Yourecollect some observations being made
by Mr. Crossfield, respecting this being a
fraud upon the underwriters 7—Not to my re-
collection.

Try and rub up eJmn' recollection a little?—
It never concerned me.

I ask you whether Mr. Crossfield did not
not expruslg' c! you and captain Clarke
with defrau inlg the underwriters, by the sale
of these articles?—Never me; he did not

e me.
Did you never hear him charge captain
e o ords ::rghi
ou never any words wi m u
the suh’iect ?—No. y pon
t you are sure of —Yes. )

Then if an{ ‘body should swear that you
}m& they will swear what is untrue ?—Yes,
if they swear I bad any words with the doc-
tor upon that subject. .

Or he any words with you?—Or he any

with me.

Was there no quarrel between you and Mr.
Crossfield while on board that ship P—No, I
do not rightly know; I never exchanged fifty
words with him to my knowledge, all the
time we were in France.

How many did you exchange with him be-
fore you went to France, fifty more ?—1I can-
not ug;

Perhaps you were not in habits of great in-
timacy ?—My station was on deck ; his station

W,

Did any words between you, respect-
ing any n ligencepa::‘ your’s, b whichpetche
ship was taken ?—Never, to my face ; I hieard
he had said so behind my back. I wasin.
formed s0, I never heard it from himself.

., Did you never talk with him upon that sub-
Ject 2—No.

You are sure of that?—Yes.

Are gou quite sure that it was not on ac-
dount of disputes and quarrels between you,
Mr. Crossheld and Bretton, that Mr.
Crossfield was removed on boayd another ship ?
~No there was.not, '

ere was no disputes between you, Le
Bretton and Mr. Crossfield ?—No.

That you are quite ceftain of 2— Yes, I am.

You understood that Mr. Crossfield, behind
your back, had blamed you for the capture of
the ship?—Yes, 1 heard he had said it was
my fault that the ship was taken, my not

sail; but he never mentioned that to
my face,
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Mr. Crossfield I believe lived constantly on
board the Elizabeth with Mr. Cleverton, cap-
tain Clarke, and those persons ?—He did.

He messed with them ?—At the same table.

Was he in_considergble intimacy with any
of them ?—DNot remarkably, that I took any
notice of.

However he did daily and hourly associate
with, and mess with them ?—Yes.

You were miserably off in these prison-
ships for want of provisions?—No, I cannot
ssy I ever wanted provisions while I was
there. . .

" Had you never any bad provision there?—
es.

Bad provision and confinement were not
veg lsleaunt to you I suppose?—No.

id you ever take any steps whatcver for
getting your liberty?—No.

Did you ever state to the French, either
directly or through the medium of Mr. Cross-
field, that you were an American ?—Yes.

Did you forge a certificate of your being an
American ?—I did not forge any.

Ido notmean to use an offensive word : you
did writea certificate purporting that you were
an American ?—I wrote to the consul.

Did the consul give you m& assurance that
he would endeavour to off that certificate
for you asan American !—Mr. Crossfield told
us before we got to France, that he would
procure us all our liberty.’ .

Did not he state that he was a naturalized
Hollander?—Yes, he wrote that.

Do not you recollect that he wrote to Ley-
den, to ascertain that he had a diploma from
that university, and therefore was a naturi-
lized Hollander ?—I recollecthe wrote to some
place, but what place I cannot say.

Was Mr. Crossfield a man of the most

ve and serious deportment imaginable ?—

0.

I believe he was very much the contrary ?
~—He was a man that drank very much.

1 mean was he a man of grave deportment,
or of a good deal of levity?>—Very much
levi?l in talking.

Talking and rattling a good deal ?—Yes.

You hardly knew sometimes whether he
was in jest or earnest ?—Indeed I did not pay
much attention tv him. .

On that very account?—No; from his bad
principle altogether. L

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—If the prisoner
had chosen to have staid in France, might he
not bhave staid there P—I cannot saly‘.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—Did they oblige
the crew 10 go on board the cartel ships, it
they had expressed any inclination to stay ?—
I never heard any body say they had an inclie
nation to stay.

Mr. James Winter sworn.—Examined by Mr.
Fielding.
You were I believe master of a vessel called

the Susanna }—] was the owner of both ship
and cargo.
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On your pa from Newfoundland you
were captured ?—‘l‘es; by a French frigate
and two sloops of war. .

Were you carried into Brest by this French
frigate ?—I was.

ou camc from Newfoundland ?—Yes;
and was bound to S&:inor Portugal. .

Do you recollect the time when you arrived
at Brest?—I was taken on the 6th of Decem-
bt:l;.kand arrived at Brest on the 18th 1

nk, .

What became of you when you were car-
ried to Brest?—I was on board a prison ship
some time, and afterwards was removed into

Brest Cas
During your being at Brest, did {ou atany
time see Crossfield the prisoner ?—I was car-
ried on the 20th of March up Landernau
river ; there were three English cartels lashed
to r, 1 was put on board one of them.
ere you on board any ship where you

saw Crossfield > —Crossfield came on board the
ship I was in, I think on the 2nd or 3rd of
April, it was the begiuning of April,

On board what ship did he come to see
Ioou?—Tbc Revolution Brig, captain Ye)-

wle

713

. ng any tbiagypass between you at that
time ?—Captain Yellowley introduced him to
me, as Mr, Crossfield ; he said, * his name
was not Crossfield, but Tom Pajne,” and
bt ai

t did you say to him, upon his sayi
;hnt?—l i nol!l: to him ?o.M he m

een at su e to sing some v
bad seditio:sp:ngs. e v

Did any thing afterwards pass relative to his
mwsty the king of England }—Yes.

hat passed on that subject’—He said
; be Shot at his majesty, but unluckily missed

im.

Did he say where ?—He said it was ¢ be-
tween the palace and Buckingham-house.”
Yasked him some time after, when he and I
were walking the quarter deck, where was
you when you shot at his majesty? he hesi-
tated sometime, and then , between
Buckingham-house and the Palace.

Did you continue the conversation with
him upon this subject; did you ask him any
other question?—~No; it was his constant
subject eve sfter dinner, and after sup-
per; I din supped with him every day,
sometimes on board one ship, sometimes an-
other, for five months er.

Then, as you had a great m ommni-
ties o:'nﬁmring this gegzlema.n's zec tions,
did you ever hear him say any thing more re-
lative to his majesty ?—Yes.

In the general, in what way did he speak

of him ?
Mr. Adam.—1 hope lordship does not
think that any thing with respect to this man’s

conversation, that does not go to the point in
u;:ho;i‘ ;; evidence. N all

r. Melding —Does you lordship call upon

me to sustain lhe"proprmy oflnxmglmt-
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s

uestions of this nature Mhaving esta-
the immediately relative to the

ﬁhu}e. surely I am at liberty now to prove

lh_ed, epormn‘h tof thx;lsnmm, and what he aﬁ

said, with respect to his majesty, at an

time, subsequent to thamnm ev’ldence

I have offered already.

Mr. Adem.—My learned friend has only as-
serted his right, he has not argued it, and
therefore, it would be idle in me to argue it.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—If it is pressed,
after the fact is established, I cannot say that
general conversation, importing his sedition
and enmity to the king, is not in corroboratien
of the fact before stated; itis to be considered
what effect even this declaration, now dproved,
will have; it is a declaration totally different
from that which is proved by the former wit-
nesses, and has no relation, indeed, to the
particular charges in this indictment.

Mr. Anwui ey General—I certainly shall
not t.

r. Fielding—Did be ssy with what wea-
pon he had shot at his majesty ?—No.

Did he give any description?—He said he
Shot 1 bin it somethiog 4s g o that
shot at him with, ing as as
candle-stick, and as -
candle-stick together, which was like a pop-
ﬂ;}' round and hollow, about a foot and a

long; he said, « he intended to 'Eut
some poisoned darts in it; that he had shot
ata catand killed her; that the cat expired
in a few minutes afterwards in grestagunies ;”
he said, “ it would kill any man at thirty
yards distance, and nobody could perceive
that he had done it;” this he repeated fifty
times, while I was in his oomptn_;l

When you were in company with him, were
there other peoplein conr?any with him also?
—Yes there were nine of us dined together

ev%vday.
as this conversation before other people
"dod met conined to your—N:

not co to you?—No; at
certain times when he and I havu:“g:en
v:lkmg the deck, and we have
talked wermgetba;hes‘owedminvhat
manaoer they were made, with his fiuger in
some wet upon thetable ; he stroked with his
fi uiftberehe\;mhainmt;lnnid
“ opened when it struck, something
flew out and let the poison in.”

When the arrow the peison came
out?—< That as soon as the srrow struck, the
poison came out of the daxt.”

Hmeyou _any;:an;{em:&?:hr: where -he

t sonl---He prescribed
l“o;" butgo.do not know the place where it
was bought ; he ssid, “ he was the very per-
et B you mean the. poisonl—Y

8, mean = X €8,
“ the isonmyg:mixed." .

Did he say what sort of poi
He said, * he got it at a shop.” :
say for what purpose he had got
this poisod?~-To fire at his majesty., He
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said, * he had fired at his majesty ;” but be

never said it was with that that he fired-at.

him ; he said, 4 he fired at him, but unluckily

i him;” I heard him say that fifty
times; that, “ he damn'd unluckily missed
him;” sometimes he said, “ it was very un-

”

3

'as this description likewise given by
him to the ulﬁ:eople who were present, when
he dined wi , or was in company with
you ?---There was nobody in the cabin with
me when he made that remark ; the ca la;'n
the

the other ships; he and I were sitting at the
table drinkinﬁ some grog.

Did you, during those five months, ask
him any farther explanation of those thin
or not?—No, I néver did, I was afraid to do
ft; I only asked him one question when
we were walking the quarter-deck together,
where he was when he shot at the king? he
said, “he was between Bucking ouse
and St. James’s;” after he had hesitated
some time, he said, ¢ I was between Buck-
ingham-house and St. James's Palace.”

you remember having any conversation
with him in August?--Yes.

Did be nthy thing about his wishes,
relative 1o people 10 London, and his
majesty P—-He said, ¢ he hoped he should
live to see the day when the streets of Lon-
dun should be up to his ancles in the blood
of the king and his party.”

Was this said in the presence of more
persons than yourself?---Yes,

Do vou recollect the names of any gentle-
men who were present when he e this
declaration ?-—Yes; I recollect one gentle-
man said, God forbid, matters may be done
mo

re .

Who was that ?—Captain Yellowley.

Do you recollect any other persons, by
nﬁ, that were present ?---No, none else.

id he say any thing about the chemist
from whom the poison was purchased?—He
said, 4 he went to the chemist’s and ordered
how the poison should be made up, and it
was made up; that he made use of some,
and shot at a cat, and the cat cxpired in &
very short titne, or in a few minutes afler

"—I believe I made a mistake in Ji.:{.
ing it wasin August, it was some time in July,
ieve, that he made use of that expres-
sion about his majesty.

When this jon had
betmdl:dyw of his having shot at his ma-
j id he say any thing of what became
of or what he was o‘l;l:E:d to do?—
said, “ he was obliged to off imme-
diately to Portsmouth, where he went on
board a South-Sea-man, that in two or three
days afterwards they fell in with a French
i and luckily were carried into Brest.”
he say any thing about a pursuit being
made after him by a king’s messenger ?—He
said, “ there were two king's messengers

£
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after him-—that he was pursued by two king’s

messengers.”

When you first knew him at Brest, by
what name did he pass?>—By the name of
Crossfield only. At the time he introduced
himself as Tom Paine, he said he went by
the name of Tom Paine on board some other
ships.—When he was given in to the list to
come home in the caneﬁ he entered his name
as * Henry Wilson.”

You have said there were several people in
company with you at different tines?—Yes.

Endeavour to recollect all the conversation
that passcd when he said he wished to see
the streets of London flowing with blood }—
That was his constant conversation all that
night, till Captain Yellowley interrupted him,
and said, God forbid, matters may be done
more easily.

Was there any person else, in your com-
pany with Crossfield, who said any thing
which drew an answer from Crossﬁel«f ?*—No;
captain Collins, another time said, he should
be happy if he could have the cutting off of
the king, Pitt, and parliament.

Who said so?—Captain Collins said, he
should be happy to have the cutting off of
the head of both the king, Pitt, and the par-

liament.

rlleh;gid Chr:ssﬁeld say, in h:nwerto that?
— id, « have patience, bave patience, I
hope to have the ntﬁng off somp:of t‘:’em
by-and-by myself.” Captain Collins said, he
wished to have the cutting off both king, Pitt,
and parliament’s head. Crossfield said, “ have
patience, have patience, I hope to have the
cutting off of same.of them by-and-by myself.”

When did you leave Brest?—On the $7th
of August.

In what cartel did you come?~I came
lalo_ng with captain Yellowley, in the Revo-

ution.

Do you know how Crossfield came over?—
He came in the same ship.

How long was he embarked on board that
ship before g:.u sailed from Brest?—He was
not long on board, I was on board the French
Commodore with him; he and captain Yel-
lowleg.went on board the French Commo-
dore halfan hour or an hour before we sailed;
when Crossfield and Yellowley came out from
the cabin, Crossfield said, “ every thing now
is settled to my own satisfaction:” that was
said upon the gang-way of the French Com-

re.

What became of him after this declaration?
—One of the captains, that was in the boat,
held up his hand to stop him from saying any
m

ore.
What captain do you mean?---One of the
masters of the vessel, captain Wyatt, or cap-
tain Lambton, I cannot say which; he far-
mr said, ‘;t other times, that ¢ thethl-'relach
iven him great encouragement, that they
wouﬁi| providegrf%: him ,ngmd that fifty
times, but he never explained more than that.
What became of him afterwards?-~-Then
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he went on board the cartel, and we sailed
that very dey.

How
England P—--Three days. aid i

uring your passage, did any thing re-
markablg \yake lace?-—~No, not a word, nor
for many days before that, till the time we
left the Commodore.

How came it that nothing passed between
you?-—~He was very close, he did not offer to
mention a word there; he never said a word,
1 think, from the 18th or 19th of August,
until the very day he left the French Com-
modore ; he never said a word, that ever I
heard; he was always very close. |

When you came to England where did you
land ?--At Mevagissy.

Did you communicate this to any body?-—
I immediately inquired at a public-house at
that place for a justicc of the peace ; the land-
Jord told me there was a justice at two or three
milfes distant, and he would go with me him-
self.

Did you go to this justice of the —
I went immediately, I was not ashore five
minutes before I went to the justice’s; when
we came to his housc he was not at home;
I saw the justice afterwards, and laid an in-
formation against Crossfield.

What was done upon it?—He ted a
warrant to have him apprehended; when
they came down to apprehend him the next
morniug, the vessel was gone over to Fowey,
2e ::3 pursued to Fowey, and was appre-

ended.

Mr. James Winter cross-examined by
Mr. Adam.

May I ask you what age you are ?—Fifiy-
nine years of age.

You belong to Newfoundland?—I am re-
sident at that place at present, but I was
born in England, my ily are at New-
foundland, and I carry on my business thers.

And you happened to be captured and
taken into Brest asa prisoner?—Yes.

At what time were you captured ?—On the
6th of December, 1794.

You were brought on board this prison-

ship after having been some time in Brest | Ni

Castle ?—Yes; on the 20th of March, I went
on board the English prison ship.

You have mentioned the names of two

rsons on board that prison ship, captain

llins, and captain Yellowley ?~-Yes.

Can you recollect the names of any of the
persons who used to mess with you at that
time ?---Yes.

Was captain Clarke one ?~—No.

Which prison ship were you on board ?—
The Berwick; captain Alexander, captain
Collins, captain Yellowley, captain Lambton,
William Byron, and Henry Byron, Richard
Taylor, Crossfield, and me.

Where arc those Ygc:nl.lmm:n now ?—I do
goll_ know; captain Yellowley is in London, L

clicve.
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g were you upon your passage to | kno
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Where is cﬂn Byron?—I do not know,

Where is olhei" Mr. Byron?-—I do not
W

Did they come over in the cartel with

you ?---Yes, all of them.

You do not know where they reside in
Enihnd ?=-No; I believe in Shields, some
of them.

Did any body ever ask where re-
side in England?—No. o they

Have you never mentioned their names
before?---Not to any justice, only to the
gentleman at Mevagissy, I mentioned them
all o him.

When you mentioned all of those persons
to the justice, at Mevagissy, did you state
that they bad come home with you in the
cartel ship?—Yes,

Did you tell him that they were the per-
sons with whom Crossfield and you had been
in compmg'?a-Yes ; I did not mention them
as if they had been of a party.

I do not want you to accuse those gentle-
men, I only want to know whether you told
the justice that all those gentlemen, you
have mentioned, were constantly in your,
and in Crossfield’s society, at this time?—.
Yes; all of them excepting captain Alex-
ander, and he remained there.

Those Mr. Byrons were very respectable
men, were they not?—They seemed very
well there.

They lived in the mess with you ?---Yes,

Perhaps you thought nobody so respectable
as yourself. These people all came over with
you, and.the magistrate in Cornwall, to
whom you discovered this whole business,
knew perfectly well that they had all come
with you, and had all been in the society, in
which those things you have mentioned had
passed ?—They did not remain in the vessel
an hour after.

But they landed at Fowey?—Yes.

And they were part of the family that dined
with you every day there ?—Yes.

Do you remember captain Clarke?—I re-
member there was such a name, but I was
not acquainted with him.

Did you never go on board the Peggy ?—

0.
You say, when you were first introduced to
Mr. Crossfield, that he called himself Tom
Paine; bhad you lived enough with Mr. Cross-
ficld, at thal time, to know his maoner of
life ?—No.

Afterwards you came to know pretty well
how he lived?—When he came 10 sing those
songs I withdrew immediately, and went on
board my own ship.

Were you enough acquainted with him to
know that he accustomed himself to strong
liquors ?—Yes, when he could get it; but he
could nol get it there; he would drink it if he
could get it.

How long was it from the time you first
became acquainted with Mr. Crossfield till you
came away *—About five months.
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And he lived in intimacy with you, and
those other gentlemen, all the time?—Yes;
he dined and supped with those gentlemen
every night, unless they happened to be on
board the modore, or on shore.

Contequently, all those gentlemen lived
,with him too, afl those five months P—Yes.

, every single thing you know
they must have known, excepting the private
?mtm' n you asked him where he shot at the

ing?—T1hey must have known the main

; there was nobody in the cabin but me
when he told me about shooting at the cat
with a dart. There was a little of the grog
dropped on the table, he marked with his
ﬁﬁ’ and showed me in what manger he
made it. ’

Do Fm remember any thing about the
story of & hare? Perhaps you may think it
odd you should be asked that tiuestion.——No.

You do not remember any thing of a story
that used to entertain the company very
much, about a hare jumping into your {apf—
o, only into my arm.

hat was that story? —I was coming
through Uplime to Lime, in my way from
Axminster; just as I got ta a wall, I stopped
to make water; as I was buttoning up the fall
of my breeches, a bare came through my
arm; I catched him by the leg and turned
him round; it was about twelve o’clock at
night; I threw him in over the gate, in arong
a parcel of dogi, and he remained there that
night; and the next day, just as the parson
was going away to churcil, the hare got out,
and the dogs followed it all through Lime;
ﬁu;re they catched the hare, and it was car-

up.

Then you threw the hare over the wall
among the dogs P—Yes.

How long did the hare remain smong the

P—Till after dinner.

is was a story that used to amuse the
company very much?®—Yes; I have told it

times.
*  Whatdid you take this hare 1o be ?—I could
find nothing of him till after I was ini]to
church; I was just got as far as the shambles
when I heard thedogs out in full cry after the

After she had 1 very comfortably
amoog them for many hours?—Yes; after the
bones had been carried out to the dogs, which,
I stvx&pose, drew the dogs out.

hat did you tell those gentlemen you took
this hare to be ?—To bea hare.

How did you think this extraordinary hare
could live so long among the dogs without
beiag destroyed ?—If you send to Lime, if any
gentleman disputes my veracity, there they
will get a voucher for it.

uid Chief Justice Eyre.—The gentleman
asks you what you took the hare for; I sup-

{\e means o ask you whether you took
er for & witch?

Wilnm.-—'l‘heieuy the place is troubled ;
now I took it to be an old hare.

. A. D. 1'96. (78

Mr. Adum.—Did not you use to tell those
gentlemen, in the course of conversation, that
you tbok this hare to be a witch, or the devil
in the shape of a hare?

Witness.—No; it was an old hare that had
been hunted many times by the dogs, and
they vever could catch him; if you wanta
voucher for it, if you send to Lime, you may
get vouchers.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—Where did you
throw this bare into ?

Witness.—Over a place seven feet hifh,
amonﬁ a kennel of hounds, and it was twelve
o'clock at night.

Mr. Adam.—Were you ever sworn before a
Jjury before?—I have been upon a grand jury
twenty-five years. )

1 ask you, whether you were ever sworn as
a witness in a court of justice before?—Many
times.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—A grand jury,
where ?

Witness.—In St. John's, Newfoundland.

Mr. Attorney General.—Y ou raised a corps
of troops in Newfoundland ?—Yes.

Of how many ?—During the American war
I raised fifty; and during this war sixty-nine:
I supported fifty men myself during the whole
American war.

Richard Penny sworn.—Examined by Mr.
Abbott.

You were master at arms of his majesty’s

ship Active ?—Yes.
ou were taken prisoner, and carried into
Brest?—Yes. )

What was the prison-ship you were on
board of there? —The Elizabeth,

Was the prisoner Crossfield on board the
same ship >—I know the prisoner if I see him.

Do you sec any body there whom you re-
member to have seen on board the prison-
ship?—I know the man if he stands up, ina
moment.

Mr. Abbott.—Go down, and walk round
among the people, and look for bim. [The
witness painted out the prisoner.].

Do you remember hearing him sing a song;
I do not ask what it was?—Yes. ‘

Do you remember having any conversation
with him the next morning, in consequence
of having beard him sing that song?— Yes.

Did you say any thing to him, upon that
occasion, respecting the King of EnE and P—
The song was, “ Damnation to the king.” I
asked him what king? He said, « the king
of England.” ,

What observation did you make to him
upon that?—No more.

What farther did he say relating to the
king of England >—He mentioned something
in the song about Mr. Pitt.

But what did he say next morning farther
concerning the king of England?—I said,
doctor, you never can be'a true Englishman,
to sing that song; he said—* he wasone o
the ringleaders of the three that attempted to
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blow the dart at his majesty in Covent Gar-
den.”l—ll{l Mr. Croesfield does Inot nni;mg
me, I will put on my jacket I wore
M:b‘?ﬁs‘;nwithh{m. )

Did he ex| any sortow at ben? a
risoner in France’—No; be said “Tom
aine’s works were the best works”——

Mr. Adaw.—I submit to your lordship,
whether we are to hear every part of this
conversation ? .

Lord Chief Justice Eyn.-—ﬂsvm&zroved
that the prisoner said he was one of the three

9]
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{so

board what ship was he ?—1I understood
th-sea-man.

hclwnunl;n)n.r(lnoumc 2 .
nmuhn;lbout Pl’lwb-shlg—did
find Mr. Crossfield on board the mon-shl":;
—Heumeonboudﬂnl'.linbetg.

hnownoonmumwmtben?—ﬂem
Then it must have been in December,

who attempted to blow the dart at the king | 1794, not 1795, when you first went on board
in Covent &lden, I take it to be within the | the Elizabeth P—Yes. .
rule the Court has already laid down, whena | It was some sfter you were
fact which does apply to the charge is proved, | board the Elisabeth befors Mr. Crossfield
that what %0 mthcamemg,wctu came there P—Yes,
10 be corroborative is evidence, Bowhn‘mhoonbmrdlhtnhﬂ-:
Mr. Adam.—My objection was, that the | Above a moath before he went up to Lan-
nreiusoner said Tom Paine’s works were the | dernau, .
works. How many were of the s
Lord Chief Justice Eyre—That, standing | mess on that ship?—He m close
alone, would notbe any thing, you must hear | to the wheel.
the sentence throughout: but_you brokein| Who were the persons in his mess 2—One
just as something was coming that was| of the witnesses in the court was enc that
material. messed with him.
Mr. Adam.—Then, can Tom Paine’s works |  Point bim out.—He is not here.
be a subject for the consideration of the Jury? | Do you mean Dennis —Yes.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—Certainly not;
but if a man puts two things into one sentence,
you must necessarily hear both, and reject
that which does not apply.

Mr. Abbott.—W hat more did be say ?—He
said ¢ Tom Paine’s works were the best works
he could buy; and that if ever he arrived in
England he would attempt to do the like

n.”

When you returncd to England in the
cartel ship, did the prisoner return with you?
~He did so. .

Did he say any thing to you, on board that
ship, as you returned home ?—Before he came
out of Brest he mustered me on board; I
was close to the main-mast, on the Elizabeth's
deck; and before we came in to Mevagissy,
he said to me « Youn} man, was not you on
board the Elizabeth ?” I told him I was; he
desired “ 1 would take no notice of what was
said on board of the Elizabeth.”

How'came you to give cvidence upon this
occasion ?—For my king and country.

Did you give information to any body of
this?—1I gave informsation to a gentleman at
Portsmouth ? )

Did you lay any information before any
niagistrate P—I swore it before a magistrate.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—How svon after
You landed did you mention this at Ports-
mouth ?>—I mentioped it at Portsmouth to a
ﬁentlemnn on board of the Royal William;

e persuaded me to go to Mr. Greetham, the
king's solicitor there : I went as soon as I had
an opportunity.

" Richard Penny cross-examined by Mr,
. Gurney.
When did you rst go on board the Eliza-

Was captain Clarke one ?—I eannot rightly

i
ow were there of them in the mess?
—Seven "

Were you in that mess ?—No.

You were on board the same ship -—Yes.

Did you talk with Mr. Crosafield ?—Na,
on‘ILmer that song.

1 you :ngconvemﬁon with him at any

other time ?7—No, only those words upon the

ad you any conversation with him at m
other times —No, because he went from
Elizabeth up 1o Landernau, )

You were 3 month with Mr. Crossfield in
that prison-ship—had you any other conver:
sation with him than that wKich you ba
told us?—He declared more to me at
time.

I am asking whether he had other conver.
sations with you besides that time?—Not
after that time. .

Richerd Penny re-examined by Mr. Abbett.

You say he declared more to you; what did
be declare more?—When we were comi
bome,hebegmmenotwnyany i
about what he said to me ; afler we were
mustered on board the cartel, I saw Mr.
Crossfield in very close conference with the
French officer abaft the poop, and they shook
hands together; that was a gentleman that
came from Brest.

Lord Chief Justice Eyrc.—Have you any
thinﬁ:mre to say?

witness gave no enswer. ]
rd Chief Justice Eyre.—Did you hear my
question?

Witness.~Yes, my lord,
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Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—I am waiting for
an answer; what did he say mére P—1 syppose
Your lordship has got down, that after he had
sung a song, wisliing dasination to the king,
J asked him what king, and hc said the king
of Eiigland; that he said he was one of the

_ringleaders of the three that atiempted to
blow the dart at his majesty in Covent Gar-
den, and that if ever he arrived in En, he
would endeavour to do the like agaip; that
he said Tom Paine’s works were the best
works he could buy; that he desired me not
io take any notice of what he saiLon board
the Elizabeth, that he was.one of the three

Weleer Colty wuﬁ-mm by Mr. {

You live at Fowey,  helieve *—Yes.
. Do you rememben, on thé S1stof Aufust
Tast, being emplbyed to apprehend Crbssfieid? -
Y - .

~Yes.

‘Who sssisted you in apprebending him P-—
Mr, Stocker,

Whete did ‘you tdke him ?-On beard the:
ewriel lying at Fowey,

Did he'aniwer te the name of Oronsfleld ?

—~He did.
. Were ‘you eth i ing him to
7 e i

Bodmin :
Do reoellect lraviniz any conversation
with him upoa the road ?—Yes ; he 8aid « he
would give us a guinea tolet him go, and
take tlie irans from his hands; that we should
oaly have a few shilliugs for catrying him .to
thin, add he would give us a gninea dach
10 let hime go:” sothe time aftef that, he of-
fered us two guineas each ; T asked hiln what
he woadd dd with the driver, he told me ¢ if I
woud fet him have one of the pistéls he
would pop at bim, and soon settle that busi-
”

ness” -

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.---You had pistols
with you in the chaisé ?-—Yes.

Mn Lew~~I take for you did not
do whiat he desired ; neither take the ttioney
#or tend him shve pistols ?—No.

WaRer Colmer—cross-exdmined by
Mt. Adam.
What state was he in, at the time you
tock him on board the ship ?—That was in
e morning; it was in the evening when we
ing to' Bedmin. .
.. What sor} of condition was' he in then P—
Whether he was in liquor or not I won't say
for that.
ow, do not you think he was very mych
in Bquor >—He might be a little in liquor, but
1 do not think he was very much.

Elisabeth Upton sworn—Examined by Mr.
Garrow

' ife of a person of th
oI e of i e
Who hapbesn,

undet examination beford the. | the

V90, OE.
wung | o 8 .
ere did you sgside at the time you last
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When did you see him last ?~-On the 33nd
of February.

“That, I believe, was on a Monday ?—It
W .

as.
At what hour in the morning did he leave
his home ?—Between eight and nine.
Did you ever see him afterwarde®-No,
never. ) .
Have you since seen article of weari
apparel v’vhich he wore ::“l.he time he hﬂm

hoge ?--No. 0
His hat, or any thing else2—Yes, I have
seen his hat, the waterman brought it me
the next morning.
. What is the name of the personthat brought
it?—Thomas Annis,
" He brought a hat which your hushand had
wolrinaﬂ when h% w!e‘;t “féom home ?---Yes.th
yotir hi ven you any thin
when he went frolh huge the last mornin
" Wastthat p seal which beymally wore?
t w e, wore vem
Yes, :alich ge usually sealed his lefters with,

Have younever seen him since ¥—I have
not, nor,ieggd of him. ,

Ex;:ep‘} by the information of this watez-
nni?nvé You any reason to know or believe
that be is now alive, or do you believe he 15
dead ?~-I believe he is dead—I know nothing'
to the contrary. .
Was he a man addicted to drinking, or a
sober man °—I never saw him disguised in
liqﬁ:r in my life. )

rd Chief Justice Eyre.—I do riot see the
necgssity of this evidence.

Mr. Attorney Generdl—~I
giving infotmAtion ai an accomplice, and I

ve as a reason why I could not produce him

re, his being dead. - :

Lord Chief Justice Egre.---1 should have
taken it upon your assertion, not as a subject
of evidence, thay you do not call him,
he is dead. If that were controverted in any
way to raise & question uponit, %o be sure yoh
would be at liberty to proveit. . Co .

Mr. Garrow.—--1f your lordship, is satisfied
that this is reasonable evidence of his death,

we do not mean to go into any more, of it
Lord Chief Justice Eyre::éenainly. !
Mr. Garrow.~—Do, you know a person of
the name of Crossfield :—Yes. '
Do you see him here?~—Yes.
Have you seen him, and seen him more
than once at your hushanil’s house 2---1 have.
Ilave you seen him there before your his-
;.nd was examined by the privy council ?--
roquently. . . | .
Do you know Mr. Palmer, the altorney ?=-
Yes I see him there. '
Have seen him at your husband’s

; hause-~Y es, frequently.

Have you seen imuglm in company with
prisoner Crosseld ?—Yes,
. Be 80 good ds look at this' piece of woed
the model for sthe tabe}; did you ever see

stated Uptollx"s

O Jour wla Wappi
VOL, XXVI, R

ia before ?—X think I bave seom them
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ing in“:he shop in my husband's héuse in
ll-yard. .
Dgywkmapusononhemmofmll?
Yes.
‘Do you recollect seeing him at your hus-
band’s house P-t-'} hlb::‘::n him. husband

Did-you see this t to your 's
sbo&?-rlmuw something brought one nigit
by Mr Hill which appeared to be like this—
I believe this to be it. )

Look at this [a long brass tube]; did you
ever see this before ?---1 do not recollect that
ever I did. he 4d

Cast your eye upon that paper; you
ever see that paper i‘:xo husband’s posses-
sion ?—I do not recollect to have scen any
thing of this kind.

Elisabeth U&tm cross-examined by
r. Gurney.

Where did you reside, Mrs. Upton, at

the time you last saw Mr. Upton ?—In Wap-

ing.
P 1§o you reside there now ?--2No.
Where do you reside now ?——In Gray’s-inn-
Have lived there ever since you lost
your h ?—VYes.

Mr. At Generdl.-- -1t has been proved
---I mean that evidence has been given
10 prove—-that Upton was concerned with the
prisoner in ordéring certain materials for this
Instrument; I am fow going to prove
Upton’s possession of such a thing, and his
soucmion of the. paper which contains the

escription and draught of a bearded dart.

George Steers sworn—Examined by
Mr. Woed

Where do you live ’—In Gatwood’s-Build-
ings, Hill-street, Finsbury-square.

Are you a member of the London Corres-
ponding Society ?—~No, nor never was,

Did you ever attend any of their meet-
ings?—I did once unfortunately atiend one
meeting, with two fellow clerks of mine.

When was that ?—The latter end of the
year 1794.

In what month?—I believg.it was about
the month of August, but I am not certain.

Did you know Mr. Upton ?—I knew him
100 otherwise than by seeing him the night I
attended that meeting ; I never saw him be-
fore nor since.

Did you sit near him ?-~Yes; and a fellow
-clerk of mine sat next to him.

What sort of a person was he ?—1I do not
believe that I should know him otherwise
than his being lame in one foot.

Did you observe nni thmg that he had
with him ?—.] ubserved he held something in
his hand which I thought from his being lame

-was & walking-stick.

Did you to see it?—No, not being a
& member of the society, I had no right to
ask any person in the room amy question
whatever,
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' Did sny body else ask 1o see it ?—A fellow
clerk of mine asked him what it was, but I
did not hear him give any answer for what
it was in .
id he produce it ?—He showed it him in
his hand.

"~ What was it?—I perceived by the light
thavtvitw_n thing like that? ythe :::s
- Was it any thing like

tnbe] Yes; I made no parti _cghurntion
of it, but from what I saw, it was in appear-
ance the same as that; it is, I believe, the
same thing as was produced to me before the
mycmil; 1 made no mark on it, I be-
jeve it %0 be the same from its appearance.

William Hen sworn— Examined

%P;a?’ww.

Were you at the meeting of the Cor-
responding Society, with the last witness
Steers, on the 16th of September, 1794 P-—
I was with him but I cannot speak as to the
time. .

Do you remiember being with him one
evening in September 1794?—I remcmber
bei:& at the time, which I suppose you
allude to. -

Do you remember being there one evening
when {Jpwn was there P--i do.

Do you remeiber secing any thing parti-
cular under Upton’s coat ?—Yes.

What was it 2-—A tube.

Was it like this 2—[the brass tube] some-
thing resembling this. ’

Had you any conversation with Upton
about it ?~~Yes; I asked him what it was. I
cannot say positively whether I spoke to him
first or he to me; I think I asked him first
whatit was; Isaw a bit of it sticking out
from under his coat; he pulled it farther out
that I could perceive it better ; upon asking
him what it was, he did not give me anyan-
swer, but shook his head in that manner,
(describing it]; be didnot tell whatit was for.

Did you ask him what it was for?—I did.

_Did he tell you, or refuse to tell you ?}—He
did not say I won't tell you,but he shook his
head and made no answer.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—Did you take
any notice whether it was hollow or not?}—I
think it was hollow.E

Lord ChiefJustice Eyre.—Had any o)
Emunily of seeinge:he light thyr::gh {l f-‘:

0; but from the best of my recollection it
was bo}l;:. -D 4

Mr. .—Did it appear to you to be a
hollow or a solid instruiment ?—1I do not think
it was a solid instrument.

Edward Stocker sworn.—Examined by Mr.
Garrow,

I believe in the month of August last
were one of the constables of ‘g: bonugz‘:;'
Fowey }—Yes. with Mr th;

together . Colmer
charge zfm:'he prisoner Crossfield, to conduct
him to Bodmin gaol /—Yes.

What is the distance from the plete where
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you took him intecustody Lo the gaol?—Abeut
twelve miles. :

You went in a chaise?—Yes. ‘

State what conversation the "prisoner ‘ad-
.dressed to you and your fellow constable in
the course of your journey?—He offercd us

two guineas.

State what he said to you ?—He said in the
first place, “ that it was we should take
a guinea each, and let him go,” he said,  he

was man enough for us both;” then he said
“ he would give us two guineas each,” Mr,
Colmer asked him what we should do with
the driver; he said, *“lend me one of your
pistols, and I will pop at him, and settle that
matter.”

Was there any conversalion as to the quar-
ter from whence the money was to come, if
you would accept of it?—None at all; he
said, ¢ he would lgive us a draft on some per-
son at Fowey ;” 1 asked him if he knew any
inhabitant, he said, ¢ he did notknow any in-
habitant at Fowey: that it was a person at
TFowey, but not an inhabitant.”

You conducted him safe to gaol >—Yes.
Kdward Stocker cross-examined by BMr.
Gurney.

At what time did you leave Fowey to go to
Bodmin P---About nine in the evening.

M. Crossfield I believe was not very sober
at that time ?—I do not know.

Are you quite sure that Mr. Crossfiell was
Jperfectly sober ?—I do not know that he was
1n liquor, he might or might not.

Are you not quite sure that he was not so-
‘ber ?¥—I am not sure ; I do not think he was
much in liquor.

Was not his manner of speaking very
queer *—I do not know as for his manner of
speaking. .

Edwerd Stocker re-examined by Mr. Garrow.

You were not acquainted with Mr. Cross-
field before >—No. '

Had he had the means of getting intoxi-
cated, as far as you know ?—I do not know
whether he Lad or not.

Did he appear sober enong‘b to know what
he was talking about P—1I believe he was uot
Qisguised in liquor; T do not know that he was.

r. Gurney.—Did Mr. Crossfield sleep in
the post-chaise?—He fell ‘asleep after we
came about half-way.

And slept on all the rest of the way >—Yes.

Lordl Chief Justice Eyre.—At what time of
flay or night was it !~We set out at nine jn
the evening from Fowey.

Mr. Harvey Walklate Mortimer sworn.—Ex-
amined by Mr, Garrow.

You are a gun-smith, residing in Fleet-
sireet —Yes

For how many years have you been en-
g:?d in that busiuess ?—~Thirty years ; thirty
aud a half I believe.

¥You have been used not only to the con-
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i struction of common fire arms, hut to the con-

struction of the air gun ?—Yes. .

Are air guns sometimes constructed in the
form of a walking stick P—Yes.

Is it one of its properties to discharge and
accomplish its object of destruction without
explosion —Not entirely without explosion;
ifit is discharged where. the air passes briskly
by, you cannot hear it yourself; but if it is in
a confined room, where the external air does
not pass freely by, it makes a noise like that.
[clapping his hands together.] .

It would make less noise in the explosion I
conclude in & large theatre than in a small
room ?—Certainly.

It is another property of an air gun, to bave
Tess recoil than the ex‘)losion by gunpowder?
—It has so little recoil, that if you were to
hold it against yout face with a glass upon
your eye, you would not perceive it injure
the glasd, -

You might rest it upon your cheek bone?
—Upon your naked eye. .
So as to take a most accurate aim ?—1 have
shot with it 0 as to hit a nail twice out of
thrice upon the head, and drive it through a
board ; I have used it when a gentleman has
desired to hold a small thing between his
finger and thumb while I have shot at it.
erhaps it is not necessary to go 100 mi-
nutely into these discussions, unless it is
thought necasaaeon the other side: do you
apprehend that
0 constructed as to discharge an arrow, in-
stead of the ordinary discharge of a bullet ?~—
I .(',na sure it may. i 1 4l
‘ast your eye upon this paper, an me
whether you t)l'\inkpzn arrow constructed ac-

cording to that drawing might be discharged,
et

and whether it would not be a dangerous in-
strument to be discharged by thee:

rows, one of which is barbed, another that is

not barbed. .
Supposin%atbe barbed arrow so constructed,

as that the barbed parts of it might be made

to collapse, and so to enter in that state the |

opposing body; and supposing something
consisting of two barbs in the shape of an ar-
row, to be put in a collapsed state into an air
gun and protruded by the force of the air,

could it be forced outin its collapsed state ?— °

It might ; but as soon as it was out it would
regain its native position.

ou see no difficulty in putting a barbed
instrument into an air gun to be exploded ?—
1t deperids upon the strength of the spnnﬁs
of the barb, if the springs are weak it might
be done —but these springs could not act with-
dut a jointin the part near the end of the

plsce where this barb is, they must act upon *

a joint.

We suppose it has every thing necessary

to constitute a ‘complete instrument?—It
would undoubtedly expand again when 1t
came out into the air. ’

_Have you any doubt that an instfument o .

tube of an air gunmay be -

osion of
an air gun ?—Here is a drawing of two ar-
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constructed, projected by the force of the air
gun, would occasion death ?—1 should have
no doubt ; I think it would be a dreadful in-
strument, if it was projected _fz:m an air gun.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—Can you give us
any information concerning these two parti-
c lI;ieces of wood, that are supzosed to be
models of samething ?—This might be rade
for such an instrument as this ; it might be

ade’intg a tube for a condenser, supposing

is 1o be left for the bore, to make a tube
inside; 1 should think it too large; I should
not think it well contrived.

Mr. Garrobv.—Your knowledge of the sci-
ence would induce you to make the bore
smaller than that ses it to be ?—Yes.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—Is there any ap-
Eean;nce ofs in model 2—The two

nds describe the bore.

ﬁrl. Gam;w.—-And the larger part the ex-
ternal space?—]Jt appears so,

Suppasing 1 %ad wanted a cylinder of the
external dimensions of the largest of these
EZeces of wood, and a bore of the size of the

her; would not that drawin I‘n‘av: enable(ll
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must have been made to have been put on
occasionally, not to have been in the hand.
Supposing such a piston to be applied to a
brass tube, would it not become ap instru-
ment of death with such a barbed arrow as we
) ™ ° 7 ""—This wood might be a
\ piston to contain air
e to have expelled three
ut re-charging such an
I could have made one
had been informed they
it way, I could have so
—'ﬂo H l..{l.,i... i ,,sze i;;l:ne.
at this paper, does that top appear to
bea glescripliolg ol:'emch a wooden rnstmment
as this, though not a very accurate one ?P—
Certainly, it does something like that; but it
is evident that the person who drew this was
not a master of drawing.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—Does it describe
sufficiently these two pieces ?—I have seen
but one.

Mr, Garrow.—Look at the other part, and
see whether that drawing describes this?—I
think I should not have an idea of this form
fr(ﬁ:h.is, i} is drawn so very badly.

king at the two together do they appear,
though badly described, to bhave such a cor-
reipondence that ohe miay be made from the

bo eamm
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other, with some verbal assistance by way of
directions P—With verbal assistance it might,

ut § do not think it could be made without ;
[ cannot sa{ that there is any thing in it that
is sufficiently like it for me to suppose it was
made from ‘this drawing, unless the person
had some verbal directions besides ; top
part is well enough described, the piston.

I obscrve e drawing you have in your
hand has got additions to'it; there are rather
round purts which it is necessary to he made
acquainted with the drawing to ribe; but
looking at that drawing, do you take that to
be a drawing of the thing that you hold in
your right hand? [the model]—It I bad seen
them t elg;et upon a table, I should not have
supposed that this had beep a drawing of this;
antlp(i)t could not have been a drawing of it
without verbal explanations.

Lord Chic{ Justice Eyre.—The question is
whether with verbal directions the two pieces
of wood you have in your hand might have
been formed from the hing gjven from that
drawing P—Very indifferent drawings will do
with verbal directions.x’" )

Lord Chief Justice .—De you suppoae
that with verbal directions these two pieces of
wood might have been formed from the bint
g}v_en by that drawing?—I have no doubt
of it.

Mr. Harvey Welkiate Mortimer crose-sxa-
mined by Mr. 4dam. .

If this brags tube bad been put into your
hands without any thing being said about it,
should you have known for what use it was
made P—It is impossible that 1 should have
koown what it was for, without any thing
being said abouy it.

You have said you do not make air guns in
this form }—We make them in a snugger and
neater form.

Are you in the common practice of making
air guns?—Yes. -

Aund you make them like a common walk-
ing stick 7—Yes ; somctimes I make them in
the shape of a common gun, sometimes in
the shape of a pistol; I bave pistols now in
the shop.

Do nat you make them in the form of a
walking stick ?—Yes. ’

And then you make them portable 2—Yes.

Have not you made them frequently in that
form for sale ?—Yes ; [ sold one which his
majesty sent as a present to the dey of Al-
giers, a little while ago.

So that the piston for the condenscd sif
should lie within the cane?—Yes; I can
make them either withia it or withoutit; I
have made many guns with the piston within,
and others without it.

You said that a barbed arrow might be puy
into agun; but would not the cousequence
of ﬁrrle? it 01t of the gun be, that the moment
the resistani e of the sides of the cylinder of
the gun are withdrawn by the arrow getijng
| beyondinito the open airit would open?—1 have
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kind intended to be made, but not so satisfac-
ory as with the tube; it is an additional evi-
ence in my minﬂ.

Robert Ward, esq. swom. Bxamined by Mr.
Abtorney General.

You ave & barristes at law, ] believe?—Yes.

I have occasion to ask you about Mr. Up-
ton, of Bell-yard ; it willnot be ':roper to statle
any conversation, I will only ask youas to a
fast —Do you remember seeing Upton in Au-
gusk of September, 1794 !—It was the 12th
of Septembes, 1794.

Have you seen these two papers befoge ?—I
am clear as to this paper with the drawing of
the barbed arrow; I saw this in the posses-
sion of Upten, an the 13th of Seplember,
1794. 1 am Dot quite s0 clear 3s to the

other.
It was ap Uptons house, X believe ?—IJt

was.

Did you h 10 see this in Upton’s pos-
se:’sion?—l :’;?nthese models, b‘& notP:h?e
tube.

Robert Ward, esg'uosnmﬁmd by Mr.
rReY.

At what time did you gommunicate this
fact to any of his majesty’s ministers ?—I
think it was on $he Friday when I saw this in
the possession of Upton, and I think on the
Saturday I waited on Mr. Pits, but I did not
see Mr. Pitt till the Wednesday following,.

Mr. Attorney General—Did you communi-
cate it to any magistrate?—No ; I did not see
anxlbo:ll upon the subject, till I saw Mr. Pitt.

r. Attorney General.—We have closed the
ease for the proseculion.

Mr. Adem.—1] beg 1o ask & question or two
of Mr. Palwer.

Mr. Peregrine Pabwor called again. Examined
. by Mr. Adam.

D¢ you know any thing of Mr. Crossficld’s
pecuniary circumstances ?—Yes, I do,

In what circumstances was he at the time
he left London ?—His whole property was as-
signed over for the benefit of his creditors.

as he in debt do you know >—Yes, he

was.

Mpr. Adam.—I think it right to inform your
Tordship, that I am afraid. it is abgolytely im-
ossible for me to bring the case I bave o lay

fore the Court, within such a compass as to
ive me the least bape of producing the evi-
a::npe. ip_favoyr of the prisoner, while the
are able to give that atiention to it which
1,18 of importance to Lim they should give ;
but I 'am ready to do exactly what your lord-
MR Chiat Justice Byre.—T am afini
ce Eyre—I1 am we
all be under tha necessity oféri;ﬁnop.xf
thare will.}!; apy prosgest of g to-
wqrrpw,  Lhere. is, I believe, 0o provision
made for the jury. L
Mr. Adem.~The same thing happened on
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the trial of Mr. Stone,® and the Court ad-
Jjourned. -

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—~As far as con-
cerns the capacity I should have to do the
country and the prisoner justice, I should be
glad of the accommodation of an adjourn-
ment.

Me. G The jury were accommodat-
od with beds a4 the Coffee-house, on
the late trials.

Mr. Adam—]I do not spesk with a view to
any personal accommodation to myself; but
because I am aware that the case which I
have to lay before the Court, must necessarily
take up so much timc,uwi!‘!mmde itma::'os‘:
impossible for human strength to go g|
ilwal?.b:mt an adj t.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—I should be
sorry, if by forcing you on, we should put zou
under any incapacity o do your duty. I tind
the sheriffs have provided lodgings for the
jury. What do the jury say about it?

Several of the jury said, they felt themselves
80 much fatigued that they were pe
they should notbeable to give proper atten-
tion to the case of the prisoner unless the

It being now eleven o'clock at ni

L fo;.::&;mm sworn in the usual .
to attend the jury, who slept at the Lon.
don Coffee-hvuse; and Court ad-
journed to the next morning eight
o'clock.]

Thursday, Mey 12th 1796.

‘The Court having been opened, Robert Tho-
mas Cros d was set to the bar.

Derexcs.

¢ Mr. Adam t—Gentlemen of the Jury; We
are now come .to the stage of this cause,
when I am to address you on the part of the
prisoner. I cannot but congratulate you and
myself, that the measure of adjournment from
the confusion and heat of the court last night,
to the quietness and composure of this moro-
ing has taken place. I am sure, gentlemen, it
is for the benefit of us all, that we come here
with fresh recollections, with minds unim.
paired by a long and a fatiguing attendance,
10 order to disc this most important, this
:’nost weighty, :nrﬁe 1o me this most awful
uty. L

Gentlemen, I may say, and [ can say it with
truth aond sincerity, never before etood I in
such a presence. It has never happened to
me in the course of my professi life, to

® See Vol. 25, p. 1295, and note. .
+ The very learned n who delivered
this speech has obligingQ furnished me with
a correct report of it, which is here substi-
tuted for the inaccurate agcount given in the

ovigaal printed tria
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lead in conducting the defence of a prisoner
upon trial for his life. Nor has it ever hap-
pened to me to be charged with the life of a
prisoner tricd for the crime for which the pri-
soner at the bar now stands indicted. Gen-
tlemen whben I mention this circumstance, I
can assure you, and I can assure the learned
and most respectable judges who preside om
this occasion, that I make this declaration, not
witha view of consuming your time, by an

vain or particular application to myself; I «d
it, because I think upon this occasion, it will

suggest that, which, if it were to
i I am sure I have muchn:So(,
namely, that the learned persons who preside
hers, will consider themselves as counsel for
the prisoner. I koow it is their dispesiti

I know it is the constant and general tenor
mﬁmm'ch‘:d I am_mreb.lshatl stand in
n m nt, trusti is cause in m
bands, stands in need of that id. y
L Astw liou geotlemen of the jury, I confide
in your having come here with a determina-
tion to consider this caseimpartially, paticaly,
and with that  integrity which is your true
portion and proper virtue.”

Before 1 to state my observations
upon the nature of the case, or upon the evi-
dence as it has been laid before you, I will
take the liberty of shortly pruenungb:o
what I consider the question now to be tried.

Gen the at the bar isin-
dicted for high treason, and the nature of the
puseing and imagining the death of the bog

ing and imagining the o ing.
Ey”lhe law of u.xse lms, as it wasstated to yo!n
by Mr. Attorney-General, the will or intention
to kill the king goes for the fact. Thatis to
say, the intention of killing the king is as
much a crime as if the fact were actually com-
mitted. And I agree perfectly with my learn-
ed friend, that itis impossible to conceive &
wiser ensstment. Nay, I enlarge upon his
statement; for if that institution is wise for
the purposes of monarchical rnmeat in
%:nenl, it is particularly wise as apglied to
e egovemmem of this country. In this
mixed monarchy, where the nature of our go-
vernment gives a free woose to a variety of po-
Eeﬁco:l ini nnduil:ﬂesofthinking,it
mes more partic necessary to pro-
tect the person whounilei, and foruﬁo? and
binds together the general system and )
of our constitution. At the sametime, how-
ever, that the legislature has been cautious,
and has parti {interferedtogmrdtbo
sacred life, on which I assert (with the same
energy as Mr. Attorney-General)the safety of
the state 30 much, 30 eminently depends; it
has been most anxious to Yence and the
critical situation of the prisoner; to take care
that he shall havea fair trial; and therefore,
amang other things( 1o lay down certain rules
for the manner of assembling you in the
where you are now seated, and to regu-

ate the principles which are to guide you in
considering the evidence, Thus wi law
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and constitution wisely profect the crown
against sudden attacks;‘tife same law and
constitution anxiously erect safeguards for the
subject from illegal convictions.
entlemen, one of the safeguards of the
suhject is, that there shall be stated upon the
* face of the indictment, those overt acts or
open deeds, which are supposed to have the
tendency to accomplish the end in question.
8o upon the present occasion you have had it
stated to you (and I will therefore only recite
it shortly to you) that this indictment does
set forth such overt acts ; that it states, in the
first place,a conspiracy between the prisoner
and three other ns who are likewise
indicted but who do not yet stand upon their
trial, and persons to the jurors unknown, to
prrre a certain instrument, to be loaded
with a certain arrow to be sent forth from
thence, for the purpose of taking away the
‘life of the king. It likewise statesthe same
overt act, but without layingit to be done in
‘conspiracy with others. It likewise states
overt acts of consultation, where they con-
sulted and conferred together, for the purgose
of taking away the life of the king. These
are, generally speaking, the nature of the
overt acts set forth in the indictment.

You will obsetve th t, gentlemen,
that there are two distinct propositionsin this
‘case. One proposition is, that there wasan
instrument pre orordered to be prepared;
another is, the intent or the purpose to which
that instrument was meant to be ‘applied.
‘These are in their nature distinct propositions :
they are distinct propositions on the face of
the indictment; and they are distinct proposi-
tions in the proof, as I shall have occasion
afterwards to show you when I come 0 speak
to the evidence.

You have heard upon this occasion that
there have been various rules laid down by
lawyers, relative to the manner in which evi-
dence in a question of this natare is to -be
consilered by a jury, but that there is no very
difficult question of law upon the rules of
:::lence in this cas:, s:ktbat { shallrldhave ttl;;

iness, I trust, of making myself distinc
und'e’rstood:x ‘you i . ’

My learned friend the attorncy general de-
rives his doctrines of thelaw of England, with
respect to treason, from an authority to whom
he paid the highest tribute of applause. To
that'authority no trilante of applause is too
great.—I allude to Mr. Justice Foster, whose
name, he traly seid; would live as long as the
constitution of Bogland endured. I 'shall
‘have occasion, in the sequel of what Ishall be
under the nccessity of addressing to m, to
‘:'?::i:g  that ean mlpum' but now,

. o eminent ; but how,
in thi of my address to yeu, I call

to a more early period of Eng-
) and law, .that I may ehow these
doctrines o have continued from an: early
siod, - including the time when Mr: ' Ju

Foster wrote, cven unte this day,

in this
attention-
lish history

"A. D. 1796, 94

" Gentlemen, the act of parliament says (for
this is an indictment upon the statute of 25th
Edward 3rd) “ When a man doth compass
or imagine the death of our lord the king,
and thereof be provably attainted of open deed,
by the people of his condition, he shall be ad-
judged guilty of treason.” This is, shortly,
the part of the statute which relates to the
crime in question, which I state to you sepa-
rately from the other tréasonsenacted by that
statute, in order that you may precisely and
clearly understand, that the only question
for you to try upon the evidence is, whether
the n atthe bar did compass and jmagine
the death of the king; and whether he  be
thereof provadlyatiainted of opendeed.” Now,
gentlemen, the word provably has been upon
all occasions, a word much relied and com-
mented upon in the construction of this act
of parliament: the meaning of that word has
received a most solemn, a most deliberate,
and a most enlightened consideration from a

son greatly eminent in the law of this
country, from my lord chief justice Coke, who,
in his commentary upon this statute, says—

% By provably, is meant that it is upon direct
and manifest proof, not upon conjecture, or

resumptions, or inferences, or strains of wit,

ut upon and sufficient proof; and herein
the adverb provebly hath a t force, and
signifieth a direct plain proof; which word the
parliament did use, for that the offence was

80 heinous, and so heavily and severely pu-
nished as none other the like; and, therefore,
the offender must provably be attainted;
which words are as forcible as upon manifest
and direct progf': note, the word is nut pro-
bably, for then common argument would do,
but the word is provably, be attainted.”

Such is the construction, such is the opinion
given by sir Edward Coke, considering this
statute deliberately in his closet—a person
deeply acquainted with the principles of the
law of England.—You see that he makes a
great deal 10 depend upon the word provably -
that he distinguishes most materially between
the word provably, and the word probabg,-
and he says, that on account of the severity
of the punishment, aod for the protection of
the prisoner, the legislature meant that he
maust bo attainted provably that is, by mani-
Jest and direct proof.

The commentary of this profound lawyer
is now, by common consent (and it will be so
stated to you from the Court) allowed to be
the undoubted law of England—to be incor«
porsted as completely into the constitution
and the law of tue country as any other maxim,
principle, or declaration of the common law
whatsoever —Genllemen, this, which was
laid dewn by my lord chief justice Coke in his
closet-<this which has been recognisedas the
law of the coutttry—this which is uniformly
‘rdsted" upon b%' judges and by juries, in
all queswions of treason, as'the sound rule
of construction and decision, was carried

into eﬂ’:cl, was realised and acted upon, by
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snother t luminary of ghe law, in a lord Coke, and says, that it is not meant
remar prosecution in the rei’gn of ll:;'yhim&o “yse strains of wit, or arts, or to seek
James 1st—not indeed a proseoution for trea- | to play prizes.”

son, but & irosecuﬁon in whick sir Francis
Bacon (to whom I allude) brings the doctrine
home directly to the question of treason ; so
that the same principle which was laid down
by my lord Coke privately in his institute,
was asopted and acted upon in public court
by my lord Bacon when he was attorney-ge-
peral, at a time when he was addressing a'
jury impanelled, as you are now, to try a
prisoner indicted by the crown.

. My lerd Bacon, in the trial of lord Somer-
set,® says, “ The king hath given us in com-
mand that we should not expatiate or make
invectives, butmaterially pursue theevidence,
as it coaduceth to the point in question;
a matler that, though we arc glad of so
good a warrant, yet we should have done
ourselves; for far be it from us, by any streins

wit or art, to seek to play prizes, or to
owr names in or to carry

day otherwise than upon sure nds. We
shall earry the lanthorn of justice (which is
the evidence) before your eyes upright”” «J]
will somewhat of the greatness of the
offence, not te weigh the prisoner down, but

to show thata t offence needeth a good
proof, for the next uate high treasom,
s the est.”

In that case, my lord Bacon was speaking

on the trial of a person for murder, but you
see he brings the whole doctrine home to the
ion. of treason. He observes, that the
ing had given it in command not to expatiate
or make iveetives; the rules of modern
times, and the practice of the constitution
now admit of nosuch allusions; Iam sure,
however, if they had been permitted, the mo-
narch under whose government we live, who
considers bis own life as sacred only for the
benefit of his i;oople, would have given such
2 command, if according to the of these
times, it had been regularso todo. I am
sure, ot the same time, thatI do no more
than justice to my leamed friend when I sey
that such a co;lm'ﬁd tot:im :llmtll? have been
waneoeseary, for throughout e opportu-
nities that | have had of seeing his et
ia the eminent and difficult situation in which
he stands, he has followed forth and copied
the dottrine laid down by my lord Bacon.
Geutlemen, my lord n brings his doo-
trine home to treason ; he lays it downin a
case of murder, but he says expressly .that
murder is the highest erime except treasen ;
he mq{ therefore be said to bring the dotttine
of my lord Coke, with) to thewotd prov-
ably, home 1o the puint of treasen;
for he lays it down as dottrine, that in agues.
on where there is & prieoner at the bar tried

for his life, whether R be tretson or whethet

i be murder, the evidenige is ot “ %0 be
sarviod wpsightt;” but ho uses mev':;'-uduf

* 4w Vol 3, p. 970,

the | peared to have beena

is gentlemen is the doctrine upon which
this case must be determined; it is the rule by
which this evidence must he judged, and I

earnestly request of you to e it in yoor
minds, _om purpoy:: of nsgprfing it inyd;c
sequel of this case, when I shall bave the ho-

nour of ing upon the evidence particu-
larly.to m,mem time, e:mrlame 7
lay before you what the nature of this accusa-

tion is, mitfyomitsm. _

My | friend the attormy-geneg
has brought into your notice a person of
name of Upton, whom he has not been ablp
to bring here to day asa witness. The m-
dictment itsglf indeed brings Upton to your
notice ; ﬁnd u have heard from the very
best of all au ority (namely, from the an-
thority of Mr. Atlorney-General) thatif Upton
had been examined here, he would have ap-

% rson concerned ip
this crime, and discovering it to the govera-
ment of the country. 1s the situatien
in which this pereon is represented to stand.
1 shauhaveocuum:nﬂi:tho sequ&to ress
my deep regret t n bas not been
tobefoundandenminm!s In this part of
the cause I present him te your notice merely
for the purpose of calling your attention to
probalnlities on which this
case is founded; and I think I shail be able
to demonstrate 10 you, on the one hapd, that
the probabilities are all against the existemee
of such & conspiracy as is here stated, and
that, on the other hand, there is no prosf,
provably givep, sufficient to_establish a .cen-
trary conclusion ; ner indeed any proof sufli-
cient 1o satisfy your minds in a case of bleed,
g & crime such as this indictment sets forth,

at thers is a ground or foundation ypep
which to rest a verdict of guilty; but that it
will be your duty tq send the prisoner forth
among his fellow subjects, to pass the rest of
bis I:g I trust, in : leonduct which will make
it perfectly itnpossible even to impute to him
::y thing likemt with which he now stands

arged.

But I must call your attention, this
occasion, to the particular character of Upten,

founded on what has been proved
im part by the cross-examination uf the wit-

i
Ea 5
£
il

|
i

7
&
I
:
|
;



- ference with

9 . Jor High Treason.
ihs, another of them ; arid at
enmity with "Le Maitre, the third; that
there was not any intimacy or confidence be-
tween him and the prisoner at the bar; for
ou will recollect that you have it proved by
mcontestible testimony, by the evidence

of Palmer, that the prisoner had been but for a
very short time at all acquainted with Upton.

ow, if I'can establishyto you that he who
wus directly at enmity with Le Maitre, that
between themn the hostility had gone to such
an cxtent, that Upton had sent Le Maitre

a challenge to fight: ¥ I prove to you,—
what has not been denied by some of the
witnesses for the prosecution,--- his ahimosity
to Hingius, and that in fact an inquiry was
tommenced .with great form in the society,
and was carrying on with great diligence, which
had for ity object Upton’s expulsion from the
society ;® -I ask whether, under such circum-
Mances, the probability is not strong against
the existenre of such & conspiracy? —whether

u‘can suppose conmspiraturs mot only not
mtimately acquainted, but hardly acquainted

&t all?~whether in the case of men as little
acquainted as these men were, and living in
4 state of" direct enmity, you can suppose the
éonfidence of ‘cunspiracy to exist?---T ask
#giin, is it possible that such a proposition
can, tonsistently with the ‘common rules of
human action, %dn belief? If I prove these
things,---and I pltdge myselfso to prove them,
I then call upon yon for this necessary con-
clusion, that the grand foundation, the prin-
cipal ground work of this great crime, namely,
the probability of Lhe existence of a conspi-
racy, is destroyed, annihilated, and dene
away; that, when the foundation is gone,
the supefstructure must fall; and all “that
my learned friend the attorney general has
built upon it, all that he wishes you to infer
flom the evidence he has given, every cir-
cumstance which he wishes you to note as
inferring the guilt of the unfortunate person
at the bar, turns directly the other way.

When I shall have done this, 1 must then
call upon you to apply the doctrine of lord

Coke, and lord Bacon---Then you must con-
sider if you have manifest proof—-then you
must sce that the lanthorn of justice (the
évidence) is carried clearly before your eyes.

- I know that in you I am addressing myself
to twelve men of feeling, of integrity, of in-
telligence, of discernment, men %ossessin
every quality that can belong to the sacr
and important function in which you are
engaged; I am confident, therefore, that if
¥ establish in proof what I here state myself
to be able to prove, I shall efface from your
minds all idea of the existence of this conspi-
racy, and conseiuenlly of every thing that is
founded and built upon it. Butthis is notall,
this relates only to the improbability of such
a conspiracy having been contrived bythese
unacquainted, jarring, hostile, conspirators,

* The Corresponding Society.
VOL. XXVI,
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_T now requilit your attention to the proba-
bility of such a’ contrivance coming from
Upton. What was his situation P

His conduct was the subject of inquiry in
the society to which they all belonged, and
the persons indicted were promoting the in-
quiry : his enmity will be proved by com-
munication with the persons indicted, of the
most hostile nature. The whole tenor of his
life will hold forth a man, from whom, if he
had appeared in that witness-box, you would
have shrunk back with horror. These, then,
are the considerations. What was the situa-
tion of this man?.--What was the peculiar
time in which be spoke? What is the pecu-
liar art (as the history of all ages provesg of
men of that description in such times and in
such situations? The nan, such as I have
described Limi, had no means of rescuing
himsclf from the obloquy of his associates,
but by the fabrication of a plot. He deter-
mined, therefore, to turn the mechanical in-
strument, the air gun, to the wicked purpose
of erimination. Who can tell for what pur-
pose he might have ordered the air gun to be
madeP he was capable of preparing it for
one vile purpose, and had address and art
enough 1o turn it to any other purpose that
might suit his interest, or gratify his revenge.
Such, then, is the position in which Uptan
stands; and upon this ground I contend,
first, that there is an absolute improbability
of the conspiracy existing at all, arising out
of the relative state of the parties; and next,
that there is the strongest probability that
Upton contrived it for his own purposes.

Gentlemen, what was the state of the times
when these things passed? Is it possible to
forget the alarm which spread throughout
the nation at that period; an alarm, which
seemed at once to take possession of all ranks
and descriptions of men? It was in the
midst of that alarm that this plot was con-
trived ; nay, it was contrived at a particular
period of it. You will recollcct that there
was a time when convictions had taken place
in Scotland of persons tried for high treason.*
The men in tland were tried upon
the ground that there had been a conspi=
racy against the government of the coun-
try, to destroy the constitution, and by
legal inference, therefore, aimiug at the life of
the sovereign; these persons were convicfed.
In this country persons were tried for the
same crime, and those persons were acquit-
ted.+ Gentlemen, I bring nothing intoa court
of justice but the duties of an advocate;
I make nou observations here of a poli-
tical tendency upon the convictious in one

® See the trial of Robert Watt, anté, Vol. 43,
p- 1167, and the trial of David Downie, ante,
Vol. 24, p. 1.

4+ See the trial of Thomas Hardy, ant?, Vol.
24, p. 199, and the trialof John Horne Tooke,
Vol. 25, p. 1. .

H



99] 36 GEORGE HL

country, nor upon the ittals in the
other ;—-but I state the fact for this material
purpose,—that in the intervening time, when
the alarm had taken ion of men’s
minds, when it had been raiscd to its utmost
height by the convictions in Scotland, after
the trials in land were ordered, but be-
fore the acquittals took place, which tended
1o relieve men’s minds as to the reality of the
glarm; just in that intermediate time this
plot was brought forward by Upton.

Such being the peculiar time at which this
@iscovery was made—mark the coincidence
of circumstances,~-that period which will
be proved to you to have been the time of
discovery and accusation, will be proved to
you to'xue been immediately posterior to
the quarrel and the challenge to fight be-
tween Upton and Le Maitre; when Upton
was roused, not only out of regard to his
personal defence and safety, but from every
other motive, to make the accusation. Here
then are three things which coincide in es-
tablishing the strong probability that Upton
invented this plos for his own purposes—se-
curity as to his personal safety, the gratifica-
tion of his revenge, while the state of the
times sanctioned the invention, and secured
to him areward. I desire you therefore to
examine all these different motives, carry
them in your minds, consider their nature,
and you will find, that although they are
different, they are concurring, and are mo-
tives which ¢an eonsi:tently exist, and be in
action at the same time.—There is nothing
inconsistent in a person being urged at once
by a love of personal safety, by a spirit of
revenge, and by the hope of reward, to bring
to punishuient persons whom he knew to
be perfectly and completely innocent. And
mark how well the public mind and the
tone of society was calculated to encoul
a miscreant to bring forward such s contriv.
ance.

The history of the world proves such to
be the time and season for such informers to
bring their inventions into action. The his-
tory of ourown country affords the most perfect
illustration of the period of alarm being the
season in which they may ensure success.

Recollect the description given by that
profound historian David Hume, of the state
of the public mind in this country at the time
of the popish plot. ¢ The people,” he says,
¢ thought their enemies were in their bosom,
and had actually got possession of their
country. Each breath and rumour made
them start with anxiety. Like men affrighted
and in the dark, they took every figure for a
spectre. The terror of every man became a
source of terror to another, and an universal
panic being diffused, reason and common
sense, and common bumanity, lost all in-
fluence over them.” .

In such a situation of the public mind, the
fulsc informer considers himself sure of con-
victing; and such was the consequence in
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that peried to which the historian refers;
when common sense and common humanity
bad lost all influence even over the juries of
the country. Baut the informer of the present
nge will not be s0 successful. Thank God!
the judicial im ments of this country
since that period, the im?riq of the judges,
the enlightened minds of juries, the censci-
entious determination to distinguish between

ilt and innocence, the openness to receive
information, the fn.l::mdoning all ideas of judg-
ing u an ts or impressions except
thgsemngo{noﬂbeﬂidemin the cause,
the di of all prejudices even the mest
forcible upon the bhuman mind, happily form
the judicial character of the present times,
and secure the accused from unjust convie.
tions.

I bave now, Gentlemen of the Jury, gone
through, 1 believe, the circumstances ot the
::&iml history of this case, the situation

character of Uglon, the probability of

there being mo such plot, because the con-
spirators were little acquainted with each
other, and were at enmily with each other;
the impmbahil':z of sucl} a ;::fol, upon that
account, and the probability of there bax’
such al’contrivme as that with which
¢h: Upton to be the contriver. It is now
my duty to call your attention to the evi-
dence, n the di&erent points of view in
which it appears to me to be important.
I hope to execute this without being tedious ;
at the same time, as this is the most mate-
rial part of the case, and as we are all en-
ﬁ:ged in the discharge of a most solemn duty

re, I do most anziously intreat your pa-
ticnce;lndllummre,lp lord, and Ii:_n;
sure _you emen, will pardon me,
should rattier be profix than run the risk of
leaving any thing unsaid that may be for the
benefit of the prisoner.

The witnesses upon this occasion are of two
sorts; one set of witnesses was ht to
prove that an instrument, such as is de-
scribed in the indictment, was prepared ; ano~
ther set of witnesses to prove that that in-
strument was meant to be used for the parti
cular purpose laid in the indictment. You
will observe, that these two classes of wit-
nesses speak to facts of a very different sort.
The one, those who prove the instrument,
speak to facts which passed before their eyes;
but with regard to any use of the instrument,
with regard to any colour given as to the cr}-
minal purpose for which that instrument was
prepared, or any intended apgliution of it,
they state no fact whatever: the other class
of witnesses speak only to declarations. You
will observe, therefore, upon this case, that
the evidence of fact only establishes the
making of a particular instrument (an air-gun) :
how far these facts bring it home to the pri-
soner, is a question for me to discuss, and for
you to try, while the evidence of confession,
or the evidence of declaration is that which

tends to establish the use of it..
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Instead of examining the evidence in the
order in which it was called, I will take the
libmd{&f classing the witnesses according to
the rent nature of their testimony, for
the purpose of applying their evidence parti-
cularly to these two distinct subjects of proof’;
mmwmﬁong, Qitlf::ent l;ules

i different principles, to
thevl:ne ch?;of witnesses e ‘t)hosenpwplﬁch
apply to the other. The first witness called
is & person of the name of Dowding; that per-
son, you will recollect, did not speak of any
machine or mechanical instrument being pre-
pered, and he did not s, at all to the pri-
soner at the bar. He oaly said that three per-
sons came, and that Upton was the principal
spokesman, and he particularly said, when it
was mentioned that it was a secret, that Upton
was the person who said it was a secret; but
you observe, that this person likewise stated
& very material fact, namely, that they hag-
ged about the price, and thought it too dear.

ow I wish to call your attenuion coolly and
deliberately to that fact: mark what the na-
ture of the charge is,—a terrible chargz, ifit be
8 true one, but one which must be bottomed
in a design which has some view and object,
and has for its foundation something more
than the meeting of four obscure individuals,
for the purpose of contriving this extraordi-
nary plot ; yet no evidence whatever is given
t:dyou, that the other persons named in this
indictment, or that any body else was at this
time concerned in it but the prisoner (if the
isoner was concerned in it) and Upton.—
hat does Dowding say? he sazs, they
haggled about the price; nced I ask yon, as
men capable of weiEhing' the import of hu-
man actions and of buman conduct, whether
it is a patural thing, that persons carrying on
such a plot as this,—a plot founded, nccessa-
rily, in an extensive plan of revolution,-—a
accompanied with such circomstances,—
could be influenced by the price of a small
metal tube? or that a few ;hnlliniseone way,
or a few shillings the other, could be at all an
ebject? That fact, in my opinion, tends to
establish a strong negative to the possibility
of there being any such thing existing in the
minds of these people, as that which is at-
tempted to be inferred ; but you observe that
Dowding proves nothing actually done, and
here is an end of my ol ation on Dow-
ding’s evidence. roduced is Bland: b .h'
hext person p 18 3 by his
evidence you observe that nothing is proved
to be done; only two were presentat that
conversation; Palmer remained behind, and
Palmer accounted to you in fris evidence why
he remsined a short time behind, the two
others were there for the very short time
while Palmer remained behind, in the house
with Bland. Palmer came and inquired after
them; they were gone, but Bland could not
tell where. Palmer went into the street and
ssw them, and seeing them he overtook them,
consequently the conversation Tlould not have
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lasted above g very few minutes, but Palmer

was not present.

Now gn.lmer is supposed to have been a
person concerned in this plot. Palmer, as well
as Upton, is supposed to have been acquainted
with the particular object and design that the
prisoner is charged with. Is it not then a
very extraordinary thing, and contrary to all
probability, that, in a scheme of this kind,—a
conspiracy to take away the life of the king,
which must be combined with an inteation
to overturn the state,—that the conspirators
in that very scheme, that Mr. Palmer, a per-
son ushered in by the auomey-generare in
his opening sgeech, and examined by Mr.
Garrow, as if he had been a witness ot'y mine,
and under cross-examination, and not a wit-
ness examined in chief for t‘le crown ;—that
of these conspirators, Palmer, who staid be-
hind for the reason given in his evidence (a
call of nature to stop), should not know to
what place they were bent next, and that
when he did not find them in the house, it
was only by seeing them in the street, and
overtaking them, that he found his way to
the place whither they were next going.

I should wish you next to attend to the
evidence of Cuthbert. He is a person who
makes instruments; he spoke concerning an
air pump ; Cuthbert has nothing to do with
the making of this instrument, nor with this
supposed conspiracy ; he does not give any
proof whatever of the fact of fabricating the .
machine—none whatever. But he states to
you, that ke had occasion to go to Upton for
a particular ﬂurpose; namely, to pay him
money, which was to be paid over to the
wives and children of the persons who were
confined in Newgate, for the treasons that
were formerly tried; that observing Upton to
be 3 watch-maker, he invited Upton to come
to his house to see some of his machinery;
thath%lsoon disuonr‘::d U] nltjo be a dis-
agreeable person; that when Upton called
tﬂe second time he took little notil::e of him;
that he remained upon his seat all the time ;
but he establishes this important fact, that
Upton and the n who came with him
appear to have been most completely igno-
rant of every thing with regard to the power
of air; and he praves, at the same time, that
they did not come there with the intent of
learning what the power of air was. He ne-

tives that intent expressly, by establishing
that Upton came at the particular invitation
of the witness Cuthbert. ’
. 1 say, then, there are conspirators contriva
ing a machine of destruetion, who were i
rant of the very principles of the macg?:e-
which they were to use; conspirators going to
the shop of a mechanic, not with a view to
learn the principle upon which this machine
was to be constructed, but going upon the
particular invitation of the person as a matter
of guriosity. There is another observation
which [ am sure you will make, when yeu
come to consider whether this case is proved
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provably or not, namely, that while Cuthbert’s
testiniony is produced merely for the purpose
- of giving colour to their speculation, it proves
thelr ignorance of first principles. He does not
rove that Crossfield was une of the two; and
e does not speak to the particular question
of the fabrication of the machine.
Gentlemen, as I am now upon the testi-
mony of this witness, I will state one other
circumstance. In answer to a questivn of my
learned friend on the other side, he said, that
when at the privy council, there was one
Dennis there, and that he, Cuthbert, did not
know the prisoner—he had not the least idea
of him—he only knew that a person came to
his shop with Upton, but could not tell whe-
ther the prisoner was that person; but he
says, that Dennis was at the privy council,
when a person, whom Dennis called Cross-
field, walked through the same room, and
Dennis said, with great anger, “ There he
1” The witness asked, “ Who?” Dennis
said, “ Crossfield; damn him, I should know
him if it were his ashes burnt.”
I come now to the evidence of Joseph
Flint; there again there was a short conver-
sation, and nothing was proved to be done;

and he speaks ‘;osmvely to the lame-man
(Upton) heing the spokesman, and does not
jdentify the prisoner.

Gentlemen, the next witness to whom I
shall call your attentivn is Mr. Palmer. My
learned friend, the attorney gencral, in open-
ing (and certainly the manner in which that
witness was treated corresponded exactly with
his opening) stated, that he might be under
the necessity of calling some witnesses who
stood in a particular situation and connexion,
and therefore it might be difficult to obtain
the truth from them. An observation was
made in the examination of that witness,
which I am sure must have made an impres-
sion on your minds, from the beight from
which it fell.®* Tt was this, that the crown
cannot discredit their own witness in any
thing, witbout losing the benefit of that wit.
ness’s testimony.

I'am not responsible for Palmer’s conduct
or h{; character; he is the witness of the pro-
secution; but I will state what he proved,
and such observations as occur to me upon
what he proved.

You will observe, in the first place, that
Palmer ascertained this fact without leaving
any doubt wpon the mind of any man who
heard him, namely, that Mr. Crossfield’s per-
sonal acquaintance with Upton was of very
short duration; he could not even state it to
extend to a month. This, you will recollect,
is one of the facts which I called to my aid, in
that past of the case on which I have already

addressed you. I refer o the improbability |

of persons conspiring together for such a pur-
pose as this, without mutual confidence ; and

® See what was said by lord chief justice
Eyre, ont?, p. 37.
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it is that sort of conspiracy which is now the.
subject of investigation.

Palmer cstablishes another thing very ma-.
terial as to this design, and establishes it
without leaving a doubt; namely, that they
dined that day in the neighbourhood of Tem-
ple-bar; that it was mere accident which led
them to visit Upton ; that he went there for,
the purpose of Kavin'ia walch repaired; and
that they walked with Upton into the city;
that, in short, this, so far from appeasing to
be any thing like a designed, was a mere ac-
cidental meeting. Ile then states to you, the.
various circumstances with respect to their
going from place to Flace; but he can give no-
particular account of what passed on that oc-.
casion; and, as far as he goes, there certainly.
is not any colour to say, that the instrumeat,,
said to be in preparation, was either ordered.
by the prisoner, or that he had any hand in_

e ordering of it, or that he stood in any
other relation than that of an accidental com-
panion of Upton in those walks and inter-
views. Where then is the ground for the in-.
ference of a guilty design? With regard to
the particular use and su purposes of
the Instrument, he says aothing that could.
lead to a conclusion, that it was made with
the view and the intention laid in the indict-
ment. .

Mr. Palmer likewise proved to you the bad’
state of Mr. Crossfield’s health, the ruined
state of Mr. Crossfield’s circumstances, the.
situation in which Mr. Crossfield was before
this conspiracy is supposed to have taken
place, or at least before the discovery, and
that in which he continued to the time of his
leaving England. .o

With regard to those last-mentioned par-
ticulars of Palmer's evidence, I shall pass
them over at present, because they apply
more properly to another part of the case,.
which is most material for your consideration ;
namely, the demeanour of the prisoner at the.
bar throughout the whole of this transac-,
tion. .

Gentlemen, before I go on, permit me to,
call your attention particularly to dates; I,
wish you to remember, that Mr. Ward said,
that he first went to Mr. Pitt upon Saturday
the 12th of September, that he saw bim oa
Wednesday the 16th. It will be proved, that
Le Maitre and Higgins were apprehended the,
27th of September, that Smith was appre-
hended on the 28th; and it will be proved,,
that the advertisement offering a reward far,
semn§ Mr. (i’rossﬁe was not till late in the,
following February, 1 desire you at present,
to attend to those . dates, because, ia the se.,
quel of what I have 10 address tp you,.I shall
be under the mecessity of making pbservations,
of some considerable.importaueg with regard,

to them. . ; cr, H

T now come fo ungévidenceo(’!‘howhills;
you will recollect.be was, the person employed
16 make the model in. wogr

o

od; you will ob~,
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serve that, throughout the whole of Hill’s
evidence, Upton is the person who gives the
orders respecting the instrument; that Upton
is the person who said he should :be pad;
that Upton's is the House ta which he carried
it; that Upton js the person % whom he ap«

lied for payment; and you will recollect,

ikewise, that he had no kapwledge whatever
of the prisoner ;. that the prisoner did not in-
terfere in the business at all, except with re-
spect to some directions in eidiag Upton when
he was giving the description, but he did not
seem to take any particular part in it. You
will observe likewise (for I am sure I state
the evidence fairly and correctly), that all he
said upon that occasion was, that the stranger
might do something, but he spoke from a
faint recollection.

If this has proved any thing, he has only
proved the existence of a model, he has not
proved the use of it; so little has he proved
the use of i, that a scientific man, Mr. Mor-
timer, who wished to give us, last night, an
ostentatious sample of his scientific know-
ledge, unnecessary for the occasion, told you
expressly, that if he had been asked, without
describing them, what use these models were
meant for, it would have been impossible for
him to bave ascertained or even conceived
their use or application.

Lord Chiet Justice Eyro,—You misappre-
hend the evidence there, and making
vations oa the evidence not founded in fact is
in)urious to your caugs,

Mr. Adam—1 do not mean to misappre-
hend the evidence.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—He did not say,
that be could not have known the use of the
models ; but said, he could not have known
that these modols were prepared from those
drawings.

Mr. Adam'.—I am cxcessi obliged to
{oi:‘r lordship most undeubtedly.: I asked

, upen cross-examination, ing him
the roller, if be could Aave knewn, from look-
ing at that roller, for what purpose it was
intended ; I think, bis answer was, be could
not. !

Jord Chief Justico Eyre.-~You misappre-
hend bim; he said hy;e‘icved it was fora

ston of a@ air gun, that taken together with

ing . the tube, it was satisfactory to him
that it was 80, but without finding the tube
i1t was not so satisfactory, but that that was
his opinion; what he said with regard to not
knowing it was, the dawing was so bad, he
should not bave known that the model was
gmwed from the drawing, unless he had

told that they had

conversation
upon the subject.

Mr. Adam.—Yeou have heard from my lord
the evidence to which I was alluding with
respeet to Mr. Mortimer, and the obscrvation
1 have to make upon it as applicable to the
evidence of Hill ss this—ibat Hill undoubt-
edly, frem: Mr. Mostimer’s evidemoe, could
not conslude any thing. as 10 .the uss of the
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fnstrument, Hill being an § t man.
Consequently all that appears-from Hill's evi.

dence is, that something was made, and
will recollect, because it is impertant.in ’lz“o

el of. what L have to address to that
Hihl, as far.as | bm able to trace the%
8'the only person who speaks to .the
fabrication, or who ascertains the mciual
making of any partof theinstrument laid in the
indictment; I mean with this distinetion, the
distinction of general confessions, upon which
1 sinall observe hereafier.

The next witness, though not the next in
order, to whose evidence I shall call your
attention, is Mrs. Upton, and upon the

t occasion I wish merely to state this :

rs. Upton was called principally to prove
her hus! s death; but she was examined
to some other circumstances, particularly to
some of thre instruments produced having been
in the house of Upton ; and you will recollect
that she could swear to rione of them but the
models; that shecould not swear to the draw-
ings, nor to the tube; consequently, she car+
ries the fornation of the instrument no farther
P ith Team: hat she said regarding

Tes to what she said regardi

her husbanmhat 1 shall have minnnl%
observe upon when I come to state the evi-
dence on the part of the prisoner, which I
shall be under the necessity of laying before
iou. 1 shadl, therefore reserve that part of

er testimony to that part of the case. .

Gentlenren, I beg leave now shortly to refer
to the evidence Steers and Pusey, who
were called to show that Upton, at a meeting
of the Corresponding Society, had in his
session something resembling the:tube; for
that was all that the evidence amounted to,
Now, whether it was or was not the tube,
upon the view which I take of the case, is a
matter of no consequence. I bottom l:dyself
throughout in the malignity and wickedness
of Upton’s character; and on his character
combined with facts and ciroumstances, i
assert, that he might have contrived such an
instrument for an innocent, aw indifferent, or
wicked purpose, without any connexion with
others, and wight aflerwards raise a story
converting it 10 the injury of others, for the
fntiﬁcuion of hisown revenge. As long as

found my case upon that principle, I con-
tend that it is 2 matter indiffereat to me, as
standing here for the prisoner, whether thid
story of the tube having been in Upton's
pocket was proved positively, or left in a state
of ambiguity and doubt. It does not eome
home to the prisoner, he was’ not at the Cor.
responding Society upon the occasion. It
does not come home to any one of the indi-
viduals clarged in this indictment, for not
one of them-is stated to have been present
upen that orcasion. In short it is a story
which relates distinctly and singly to Upton,
which belongs to his wickedness aud ‘malig.
nity, which is founded in the advantage he
thought.to take of those he conotived 'to b
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his enemics. The tube was cunaingly and
naedysan by'k’l‘i'm to r_ciscfsmplcion; l‘)l?t
open uced, but ing from under his
l’t.ge very mode P:msa false accuser
would adopt. Therefore, I contend, that
every thing which is to be dawn from the
doubtful evidence of these persoms, with
to the existence of this perticular lnn
of the air Enn,nnd what it was (for my lord
examined them particularly to what it was,
and they said, they rather believed it to be a
tube, but could not speak certainly to it) is
evidence that can have no weight in this case,
as fsrlsitreglr:s thepmoner‘; the m;
what it proves, if it es ing, i t
Upton ::: ncmatedp!:;'n::y black .n:i vin-
dictive purpose.

1 come now to the evidence of Mr. Ward,
which merex proved, that he rcceived inform-
ation of this supposed conm‘my from
Upton ; that he communicated that informa-
tion to his majesty’s ministers, and thet in
c uence of it, the several persons were
committed at some subsequent time.—You
will always observe, however, something sin-

in this case; that the information was
given on the 1%th of September; that it was
not commuoicated, as appears, till the 16th:
but that none of the parties were seized till
the 27th, and that there was no reward offered
" for apprehending the prisoner till the end of
February ;—and .I contend that the lastisa
most important fact in this case, because, it
shows that, whatever the diabolical intention
of Upton might bave been; that whatever
the circumstances of the case might have
been at that time; at least that they had not
an idea that there was then evidence laid be-
fore them 10 justify the seizing the prisoner.
Therefore, when I shall come to examine his
demeanour, after the apprehension of the
three other prisoners, you will always bear
this in your mind, that no ground for sus-
icion of Mr. Crossfield can be proved to
ve existed, until such time as his majesty’s
ministers offered a reward to take him, other-
wise they must be supposed negligent of their

d“g;

ntlemen, on the review of all this evi-
dence, T wish to draw yuur attention to what
is proved with regard to what may be called the
instrumentary part of the testimony, that is
to say, the fabrication of the instrument ; and,
1 think, tKou must necessarily with me,
that with respect to the fabrication there is
but one witness who speaks positively to it,
and that one witness :rtks only to a small
part of it, the tube. He does not speak at
all to the use, or to the purpose of it, nor do
any other of the instrumentary witnesses.
The single witness who speaks to it, I say, is
Hill; and with regard to the fabrication of
the other part, I mean the arrow, which forms
s most essential ingredient in this case, be-
causc, without it, the means were not complete
to the end, he says nothing; I say, there-
fore, that the use to which the instrument
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was fo0 be applied, rests entirely upon that
part of the evidence to which l“':r,n Dow
about to come, namely, the confessional evi-
donee,-—thh; prisone: “r“:n )

Upon this part case, [ conjure
attention. 1 shall endeavour tmpresy:‘::
strongly on your minds, because I am
impresoed with it myself. The nature of con-
fessional evidence, or evidence of declaration
such as this, is to be well weighed in a question
of any sort. In a question of this particular’
nature, where the overt act of fabrication
rests on the testimony of one witness only, I
shall contend, and [ think successfully, that it
is not at all to be credited ; and that it is im-

ssible for grave, serious, intelligent men,
ike you, laying your hands upon your
hearts, in solemn judgment upon the life of
that unfortunate person, to say, that there is
that clear, distinct, manifest evidence, which
according to my lord Coke and my lord
Bacon, smounts to proving an overt act of
treason provably ; for you are.not, as lord
Coke tells you, todeal in probabilities, you are
pot 10 deal in conjecture but you are to
say to yourselves, in the solemn moment
of deliberation, do or do not these facts, prove
provably, manifestly, and incontestibly, the
guilt of the prisoner at the bar.

Upon the confessional evidence you will
observe, that there were four witnesses, Lo
Bretton, Dennis, Wiunter, and Penny, to
prove the declarations of the prisoner.—Per-
mit me, again and again, to observe, that this
evidence of declaration, is very doubtful in its
nature. I am sure I do not advance apy
thing in which I shall be contradicted by any
authority in this court, when I say, that it is
to be taken with great consi ion on all
occasions, as aroofofﬁct or intention.

Gentlemen, I bave already called your at~
tention to the important and significant
words in the statute of Edward thie third.
I have resd to you the commentary of
sir Edward Coke, of almost equal authority
with the text. You find with what anxious
solicitude be distinguishes betwecn the words
probably and provably. Unless we accuse
that great lawyer of vagwe, unmeaning ex-
pressions, we must affix a precise sense to the
word on which he dwells with so much force;
he must mean the highest evidence of which
the nature of tbethingilutnble; he must
mean what may be termed legal demonstra.
tion, such demonstration as parol testimoay
affords. Now I wish to present correctly to

our minds the nature of such demoastration ;
it amounts to this, that if the witness speaks
truth, the fact to which he speaks must be
true. For example, in a case of high treasom,
if itbe proved byan eye witness, that a certain
person has been out in arms, in rebellion
against the sovereign, that fact is proved

vably; itis proved to the full extent of
rer::l demonstration; because if the witness
speaks truth, the fact must be true. Bnt
when evidence is given of confession, observe
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what the mature of it is: the person who
gives the testimon{emay speak truth, and yes
the fact may not be true; because the fact
does not depend merely upon the statement
of the witness, it s upon the statement
of another person, who has stated the thing
1o the witness. This doctrine, which cannot
be questioned, makes it fit to receive with
great deliberation, and even with cousiderable

esitation aud doubt, all evidence of coufes-

sion.

But, gentlemen, this goes much farther;
and the rules which govern it are not founded
on any abstract principle of law, not in any
difficult conception, or abstruse train of rea-
soning, but in plain commen sense.

. Confessional evidence is such, that not

only the . n who makes the confession

must be clear from all motives either of hope

or fear, but his mind must be so fashioned

and ‘pref)ared, that you shall believe what he

confesses to be correctly and accurately true.

The person making the declaration must not

be led by hope, on theone hand, or fear onjthe

other, to state circumstances t‘m may make

o his favour; and the mind which 1s to re-

ceive the confession, the person to whom it

is made, must have an accurate, distinct un-

derstanding, capable of carrying it away with

precision, of reporting faithfully, without ex-

lggention or misrepresentation. You will

observe, %00, in all evidence of confession,

the nature of it is such, that it is next to im-

possible to convict for perjury on account of
such testimony. What is the security offered

by the law, that witnesses shall speak truth

0 a court of justice? Itis this, that they

come here under the terror of a penal ‘Krose-

gution if they do mot speak the truth. A

witness who comes to speak to a confessivn,

comcs to give evidence to that which, from

the very nature of it, cannot be negatived,

because it is impossible to swear that a per-

son did not say such or such a thing; all that

can be said by a witness is negltively, that
he did not hear him say it: consequently the

rson who speaks to the declaration, gives

s testimony. without those risks of penal

proceeding ; he is safe from the restraints
and terrors of the law.,

.. Now if you apply this general reasoning to
the present case, observe how strongly it
bears upon it. Consider what the nature of
the question is which you have to try. Itis,
whether the prisoner proposed to prepare
the instrument for the purpose set forth in
the indictment. In other words whether the
preparation of that instrument-—an act inno-
cent in itsclf, and which may as well be con-
mected with objects of philosophical experi-
ment, a8 with a criminal use,---was under-
taken for a particular criminal purpose, which
purpose is proved merely from the declara-
tions of the prisoner, for there is no other cvi-
dence tending to mmpute the guilty motives
which actuated the sup conspiraters.
Such dcclarations are,as I bave already stated,

"A. D. 1796. [110

evidence as to which it is next to impossible
to convict a false witness of perjury. Inad-
dition to this, itis to beobserveg, that the in-
tention of the mind in this case is not like
the ordiuary cases of treason, in which the
fact (like an act of rebellion), if proved, con-
tains evidence of the traitotous mind. In
such a case it is only necessary to prove the
fact, and the intention is proved with it; but
in this case d‘\;ou have received proof of the fact
of making the air gun, and the intention still
remains unproved—the proving a plan to pre-
pare an instrument does not prove a traitor-
ous purpose as to its use-—that must be
proved by thuse who are supposed to know
the purpose. Now the proof of the pu

rests in the miond, and in the character of
truth belonging to the mind of the witness
brought to prove the purpose, which cannot
be examines by any external criterion that
will try its truth or falsebood. Here again,
therefore, the witness is secure against a cone
viction for perjury. So that in this case the
secun;ltz“;}:inn false testimony is removed
ina view; first, as to the proof of
intent ; secondly, as to the testimony of de-
claration or confession ;—and both unite in

the case of that unfortunate gentleman,
But there is still another o tion mate-
rial for your consideration. We know how

very liable mankind is to exaggerate a story;
we know how rare it is for a story to be twice
told exactly in the same words. Now confes-
sion or declaration is a mcre story told. If
the confession relates to a particular distinct
substantive fact, perhaps the withess may be
able to bear it in his memory, if his nature
does not incline him to falsify it; yetif he
does falsify, it is not only difficult but impos-
sible to contradict him by contrary testimony;
but if the confession relates to something
longer and more intricate than a particular
fact, it is sure mever to be repeated twice
without some variation. Every day's experi-
ence, and every common report, demonstrates
the truth of this, .

There is a great difference in confession, ac<
cording to the subject matter to which itis
applieg. If confession is applied 10 com-
mon and ordinary occurrences, in which
there is no motive for falsilfying——or in
which the propensity to exaggeration (that
natural bias of the human mind) is not
necessarily excited, an atlentive listener ma
be a correct reporter. But consider how dit-
ferent this case is: here is a confcssion relat-
ing to high treason; a subject which lays
strong hold of the human mind; here is' a
narrative relating to the greatest, the highest
personage in the rcalm, upon whose exist-
ence the safely of the soctety in which we
live depends, who has gl':rlayed every virtue
during a long reign, whose life could
not be violently and suddenly, taken away by
traitors without exposing the stale to the
most dreadful and calamitous consequences.
What subject so Jikely to lay hold of
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his endmies. The tube was cunningly and
secretly shown by him to raise suspicion ; not
openly produced, but peeping from under his
coat; the very mode which a false aceuser
would adopt. Therefore, I contend, that
every thing which is to be drawn from tbe
doubtful evidence of these persomns, with

to the existence of this particular rut
of the sir gun, and what it was (for my lord
examined them particularly to what it was,
and they said, they rather believed it to be a
tube, but could not speak certainly to it) is
evidence that can have no weight in this case,
as far as it regards the prisoner at the bar;
what it proves, if it proves any thing, is, that
Upton was actuated by some black and vin-
dictive purpose.

1 come now to the evidence of Mr. Ward,
which merely proved, that he received inform-
ation of this supposed conspiracy from
Upton ; that he communicated that informa-
tion to his majesty’s ministers, and that in
consequence of it, the several persons were
committed at some sul t time.—You
will always observe, however, something sin-

in this case; that the information was
given on the 12th of September; that it was
not communicated, as appears, till the 16th :
but that none of the parties were seized till
the 27th, and that there was no reward offered
" for apprehending the prisoner till the end of
February ;—and .I contend that the lastisa
most important fact in this case, because, it
shows that, whatever the diabolical intention
of Upton might bave been; that whatever
the circumstances of the case might have
been at that time; at least that they had not
an idea that there was then evidence laid be-
fore them to justify the seizing the prisoner.
Therefore, when Ishall come to examine his
demeanour, after the apprehension of the
three other prisoners, you will always bear
this in your mind, that no ground for sus-
icion of Mr. Crossfield can be proved to
ve existed, until such time as his majesty’s
ministers offered a reward to take him, other-
wise they must be supposed negligent of their

dng;

ntlemen, on the review of all this evi-
dence, I wish to draw yuur attention to what
is proved with regard to what may be called the
instrumentary part of the testimony, that is
to say, the fabrication of the instrument ; and,
1 think, must necessarily agree with me,
that with respect to the fabrication there is
but one witness who speaks positively to it,
and that one witness srtks only to a small
part of it, the tube. He does not speak at
all to the use, or to the purpose of it, nor do
any other of the instrumentary witnesses.
The single witness who speaks to it, I say, is
Hill; and with regard to the fabrication of
the other part, I mean the arrow, which forms
a most essential ingredient in this case, be-
causc, without it, the means were not complete
to the end, he says nothing; I say, there-
fore, thet the use to which the instrument
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was %0 be applied, rests entirely upon that
part of the evidence to which I am now
about to come, namely, the confessional evi-
pon this part case, I conjure your
sttention. 1 shall endeavour to il':xpremt
strongly on your minds, because I am strongly
impressed with it myself. The nature of con-
fessional evidence, or evidence of declaration
such as this, is to be well weighed in a question
of any sort. In a question of this particular’
nature, where the overt act of fabrication
rests on the ustimonf; of one witness only, I
shall contend, and I think successfully, that it
is not at all to be credited ; and that it is im-
ssible for grave, serious, intelligent men,
ike you, laying your hands upon your
hearts, in solemn judgment upon the life of
that unfortunate person, to say, that there is
that clear, distinct, manifest evidence, which
according to my lord Coke and my lord
Bacon, amounts to proving an overt act of
treason provably ; for you are.not, as Jord
Coke tells you, to deal in probabilities, you ars
not 1o deal in conjecture but you are to
say to yourselves, In the solemn moment’
of deliberation, do or do not these facts, prove’
provably, manifestly, and incontestibly, the
guilt of the prisonet at the bar.

Upon the confessional evidence you will
observe, that there were four witnesses, Lo,
Bretton, Dennis, Winler, and Peany, to
prove the declarations of the prisoner.—Per-
mit me, again and againy to observe, that this
evidence of declaration, is very doubtfu in its.
nature, I am sure I do not advance any
thing in which I shall be contradicted by any
authority in this court, when I say, that it is
to be n with great consideration on all
occasions, as a lymof of fact or intention.

Gentlemen, I have already called your ate
tention to the im) t and significant
words in the statute of Edward the third.
I have read to you the commentary of
sir Edward Coke, of almost equal authority
with the texst. You find with what anxious
solicitude be distinguishes between the words
probably and provably. Unless we accuse
that great lawyer of vagee, unmeaning ex-
pressions, we must affix a precise sense to the
word on which he dwells with so much force;
be must mean the highest evidence of which
the nature of the thing is utnble; he must
mean what may be termed legal demonstra+
tion, such demonstration as parol testimony
affords. Now I wish to-present correctly to
your minds the nature of such demonstration ;-
it amounts to this, that if the witness speaks
truth, the fact to which he speaks must be
true. For example, in a case of high treasom,
if itbe proved byan eye witness, that a certain
person has been out in arms, in rebellion
against the sovereign, that fact is proved
rrovably; it is proved to the full extent of
egal demonstration; because if the witness

truth, the fact must be true. But
when evidence is given of confession, observe
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hat tgneo mature of It is: themperm dwho
ives the testimony may speak and yet
ie fact may notn{e u!.e; because the l{ce:t
ves not depend merely upon the statement
[ the witness, it s upon the statement
f another person, who has stated the thing
» the witness. This doctrine, which cannot
e questioned, makes it fit to receive with
reat deliberation, and even with considerable
esitation and doubt, all evidence of coufes-
on.

But, gentlemen, this goes much farther;
1d the rules which govern it are not founded
1 any abstract principle of law, not in any
fficult conception, or abstruse train of rea-
ming, butin plain common sense.

Coufessional evidence is such, that not
oly the n who makes the confession
wst be clear from all motives either of hope
* fear, but his mind must be so fashioned
T} fprefured, that you shall believe what he
>nfesses to be correctly and accurately true.
he person making the declaration must not
e led by hope, on theone hand, or fear onjthe
ther, to state circumstances that may make
1 his favour; and the mind which is to re-
rive the confession, the person to whom it
» made, must have an accurate, distinct un-
erstandin, capable of carrying it away with
recision, of reporting faithfully, without ex-

tion or misrepresentation. You will
serve, 00, in all evidence of confession,
1e nature of it is such, that it is next to im-
ossible to convict for perjury on account of
xch testimony. What is the security offered
y the law, witnesses shall speak truth
1 a court of justice? Itis this, that they
>me bhere under the terror of a penal prose-
ution if they do not speak the truth. A
'itness who comes to speak to a confessivn,
omes to give evidence to that which, from
e very nature of it, cannot be negatived,
ecause it is impossible to swear that a per-
ondid not say such or such a thing; all that
an be said by a witness is nefitively, that
e did not hear him say it: consequently the
erson who speaks to the declaration, gives
is testimony. without those risks of penal
ing; he is safe from the restraints

nd terrors of the law.

Now if you apply this general reasoning to
e present case, observe how strongly it
ears upon it. Couosider what the nature of
1e question is which you have to try. Itis,
‘hether the prisoner proposed to prepare
he instrument for the purposc set forth in
he indictment. In other words whether the
reparation of that instrument-~an act inno-
ent in itself, and which raay as well be con-
ected with objects of philosophical experi-
1ent, as with a criminal use,---was er-
iken for a particular criminal purpose, which
urpose is proved merely from the declara-
ions of the prisoner, for there is no other cvi-
ence tending to fmpule the guilty motives
vhich acluated the supposed conspirators.
weli declarations are,as g have already stated,
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evidence as to which it is next to impossible
to convict a false witness of perjury. Inad-
dilion to this, it is to be observed, that the in-
tention of the mind in this case is not like
the ordinary cases of treason, in which the
fact (like an act of rebellion), if proved, con-
tains evidence of the traitutous mind. In
such a case it is enly n to prove the
fact, and the inteation is proved with it; but
in this case you have received proof of the fact
of making the air gun, and the intention stil}
remains unproved—the proving a plan to

pare an instrument does not prove a traitor-
ous pur as to its use-—that must be
proved by those who are supposed to know
the purpose. Now the proot of the purpose
rests in the mind, and in the character of
truth belonging to the mind of the witness
brought bzestove the purpose, which cannot
be exami lg any external criterion that
will try its truth or falsehood. Here again,
therefore, the witness is secure against a cone
viction for perjury. So that in this case the
secun}zugrinn false testimony is removed
ina view; first, as to the proof of
intent; secondly, as to the testimouy of de-
claration or confession ;—and both unite in
the case of that unfortunate gentleman,

But there is still another observation mate-
rial for your consideration. We know how
very liable mankind is to exaggerate a story;
we know how rare it is for a story to be twice
told exactly in the same words. Now confes-
sion or declaration is a incre story told. If
the confession relates to a particular distinct
substantive fact, perbaps the withess may be
able to bear it in his memory, if his nature
does not incline him to falsify it; yetif he

alsify, it is not only difficult but impos-
sible to contradict him by contrary testimony;
but if the confession relates to something
longer and more intricate than a parsticular
fact, it is sure mever to be repeated twice
without some variation. Every day’s experi-
ence, and every common report, demonstrates
the truth of this,

There is a great difference in confession, ac~
cording to the subject matter to which itis
appli If confession is applied to com-
mon and ordinary occurrences, in which
there is no motive for falsifying—or in
which the propensity to exaggeration (that
natural bias of the human.mind) is not
necessarily excited, an attentive listener ma;
be a correct reporter. But consider how dif-
ferent this case is: here is a confession relat-
ing to high treason; a subject which lays
strong hold of the human mind; here is a
narrative relating to the greatest, the highest
personage in the realm, upon whose exist-
ence the safety of the society in which we
live depends, who has ;i:rlayed every virtue
during a long reign, whose life could
not be violently and suddenly. lakcn away by
traitors without exposing the stale to the
most dreadful and calamitous consequences.
What subject so likely to lay hold of
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the.imagination, and tolead to the excess of
those failings which ave ‘incident, perhaps
in such & case honousable, to.our nature ?
Consider, too, -that the.prisomer at that
time (for 1 shall have.occasion to speak
hereafter of his demeanor) was in a situation
where he mighvbe flattered with a hope that
particular representations might be favour-
able to him, and that be wmight thereby
alleviate. that. captivity inte which he had

fallen. .
- Gentlemen, I feel all this so deeply im-
upon my own mind, L feel it so much
a part of my duty w be.well founded in these
topics, that I am anxious to carry you beyond
the authority of the couasel for the prisoner.
1 am desirous to follow the example of my
leasned friend, the attorney-general, and to
show you from,grave, legal authority-—not the
speech of an advocate, but the deliberate opi-
pions of judges, of the wisest and best law-
yers who ever dispensed justicein this country
~—that my principles are correct.

The first authority to which I shall refer
z:tl.l is Mr. Justice Blackstone, whe in his

rth volume, in which he treats of crimes,
says, with regard to confession—“ But basty
unguarded confessions, made to persons
having no authority, ought not to be admitied
as evidence undes this statute::” he is there
talking of the act of Edward the 3rd. Ob-
serve, gentlemen, I do no§ now apply it as it
regards the question of admissibility or
inadinissibility. The cvidence is legally ad-
mitted under the authority of the judge wha
presides heré. But I apply it as it regards
the credit attached to the evidence, not
to its admissibility.

Mr. Justice Blackstone, on the same topic,
goes on to say—** But hasty unguarded con-
tessions made to persons having-no authority
ought not to be admitted as evidence under
this statute; and, indeed, even in cases of fe-
Jony, at the common law, they are the weak-
est and most suspicious of all testimony;—
ever liable to be oblained by artifice, talse
hopes, and promises of favour, or menaces-—
seldom remembered accurately or reported
with due precision, and incapable in their na-
ture of being disproved by other negative evi-
dence.” N :

. Gentlcmen, I again state that I do not now
contend about theadmissibility of the evidence;
1 am only showing you how lawyers of great
eminence have laid down the doctrine with
regard to its being admissible or inadmissible,
in order to'persuade you that in this case no
credit is due to the testimony laid before you.

I come now to the author relied upon by
the attorney-general---Mr. Justice Foster.

He says “ Words are transient and fleeting
as the wind ; they are frequently the effect of
sudden transport, easily misunderstood and

often misreported.” He, upon this occasion, |-

is not talking of words with a view to their
Leing treasonuble or not treasonable, but
when he uses the marked expressions to
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widichy Ihrave veferreéd, hé is speaking 6f pro-
secitions for seditious words. Now, if 'words
in one view are of that nature, all confes-
sions] evidence, alk evidence of declaration is
exactly of the same nature; because alf de-
clarations consist of words. But upon the

| present occasion, the declaration extends to a

considerable. length, their weight depends
upon the precision and' aceuracy with which
the words are reported ; and I contend, there- .
fore, that the doctrine applicable to words, as
laid down here; % to be easily misunderstood
and often misreported,” is applicable to
declarations and confessions of every sort.

- In anether part of his most excellent book,
he lays down the principle corr‘ectl! and ac-
curately. In the case of Willis,® tried for

- hightreason, it oteurred to consider ‘whethet

a confession is evitlence proper to be left to a
jury or not, under particular circumstapces
which I may have occasior tostate, Mr. Justice
Foster, atecr discussing that case, which it is
unneceseary for me to trouble you with at pre-
sent, says—¢ The reader sees.that opinions
have been variaus touching the sufficiency of
this sort of evidence” (thatis the admissibi-
bility of confessions); © but perhaps it may be
now too late to controvert theauthority of the
opinion in 1716, warranted as it hath been by
the Jate precedents ; all Timsist on is, that the
rule should -never be carrted farther than
that case warranteth—never farther than to
a-confession made during the solemnity of an
examination beforea magistrate, or a person
having authority to take it, when the party
may be presumed to be properly upon his
guard, and .apprized of the danger in which
he standeth; which was an ingredient in
the case of Francia 4+ and of Gregg, cited in
the argument in Francia’s case.” kie then
g{m oa to give the reason, and he gives it in

is simple and eloquent manner—¢ For hasty
confessions made to persons having no autho-
rity to exaggine, are the weakest and most
suspicious of all evidence ; proof may be too
easily procured,”—I1 beg, gentlemen, you
will mark the words :—* orss arc often mis-
reported ; whether through ignorance, inat-
tention, or malice, it mattereth not to' the
defendaut—he is equally affected in either
case; und they are extremely liablc to mis-
construction; and withal - this evidence is
not, in the ordinary course of things, to he
disproved by that sort of negative evidence by
which the proof of plain facts may be, and
often is confronted.”

Such, gentlemen, is the opinion of the
author upon whom Mr. Attorney-General re-
lies, expressed in the most solemn and em-
phatic language, and enforcing the doctrine
which I have been laying down. :

You sce, from Mr. Justice Foster, that

* See Vol. 15, pp. 693 et seq. .

1 See it, anté, Vol. 15, p. 898; see also the
case of .Berwick, Vol. 18, p. 367,
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there was 2 time when there was & question
with regard to the admissibility of that testi-
mony. Wherever there is 4 question as to
the admissibility or inadmissibility, the com-
petencf or incompetency, of evidence, it ne-
cessarily involves the question of credit. If
the question of edmissibility is got over, then
the evidence goes to the jury, but it goes to
the jury clogged with every argument against
its credit that could have applied to the
admissibility of the testimony—it goes te the
jury liable to every observation that couM have
Lecn made to jodge in order to prevent
m:: fiom reeoiving it. I a;nwre, hl:erefore,

t I am in my proper place, when, upon
the effect of this confessional testimony, Ip:om
addressing you upon gensral principles, de-
vived from the works of learned and sound
lawyers; deliberated upon and set down in
their writings in the most grave and the
most serious moments, and in the contempla-
tion of cases precisely similar to the present.
Therefore, in the langusge of my lerd chief
Justice Hale mo lays down the same doctrine
with Foster, but whose words I do not trouble
you with citing at length) talking of the bles-
sings of our constitutional mede of trial, par-

) applying it to treason, < Juries are
nol only triers of the enuse,imt they are
triers of the credit of the witnesses ; nay they
ate not only triers of the credit of the wit-
""'"’&c . but they are triers of the credit of the

u‘l . .

Thus I come round sgain to the principle
from which 1 took my de , namely,
thnﬁ:s matter of le ‘l demonstt::i;n, thle in-
tention is not pm% ly iroved use le,
demonstration is that by wh{ch, if the wit-
negsspeaks trath, the facts must be true; butin
the case of confessional evidence, the witness
may speak truth, and yet the fact may be
utterly false,

The effect of evidence of declarations de-
pends on two things—upon mind which
eonveg: and upon the mind which receives ;
and then it is to be weighed with a consider-
ation of those other circumstances, which I
have taken the li of stating and enforc-
ing, namely, that it is unrepellable by nega-
tive evidence, that it is next to impossible to
convict for perjury on such testimony—You
must well examine the character of the mind
of the s who e the coififessions,
For in tais case, gentlemen, you have an ex-
sople caloulated to illustrate the doctrine, and
to warn you of the fallibility of this sort of
evidence. You will not forget tie old man,
Winter, who came here*to give testimony to
these most grave and serious declarations, in
which soundness of judgment, as well as ac-
curacy of memory, constitutes a most impor-
tant and principal quality, of which indeed it
is the eesence, who told you as matter of his
firm belief the incredible story of the hare
having lived amidst the dogs, without bein
touched by them. I ask you, -gentlemen, 1
tiat man ought to be belicved as to the con-

. VOL. XXVI,
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tion of the prisoner? 1 ask you, if he

s a mind fit to be trusted in a matter sa so-
lemn io its effects, so delicate and so nice as
matter of evidence P

I must anxiously pressupen yowr minds
the doubtful nature of such testimony, be-
cause I am perfectly confident that honest,
just, and humane men, like you, will pot .
touch a hair of that man’s head, if you are
convinced that the case is only probably
proved ; that you will require to be convinced
that it is provably proved ; that is to say, that
the facts upon which the intention depends
must be such faéts as cannot but be certainly
true,
Gentlemen, Mr. Justice Foster says, in the’
book which 1 have al quoted, « evidence
of confession is corroborative evidence.” What
does he mean by that expression ?—He means
that it is auxiliary evidence. Auxiliary evidence
for what? to assist the overt acts previously
established. Does he not, then, when in
1746 he uses that word corroborative as appli-
cable to confessions—¢ that they can only cor~
roborate or assist facts otherwise proved,”—
mean to convey what lord Coke did, when he
said, a century and a half before that period,
that treason must be proved provably ¥ Mr.
Justice Blackstone confirms the doctrine ; and
it has lately been acknowledged by very high
authority in the 'Elace where 1 am now s
ing.® I have, then, the whole history of the
law in my favour: I have the words of the
statute in my favour, and the exposition of
the statute as delivered by lord Coke: I have
the doctrine of criminal jurisprudence, as car-
ried into a court of justice by the enlightened
and t mind of lord Bacon, acling as pro-
secutor for the Crown: I have the solemn
opinion of Mr. Justice Foster: I have it laid
down by Mr. Justice Blackstone, with whose
emioence you are all acquainted, and whose
works are so popular that you, no doubt, have
read them : Yohave all these different testimo-
nies, confirming the doctrine which I have
advanced ; and 1 am sure when you come to
examiune this confessional evidence here, you
will with mercy and discernment, consider

‘again and again whether it is possible upon

such testimony td convict the prisoner, under
such circumstances, of an intention 3o
proved; when he stood in such a situation of
mducement to speak rz};,hl , and when the
witnesses were so little likely to retain:cor-
rectly what he may have spoken. I am suré
you will hesitate mucfk beforé you permit
yourselves to believe such testimony.

Subject to these general observations, per-
mit me to state to you what the evidence is
which has been actually given. "I have men-
tioned the four witnesses, Deunis, Winter,
Penny, and Le Bretton. I have collected the
different modes in which’ they swear, with re-

® At the Old Bailey, 1786. Vide Leach’s
Hawkins’s P, Cr. Vol 2, p. 604. note: ek
of 1787,

I
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gard to this particular point. As to the other
points of their evidence, that is a different
and future consideration. Le Bretton says, he
heard the prisoner say, “ he was oneof those
who invented the gun 1o shoot at his ma-
Jjesty.” Dennis states that the prisoner said,
“ the king was to be assassinated by a
dart blown through a tube, and he knew
it was constructed.” Winter swears he said,
« that he shot at his majesty, and damned
unluckily missed him.” Penny says, “that
he was one of the ring-leaders of the three
that attempted to blow a dart at his majesty
in Covent Garden.” Mark the discrepancies
in these accounts, and next observe what the
fact is upon which the indictment rests, and
upon which the prosecutors depend for your
verdict of guilty, According to their case a
conspiracy existed in September 1794, which
was discovered by Upton ; in conscquence of
Upton’s discovery, three of the conspirators
were arrested; Upton was not imprisoned
himself, because he was the spy and dis-
coverer ; Crossfield was never mentioned nor
advertised till the month of February after;
in the mean time this plot, if it ever had any
existence at ll, was totally at an end. The
positive direct evidence upon which my friend
must rest his right to call upon you for a ver-
dict against the prisoner, is this, that here
was a plot in which this prisoner had a share;
which plot was broken up and put an end to
by the arrestment of three of the principal
sup conspirators in the month of Se|
tember. In February Crossfield is taken in
Brest in & prison ship; there, in a situation
where such conversation might avail him
with the French, or he might think so, with
an impression on his mind of that sort, to
these witnesses such as you have seen them
she gives four contradictory accounts, or ra-

ther they give four varying testimonies. You |

will observe, some of them suppose that an
attempt on the king’s life had actually been
made; sume that it was only intended ; and
some suppose it in one way, others inanother.
Now the fact upon which.the cause rests, ac-
cording to the case of the Crown, is this, not
that the attempt was actually made, but that
it was sed to be made, and disappointed ;
that the intent was never carried into exe-
cution, even to the lenglh of fabricating the
instrument. Does not this show you that the
very testimony in this case is so frail and un-
substantial in its nature, that it is impossible
it should make an impression upon honest,
just, humane minds, or minds of intelligence
and discernment ? Is it not clear from this,
that all the general doctrines which are
written in the books, arc most material in the
consideration of this evidence, and that the
testimony now before you, is, as it were, cal-
culated to illustrate the wisdom of those emi-
neat and profound lawyers, and to show the
infioite risk of admitting such evidence?

Is a person like Winter, believing the most
ridiculous and improbable stories, col?tending
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even now before you on his solemn
earnestly for their truth, treated, as he himself
admits, like a person that was scoffed and
jested at by cvery one,—isa man like Dennis,
who proves himself to have an enmitz Tust
the prisoner, by his declarations to Cuthbert
at the l'iV{ council,—is a man like Le Bret-
fon, w will 8rovc to0 you, attempted to
persuade captain Clarke to support him in his
suspicious testimony, but from Clarke’s ho-
nesty failed in accomplishing his object,—are
witnesses like these to convince you of the
deep guiltc d to the prisoner at the bar?
Are v.g:y to be held as bavin% proved that an
instrument, the preparation of a small part of
which is established by one witness only
(Hill), and the existence of which never was
proved at all;—which received no crimipal
complexion in this cause, but from these wit-
nesses of confessions;—which received fo
particular application from any of the wile
Desses to the preparation;—was meant for
the black and shocking purpose imputed by
the indictment? The confessions of the pri-
soner are contradictoryin themselves; dir
adverse to the case upon which the attorney-
general must rest his cause. you by
possibility believe such confessions? But the
case does not rest even here: you have had
the evidence of Penny, of Winter, of Le Bret«
ton, and of Dennis, with regard to the situa-
tion of the prison ships, and about the dife
ferent persons who were in captivity; who, if
these things were spoken, must have

them, because they were the messmates and
intimates of the prisoner. You will recollecs
above all, Le Bretton's testimony, with regard
to captain Clarke; and you will recollect with
what unwillingness, when I put some ques-
tions to him, chose to admit that he had
any intercourse with carlain, Clarke at Mrs,
Smith’s. You will récollect Le Bretton’s tes~
timony under these particular circumstances.
Here then are gur persons (whom I have al-
ready charactefized, and I will not trouble
you with cbaractexizinﬁ in), who swear to
these confessions, and these four witnesses
state, that there might have been three times
four witnesses present when the confessions
were made, who all came to England in the
cartel ship, who kncw the prisoner, wha lived
in iptimacy with him, who were likewise
men of education, and who messed at the
same table with him; all of whom might’
have been brought here in order to have
proved this case.

Gentlcmen, it was in the power of the °
Crown to have brought them ; to what quarter
of the world are they fled ?~above all where
is captain Clarke?—I cannot conceive wh
he is not here; he was examined to the fﬁc{
The counsel for the Crown knew his testi.
mony. It was impossible for us to bring him
here, the prisoner could not bear the expense
of his detention. But I will prove most dis-
linctly, that a conversation passed between
Le Bretton and captain Clacke, wheacin he
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attempted to excite Clarke to give evidence
against the prisoner, which Clarke refused as
fnconsistent with the truth. That is not all,
but I stand in this fortunate predicament; I
am capable by mere accident (for it was not
in the power of this poor man to afford to
keep the witnesses at a Ereat expense; they
miggn, but for accident, have sailed from this
country),—I am able, I say, to produce two of
the witnesses who messed, and constantly as-
sociated with the prisoner. Now, mark the
situation in which I produce these witnesses,
and the argument which is to be derived from
this circumstance, with re to this con-
fessional testimony. In the first place I will
prove to you, from these witnesses, that the
Prisoner expressed great cheerfulness at leav-
1ng France. In the next place, I will prove
that he might have very easily reipained in
France, if he had chosen it. I shall tender
these witnesses to the cross-examination of
learned friends; I know their powers
and their abilities, I know the sense they have
of their duty, and Iam ready to risk the con-
firmation of their case by those witnesses.
I say, then, if witnesses of the highest re-
tlity to be found in the place at the
time, proved to have been in the society of
Mr. Crossfield at the time spoken to by the
persons who have been examined by the pro-
secutor, are brought before you, and swear
that they heard no such declarations; does it
not amount very nearly to a negative proof?
were they not the best witnesses to have sup-
ported the tion? were they not the
persons who would be most likely to have re-
tained with fidelity the confessions, if there
had been any? You will remember that two
tlemen of the name of Byron were men-
tioned, and others whose names I need not
recite to you. All of them were brought over
in the cartel ship. Where are those persons?
Gentlemen, their absence is a strong circum-
stance in favour of the prissner; especially
when the positive testimony is at variance
with itself, and each witness contradicts the

Ifind it necessary, from time to time, in
order that I may omitno part of the serious
duty which I have to discharge to my
client, to summon my recollection that I may
be ‘sure that nothing has escaped me; and
upon reflection it does not seem that in going
over the evidence 1 have omitted any thing
that mighft" be i?pom“‘ t for m: to observe
v 80 as ve e. It is a great
s&q:‘cﬁon to me, to thil;“km that my learned
friend who sits by me [Mr. Gurney], who will
make up for Txdeﬁcxencies, is to have an
opportunity of addressing you after our wit.
nesees are called; and it 1s a still greater sa-
tisfaction for me to think, that the learned
gemm who preside upon this occasion, and

hose opinions upon evidence are as en-
Yightened and as any that exist in
these enli j

ned times, or in any times, will
hnho%uuﬁtyo?&hhlqingtbeirduty
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towards the prisoner, for your aid and for
the furtherance of justice upon this occasion.

I now proceed to a topic which I have
placed last, not from the dread of encoanter-
ing it, for I am convinced that if there is any
impression against the prisoner on the part of
the subject to which I now refer, that I shall be
able to relieve your minds from it; but I place
it last, because it seems its proper order—I
refer to the conduct and demeanour of the
prisoner, from which my learned friend, the
attorney-general, wishes to draw a proof of
his guilt;—that is, he states his conduct to
have been such, immediately after the disco-
very and the apprehension of the other pri-
soners, as to lead to the supposition that he
from that time, down to the time when he
was apprehended in Cornwall, was in such
places, and acting in such a manner as todead
neglesnrily to a conclusion thut he must be
guilty.

In the first place, I am sure, that is a con-
clusion which you will not be rash in draw-
ing upon such evidence as you have had, even
if there was no answer to be given to that
evidence. When a person is likely to be put
in a situation of peril, although he may not
be guilty, he may wish to keep out of that si-
tuation of peril.  Such conduct is perfectly
natursl, and therefore it is too much to say,
that a bad motive is alwu{s to be imputed,
when, in point of fact, unlessa bad motiveo
is evident, the motive may be indifferent ; and
you ought to lean to the side of innocence,
rather than to a conclusion or guilt.—But
consider what the nature of this gentleman’s
demeanour was; he remained some days in
London after he knew of the discovery of this
supposed plot ; he then went to Bristol. Now
the proof that is before you of his having been
at Bristol, is of this nature; he assumed no
feigned name; he retired into no private
place; he made no attempt to leave the coun-
try ; yet Bristol is a sea-port town of the first
resort, from which there is constant and facile
communication to every partof the world; to
neutral ports ; to places where he might have
ensurcd protection. Whereas, if you know
the South sea fishery trade, in which he after-
wards embarked, you must be aware that they
touch at no place ; andalthough they perform
a long voyage, they return to this country
without landing any where. He goes to Bris-
tol, and never attempts to leave thekingdom ;
he never secretes himself; he goesinto places
of public resort, and does not change his
pame. Compare Bristol with London. 1T
need notstateto you (but it is incumbent
upon me to make every observation, however
common it may seem)—I need not state, that
a msn at Bristol would be more easily disco-
vered than in London. It is comparatively a
very small place. He aflerwards returns to
London, you observe it is the month of
January before he embarks. He goes on
board at Portsmouth, the most frequented
sea-port town in the kinglom, where there is
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a constant and numerous concourse of his ma.
jesty's officers—persuns naturally upon the
watch—a town where there is, to the honour
of the chief magistrate be it spoken, the
best regulated police that exists in any

wn in the kingdom. Cap you bave anima-
,gnation that a person should land under his
own name, and go publicly to shops to buy
things,in Portsmouth, who is sought after to
be seized by government; that he should not
conceal himself at all ; and yet that his de-
meanour should be held criminal? They sail
from Portsmoutb, and put into Falmouth;
from Mr. Le Bretton you have it very un-
willingly stated, that he went once a-shore
there, but under no concealment. If captain
Clarke had been here, I could most undoubt-
edly have established beyond contradiction,
that be lived very much a-shore with him; but
I have it not in my power to produce that
witness ; I may however be able, perhaps, to
establish the fact by other testimony. Ob-
serve the situation of Falmouth; it is the
most westerly port in this kingdom ; the
place whence all the Eublic packets go;
it is a small town with only one street;
where no person can conceal bimself ; itis
a place of constant intercourse with Lon-
don; the resort of all the king's messen-
%e:s—the very persons sent to apprehend
those accused of treason ; it is the place there-
fote where such & person was more likely to
be taken than in any other place in the king-
dom. You have it in evidence from the wit-
nesses of the prosecutor, that he did go on
shore once at Falmouth ; I hope to give evi-
dence of his going on shore more frequently ;
but I can say this, upon the evidence already
given, that at this time he never changed his
name, and yet remained there from the third
tp the thirteenth of February, and all this
time it is supposed that there was gn eager-
ness, an anxiety upon the part of government
to seize his ;;erson.

The vessel sailed on the 18th of February
end was captured on the 15th. I come now
10 a most important fact indeed.  You have
heard the evidence of confessiop, thatis, decla-
rations of the prisonerunder the circumstances
which I havestated. You have had evidence
Jikewisc from the same witnesses, stating that
immediately upon the caj ture, he expressed
%_teat Jjoy at the idea of getting to France.

ou have this as evidence of declaration.—
mark what you have on the other hand. You
have the evidence of the fact itself—of what
fact? Of a fact that he risked his life in a
double view, where he might have beea kill-
ed in the attempt, or where he must have
ﬁpne to inevitable execution if he had been

iscovered. What was theattempt? A plan,
together with the English sailors, to seize the
mariners and captain of the French ship
which captured them, for the purpose of es-
caping—of escaping from whence? Of es-
caping from France; certainly not of going
30 Erance, Ighall prove ik mose incontes-
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tibly, but it is already upon tbe evidence that
the prisoner was one of those who joined in
that design, a circumstance affording an un-
answerable argwent for my client, by esta~
blishing an act altogether inconsistent with the
loose declarations which have been proved.

What is the supposed declaration? His
eagernesa to go to France. In what circum-
stances are the witnesses placed who prove.

that declaration? They cannos, from the.
nature of confessiopal evidence, 8s I have
alrcady shown you, be counvicted of petjury.
What was the doctrine of the great and
en]iggnened mind of lord Mansfield? What
Xfu isl uniform mled in a.sce&unmg’l i the:';nh
arol testimony, during o iod in
whli’ch he presided with such emnn'im and
effect, in the supreme crimisal court of this
country? What was it but this? Leok to.
the facts and circumstances, consider what
lawyers call the evidentia rei: observe the
transactions as they passed ; they never lie ;
consider if they confirm aor rebut the testis
mony of the witness. No ingenuity, gentle-
men, can twist or turn them ; no cross-exami-
natjon can shake them; no loose words can
vary them ; they carry conviction to the mind.
Wwenl:lx Then 1 have proved from the:
mouth of adverse¢ and. unwilling witnesses
(from that unwilling witness le Bretton,
from that hostile witness Dennis, who en-l\'i
Dot restrain his cumity, but abused the pri-
soner as he througb to the privy coun-:
cil room), the important fact that Crossfield
Joined inthe scheme of the Eaglish sailors te.
seige, at the rigk of his life, the French shi
with a view to release himeelf from F)
bondage. I am sure if he were the man they
describe him, be could not have been im-

t{,essedwjthf ings to dictate such an act.
ould a man who is beld up to you as guilty
of every species

of irregulasity in point of
conduct, and of immy in point of opi-.
nions, who is represented as entertaining sen~:
timents derimental to the first prineiples of
thia constitution, who is sup - to. bave
aimed at the life of his sovereign; can it be.
believed that such a person. haxe under-
taken to be the first to enter the Ereneh
cabin, to seize the captain, that hs mighs
avoid taking refuge in a countzy where he
might have been secure, and rewurn to another
where he must answer for his. cimes? No.
“What would the natural conduct of such a-
man have been? He would: have agreed 10
the plan to seize the French ship, for the,pine
pose of discorering it to. the French capiain.
Does it appear from these witnesses, hostile
as they are, thas he ever proposed %o discoves:
it? No. Hsa entered bhonestly into the
design, to release himselfifeom French capti~
vity, to restore himself to Eaglish. freedom.
eotlemen, this factdestroys:all suspicien,
of his guilt as to the crime imputed to him ;.
shows him incapable of disclosing the design
to the French, who in that case. most un-.

doubtedly would have given.him.a faveurahis
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reception in France. HE might then bave
heen to the Convention, as a friend

eatitled to a reward for his services; he
might then bhave commenced a communica«
tion with them to have forwarded their views
on his rcturn to England; facts asserted but
not proved in any respeet whatever.

Beflect, I beseech you, on the characters
and prejudices of the witnesses who prove the
matter which I have been discussing. Con-
sider the im e of it in all its aspects,
and theu tell me, combining common obser-
vation on the nature of human conduct with
those learned observations on declaratory,
confessional evidence which I have drawn
from the pure sources of Hale, Foster, and
Blackstone, whether, you can find the priso-
%(‘nil!yl' Tell me, whether even, con-

ting the levity of his character and

baucheries in respect %0 wine, or opium,
* or women, asthey have been proved (but I
am not here, remember, to the moral
conduct of the prisoner, but %o state reasons,
and I em rrsmded unanswerable reasons,
why you will not suppoee him guilty of the
crime with which he is charged); when you
compase that fact with the nature of the con-
fessions, is it possible to conceive that the
prisoner could be the man, to conceal a design
against the French captain, and to harbour a
design against the life of his sovereign ?

Gentlemen, I really feel now that I have
exhausted almost everypart of this case, yet
thereare two totics remaining upon which I
must likewise submit my opinion to you; and,
E, think, I can acconnt for them in such a
mdnaer, that if any i:nressionn should re-
nun‘h. on your mindsm ] regudb p:ir them,

se_impressions will soon be wiped away.
‘The first is his changing his name to Wilson
before he left Frauce ; the next is his conduct
301 landing in England. As to his change
name in France, can any thing be imputed
toitatall? You observe, from the-evidence
of all the witnesses, that he was known by
his real pame to man thut came home
in the cartel ship, and that he lived with
them constantly during their captivity. You
have itproved that he was a man in very diffi-
cult circumstances, as to his pecuniaryaffairs.
Consider then the change of name-upon any
rule or principle of common sense. His
name of Crossfield was known to
every body long before he left France. They
1t was not so generally known at first,

h Le Bretton admits that Clarke might

have known that his mame was Crosefield.
Le Bretton says, he knew him generally by
the name of doctor; but he who had been
known originally by the naroe of doctor (the
usual appellation for the su of a ship
among. sailors) was universally known in the
prison ship, by the name of Cross-
field—universally known by that name: ob-
sexve what he ; he changes his name,
when he is to come to England in the com-

pany.of thewvery peresons with whom-he lived

ner
tem
his
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under the name of Crossfiedd. It does not
that when be landed here, and was
taken at Fowey, under the justice’s w.
that he ever attempted to conceal his
nsme. None of the witnesses who were
to prove the taking him into custody, at
Fowey, prove that he there called himself
Wilson ; on the contrary, he answered without
hesitation to the name of Crossfield, as Col-
mer, the constable, proved on his cross-exa-
mination. How does the prosecutor’s case
stand then in point of consistency? He first
declares his treason, he then makes known
his name, and lastly he takes a false name in
the full knowledge of all those whom he is
supposed to have made acquainted with his
crimes. Can 2 conclusion of criminality be
drawn from such conduct?

The other circumstance regards his conduct
upon landing.': ou have heard what the na-
re of his ¢ ter is; you have heard of his
levity, and of his habit of intoxication. I ad-
mit that you have not had it yet proved posi-
tively that he was very much intoxicated at
the time he was taken at Fowey; but the
witnesses would not venture to swear he was
sober. Nay, admit he was a little in-
toxicated. Intoxication is no defence against
a crime, but it is a clear defence against that
sort of conduct which is to raise an inference
of a crime. Although drunkenness will not
release a person from the guilt of a crime ac-
tually committed, yet drunkenness, most un-
doubtedly, where you are only to raise an in-
ference from a man’s actions, will weaken or
destroy any inference to be raised from his
actions. Now observe what he does after he
had the conversation with the constables.
His conversation, as you will recollect, was

ressing the constables who look him to let

im go; that the constables asked him if they
let him go how they should get rid of the
postillion; to which, they said, Crossfield
answered, “ give me one of {our istols and
I'll pop at him.” Immediately after this he
falls fast asleep, and he sleeps more than half
the way between Fowey and Bodmin. Is it
not most extraordinary if this person was not
either inebriated, or in such a state that his
mind should receive no impression from the
apprehension ofthe crime for which heis now
tried, that, after a conversation of this kind
he should have fallen into a sound sleep, and
remained in it all the rest of the journey?
Here again therefore I call u you to exa-
mine this case according to the common rules
of prabability ; and say, whether the conclu-
sion must not necessarily be that this s!
wild conversation was the effect of drunken-
ness.

I have, I think, gone through every thi
with relation to &wgo evidencegthal hay.s bene!gl
given, and it is now my purpose very briefly
to address you wpon the nature of the evidence
which I shall lay before you. I shall do this

lemen very briefly for many reasons.

First of all, because I have consumed s
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t deal of your time. In the next place,
my learned friend (Mr. Gurney) who
comes after me, I know will observe on it
afler it is given with great ability, and with
great advantage to his client. But, gentle-
men, thereisa‘pmof it which I am under
the necessity of stating to you very particu-
larly, because it relates to one of the main
and singular features of this case. You have
heard again and again, from Mr. Attorney
General of the name of Upton; you have
heard that name from many of the witnesses,
and from Mrs., Upton, the widow (as she
stated herself) of Upton. I hardly know,
gentlemen of the jury, how to unfold to
you the extraordinary circumstances [ am
about to mention. There was no part of this
case, I do assure you sincerely, that gave
me more anxiety than the report that this
rson had been drowned, or was no more.
knew that if he had been brought here,
his demeanour, and thouse circumstances
that could have been proved against him,
would have completely satisfied your minds
upon this subject, and that all those observa-
tions, which I have had the honour of ad-
dressing to you, would have received addi-
tional aid, from his deportment, and from
his character.

The evidence of Mrs. Upton is, that her
husband’s hat is the only of his apparel
which has been found, and that he left a seal
with her the morning he wentaway. I could
not understand what my learned friend, Mr.
Garrow, meant by interrogating her as to the
seal, unless it was to represent the deliver
of it, as a token of love and friendship, whic
he lcft with a wife whom he was to see no
more, being determined to destroy himself.
I can put no other construction upon that
fact. Gentlemen, his hat has been found,
but Mrs. U‘rton did not say his body has been
found ; and yet it is rare indeed if a person
has been drowned, that there should be no-
thing found of the body. And it is more rare
in this country thanin any other, because we
all know there is a legal proceeding upon all
ev;nts of that szrt. v b

t is certain that Upton has not appeared
since that day. Whgther he will be seen
again in this world or nv, I am sure I cannot
pretend to say; hut I am perfectly sure of
this, thatI shall be able to lay before you
tesymony, which will at least amount to as
strong proof of his being alive, as the evidence
given 13' Mrs. U(gton is proof of his death.

Mr. Attorn .—The Court stopped
me in this; I only now lay in my claim to
answer the evidence if any such is offered.

Mr. Adum.—Gentlemen, I have received
the intimation of my learned friend, as I re-
ceive every intimation from him, I am sure,
with great respect. I have considered (as far
as the moment will give me an opportunity
of considering) what course I shall steerupon
this intimation; and, I have no hesitation
in saying to you, and in saying to my lord,
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that whatever the wisdom of the court
may - hereafier determine, with regard to the
testimony - that my friend wishes to pro.
pose upon that subject, I think it so_es-
sential to this case in one point of view,
though not at all so in another, that the evi-
dence with respect to Upton’s being alive
should be laid before you, that I cer-
tainly think it my duty to offer it. When I'
say in one and not in another r. t, I will
state to my learned friend, how I do notthink
it essential in one view: Itis not from the
least idea that every diligent search, thatevery
active inquiry which talents and integrity can
direct, and industry and fidelity can execute,
has not been used upon thepresent occasion, in-
order to obtain this man, and to bring him into
court as a witness ; because I know perfect!

well, that my learnedfriend never states for ef-
fect,that which he does not meanto prove; and,
therefore, when I say that I shall give evi-
dence which will raise doubts respecting Upton

.being alive, I say it without the least view

of ray the most distant suspicion, that
every%l:(gmry bhas not been used to discover
him, for no person can pay any man higher
respect than I do the person who exercises

the fanction of inquiry and preparation in
these ings. But in er respect
I think it most essential to go into the evi-

dence, and I think so for this reason: Be-
cause if I can raise a doubt in your minds
with regard to the existence of this man, if I
can fasten upon your understandings a belief
that this man is not dead, but has gone out
of the way, if I can raise a presumption that
the seal was delivered asa trick andasa plan:
and that this man (who had committed almost
every other crime) had contemplated or
wished others to believe that hecontemplated
to end his life by suicide, if I can establish
those things, I prove the foundation of this
plot to lodge in a character and to result from
a mind fraught with such infamy, loaded with
such opprobrium, that I hard:y now how to
find words to express myself on the subject.
Therefore as this plot has declaredly its oﬁ?n
in Upton, I think it essentially necesms or
the interests of my client to bring forward this
evidence.

Gentlemen, I have already observed some-
what upon this evidence, and therefore, I
will not take up your time one moment long:;
respecting it. When it is given, it will be-
for my friend (Mr. Gurney) to direct your at-
tention to its effect; and if the case should
take the turn which it seemsit may possib
do, from what the attorney-general states,
may have an opportunity again, perhaps, of
ad ressinlﬁ some words to you upon the whole"
of the evidence relating to Upton.

The other evidence which I have to lay
before you, I have almost sufficiently pointed
out in the course of what I have said. I
shall produce some witnesses, who were in
France, to the facts which occurred there to
re confessional evidence. I shall pro-
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duce a variety of witnesses to Upton’s charac-
ter., Ishall produce a variety of witnesses to
the circumstances of the times when the plot
was contrived (though they are proved H the
history of the times, and will be admitted). I
shall call witnesses to the inquiries, the dis-
putes, the rancour, the animosity, and the
chiallenge between Upton and the other pri-
soners, concluding with testimony to Cross-
field's good character, and there my case will
rest.

I have pow little more to add. I have
however to return to you my most sincere,
and I do assure you my most grateful thaoks,
for the kind attention which you have been
gleued to pay to me during a very long ad-

ress, in a case in which I have felt great and
slmost unsupportable anxiety.

1 cannot fail to have perceived, from the
nature of the evidence, that prejudices ma
have arisen in your minds, aad in the minds
of those who heard the evidence, with
to the prisoner at the bar; for the evidence
certaioly went to a variety of points which
tended to show the general disposition and
tendency of his mind to be loose and regard-
less of what is right, but it does not show the
particular application of that mind to the
matter of which he is accused; and [ am sure
that you will lay aside all impressions except
such as the evidence in support of the charge
necessarily makes upon you.

That unfortunate gentleman stands now
before you, afier you have heard the evidence,
to have his deliverauce, or a verdict of guilty.
The whole form of my address has, I ho
been calculated to impress soberly, seriously,
and I trust, without any impropriety, upon
your minds, the necessity of a deliverance of
acquittal. Consider. gravely upon what this
cause principally depends. Recollect, that

ere 13 no colour whatever given to the
treason in question but from the evidence of
confession. I will not weary you with a re-
petition, or even with asummary of arguments
upon that part of the subject. I have relied
on authorities from times when men thought
with great clearncss, and spoke with great
forces borrowing from times, in pre-
senting to your understandings the particular
duty which you have to discharge in this
serious case, I shall have recourse to words
more emphatic than any that my mind can

su&gest. .

entlemen, my lord Strafford, when he
was tried for such a crime at the bar of the
House of Lotds, upon evidence such as you
have heard, said, with that venerable and
powerful eloquence which belonged to his
superior mind: *“ It is now ages since an
man was touched to such a beight, on suc
evidence : we have lived happily for ourselves
at home ; we have lived gloriously abroad to
the world ; let us not awake those sleeping
lions to our destruction, those sad precedents
of judicial disgrace, which have Jain so many
agesby the wall forgotten and neglected.”

A.D. 17%. [1%6

Gentlemen let me apply these words to the
present case; let me intreat you, not slightly,
 upoh such evidence, to awaken the sleepin
lions to our destruction.” What is evidence
%:inst one man may be evidence against all.

e case of every individual prisoner that
comes before a jury is the case of the whole
community, because the whole community
are interested in the distribution of justice,
and in the principles upon which juries decide.
This case, in that view of it, like every
weighty prosecution, is a very important one.
In that Ew I intreat you to consider it ; and,
without wdding one word more, I again, on
behalf of my client and myself, return you
my sincere and humble thanks for the atten-
tion with which you have honoured me, and
I anxiously implore heaven so to govern your
minds, that you, may deliver yourjudgmentin .
mercy, by a verdict of acquittal.

Mr. Gurney.—We shall now call evidence
to disprove the existence of the comspiracy
charged in the indictment.

Mr. James Parkinson sworn.—Examined by
Mr. Gurney.

What is your profession?—A surgeon and
apothecary.

Where do you live >—In Hoxton-square. *

Were you in the months of August and’
September, 1794, a member of the Corres-
ponding Society ?—Yes.

Did you, at that time, frequently attend
their meetings ?—The meetings of the com-
mittee of Cotrespondence, not the general
committees.

Was a person of the name of Upton a
member of that committee?—No.

Was Mr. Le Maitre a member of that com-
mittee '—No.

Was Mr. Higgins a meinber of that com.
mittee }—lle was.

Was Mr. Smith a member ?—He was.

Were there, to your knowledge, any inqui-
ries institutecf in that committee, or in the

neral committee, by either Le Maitre,

iggins, or Swith, respecting Upton?—By
Higgins and Smith there was an inquiry in-
stituted, at the request of the committée or
correspondence, among whom I was one, who
was very solicitous for that inquiry into the
character of Upton.

What was the charge which they then
broubfht against Upton ?—It was stated either
by Mr. Smith or by Mr. Hodgson thuthe had
heard it reported that Upton bud set his
house in Coldbath-fields on fire.

Was that inquiry pursued to any consie
derable length?—They were desired at a
meeting of the committee to make the inquiry.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre—You do not
mean, I hope, to detail to this Court the pro-
ceedings of such a committee upon a charge
which ought to be heard here and not there;
if you go to the poiat to show that there was
any enmity between Smith and Higgins and
Upton, very well; but I beg, for the honour
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of this Court, that we may net have their pro-
ings detailed bere.

Mr. Gurney—I1 only wish to show, that
the inquiry was instituted at the instance of
Mram;withmmwmbd-
ship, I could not come at the effect without
the cluse. Were there, in point of fact, any
disputes upon that occasicu between Smith,
Le Maitre, or Higgins, snd Upton?

Witness.—1 can only speak of any dispute
that sobsisted between tham by the report of
Smith and Higgine.

That is not evidence. Dld.you,(;rnthu
occasion, see Upton yourselt?—Only once;
which was for the purposs of delivering to
bim, or carrying a letier to be delivered to
him, expelling him from that society.

Were you at any meeting of the Corres-

ing Society, st which Smith, Higgins,

Maitre, and Unton were present !—At coe

meeting. .

Did any thing pass at that meeting be-
tween these plﬂ&.lei! cither peaceable or hos-
tile ?—Nothing particular.

Mr. James Parkinson cross-examined by
Mr. Attorney General.

Are you the same Mr. Parkinson that was
examined here some little time ago?—The
same.
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stand, in the society you to—-you
wore one of what is called the Committee of
qurup:fndonu ?—I belonged to the Com-
mites

Sometimes, 1 b.licn,'alkd the Secret
Committee ?-~Once called 30 in my hesring,
:&Mphn, for which he was very much re-

Hiuw;lpmembcoftbomiety,'nno(
Do o et goi Hill, after

10g to some
of m’:mm‘

been apprehended ?
—1 went 10 Hill for the purpese of gai
all the information that I could ting
this business ; I went to other for the

same that I might give the privy
eund':ﬂuninfomﬁonleslu.

was in consequence of Hill
haviog mentioned his useasivess of mind
respecti ing which he had turned
upon him ; it was not until then
that I conceived there could be any thiog in

Are the same person that produced, | the plot.

upon that examination, a intitled, La{ Did he name to you, or to any body in yeur
Gpouillotme,' or Georpe’s H i'::.lnBuk'et?‘ hearing, who the person was that came to
~—I do not know that it was produced in the models? .

court ; it was not by me. Mr. Gurney.——1 submit to your londstiip

Are you the same person that produced that
paper at the Y:;ivycwneil?—- produced no
such paper at t! my council. .

Have not rv‘w in your possession a
paper called La Guillotiue, or George’s Head
in the Basket, that yeu got at that society —
I have that paper now.

Have you it about you ?>—1I have it not here.

You had it here at the time of the trial I
sllude to ? —1I had it.

Do _you know a person of the name of
l;nrce, who was a member of the society }—

es.

Have you forgot that Le Maitre, Higgins,
and Smith, m:?:t Pearce’s, and were recon-
ciled over a bottle of wine !—I do not
it, because the gentleman who asks the ques-
tion told it me.

Do you or do you not know, that having
had a quarrel they were reconciled, and met
at Pearce’s upon that reconciliation ?—I

* heard that they were reconciled, but T knew
the place from the learned counsel, and from
no one else.

You knew that they were reconciled not
from the learned counsel, you heard the
place from the learned counsel as I under-
stand you?-—I was informed they were re-
conciled before you informed me of it.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—Who were re.

_ concjled ?—Le Maitre and Upton.

# See this paper, ant?, Vol, 24, p. 682.

e Attraty Oeseroloo il not porme
r. Dot
it then. Do you kmow Crossfield's hand-
writing P-—No.

Did you ever see him write *-—-Never.

Mr. James Parkinson re-examined by Mr.
Gurney.

You have been asked respecting some
which it is widyougi'»tinp:!i:ms ) fp‘lg':
you or not get thu‘;lpct in the society ?—X
swear positively I did not.

Mr. General.—My. Parkinson, 1
must beg of you not to go away.

JoAn Bone sworn.—Examined by Mr.

Gurney.

What are you ?---A muslin clearer.

Where do you live ?---At No. 8, in Weston-
street, Southwark.

Were you, in the months of August and
September 1794, a member of the Corres-
ponding Society »-—~Yes, I was.

Were you a member of the general com-
mittee ?---1 was. .

Was Mr. Upton a member of that commit-
tee {—-He was not.

Was Mr. Le Maitre ?-~He was.

Was Mr. Smith a member ?-—Yes,

And Mr. Higgins ?—He was,

Was Mr. Crossfield 2 member ?---He

was
not. .
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-Do you know of any disputes between
Upton and Smith, Higgins or Le Maitre, or
eitber of them ?--I do.

When did these disputes originate ?-~I
cannoot be particular as to the time when they
took place; it was some time after the com-
mencement of August.

How long did they continue?—I never
kuew that they were healed, because they
;)‘t.ighuled in Upton’s bad character; they

a-bad opinion of him in consequence of
that bad character, which 1 never knew was
taken off.

Can you recollect the days upon which
Smith, Higgins, and Le Maitre were taken
up?—-I believe it was on the ¢5th of Septem-
ber, or somewhere thereabouts.

Mr. Gurney.—1 dare say the dates will be
admitted

- Mr. Attorney General—1 rise to state my
admission of the times when these persons
were apprehended.

Mr. Gurney.—Le Maitre and Higgins were
rehended on the evening of the 27th,
Smith on the evening of the g£8th.
Now, were those imputations respecting
Upton's character supported by either Smith,
iggins or Le Maitre ?—Yes, they were by
Smith and Higgins, I know; I never bad an
opportunity of conversing with Le Maitre,
because 1 only saw him in the general com-
mittee.

Were you at any meeting when Le Maitre
and Upton were present’—Yes, in the ge-
neral committee.

At that time was there any chal}e brought
by Le Maitre against Upton?—I do not re-
collect that therc was.

Was there any dispute between them at
thas lie 2—Thero was a great dispute.

Was that dispute carried on with a great

- degree of violence?—Yes, on both sides.
you recollect the date of that?—
_ Yes; it was,1 believe, on the 4th of Sep-

tember, . .

Do you recollect any of Upton’s expressions
respecting Mr. Le Maitre at that time?—I
remember that they quarrelied. That their

uarrel rose.to a conmsiderable beight, and
y threw the whole assembly into a very

Eut degree of agitation, in consequence of a

tter that had been conveyed into the ge-
neral committee, casting a sti upon the
committee and the society, which letter ap-
peared to have been written by Upton. When
the letter was known to be written by Upton,
and he confessed it, Le Maitre was remark-
ably severe upon him ; he called him the man,
for he considered him unwerthy the name of
citizen, and thought he ought to be turncd
out of the committee ; Upton,in consequence
of this, broke out in a strain of abuse, and
used all those epithets which men in the
ln.g:of abuse i‘l:t accustomed 1o use.

ou recollect any particular expressions

that bi used?—No. Y P

Were they expressions of a violent natyre ?
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—They were violent; Upton threstened to
be revenged of Le Maitre; Le Maitre said,
that if he bad any thing to settle with him
he had better do it at another time than the
present; and for that purpose he wrote his
address and gave it him.

Were you present at “any quarrel between
Higgins and Upton?—The same evening, in
consequence of Upton's very disorderly bez‘na-
viour 1n the general committee, a vote of
censure upon Upton was m by Higgins
in the general committee; the committee
di the propriety of it; some were for
passing the vote, others against it; but the

erality of the committee being of opinion
that a vote of censure should be passed upon
him, Upton seemed incli to avoid
the disgrace of a vote of censure, by moving
towards the door in order to go away,
Hi?gins then rose, and said to the chairman
“ if you are'about to pass & vote of censure
uponUpton; you must be quick, for he seems
to be hopping off.” Upton felt himself ex-
tremely angry, and said. « You wretch, that
is a reflexion upon my natural infirmity.”
Hiigins replied, “ if he was to answer him
iu his own dialect, he should tell him he lied,
but it should suffice at present to say he did
nat mean it 80.” ' '

Upon that occasion, or any other, was
there any dispute between Upton and Smith 2
—I do not recollect any dispute between
Smith and Upton; but Smith, Hijggins, and
myself, were members of the committee of
correspondence, where Upton’s bad character
was first broached, and Smith and Higgins
were very active persons in getting informa-
tion for the committee relative to bis charac-
ter upon this occasion; Smith said, that if
Upton'’s name was continued in the printed
lists of the society, his name should not con-
tinue in it. L

Where you present at any other dispute
between Upton and those persons ?—1I do not
recollect that I was,

Were you present at any meeting subse-
quent, when any thing like a reconciliation
is supposed to have taken place P—Certainly
not.

Was this'inquiry, by Smith, Higgins, and
Le Maitre, concluded at the time of Upton's
examination, and of their examination?—
The business had come to a conclusion,
for aught we knew ; for we had resolved to
Eu_blis_ our lists without the name of Upton

eing in them. :

Mr. Gurney.—Then, in point of fact, this
in(IIuiry, thus pursued, not terminated
till the night before their apprehension ?

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—He mentioned
a fact, that the night {efore they had re-
solved to publish a list without Upton’s name,

Mr. Gurney.—Had the inquiry been pur-
sued regularly from its commencement till
that time? ’

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—Ask him what
they did respecting it afterwards.

K
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Mr. Gurney.—Do you recollect any spécific
date, subsequént ti;y't?he 4th ?tgs,epte‘::gcr,
when any thing passed between Ubpton,
Smith, Higgins, and Le Maitre ?—1I do not.

But, in pott of fict, the inguiry had not:
terminated till the night before his apprehen-
sion P—TIt had so farterminated that we were )
satisfied about Upton's character.

John Huttley sworn.—Examined by Mr.
Adam.
What are you?—A watch-spring maker.
.Where dp you reside ? —In Great Sutton-
styeet, Clerkenwell.
¥ Did you know Upton, the watch-maker ¢ —
€es, - !

. How long haye you known him 2—I had a
knowledge of him for about five years.

. Did you see hish about the month of Sep-,
tember, 1704 7—That was aboul the time.

. Da you remember any conversation that
rsaed between you and bim at that time ?¥—

was in company with him and another per-
son.

" Perhaps you may recollect it better if I
¢l you that a person4f the name of Brown
Wwas ‘present P—He was.

. Wl'x)at was that conversation about ?>—Con-
cerning the persons who had been taken up ;
Le Maitre, Higgins, and Smith. -

. What ‘passed upon that subject between

?¥—I walked backward and forward, 1

ked upon Uptun to be a dangerous man.
and I did not care to be seen with him: 1
heard him discoursing concerning these peo-
 with Brown; he said it was their own

ts, that he should never have troubled bis
head about it, but they had made very free
with his character : 1 said, perhaps they may
Baye known as much of you as I have known,

- Was any thing more said about these peo-
ple?—No.

William Brown sworn.—Ezxamined by
Mr. Adam.

Do you know Upton?—Yes.

"Do you remember having had any conver-

dation with him in Septemﬁer, 1795?—VYes.
What did it relate to?—I was asking him
e " 'g Crossfield, what it was
or; hesaid, God knows,
itioned the place where
wn in the country, but
ect: I asked him farther
e chief accusation was

, he did not know.

sation with Upton about
?—Yes; I asked him if
sins aud Le Maitre; he
liggins, Le Maitre, and
ce damn’d villains, and
most villainous manner,
ill continuing to hurt his
ce where he went, that
- - ....1 inthe street, by giving
him the nawe of informer, and ubuseg him
in"¥hat manner, and had gathered a great
number of pedple found him ;that hethought
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his Yife was in danger by them, and if they
did not desist he would take some other
means. I told him he should make an altow-
ance, considering the ill-usage he had given
them, by faying an accusation against them
apparently unfounded, as the prisoners had
been acquitted; he said, I was rainted
with the former part of the story beemingl{ ;
and then he told me he would relate tke
whole to me; he satl, “that prior to that,
when the state prisoners before were taken
p, some of their families being in wane,
the London Corresponding Society chose to
raise subscriptions, to give some liftle assist-
ance to some of the families, they thought it
convenient to apen a public subscription, and
that among the rest of the houses to he opened
for that purpose mine was onc; that Higgims,
Le Maitre, and Smith came forward, and ac-
cused me as a thief, and a swindler, and an
incendiary, and the society refused to give
.me a fair trial upon it; and they still continue
to go on in that abusive style m public com-
pany.” ‘I1told him that this accusation cer-
tainly could not arise from nothing: he sald,
¢ he would tell me what it arose from;” he
said, « he did once keep a house in Cold-
bath-fields; that-his house wdas burnt, and
that he was advertised, aud a tewartl offered
for the apprehension of him—that he

with a-friend of his, that provided he would
give him a note of hand, payable to hith, or
to a part of his family, for a part of the reward,
he would disclose ‘something which would
bring him in so much money; accordingly
his friend did so, and his friend delivered h
up to justice;” and he appealed to me to
know whether there was ground for them to
accuse him in public for sach a thing as that,
if such a powerful body of men as the Pheenx
office, had eutered a prosécution against him,
and had notbeen able to proveany thingagdinst
him, whether he was not acquittedin the eye of
the law, and whether any man ought to come
forward and publicly accuse him. I made »
reply, that there was room for suspécting him
to be a man of a bad character; and whether
be had brought the accusation against Hig-
gins, Le Maitre, and Sniith, from a or
a bad'motive, thatit had done the soclety
good rather than harm, for the society had
mcreased in three weeks more than ever-it
had done béfore.

Mr. Adum.—Have i:m amy thing more to
say abont Upton and Le Maitre *—No.

Mr. Attorney General.—1 have o ébjection
to any of these orators; Iam readyto admit
that U{;ton is what he stated himself o be,
when he brought forward such a in
which he was the accomplice; that he wis as
bad a man s you please; and I hatve'rio éb-
Jjection to your taking his motive to be d$ha-
licious as you please.

Mr. John Cfevecfon sworn.—Examined
by Mr. ddam.

"Where -you n-prisotrer “at! Brést, ' Whien Mr.
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Crossfield was a prisoner there? — I was.

Did you live op board the same prison ship
with him ?—1 dk{

For how long a time?—From the 19th of
February till early in May.

Had you an opportunity of seeing much of
Mr. Crossfield during that timeP—Yes, I was
constantly with him.

ere you with him at the time he came
away ?—No, I went to the hospital ill.

You remained behind when hie came away?
—I was in the ship after he left it.

During your intercourse with Mr. Cross-
field, have you ever heard him make any de-
.clarations respecting the king?—No, I do not
recollect any; [ lrave frequently heard him
ﬁing republican songs.

id you ever hear him make any declara-
tions respecting any plot?—Never.

You lived with him very constantly?—Yes.

Did you mess with him P—Yes.

Who was at your mess }—Captain Clarke.

He was the captain of the Pomona?—Yes.

Mention the names of any others that you
zecollect ?—Captajan Bligh.

Is be in England now?—I believe he js
Exeter, Mr. Degnis, Mr. Denton, the ma
of captain Bligh’s ship.

Do you know whelgxer he is in EnglandP—
1 believe he is at Exeter.

Who else?—Mr. Widdiman, the mate of
the ship I was in. '

And you were all at the same mess toge-
aher!—Yes.

Mr. Crossfield used to be very jolly ?—Yes.

T believe it was a custom there for ons
who were sick on board the prison sbips, to
e carried ashore to the hospital 7—Yes,

Did it require any seriaus illness te be car-
xied on shore to the hospital? =No, I bad a
slight illness, and weot to the hospital; I was
in the hospital from the 18th or 19th of May,
till sometime in July.

In caonsequence of that you did not come
over in the cartel?—I came over in the same

Could you have avoided coming over in that
wtel?—i' did not try, I wished to come ovor.

If you had rather wished to have remained,
could not you have remained therei—I can-
not tell that.

Should not you, upon a representatiop of a
elighl illoess, have been carried to the hospi-
tal>—Yes; several persons had been carried
to the hospital, two or three days before wa
ecame away, and consequently did not come
over in.the cartel.

Did you cowe in the same ship with Mr,
Crossfield?—I did.

You knew him perfectly well by the name
of Crossfield?—Yes; he signed his name as &
witness to some papers of mine.

At what time was that?—Early in May; a
little before I went to the hospital.

Was he generally i_mown, in your mes
by the name of CrossfialdP—Wealways
him T, iR the moss,
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But his name wgs knowp?—Yes, it was to
me, because I saw him sign hishame. =~

You called him doctor, as you would gny
other medical man?—Yes.

Was he the only megical man in your mess?
—~He was, '

How long were you in your passage over?—
Three days.

Were l!c Bretton, and Dennis, likewise in
the cartel?—Yes.

Pid you ever hapgen to see them and Mr.
Crossfield together?—Never particularly ep-
gaged in any conversation.

Do you remember seeing them particulagly
together in Brest harbour?—No, not more so
than others. :

Pid they live in that sort of intimacy that
you could supp%n Mr. Crossfield told the
%py secret }—They were intimate, cap!

larke, and Mr, Crossfield and them,
early part of their time.

How came Dennis aud Le Rretton n& 1o
be so intimate with them the latter p: !
time ?—I understood it was frem a walch ghat
larke’s that he

My. Crossfield bhad of Mr.
would not give up to him. .

Did you everhear any conversation between
Le Bretton and Denms, and Mr. Crossfield,
upon the subject of what was in the Pomgn_k
at the -time of the captyre?—No; "But’.
htm.r(ll1 Crossfield say, that he would take'thjs
watc )

Mr. Crossfield then continued in your mess
till the very last; did be mess with youin the
cartel as you came over?—No.
a‘ﬁlhm did you Jand?—At Fowey, in Cors-
wall,

How did Mr. Crossfield appear, at the time
of coming away from Brest?—He appeared
to me to be very glad thdt he was comidg
home.

He did not show_the least unwillingness to
return, did he.’—No‘._

What is your prafession and sityation }
life ?—I wasy §oin§ out agent u? the é:pnang

For whom?—For a house in St. John-streot.

And you wereca q!l’re Yes.

Did Mr. Crossfield drink hard?—Very hard.

You were going dut ai::nt 16 the Canatieb?
—Yes, I was goihg out for wines for govern~
meot. ¢

Mr. Jobn Cleverton, cross-examined by
Mr. Attorney General.

You say Mr. Crossfield aﬂp aed to be very
glad when he was coming home ?—Yes. -

Perhaps you might have been by when he
said, just before he came away, that things
had been all settled now to his satisfaction*—
I do not recollect that expression.

Were you by when he was mustered by the
name of Wilson?—I was in the ship, but I do
not recollect his being mustered by the name
of Wilson; I heard he had put his name dowa
as Wilsoniin thelist, but I never sawit.

You fre?uently heard him singing republi-
can songs!—Yes, .
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Did that occasion any quarrels among you?
—Never. )

. Do you recollect a song, with a chorus that
beﬁn, Plant, plant the treeP—I do.
r. Attorney General.—Be so good as read
that [‘giving a paper to the witness], and tell
me whether you ever heard the prisoner sing
that song? .

Mr. Adam.—Does your lordship think this
is evidence?

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—I do not know
whether this song will amount to any thing;
he has said he never heard the prisoner say
any thing about the king.

itness.—J do not recollect whether that
is exactly the song he sung.

Mr. 1“0rney eneral.—1 offer it both to
prove the fact the witness has already sworn
of singing republican songs, and offer the
matter of it as part of the prisoner’s declara-
tion upon that verysubject. Read itthrough,
and tell me whether you have any doubt
about it.

Witness.—I have no doubt.

Mr. Attorney General—Then I offer this
as evidence.

(1t was read by Mr. Shelton.]

% See, Britons, see, that rising beam,
The Eastern skies adorning ;

’Tis freedom’s sun begins to gleam,
And wakes a glorions morning.

Now despotism from France is chas'd,

And church illusions vanish’'d,
- Ne'er let them in our isle be plac'd,
But far from Britain banish’d,
' CHORUS,

Plaut, plant the tree, fair freedom’s tree,
Midst danger, wounds, and slaughter ;

Each patriot’s breast its soil shall be,
And tyrants blood its water.

They come, they tome, see myriads come,
l’ryom Gallia tyo invade us;
Seize, seize the pike, beat, beat the drum,
They come, my friends, to aid us.
Let trembling desgou fly the land,
To shun impending danger;
We'll stretch forth a%utemal hand,
To hail each glorious stranger.
Cuorus, Plant, plant, the tree, &c.

That palace which for ' t,
To despots was arpo’lgte:d‘;”

The sovereign f; claim at last,
For they're the Lord’s anointed.

The useless Crown which long adorn’d,
The brows of Royal Ninnies;
To nabler purposes is turn’d,
Coin’d into useful guineas.
Cuorus, Plant, plant the tree, &c.

Those high nicknames Lord, Duke, and Earl,
Which set the croud a gazing;

Are priz'd as hogs esteem a pearl, -
Their patents set a blazing.
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No more they vote away our wealth,
To please a King, or Queen, Sir;
Now ;lad to pack away by stealth,
To ’scape the Guillotine, Sir.
Cuozus, Plant, plant the tree, &c.

Our Commons too who say forsooth,
They represent the nation ;
Must scamper East, West, North, and South,
To ’scape our indignation. .
Their Speaker’s mace to current coin,
We presently shall alter;
And ribbands late so gay and fine,
We'll change for each an halter.
Cuorus, Plant, plant the tree, &c.

On holy mummeries our boys,
Contemptuously shall trample;

And yonder dome that props the skies,
Shall turn to Reason’s temple,

Then ¢a ira, each corps shall sing,
To chear the broken hearted ;
And Priestcrafts bells no more shall ring,
To thund'ring guns converted.
Cuosus, Plant, plant the tree, &a,

Behold the Bank its specious trash,
Unworthy our regarding ;
Mere paper wealth, ideal cash,

Whole pounds not worth a farthing.

The Stocks like vapours on the hills,
Shall vanish from our sight, Sir;
And Abraham Newland’s swindling bills,
May cover (gaper kites, Sir.
norvs, Plant, plant the tree, &c.

Those Lawyers see, with face of brass,
And wigs replete with learning ;
Whose far-fetch’d apophthegms surpass,
Republicans discerning.
For them to ancient forms be stanch,
To suit such worthy fellows ;
Oh, spare for them one legal branch,
I mean, reserve the gallows.
Crorus, Plant, plant the tree, &e.

"Tis done, the glorious work is done,
Re‘ioice with one another ;
To plowshures beat the sword and gun,
or each man is your brother.

Detested war shall ever cease,
In kind fraternization ;
For all is barmony and peace,
And all the world one nation. :
Cuorus, Plant, plant the tree, &c.

Mr. Attorney General—Was the chorus
sung at the end of each of these verses,
¢ Plant, plant the tree,” &c.?—I do not re-
collect whether it was or not. .

You remember the chorus?—I remember
the chorus perfectly well.

Per you may have a recollection of
some other songs sung by the prisoner?--I
do not immediately recollect any.

Favour me with casting your eye over that
song ? | showing the witness another paper].——
I do ot recollect his singing this sobg. -

[ SN
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M. John Cleverton re-examined by Mr. Adam.

Can you take upon yourself, positively, to
Swear, that lhesep:mylhe word‘;ozf the first
song that he sung?—No, I cannot; I never
heard him sing it above once or twice, and I
paid very little attention toit.

And for aught you know many of the verses
may have been transposed?—They might,
but I cannot say.

Mr. Anthony Collins sworn.—Examined by
Mr. Adum.

Were you in the prison-ship, at Brest, at
the time Mr. Crossfield was there ?>—I was; I
commanded one of them.

I understand that they were English ships,
and they had put English captains on board
to command ?—No, we were cartels, we were
detained there for a long time ; they thought
proper to convert the ships into prisop.sh fps
and in consequence of that we were filled ull
of them. ;

Was Mr. Crossfield one of the prisoners on
board?—He was; I heard there was a me-
dical man on board one of the other ships, he
was not then on board my ship, and I made
application tothe commandant,and he granted
e the liberty to invite him to come on board,
to take care of the sick prisoners, which he
did with great care and attention; and I am
confident he saved fifty or sixty lives, from
his great care and attention ; during the time
he was on board he lived with me in the
cabin, along with several other gentlemen.

Do you recollect the names of these gen-
tlemen?—There were two brothers of the
mme of Byron ; there was captain Lambton,

ujla)tain Taylor.

o you know whether the Byrons are now
in England ?—One of them is now at Ports-
mouth.

Was he a captain of a ship?—No, a pas-
senger. .

hat rank of life is hein ?—A young man.

And a person in the same station of life
that you yourself are }—Yes.

NDo you know where Mr. Taylor is now?—

o.

Captain Lambton?—He is now at New-
castle.

Do you remember any more gentlemen
whlg l:’wzre orlr board ?—Not at that nme.h

id you live in t intimacy with Mr.,
Crossfield ?—We didsrs:.‘

You say he has a good deal of skill in his
profession; but independent of that, what
sort of character is he?—I did not know the
man before.

Did the glass go pretty freely round ?—Our
situation was such, that for waat of better

loyment it did so.
id Mr. Crossficld ever say any thing to

- youabout any plot he was concerned in ?—
During the time he was in my com‘nanky, 1
solemnly’ protest, that not a word of the kind
‘was ever mentioned about plots, or any thing
Against his majesty of the government.
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Do you know an old man of the nmame of
Winter?—I do, he was one of the mess at
that time whenever he chose to come.

Do you remember any stories of Wiater's
telling?—OH yes, a number of silly foolish
things he used to tell.

Do you recollect any particular story about
any animal that he caught?—Oh, a number
of foolish stories of that kind, I remember
several ; one was, of his catching the devil in
the shape of a hare, and such ridiculous non-
sense as that. .

Did he say, that he took this hare for the
devil?—He certainly did; and was very much
displeased when we contradicted him.

You take upon yourself to swear, that he
used to say that this hare was the devil?—
Yes, that he believed it to be so; and not
only that, but he told another story of the
same kind. . ’

He was, in short, 2 man who dealt in the
marvellous ?—He did ; and he was the com-
mon laughing stock of the whole ship’s crew.
Indeed, from his own conversation I believed
he was somewhat flighty at times ; I under-
stood that he had losta good deal of property,
whether it was from tﬁat, or his imprison~
ment, or one thing or another, butI really
believe at times he was; in short, the sailors
laughed at him. I have known him myself,
walking the deck, and talking to himself
whole night, I have got up frequently a.ns
seen him walking and talking to himself the
whole night; he was a man that slept very
little, he was the last in bed, and the grst up.

Was not Winter a person you used to make
a sort of butt of ?—He was.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—He said he was
the common laughing stock of the ship.

Mr. Adam.— Had you any conversation
with Winter upon the subject of Mr. Cross-
field —No, never any private conversation ot
auny sort, for he was a man not of the cast for
roe to converse with.

Mr. Anthony Collins fstMnd by Mr.

You were particularly intimate with Cross-
field >—Yes, as livinq with him.

He would probably tell you the reason of
his leaving England?>—He never did; only.
mentioning his pecuniary circumstances that
they were deranged; in short, he had no
money, and has asked me for a little.

He never mentioned a word of what made
him leave England rather suddenly P—Neor
that he had left England suddenly ; only that
he was taken in a ship going to the South
Seas

As the grog went about pretty freely, [ takc
for granted you had songs? — We sung of
course to pass the time away.

Were the songs orderly, favourable to good
government, or what?—1 do not recollect any
songs against the government.

ou never happened to hear him sing a
song, the chotus of which was
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 Plant, plant the tree, fair freedom’s tree,
'Midst danger, wounds, and slgughter;

Each patriot’s breast its soil shall be,
Annymm blood its water.”

You never heard him sing such a song as
_;ha'é?—l do mot recollect any thing of the
nd.
kl}{e was quite another sort of man?—Yes.
Probabl% his usual song was God save the
King ?—I do not recollect that.
Rule Britannia ?—That of course was sung.
b -~ **° " ~ Rule Britannia?
rd him sing that,
e done it.
1 sing any song of
y ?—I have not.
1y communication
f his leaving Eng-

“Did yo;.lvinppen to know by what name he
was mustered, when he came for England P—
1 was informed he had put down a different

pame.
Did not you think that odd ?—From his
circumstances b.si:f in a bad state in this

country, I supposed he did not choose to be
known. )
Yon to protect himself

creditors ; and not
y inquiries of go-

uniformly that of
1?—VYes.
m every day from

— e le for the decency
of his conduct, a man you would rather de-
scribe as emipent for his loyalty P—As to hjs

litical principles he never said any thing in
g&t respect, except reprobating the war, that
it was an unjust one.

But in other respects he was a3 man of emi-
nent loyalty ?—Yes.

Mr. Antkony Collins ve-examined by Mr.
Adam.

You sung songs to divert the miserable
time you passed in captivity 2—Yes.

Did Mr. Cross seem miserable as well
as the rest ?—He did at those times and mo-
ments when he was serious; I likewise have
heard him say that he had orders from the
commandant to stay in the to euper-
intend the hospital, which he thought proper
to refuse, as wishing to return to his own
country ; he told me that not only once, but
sev times; to superintend an hospital
called Landernau, which he said upon consi-
deralion he refased, as he wished to come to
his native country.

Mr. Law—Were you by when he said that
every thing was settled to his satisfaction ?—
He spoke French, and of course I did oot un-
derstand him.

Did you ever hear him say whas had been
senle(l between him and the people at Brest,
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which was sq much to his satisfaction?—No-
thiog at all.

You never beard him say amy thing had
besn settled to his satisfaction ?—Nao.

You did net hear what terms werg settled
between them at the time of his coming away,
that induced his coming back to Englaad >-—
No; when the prisoners were to be released,
he se¢med to be rejoiced.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—Did you happen
to know Mr. Cleverton ?!—] had some know-
ledge of him.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—Was he ever on
heard your ship?—Not more than onee or
twice; be did net stay om board ; he was og
board one of the other ships : he was I think
part of the time at the hospital sick.

Elizabeth Smith sworn.—Examined by Mr,
Adam.

Are you a married worman ?—I was; bus [
have been a widaw eight yeass.

‘Where do yt::, liveP—No. 17, Great Herr
mitage-street, Wapping,

Hew long have you lived there?—I bave
lived aboui eight years in that house,

How lpng did yeu live in the hopse yon
were in before?—About seven years.

Was that in ke game part of the town P~
In Red-Lion-sireet, Wapping.

So that for the Jast fifleen years yon bave
been a constant resident in Wapping, in twp
houses?—Yes.

Do you know the prisoner Mr. Crossfield ?
—Yes, I do,

How long hawe you been acquainted with
him ?—Five years.

Have you seen much of him during ihat
time?—Yes ; he has been very ofien to and
{ro to my house.

Have you seen enough of him to know his
disposition or character ? Is he a man of l¢-
vity, or a very serious maan?—He is a man of
levity. .

Is he @ man of & severe harsh temper?—
No, quite the reverse.

Dz‘you know captain Clarke who was cap-
tain of the Pomona ?—Very well, he lodged
with me. :

How long have you known captaim Clarke?
—About two years. Do you know a persan
of the name of Le Bre\ton?—Yes.

How long have you known that person?—
He was betore \be mast with captaia Clarke,
and so he used to come to the house ; )
Clazke bad my &cst floor; captain Clarke
and bis wife basrded in my honse. .

Do you remember Mr. e Brelton comag
to your house at any time to see captain
Clarke, since captain Clarke returned from
France?—Yes.

About what time was tbat ?—I cannot ex-
acily say; but I believe about tem days after
captain Clarke left my house to go to Yar-
mouth, coming from the prison ship.

Were you M company with those persons
at thattime ?—Le Bretion called upan me, and
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toM me § xpeét tapimin Clarke that
x;ﬁht, for he been exetnined at Guild-
al

| or somewhere, and he had wrote for him.
“Did eaptain é drke come?-—He did.

Were you present with eaptain Clarke and
L4 Broteon ?—VYes.

What did he say to captain Clarke? didhe
a¥k him whether he had ever heard this, or
no?—Le Bretton said he had heard Mr. Oross-
field describe & gun 10 bhim in the ¢ of
captain Clarke, and We #iid to captain Clarke
you were present at the Sinve; Le Bretton
st he had heard Mr. Crossfield descibe i,
and that captain Clarke was present at the
thwe :l c thn UPm;ke said he nev‘ehr hem‘l, it.

Did any thing else pass upon that subjeet
bitween you P-El‘a ‘Btetton said several tiﬁs
he hoped he would bang him.

¥ou have known Mr. Crossfidld I think
you say ‘these five years; did he ever lodge at
your house P—Yes.

Under what name did he lodge st your
:iwllm ?—Alvays under the name of Cross-

eld. :

" At what particular titne did he lodge at

our house ?— He has lodged at my hougz at

{l‘( different times.

ande the times, if you recollect them ?—
About three years ago; the last time that he
18dged st my hinrée was dbouta month before

Christmas ; it'was 'in the degiming df Fe-
mwary wheén he joined eaptain Clarke’s ship
av’Portstnodth ; he-dined on Christmas- day,
1794, with captain Clarke at my house ; that
was the day captain Olarke left my house,
it Mr. Crossfied did ndt join the ship at
Poitsmouth for five weeks after that. :

Where was he all that time?—In my house;
he-used to.go to 'Change withr captain White,
a gentleman who lodged with me at that
time.

Pid he use to'go about with captain White
and other gentlemen?—VYes; to the ‘Change
and different places,

Mr, Attorney General.—You'saw himythere ?
~—T did not see him there, but he used to go
dnd return with the gentlemen.

- -Mr, Adum.—He used to go abowt without
any concealment ?—I never knew of any con-
cealment.

ere you ‘present when any thing ‘passed
between him and ca‘gtain Clarke ' respectin
Ky going to the Botith Beas ?—Mr. Crosafiel
came into the house one day, and cuptsin
Clarke was speuking to e gentienwn to re-
commend hith a ; gr. Crowsfield in-
quired where hemsﬁng, and-said ps
ll:: ‘rnight 'go #ith ; thet-is all dmtI
ow,

What is ‘your opinion of MrCrossfield's ge-
nerul ¢hatueter —He is a vety good natured
_ngi,d;hat I am sure would hurt nobody.

Le Bretton say any thing farther about
captain Clarke’s having heard this matter
thie) with redpeet to the plo?—No.

Did he press captain Clarke upon it?-:He
il (W Orthiee:tinves' that lreowss-preseut.

'| couneil?—No, 1 never did; and he

- for' the sake of stating the g
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Elizabeth  $mith cross-examined by M.,
Wood.

Did Mr. Crossfield
béfore he went down to uth #—He
lodfed at my house two months before.

nd @p t0 the time when he went dowa to
Portsmouth?—Yes; he went some time the
bee‘umimg of February.

ou endeavoured to learn from Le” Bretton
and Dennie what they had swom before she
privy vouncili—No, I never asked them a
eaio‘l)x‘; ?‘:.ealtdwl.?;} heard Dennis say any
thing, but retton say that w

Bat have not you asked Le Bretton aad

Dennis whatthey had sworm before the privy’

ill mot
sdy that, I am sure. -

-Have not you endeavoured to persuade Le
Bretton to be very favousable to the prisoner?
—No, never.

You never applicd to him for that purpose }
~—Never.

Nor ever said a word to him upon that sub~
jeet?—I mever did.

Let me put you in mind; did not you tell
him that the truth was not to be spoken at
all times ?—I never did. .

Remember you arc upon your oath ¥—I do,
and I am speaking the truth,

Aud you never said any thing to that effect
to him, or to Dennis?—No, to neither of them.

Mr. Wood.—They may be called, and I wish
you would recollect yourself?

Witness—They muy, and they will clear
me if they are.

Mr. Wood.—Then you say you never intere
fered with them to be favourable to the pri-
goner, nor said that the truth was not'to be
spoken at all times, nor to that effect ?—Nu,
never; I had neverseen them.

You had never seen them ?—Not since that
time, they were constantly about the house
then, and that was the time to speak of it.

Mr. Adam.—I am going to call a witness
:‘m: the purpose of proving that Upton is now

ving.

Lo%d Chief Justice Eyre.—We have hall
some evidence with respect to Upton. Unlees
you go the length of proving that Upton-is
alive, and is kept away by one side or the
other, no observation in nry ‘)udgmem arives
upon it in this case—it will remain an un-
certainty whether he went away to aweid
beirg now examined, and what were his in-
ducements if he did so; or whether thay were
inducements that moved from the side ofthe
prosecution, or: from the'side of the prisoner;
or whether it was puvely the effect of bis own
feelings—now all that being left ‘perfeesly
uncertain, as you do net’opdn thwt you'ven
prove that he is kept away ; it scoms to.me -
asdf that inquiry was really quite beside this
case.’

at your house

Mr. Adam.—Will your Tordship permit only~
i round:

e )



143] % GEORGE IIL

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—If you think it |
right to call these witnesses, having admitted *
some evidence on the other side, which per-
haps was rather admitted by way of anticipa-
tion than otherwise, I certainly shall not
stop you. , N

Mr. Attorney General.—There is ome cir- |
cumstance material for my learned friends to
be aware of, as in the nature of the thing .
this is evidence respecting a fact which has |
taken place since & copy of the indictment, |
and the names of the jurors, and of the wit-
nesses were deli to the prisoner; this

int must arise, and it is & new point in the
mry of these sort of trials, namely, whether
I am not at liberty to call witnesses to prove
the death of Upton, which is a fact that has
happened since the list of witnesses has been
delivered to the prisoner; I ap nd [ can
call these witnesses; I take for granted Mr.
Adam will not make an objection.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—Witnesses whose
testimony arises from the evidence on the
other side, can hardly be supposed to be
within the meaning of the act of parliament ;
because, by no possibility can you know be-
forehand that you should need such evidence.

Mr. Adam.—1 wish to state it in sucha
maonner as to have it very distinctly under-
stood—I am perfectly satisfied of this, and I
am really anxious (though it may be a little
out of course) to declare that I am persuaded
every remn concerned in this prosecution
throughout the whole, is perfectly incapable
of doing such a thing; and I should be ex-
tremely sorry if any thing that I state to the
jury, or now address to your lordship, could
possibly attach my name to the supposition
of such a thing existing, and therefore most
undoubtedly I cannot avail myself of that
ground—namely, that I bring this evidence to
prove that there have been measures taken
to prevent Upton’s coming here; I certainly
cannot state that to be the ground, because
every conviction, and every feeling that I
have, is perfectly to the contrary : then it re-
duces itself exactly to this, whether your
lordship thinks, strictly speaking, it is evi-
dence that ought to be admitted or not, I cer-
tainly will not give your lordship the trouble
of discussing the question.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—You do very
rightly, because examining witnesses whose
cvidence has not a clear application to the
cause only puzzles the case.

Mr. Adam.—In a case of this sort your
g)rdship will forgive me for offering this evi-

ence.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—I have no objec-
tion to every thin‘slbe'mg stated, and sifted
andb iving you the usi&hnoe I can ‘t)o
enable you to produce eve ing you t
to produce. 7 Thng you e
Elizabeth Watson sworn.— Examined by Mr,

Adam,

Where do you live *—1I did live in Dyer’s-

buildings.

Trial of Robert Thomas Crosgficld [144

Did Mr. Crossfield, the gentleman at the
bar, live with you?—He lodged in my

ouse.

Under what name did he lodge in your
bouse ?—By the name of Crossficld.
d_dYou slways knew him by that name P—J

id.

Did he lodge in your house in September
and October 1794 !—He came on the 26th of
July 1794, a0d continued as near as I can re-
member about two months.

Of course you knew & good deal of his
manner and way of life; was he a man
that was remarkably careful of his papers or
any thing ?—No he had nothing locked up
while he was in my house.

Did he pass by his own name, and go about
every where publicly *—Yes.

How long have you known him?—I never

! knew any thing of him till he came 10 lodge

in m{ house.

When did he leave your house 2—1 cannot
ascertain the day; he went about the end of
September, or the beginning of October.

e did not come back again to lodge with
you?—No.
Elisabeth Watson cross-examined by Mr.

Attorncy General.

Did he visit you afterwards?—No; I
have never scen him sioce he left my house.

He did not pay you any visit at any time
about Christmas, January, or February, or
afterwards?—He did not.

Do you recollect whether inquiries were
made at your house about him?—No in-

quiries were made after him after he left my
house.

Margaret Beasley sworn.—Examined by Mr.
Adam.

Do you koow Mr. Crossfield?—I have
known him abeut four years.

Have you known him intimately ?—Yes,

What is your opinion of bis character?—
I never knew any thin'i:gainst his character.

Do you know whether he is a humane

-natured man ?—I have always under-

stood 80, and always heard so.

Mr. Wyld sworn.—Examined by Mr. Adam.

Do you know Mr. Crossfield !—Yes.

How long have you known him !—About
three years, .

What is your opinion of his character i—L
always thought him of a good character.

For his good-nature and lmmni:‘y —
Yes; 1 always thought bim a man of hu-
What is your profession ?—. .

Where dzoywlivei—-lntbe;e‘:}wnw

Mr. Simon Wilson sworn.—Examined by Mr.
Adam.

What sre you?—A surveyor in Dorset.
street.
Do you know Mr. Crossfield 2—Very well.
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How long have you known him P—Ever
since I remember any thing.

Do you know him sufficiently to know his
character >~Yes.

What is your opinion of his character ?—
I always thought him an exceeding good
man.
" Incapable of committing any crime?—I
never thought he would commit the least
erime,

He is a humane man ? —Very much so.
Mr. Hepburn sworn.—Ezamined by Mr.

Adam

What are you?—A surgeon.
Where do you live ?—In Great Hermitage-
cet.

How long have you known Mr. Crossfield ?
—Four years. °

Have you known him intimately ?—I have
been often in his company, I attended the
family whese he lodged.

What is your opinion of his character ?—A
very easy good-natured man, extremely so;
too -natured.

r. Law—We will call Dennis and Le
Bretton again.

Thomas Dennis called again.—Examined
Mr., g by

Were you in court while Mrs. Smith was
being examined just now ?—I was not. .

You have not heard what she said ?—No.

You know Mrs. Smith >—I do.

Have you had any conversation with her
gbout Crossfield ?—Not since I was first exa-
mined before the privy council.

" Did she ever make any enquiries of you as

to what you had said on your examination ?—

8he did.

__Are you sure of that?—Yes, T am confident
it.

Didshe seem in any manner anxious toknow

hat you had said upon that examination?—

ite so; she asked me what I knew about
Crossfield, and she ‘said she hoped I would
not declare any thing that would hurt him;
I dined with her, and very warm disputes
there were after dinner ; there were three or
four captains there and myself; and she said
she would say any thing to save him, and not
to hurt him.
"Was there any thing said about whether
ﬁu shiould or not say truth at all timed?—
ot before me. -
Mr. Adamto Elivabeth Smith.—Is what this

man says true ?

* Mrs. Smith.—1 never examined him as to
what he had said. .

* Mr, Adam.—Did ever ask him to do

what he says you asked him?
Mrs. Smith.—I never asked him te favour
Mr. Crossfield. ‘
Dennis,—Captain Smith, who dined there,

giimo a very warm dispute, and said Mrs.
th, youought to be

ed of yourself
for saying a word,
VOL. XXVI, .
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Mr. Law.—Who is that captain Smith?

Dennis.—A gentleman in the African trade;
he lodged with this good lady, at least I learn-
ed so when I dined there.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—~Who werethe
other gentlemen there at dinner at that
time ?

Dennis.—Captain Clarke, captain Smith,
and a young gentleman that had apartments
there, I believe he was a wharfinger; I do
not know his name.

Mr. Law.—As I find Le Bretton is not here,
we will not detain the Court, but with your
lordship’s leave we will examine him after
my learned friend has summed up the evi-
dence for the prisoner.

Mr. Gurney.—Gentlemen of the jury; The
evidence for the prisoner being now closed, it
becomes my duty to address you on his be-
half; and lyneed scarcely state to you the ex-
treme awfulness of that duty. Even my
learned friend, Mr. Adam, when he rose to
address you, felt himself most deeply affected
by the circumstance of standing up, for the -
first time, in defence of a person accused of
so great an offence : what then must be my
feelings, who am far from having the advan-
tage cither of his ability or of his experience ?
I, however, feel myself encouraged by the
consideration, that the able and eloquent
speech which he delivered must have made
such an impression upon your minds as to
render it less necessary for me to solicit your
attention, or to detain you, for any length of
time ; and to make it less likely that the pri-
soner should suffer, as I fear he must suffer,
by the inability of the advocate who Bas now
the honour to address you.

I confess, gentlemen, there is one hurthen,
from whichin this case I feel relieved, namely,
that there is not any question of law by which
your minds can by any possibility be en-
tangled. It is purely a question of fact upon
which you are to decide ; that is to say, whe-
ther the fact has been substantiated by legal
proof, so as to call upon .you to find the pri--
soner at the bar guilty of high tréason.

Gentlemen, it has been correctly stated to
you that the crime of high treason is the
most heinous and the most atrocious crime
which it is in the power of man to commit,
It is vo inasmuch as it aims not only at hu-
man life, but at the life of the sovereign,
whose death might plunge the country into a
state of anarchy and confusion, and conse-

uently bring upon it incalculable miseries.

e life of the king being of such high import
to society, the law has provided peculiar pro-
tections for his person; it has enacted, that
even the ing his death shall be equal
to that which in other cases would be' the
completion of the crime—the actual murder.
By the act of 25 Edward 8rd, which is the
statute upon which this indictment is founded,
treason is defined to be—% when a man doth
compass or imagine the death of our lord

L
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the king, and thereof be bly attainted
of open deed by kdﬂi-cmzﬁon.”
Thus far the law had and wisely
provided, for the f:tecuon of the person of
the kiniﬁvom lawless vislence ; in succeeding
u‘:n?s the legisln&r: was taught, by melan-
choly experience, that another important con-
sideration remained, namely, to t the
rson of the subject from unrighteous vio-
ence under the forms of law; 1t therefore
provided fences to the subject from
unfounded accusation of high treason. A
subsequent statute has enacted, that a person
shall not be convicted of high treason unless
there are two witnesses to one overt act, or
one witness to one overt act and another wit-
nesss to another overt act, of the same spe-
cies of treason. The resson of the law was,
that the legislature, in prosecutions for high
treason (carried on, as they always are, by the
government of the country) had witnessed
instances in whieh individuals were overborne
by the power and the influence of that govern-
ment; it was, therefore, necessary that a jury
should have, in & case of so great itude
as this, the satisfaction arising from the con-
curring testimony of two witnesses to some
one overt act, or one witness o one overt ast
and another witness to another overl act, of
the same species of treason.

Before I'state to you, gentlemen, what the | li

question is which you have to consider, give
me leave to state, In one word, what it is you
have not to consider. The question is mot
whether there was or was not probable ground
for this prosecution. The question is, whether
tl;e attf Aas ubduﬁc::d the
charge of high treasom, according to the strict
requisites of the law. This m:e‘ment of the
question you will perceive the necessity of
keeping in your minds, from some observa-
tions 1 shall have occasion to make hereafter.
Before I enter upon the examination of the
evidence which has been given, I would
leave to remark on the improbable nature o
the case attempted to be made out on the
part of the crown. It is surely no immaterial
consideration, whether the charge which is
brought against the prisoner is attended with
probability or with improbability; because,
undoubt l{, evidence of a less weighty na-
ture will substantiate a probable charge than
will substantiate an improbable
Now, upon viewing the whole of this case
together, I will venture to say, that, from
the beginning to the end, it is attended with
every unprobability that can attend any ac-
count of any buman transaction, or any pre-
tended human transaction. Among other
things, let it be consi what motive all
these persons could have who are affirmed in
the indictment to be conspirators. In former
assassination-plots, which have’become the
subjects of judicial inquiries, there was in a
neighbouring kingdom a competitor to the
thirone, ready to assert his pretensions by
force of arms; and there were in this country

sions ;
purpose to be attsined by the persons who
were conspiring to asssssinate the i
king, namely, to remove him, in
lace.tbefexi alu monarch u
or country, longer
;h;:ase We have b-;,w no dis_puudh\hﬂl:le,
majesty reigns by unquestionab| t,
and ra? t,mo,sm the hearts of his subjects

Gen , there is another observation
upon the improbability of the which

may not be unworthy your allention.—It is
nd this assassination was to have been
effected in the theatre at Covent Is
it at all conceivable tham thatpublm'
perpetrats a crime 0 in ie
place withqut necessarily becoming the vice
tims of their own guilt? Is it reasonable to
suppose, that any could be 30 mad as
to imagine that
crime and escape they
30 well deserved? It is totally impossible
they could entertain such a hope. You wi
therefore, consider how strong and pow
a motive ought to be provetP u) persons
who are asserted to have en in a design,
the execution of which must bave been at-
tended with the immediate luss of their own

ves.
« I will now, gentlemen, submit some obser-
vations to you upen the evidence; and I feel
relieved from a Eﬂ mof the duty that
would otherwise have incumbent upon
me, by the obsewations which have beem
already so forcibly made by my learned
leader; and, therefore, if in g over the
evidence :’gr the crown I | J:‘ot wil'-:‘ bl:
to you wi t icularity, L
the reason; ;n‘r:i. yorl.;“icllu not, ime-
gine that I have any wish to withdraw an;
part of if from your attention : indeed, if I
any such wish, I know it would be vain, be-
cause [ am to be fo‘llowe'l(‘lh: the learned
torney-generalin reply. udge,
ﬁo, who presides, w'i.iYsum upall theev'l’denoo
to you with the greatest accuracy.

n the first place, you have the evidence of
Dowding, Flint, Bland, who state the
conversations that passed between them and
a person of the name of Upton, of whem yeu

. | have heard so much, Palmer, whom you bave

seen, and some third person. Not one of
these witnesses, however, has identified the
prisoner to be that third You will
observe, farther, that, in all these conversa-
tions, Mr. Upton is stated to be the person who
made the inquiries; Mr. Upton is the person
who is supposed to have carried on somethin,
like a negotiation with each of them;
in point of fact, nothing was done upon any
of these inquires, no instrument was made;
and, till you come to the evidence of Hill,
is not stated that any thing was done in con-
sequence of these inquiries and these
tons,

i
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You come then to the evidence of Mr.
Hill, who states, that three persons came to

him, Upton, Palmer, and a third D;
which t&n‘l ;)euon, he, too, has not iJontiﬁui
to be Mr. Crossfield that he received instruc-
tions from Upton; and that that third person,
whoover he was, he uriaks assisted Upton in
giving the directions.

Then you have the evidence of Mr. Palmer,
which is to connect Mr. Crossfield with the
whole of this transaction. Mr. Palmer states,
thet himself, Upton and Mr. Crossfield, were
the persons who called at these brass-foun.
ders, and were the persons who likewise
called upon Mr. Hill,

. You will recollect, gentlemen, that M.
Palmer was a witness produced by the crown;
he was a man, therefore, wham the crown
tendered to you as deserving of your credit;
for if he was not deserving of your credit, he
was not a witness to be produced by them in

his court. You will recollect that the iden-
tity of Mr. Crossfield is proved only hy Mr.
Palmer, and therefore I should suppose that
the crown will not state to you that Mr.
Palwer is not deserving of Your credit, be-
cause the moment his credit is destroyed this
cause is out of court; for they have not
proved the identity of Mr. Cmssgeld by any

but Palmer. Therefore, I am per-
indifferent as to Palmer’s credit; I care
not whether he stands before you as a man
entitled to the fullest credit, or as a man
totally unworthy of your belief. I am per-
fectly indifferent upon that subject; because
if he is deserving of eredit, then the whole of
is evidence must be taken to be true. And
bes stated, that the calling upon Upton
was accidental ; he has stated, that he called
upon Upton for & watch of his, which Upton
was mending; that upon mentioning to Upton
which way Mr. Crossfield and he were going,
Upton said he was going the same way, and
would acoompany them ; that Upton was the
man who spoke to every person upon whom
they called: he has not the least inemory of
any one part that either of them took in the
conversations except Upton; and, therefore,
if Palmer is a person of credit, then one of
those persons who is supposed to be a witness
$0 prove some one of the overt acts charged in
the indictment, is a witness who does not
prove any one of those overt acts.

Yoa recollect how this is supported, on the
other hand, by Hill, if it is to be called sup-
port. Hill states, that he received instruc-
tioas from Upton; and he thinks that a third
person, whom he did not know, assisted in
ﬁi:iﬁlwm part of the directions. Is this o0

ed two witnesses to an overt act?—
Is this that ooncusring testimony of two wit-
nesss 1o an overt act which the law reauires
before a prisoner can be provably atu °
open dees'! It certainly ia
. pvoves something like
carown attempt to col

dence, and the other
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but proves no facts; and if this overt act is
not , I te ask what overt act upon
this indicsment 15 proved? Not one. This
is the only overt act to which the evidence
for the crown can be applied.

The first overt act ed in the indiot-
ment is, that the prisoner, together with Le
Maiwe, Smith, and Higgins, the other persons

in the indictment, conspired to pro-
cure and provide a certain instrument, for the
purpose of di ing anarrow, and alsoa cer-
1ain arrow to be loaded with poison, with intent
o di the said arrow so loaded with
poison, by means of the said instrument, at and
minst e guou of the king, and thereby to
him. Now, you cannot but have ob-
served, that, although this is the main and
grilcipnl overt act—although 1t is that which
first presents itself to the eye upon reading the
xndictmem{ yet the crown have not affected to
ive a single tittle of evidence in support of it
rom the Eeginning to the end of their case.

Gentlemen, you must have supposed, from
hearing the indictment read, that you were to
have evidence of a conspiracy of the prisoner
with those other persons to procure and to
Ktovide this instrument; and yet you have

eard no more of those ns upon the evi-
dence for the crown than®if they had never
existed from ¢he beginning of time to the pre-
sent moment. The first overt act, therefore,
is not even attempted to be proved by the
orown,

The second ig the overt act upon which I
have already l:fmn'vad, and to which alone
the evidence for the crown applies; thatis
the employing Hill to prepare two pieces of
wood, to as models for the making
certain of the instrument before men-
tioned, and delivering to Hill drawings, as in-
structions for making such models.

The third overt act charges the prisoner,
together with the other three, with deliberatin
on the killing of the king, by the means ant
instrument aforesaid, and how and where it
might most effectually be accomplished. Of
that, 100, you have not heard one single sylla-
ble in evidence. L.

The fourth is, employing Upton to assist in
makiong the instrument ; and for that pur-
pose delivering to him a paper with drawings,
as instructions for making the instrument,
and also two picces of wond as models for the
instrument.

Gentlemen, as you have not seen Mr. Upton
—from what cause it is not now my business to
inquire—but as, in point of fact, you have not
seen Mr, Upton, you have had po evidence
given, or affected to be given, either of the
prisoner at the bar or of the other persons
whe stand charged with him in the indict-
g having  iploye! Upton for that pur-
- to him any drawings

-=ly another overt
a metal
; of the
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instrument, and as a part of the instrument.

Now, gentlemen, what proof have you of
that overt act? All the proof you bave is,
that, in the possession of Upton, a metal
tube, which has been produced, was found.
Unquestionably the metal tube was in the
possession of Upton. But afler the evidence
you have heard respecting Upton—afier the
evidence, too, which you have not heard re-
specting Upton, I mean, because you have not
seen or heard Mr. Upton himself—is it to be
inferred, that, because a metal tube wasin his

sion, that, therefore, the prisaner de-
ivered that metal tube te him to be employed
for that purpose? I am sure a presumption
80 violent, so totally unsupported by all the
evidence, is nota presumption that can be
seriously and gravely stated to you on the
part of the crown. .

There is another set of overt acts, which
differs from this only in the description of the
instrument ; I shall not detain you, therefore,
witheany observations upon them,

I believe it is unnecessary for me to make
more than one or two obeervations farther
upon that which is the original evidence in
support of this indictment. You mrust have
anticipated me in observing, that it was not so
very remarkable that Mr. Upton should be
ﬁ:ing to a brass-founder’s, or that he should

going to a turner’s, for the purpose of or-
dering any instrament to be constructed
which was not in bis ordinary businessas a
watch-maker, because it has been proved that
ke was, likewise, .an ingeniolls mechanic in
other branches; that he had in his shop an
electrical machine of a curious construction,
of his own invention, that he was extremely
proud of it, and you observe when he was
asked by Hill the purpose for which the
models were wanted by him, he said they
were for the purpose of an electrical ap-
paratus.

Leaving then, gentlemen, all that evidence
which merely states certain circumstances
respecting Mr. Crossfield calling with Upton
upon Hill, and those cirumstances proved, as
1 submit, only by one witness (because not
one of the other witnesses, excepting Palmer,
speaks to the identity of Mr. Crosshield), un-
less there was something more in the case, it
would unquestionably be impossible for you
10 conceive by what means that evidence
would be applied to the support of the indict-
ment upon which you have to decide.

But the crown state that they can give cor-
roborative evidence—evidence of couversa-
tivns or of gonfessions of Mr. Crossfield which
completely ‘prove the traitorous purpose with
which he did those acts. Now, evidence
which is corroborative, or in other words evi-
dence which is auxiliary, can only weigh in
your minds so much as to produce a convic-
tion, when there has been previously some
oue overt act established according to the re-
quisites of -the act of parliament by two wit-
uesses; or two overt acts, one proved by one
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witness, and another proved by another, The
superstructure cannot be raised ustil the foun-

dation for it is laid.

Gentlemen, of all evidence that is produced:
in a court of justice, evidence of confessions,
of conversations, of words, is the most loose
and the most suspicious. I am sure the ob-
servations which bmy |leaur:iw(‘ll friend made to

ou upon that subject, and the very respecta~
glc au';.horities Whi‘”:;l he cited cannat fail o
have made the strongest impression upon
our mind. In addition to them, I will quote
iut one authourity, and that is Mr. Justice
Blackstone, who says, ¢ Words may be spokens
in heat without any intention, or be mistaken,
perverted or misremembered by the hearers.
Their meaning depends always upon theiv
connexion with other words and things. They
may signify differently even according to the
tone of voice with which they are delivered ;
and sometimes silence itself s more expres~
sive than any discourse.” I will not add one
word of my own to this admirable observa<
tion of that learned, that judicious, and that
elegant writer upon the English law.
ézntlemen, you have the testimony of per-
sons who were on board the prison-ships with
Mr. Crossfield, who come to you to state,
that he made certain declarations upon the
subject- matter of the crime with which he
now stands charged. Here, too, the case ia
attended with some of the strongest improbas
bilities that can exist, and with some circum.
slances extremely hestile to that case, which
is attempted to be made out by the witnesses
on the part of the crown,

The first witness that you heard was Ls_
Bretton, who stated himself to be hoat steers.
man, which, as I understand, is a situation of
very inferior condition on board a ship, cers
uin'lzesuch s man is nota suitable companion
for captain and the officers, or the sue
geon. Le Bretton has stated to you the
words which Mr. Crossfield is supposed to
bave uWtered, and which are conceived to
prove the criminal purpose with which he
did the acts that have been before alluded to.
Le Bretton says, I have heard him say he
was one of those that invented the air-gun to
assassinate, which he called assignate—to
shoot his majesty. I asked bim, what it wae
like; he told me the arrow was to go through
a kind of a tube by the force of inflam
air, he described the arrow to be like %o one
of our harpoons.

Now_ I should have supposed when the
next witness Denpis was c3 that he was
to have proved the same declaration as Le
Bretton, and most undoubtedly it was con-
ceivedhe would provethe same. Dennie was
more Le Bretton's associate than any other
porson. He was mate of the ship ia which
Le Bretton was a sailor, and con he
and Le Bretton must more frequently have as.
sociated, and were more likely thanany others
al:f in company together with Mr, Cress«
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Here, you have a fact which
marks the danger of giving so much credit as
is sought to be given to this testimony, be-
cause you must see that not two of those wite
nesses spesk to the same declaration ; Dennis
tells you he heard Mr. Grossfield say, that his
majesty wasto be assassingted at the play-
house { a dart blown through a tube, and
that be knew how the dart was constructed ;
it was something of the shw)e of a8 harpoon.

Then we come to Mr, Winter, and really
after the very acutecross-examinatjon of my
friond last night, and after the observations
which he mulic upon his evidencq this mora.
ing, I am almost ashamed of re-calling your
attention to his testimony, except to remark
that this, teo, conspires, as every thing does
conspire, to prove the extreme danger of ad-
mitung this sort of evidence as-a proof of

ilt. What does Mr. Winter say? He says

Mr, Crossfield told him, he actuslly had
shot at his majesty, but unluckily missed
him¢ he said this was between the Palace
snd. Buckingham-house; that this was Cross-
ield's daily subject of discourse for five months,
. and that he once dipped his into some
grog and marked upon the table how the
arrows were made. Then there are some
other declarations respecting what he hoped
would happen in future.

Lastly comes Mr. Penny, and he states,
that Mr. Crossfield said he was one of the ring-
Jeaders of the three that attempted to blow
the dart at his majesty in Covent-garden
theatre—stating the atlempt to have been
actually made, of which you have hadno preof,
and which there is no pretence to say ever
had been made—and that if he arrived in
England he would do the same again.

Altbough it does not come exactly in its
z‘_lwe, I must ‘Leamark the ext}r'ene a surdnig

supposin t a person who is imagi
%0 have confeued to this witness that l'lsbad
actually committed the crime of high tresson,
should say that if he ever came to England
8gain, he would do—what? Not that he would
commit any other species of high treason—
not even that he would commit the same
species of high treason in any other way-—
but that he would commit high treason again
in the particular way in which he is supposed
to have committed high treason before, when
all the parties were in custody, when the
whole scheme was known to theur;blic, and
which, therefore, was the last me that
ever would have been thought of by any man
in his senses, even if he ha:f entertained those
detestable designs,

But, gentlemen, some observations asise
upon the manner in which these witnesses
have given their evideace, and upon the sort
of intimacy which they must have bad with
Mr. Cro Le Bretton, I am sure, ‘ust
bave im d you by the manner in * ch
he gave his evidence, with an ideaof b -
being very favourable to Mr. Cr
Brotton states, that in point of fa
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ficld and he did net associste en board the
ison-ship; that he was in one mess, and

r. Crossficld in another, as must certainly
have been the fact, considering the disparity
of their conditions. He owns that he dise
liked Mr. Croesfield, and it is extremely fair
to suppose that that dislike was mutusl
Yet it is to be imagined that of all the per-
sons in_ that prison-sh‘i’p, Le Bretton, a man
of inferior condition, disliking him and dis-
liked by him, was the man whom he should
select as his confidant, with whom he should -

ntrust his life, to whom he should actually
nfess, that be had beentg\enilgy of high trese
son in attempting to kill the king!

Then you. come to Dennis; he was the
maeofthaahig, and he did assocjate withh
Mr. Crossfield, he was io the same
mess ; but when I asked him as to his inti.
macy with Mr. Crossfield, he seid he never te
his knowled fifty words with
him all the time he was in France, and not
many more than fifty before he arrived there,
He too nspears not to have been :ek? fas
vourably disposed towards Mr. Crossfield, and
I think it may be reasonably-inferred that
Mr, Crossfield was not in habits of the greatest
degree of sociability and intimacy with him.
Yet it is supposed that Mr. Crossfield bas
such a strange taste for confidants, that he
first of all selects a common sailor with whom
he did not associate, and whom he did not
like ; and next a mate whom he disliked m0
‘much that, although Mr. Crossfield is con~
fessedly a man of levity, of mttle, and ex.
tremely talkative, he did not exchange fifty
words with him in a six months captivity,
during which they messed together every day.

Now I appeal to you, fentlemen, whether
it is possible to conceive of any evidence roore
improbable than that which has been gi
b{ Le Bretton and Dennis, who speak to de+
clarations which could have been inspired
only by the greatest intimacy and confidence,
and which by their evidence would appear to
have existed, where there was every thing the
most remote either from intimacy or cone
fidence.

Mr. Crossfield was afterwards removed on
board another ship, and there he finds Mr,
Winter. Mr. Winter, you perceive, is a man
rather stricken in years, and I think even
upon his own evidence in chief, he must bave
appeared to you to be a man of as weak an
understapding as ever made his appearance
in a court of justice. What does he state?
He states that Mr. Crossfield said, that- he
actually had committed the crime,—not that
he had conspired to commit it,—not that he
was concemned with others in any plot to
commit the crime,~-but that he actually
committed an overt act of high treason in
she iting at the king. That is not either of
[ 'ged upon this indictment.
‘ k vrover to state that

‘bly it
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But what shall we say to Winter, when it
np upon his cross-examination, that from
his silliness and credulity, he was the bu
the ridicule of every person in the ship, an
that they were, perpetually telling ish
stories to him in reply to his very foolish
stories to them? A more striking instance
of the complete credulity of the human mind,
of a mind which must be as near dotage as it
is possible for any mind to be (if it is not
absolutely in a state of dotage), is the story
he told last night respecting the hare, which,
he says, jumteﬁ into his arms, which hare he
threw into a kennel of hounds, and there that
hare remained, like Daniel in the lion’s den,
unburt for several hours. Is it possible to
listen toany thing that & man says, whose
mind can be 30 extremely weak as to allow
of his telling that as a fact, which no man
living could believe if it were stated by a
thousand witnesses—that a8 hare cuuld be

thrown into a kennel of hounds, and that the | hi

after itting it to remain amon

Mdogs, unhum l:;‘ny hours, should then
take into their heads to chace it. Winter was
asked a question which naturally arose from
that—wlether he had not represented this
hare to be the devil in the shape of a hare?
No, he is positive he never said that. I think
the probability of the case would have been,
even if wehad hadnoevidence to prove the fact,
that where a man was 50 weak as to believe
it possible for a hare to remain unhurt in a
kennel of dogs for several hours, he would be
superstitious enough to suppose the hare was
something supernatural. But it does not
rest upon that which is the probability of the
case; because we have it from the evidence
of captain Collins, that he did state this hare
to be the devil in the shape of a hare, and
therefore what Winter states of his not hav-
ing said so, is completely and absolutely false.

en, gentlemen, we come to the evidence
of Penny, and his evidence of declaration
varies, as I haye before observed, from all the
declarations alfected to be proved by the other
witnesses. e states the act too to have been
really done, which this indictment clquea
Mr. Croasfield with hnvinF conspired to do;
he says Mr. Crossfield told him, he was one
of the ringleaders of the three that attempted
to blow a dart at his majesty at Covent-pab
den, and he would do the like again if he
had an opportunity.
. Something is to be gathered, as.I before
observed, from the demeanor of wilnesses.
You may collect something of the truth of
their evidence from the circumstances of their
appeariag to come well or ill disposed to the
person against whom they speak. And I
think I ms{tcppeal to you re?ecting the de-
meanor of Penny, that he did not come with
any very favourable or even with an impartial
disposition towards Mr. Crossfield. After 1
had cross-examined him, and not atany great
length, he brought out with great eagerness,
“ lﬁ: said all this and more.”—He was asked
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directly what this more was. It did not ap-
?utubeeom' very quickly, and therefore
sal down to wait forit. A

some pause,
his lordship asked what it was? No answer
—Asother pause—his lordship asked him, if
he heard his questiot—“ Yes”—but still no
answer. A and agein was his
obliged to remind hiin that he was waiti
for an answer—and thea what was this more

Nothing additional could bel ::’n;‘m I::s state
—but he then says, ship got
this down, and tluyt do’:‘:, and the other, re-
peating every thing he had said before, in the
very same words he had before used, and in
the same order, but ndt pretending that
he had any thing

state:. and the wl;:lehcof l“:nd 10

created a suspicion, that he was endeavouring
t0 iavent something to extricate himself froam
the difficulty in which his zeal bad involved

i

m.

Gentlemen, I have observed upon the vari-
ances in the accounts given by these wit-
nesses, of the declarations of Mr. Crossfield ;
and that naturally introduces the observation
which | am now to submit to you, that inas.
much as I have before, I think, demonstrat
that you have not had auny overt act prov
by two witnesses, as the statule requires—
80, on the other hand, you have not any con-~
fession of an overt act proved by two wit-
nesses; because Le Bretton is the only man
who has stated to you, that Mr. Crossfield
confessed to him he was one of those that in-
vented the sir-gun to shoot his majesly.
Therefore to fortify that which, I .tlunk, is
not established sufliciently to be fortified, you
have merely the single evidence of Le
Bretton, as to_the confessions of Mr. Cross-
field. But this, you will recollect, is nota
confession of any dne of the overt acts
proved, or attempted lo be proved. You have
no overt act proved of a conspiracy for the
purpose of killing his majesty. There has
not been a single tittle of evidence produced
by the crown to establish that charge of con-
spiracy, and yet every ope of the supposed
confessions of Mr. Crossfield, relates to some
supposed conspiracy, of which the crown has
not been able to produce a single tittle of

evidence. Therefore you will consider howe-

remote all these conversations of Mr. Cross-
field are from proving, that he confessed to
these witnesses that he was guilty of any one
of the overt acts which is charged upon this
record, 1 mean of any one of these overt
acts upon which the crown have offered any
evedence to your consideration.

Gentlemen, this being the evidence on the
part of the crown, the attorney-generel said,
that he thought it would behove the prisoner to
give some account of the instrument in ques-
tion, and of the design with which it was
made, and this he considered to be a necessary
part of our defence.

Gentlemen, the crown is to make outits
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case by its own strengih, not by the weakness
of a prisvner. A Ptisoner has e right to.
stand upon the delensive, and to say,I do
not come here to prove my innocence, it is for
you lo prove my guilt—and evidence to prove
that guilt must be before he can be
called upon to make any defence at all. But
even when a prisoner is called upon to give
some evidence in his defence, the nature of
that evidence must depend upon the nature
of the case which is attempted to be made
out against him, und he is not to be called
upon to give evidence, which in the nature of
things it 1s not in his power to give.

Admitting the whole of the evidence that

been 5|ven on the part of the crown to be
true, and drawing from it every inference that
the crown would wish to draw, the knowled
of the existence of these models is on
proved to have been in the prisoner, in Pal-
mer, in Upton, and in Hill. Hill you bave
Palmer you have seen, Upton you have
not seen-—and, therefore, I should be glad to
know what wituess I am to produce upon the
subject.—Am I to produce Mr. Upton® The
crown state that he is dead, and, therefore,
they cannot call upon us to produce bim, I
{o ask, then, how Mr., Crossfield is to be
upon to give any account of the nature
of this instrument, when it is not pretended
that there is any other living witness who
ever saw it.

But recollect, gentlemen, what it is that
Mr. Crossfield is supposed to have seen. It
is not affected to be said he ever saw any rul
of the instrument. For you will recollest,
that in the conversation at Hill's, at which
Palmer states Mr, Crossfield to be present,
Upton was giving instructions for making the
model, Palmer never saw that model, and Hill
is the only witness produced who ever saw it,
exeepling aflerwards in the possession of
Upton, when Mr. Ward saw it.

. With respect to the metal tube, that which
is infinitely the most formidable part of the
instrume nt‘ut't:at too which might Kerhaps
readily explain the meaning of all the rest,
that without which all the rest is unintelli-
gible (for I defy you to collect from the rest
any supposition that any person, unless he
were skilful in that line, could conclude that
it wasjfor an air-gun), that that metal tube is
not proved to have been in the possession of
any but Upton, Mr. Crossfield never
saw it, never heard of it till afterwards;

ore, what evidence can he give of its
purpose and intent? You will not forget,
gentlemen, that I am stating this hypotheti-
cally, giving the caso for the crown all the
wcmwhlch can be affected to be given to It
by selves, and not allowing, because it is
not proved, that Mr. Crosshi the least
kuoowledge that the wooden model was for
the purposé of an air.gun, or that he had any
thing to do with ordering it, farther than pos-
sibly giving Upton a little assistance in ex-
plaining his directions.
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Is was in the power of the crown, if the
fact had existed to have proved that Mr,
Crossfield knew something'more of the instru-
men$, because they have called Mrs. Upton
who states that she had seen Mr. Crossfiel
at her husband’s house; but she does not
venture to state that when Mr. Crossfield was
at the house, he saw either the drawing, the
models, or the brass tube ; and you will recol-
lect (for it is 2 thing never tobe forgotten in
theycourge of this cause) that that brass tube
is only spoken to, as having been in the pos-
session of Upton, and that there is not one
single tittle of evidence that any one person,
excepting those who have been produced to

, ever saw it, and these ns only saw
itin the‘rossesslon of Upton. Palmer ncver
saw it, Hill never saw it, no personever did
see it, except Pusey and Steers, and a&ermh
Mr. Ward, when Upton disclosed this sup-
posed &lot to him. . ’

With respect to the evidence we have pro-
duced, you will observe, that we have pro-
duced evidence not immediagely respecting
Mr. Crossfield personally, but which will in
some measure account to you for the ¢
which Upton brought sgainst Le Maitre,
Smith, and Higgins, who were the persons
firstapprehended. We have proved most indis-
putably, that those persons were pursuing an
enquiry against bim ia the Corresponding So-
ciety, for a chaige of 2 most atrocious nature:
that they were pursuing it with some degres
of violence, and that he was resisting it with
every possible degree of violence and rancour.
We have likewise proved to'you declars-
tions, that but for their exposing him he
:n:ver would have made that charge against

em.

Now let us look at this indictment; what
does this indictment import to be? a cbarge
upon the prisoner and Smith, Higgins, and
Le Maitre, of a conspiracy to kill the king,
and Upton is supposex the instrument.
The attorney;geneul stated in his opening,
that Upton, if he had come into court must
have lt:omls ltxiere to st?u;) h‘ilmself an ‘;c‘-l-
complice in the crime of high treason, an
that he was one of the principal conspi-
rators.

Do I not then establish still farther the ex-
treme improbability of this charge as it stands
upon the indictment, that Upton should have
been supposed to have been in actual conspi-

and, | racy with men, who at that very time were

ursuing an enquiry against him in the Cor-
fupondm; esl:;?:icty, were endeavouring to
procure his expulsion from that society on
account of the infamy of his character, and
respecting whom he made declarations which
‘manifestias Jl:mity and rancour? Is it to
be suppose t persons enter into conspya-
cies fgr crimes with those with whom they are
on terms of hostility? The supposition is most
wild and extravagant, .

You will also recollect the evidence of Mr.
Palmer, as to the degree of acquaintance
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which Mr. Crossfield had with Upton, that
the acquaintance was of very short duration,
that it commenced with meeting in the Cor-
responding Society, and that the call upon
the occasion, which is the subject of the evi-
dence, was purely accidental. Why, gentle-
men, good men do not associate for good pur-

without knowing something of each
ether, without havingsomegeneral knowledge
of the character which cach of them bears.
Bad men do not couspire to commij crimes
without that degree of intimacy, friendship,and
canfidence which shall enable each to believe
that when he trusts his character or his life
ia the power of the other, he trusts it in the
power of a man who will not betray him. A
man surely will not offer to en with ano-
ther in a conspiracy, to commit tho greatest
and most atrocious crime that can possibly be
committed, without a cansiderable degree of
knowledge of him, and confidence in him:
because for aught he knows, the moment
after he has disclosed his purgose to him, that
man would go,as it was his duty, and inform
the secretary of state of the transaction, and
i an hour's time, he might find himself a

i in the Tower for high treason. Here
38 then another of the strong improbabilities
with which the whole of the case of the
erown is encompassed. Itis supposed that
Mr. Croaﬁt:ld entered into a ‘btr:nomus con-

i with Upton, upon a%hort acquaint-
WUpon little knov':?edge, and therefore
when he was not in 8 situation to bestow upon
him that confidence which was absolately ne-
cessary to the guilty transaction imputed to
him by this indictment.

Baut it is supposed that Mr. Crossfield must
bea g;ilty man,because after Le Maitre, Smith
and ':Egins were apprehended, he left Lon-
don with Mr. Palmer, and went to Bristol.
If Mr. Crossfield was one of the persons
ohuﬁo;d in this conspiracy by Upton, why
was he not apprehended at the time Smith,
Riggins, and Le Maitre were apprehended ?
It rs-not affected to be said, that Mr. Cross-
field had left London, till after not only Upton
was apprehended and had given bis informa-
tion, but Smith, Higgins, and Le Maitre
wére t‘i.pprghended. ou will observe that
the information was given by Upton to Mr.
Ward, on the 19th of September. You wilf
cbserve, too (referring to another transac-
tion) that there was a very violent quarrel
between him and Le Maitre and Higgins, on
the 4th, only eight days “})recedm . On the
26th of that month Mr. Ward an inter-
view with Mr. Pitt, and informed him fully
of all the charge as it had been made by
Upton : éleven s more and then
Upton was aptmhended. e made a full
disclosare of this supposed conspiracy ; and
on the night of the 27th, Le Maitre and Hi
gins were apprehended ; on the 28th, Smi
was apprehended, and they were all taken
before the privy council.

Now, I beg to-ask, when, for thefirst time,
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was it that Mr. Croasfield was supposed to
have had a share in this censpiracy? If he
was supposed to have had a share in the con-
spir::z at this time, most unquestionably Mr.
Crossfield would have been apprehended when
the others were apprehended. He was not
then apprehended, although his residence was
perfectly well known; but it was not till
afterwards, and long long afterwards that
M. Crossfield was the subject of any charge.
If Mr. Crossfield had then been the subject
of any charge, and if the crown could not
readily have found him, there is an expedient
to which they always do resort, and afterwards
did resort, namely, a proclamation, with a
reward for his apprehension. The proclama-
tion offering a reward of two hundred pounds
for the apprehension of Mr. Crossfield, I have
no doubt, Mr. Attorney General will admit
was not issued till the 27thof Pebmar{, 1795.

Mr. Attorney General—I admit that the
;roolmation was not issued earlier than my

friend has stated.

Mr. Gurney.—It is candidly admitted by
the attorney-general, that the proclamation
offering two hundred pounds reward for the
apprehension of Mr. Crossfield, was never
issued till the 27th of February, 1795, near
five months after the charge was brought

inst the others and they were apprehend-

; therefore, I ask again, when was it that
he was for the first time charged with this
conspiracy? That he was notc with
it at-the time the others were is plain, be-
cause he would have been apprehended with
them; that lie wis not charged with it till
long afterwardsis plain, because it was not till
lon r that the crown resorted to—that
which is their never failing expedien b~
lishing a proclamation, offering a re for
his apprehension. e

Palmer has proved that Mr. Crossfield’s
Jjourney to Bristol, was not then for the first
time proposed, that he had for some months
bad an intention of going to Bristol, for the
purpose of trying experiments upon the waters,
and seeing whether it was an eligible situa-
tiontosettiein. But puttingit for 2 moment
upon the supposition that Mr. Crossfield had
retired to Bristol, upon the account of this
eh::ﬁe, I do protest aﬁainst its being comsi-
dered as evidence of guilt that a man has not
strength of nerves to_meet a charge of hi
treason, more especially if you recur to
time when this transaction took tmace.

My learned friend has stated that just -:J::;
vious to this, there had been two convictios
for high treason in Scotland, that a special
commtssion had issued for the trial of persons
then in the Tower, accused of high treason in
BEogland. There was atthat time a prosecu~
tion coming forward for high treason, X will
venture to say the most tmmm the
history of this country mro not
merely supported by the usual power, wealth,
and influence of the crown, but in w the
whole legislature had combined to prosecwe
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where, as wis most forcibly said by one® of
the great advocates for the prisoners, the two
Houses of parliament hiad made up the briefs
of the counsel for the crown; where, above
all, there was a prejudice, upon the subject so
deeply rooted, and so widely spread, that it
was scarcely possible to find a man who was
not tainted and corrupted with it. I have
too the evidence of that which is notorious to
all mankind, that some of the persons accused
of that treason, whom I have a right to call
innocent ns, did not surrender to take
their tria‘s upon that indictment. . One of
the gentlemen charged who was at large, Mr.
Holcroft, did surrender immediately. War-
die, Hodgson, and Moore, never did surrender
o take their trials, and the prosecution after-
wards ceased without their coming into court.
Therefore it is not to be presumed that a
man’s retiring from a charge of high treason,
or not putting himself forward to meet it at
s0 critical a time as that when this transac-
tion took place, furnishes conclusive evidence
of a consciousness of guilt in his mind. This
1 say upon the supposition of your not giving
full credit to Palmer. But, gentlemen, Mr.
Crossficld is stated to have returned from
Bristol, in the month of Decemnber, and bere
we have accounted for him completely, by
the evidence of Mrs. Smith, because we have
shown that he lodged at her house, and did
not leave her lodging to go on board the
Potona, till the latter end of January. Then
he comes on board the Pomona, and you have
the evidence of those persons, who had been
called on the part of the crown, to prove his
declarations.

Gentlemnen, there is one observation I
omitted to make, and it is scarcely necessary
for me to recur to it, because it was forcibly
impressed upon you by my learned friend, on
the evidence of a fact in contradiction to some
of those declarations the witnesses have
spoken to. .

Mr. Crossfield is supposed to have said,
that he was rejoiced at going on board a
French ship, for he would rather go to France,
than return to England. And g:t he was
a man so strangely formed as to be averse to

piness when it was in his power to pro-
cure it, for he moust readily entered into a con-
:giracy to rise upon the French, to seize upon
eir ship, and return to England. Gentle-
men, evidence of a fact like that, where he
was risking his own life in a very unequal
contest, for the purpose of rescuing the ship,
is enough to set at nought a thousand such
declarations as those which have been spoken
10 of his jo‘y at escaping from England, and a
prospect of getting into France.

Then, gentlemen, we have called to you
persons who were confined on board the pri-
son ship with Mr. Crossfield. And here I
must not fail to observe on the deficiency of

* Mr. Erskine : see the trial of John Horne
Tooke, anté, Vol. 25, p. 259,
VOL. XXVIL.
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the case proved on the part of the crown.
The witnesses who have been called have
stated the names of a number of persuns,
who were in the daily ard hourly habit of as-
sociating with Mr. Crossfield—they have
stated, that they fave those names to the
privy council, or at [east to some of the agents
of the crown ; and, therefore, the crown had
it in their power to bave procured the attend-
ance of them all, because they all of them
came home in the cartel with Mr. Crossfield.
You will recollect that Mr. Crossfield and
those persons came over in the cartel the
latter end of August, or the beginning of
September, and this indictment never was
preferred till the month of January. Mr.
Crossfield was all that time a close prisoner
in the Tower, having no intercourse with his
friends, and consequently very little, or in-
deed, not at all able to make any preparation
for his defence. It was in the power of the
crown to have given you the satisfaction of
hearing the testimony of all these persons,
with whom he was in habits of real intimacy
and friendship, to whom, therefore, if he had
made any such declurations as these, he
v{lould have been most likely to have made
them.

Upon this part of the case we have produc-
ed some evidence, but here, too, we could
only give you such evidence as it was in our
power to produce; and surely we have a
right to infer, that if all the persons had
been called who were constantly in Mr. Cross-
field’s company on board the prison-ships,
they would not have confirmed the evidence
which has been given on the part of the
crown, otherwise you would undoubtedly have
heard them.

Above all, the most material witness is
captain Clarke, who engaged Mr. Crossfield
as his surgeon—captain Clarke, with whom
he constantly lived—captain Clarke, who,
you will not forget, had some conversation
with Le Bretton upon this subject; for Le
Bretton stated that he had some conversation
with him, that he had informed the crown of
captain Clarke, that captain Clarke had un-
dergone some sort of examination, and that
he had seen him at the office of Mr. White,
the solicitor for the Treasury. Why is not
ca&tain'Clarke brought here? It is said he
left this country about Christmas last. The
crown knew the case which they had to prove
against Mr. Crossfield, and undoubtedly it
was in their power to have detained captain
Clarke in this country to have given his evi-
dence, if his evidence would have tended in
the least to support this prosecution.

Geantlemen, we bave done all that is in our
power to do; we have, with great anxicty
and with great diligence, souggt those wit-
nesses who were in the company of Mr.
Crossfield at this time ; and we have brought
to you, first, Mr. Clcverton, who was taken in
another ship a few days after the capture of
the Pomona; and he has stated to you, that

M
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he was In the habit of associating with Mr.
Crossfield constantly—that he messed at the
same table with him—and that he never
heard him make any declaration of disaffec-
tion to the king, or any confession of ever
having engaged 1n any treasonable conspiracy.
If Mr. Crossfield had been in the habit of
doing this (which it is the object of the wit-
nesses on the part of the crown to prove), it
is utterly impossible but Mr. Cleverton must
have heard it. If Mr. Crossfield could make
confidants of persons with whom he associat-
ed but little, and with whom he was not
upon any friendly terms, surely he would not
have been more reserved to those ns with
whom he associated much, and with whom he
was upon friendly terms.

Mr. Cleverton is asked whether he heard
Mr. Crossfield sing a republican song,—
“ Yes, he heard him sinﬁa republican song .”
the sonéia produced, and it 1s read to you.
In the first place, the singing a song (which
by-the-by, Mr. Cleverton says he never heard
him sing more than once or twice) I take to
be no sort of adoption of the principles which
the song contains, even if the man who sin
it is sober; but you will not forget that, m
order to drown the sorrows of their captivity,
they all indulged themselves pretty freely in
the use of grog, and Mr. Crosstield especially,
for he is stated to have been at that time in
the habit of constant intoxicativn, which must
weaken, if not completely desuoaethe effect
of all the declarations that have en
to on the part of the crown. But how it
destroy all the effect which is sought to be

iven to singing a song—singing a song, too,
Eﬂer wppenrg, bg a pel’gsol‘l ingltl:xge habit of in-
toxication, just at the very time when that in-
toxication must necessarily have existed? But
if Mr. Crossfield was soincautious as to make
declarations of this sort to Dennis and Le
Bretton, and so incautious as to sing a song
of this dgcription, before Mr. Cleverton,
would he {ave been more cautious upon the
subject of these declarations in the presence
of Mr. Cleverton? Would not Mr. Cleverton,
or the other persons with whom he was in
the habit of associating, be the persons to
whom he would have made this sort of decla-
rations? —and would not Mr. Cleverton,
therefore, have proved that he heard them?

Anotber circumstahce spoken to by Mr.
Cleverton was this, that any of the prisoners
upon slight illness, and almost upon the pre-
tence of an illness, might have gone to Lan-

derneau hospital ; that several persons went
apon 311?‘“ iliness there, shortly before the
sailin the cartel, and in consequence of

that they did not sail in the cartel for England.
Therefore, if the crown wished to establish
(that which I think has been before disprov-
ed), that Mr. Crossfield had an anxious wish
to avoid England, and to reside in France,
surcly this is weighty evidence to _prove that
Mr Crossfield might have avoided returnin,
to England, and that he might have remain
in France if he had chiosen tu remain there.

Triak of Robert Thomas Crossficld

(168

Then, gentlenten, you have the evidence
of captain Collins, who was on board the same
ship with Winter; and he states, that he in-
vited Mr. Crossfield on board his ship for the
purpose of his medical skill, to be applied to
the prisoners who were sick ; that that me-
dical skill was apgllied constantly, and with
great effect : and that by means of his skill
and humanity the lives of ﬁef}!y or sixty of the
English J‘arisonets were saved. He has also
stated (that which is most material for your
consideration, as respecting Winter) that

Winter was a silly old man, telling foolish
stories, and among others, tellin story
of the hare, upon which I have before ob-

gerved ; and that they used to tell foolish
stories, too, for the xurpooo of making a joke
of him. He says, Winter was their common
laughing-stock; and I am sure it is impos
sible for your minds to have resisted the im~
pression, that Winter was the constant bute
of their ridicule, and that in truth it was
scarcely possible that any of them could bave
said a serious word to him.

Captain Collins likewise proves another
circumstance, that there was an offer—and an
advantageous offer—made to Mr. Crossield,
if he would remain in France, namely, that
he should have the superintendance of the
hospital at Landerneau; yet such was Mz,
Crossfield’s reluctance to staying in Frunce,
and desire to return to England, that be re-

fused that advantageousoffer ; and the reason
he assigned was, that he wished to return to
his native :

But then we have a circumstance presented
to us, on the part of the crown, which is
supposed to be a most formidable circum-
stance ; and you are to imagine, that althougty
Mr Crossfield was now agmt to return (un~
willingly, as the crown pretend—willingly
and rejoicingly, as we have proved) to his na-
tive eountry, that he was ly afraid of
having it known that he was so returning, and
therefore he assumed the name of Wilson.

Now, gentlemen, {ou cannot but have ob-

how completely the evidence for ths
crown falls short of affording the inferemce
which they wish to draw from it. Mr. Cross-
freld is stated to have himself inserted his
name in the muster-roll as Henry Wilson, and
that he was taken on beard the Hope. To
whom was that muster-roll to be retuened ?
—to the commissary at Brest. Was it to be
sent to this country ? It is not pretended that
it was,

Then you will recollect the evidence of
Colmer, one of the constables of Fowey, who
stated, that when he mwed for him om
board the ship he immediately answered to
the name of Crossfield. It is not affected to
be stated, that he then made any sort of
tence that his name was Wilson. Thetelgr:,
I bave the fact most completely with me, thas,
as far as regarded this country (respccti
which, and respecting which alone, he coul
have had any wish to coacesl his zame), he
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did not endeavour to conceal his name, but
answered directly to the name of Crossfield.

But here is another of the improbabilities
with which this case is attended. Is it to be
supposed, if Mr. Crossficld wished to come
into this country, concealing his name, that
he could have done it (considering the com-
pany in which he came) in a cartel, with a
vast number of prisoners with whom he had
resided many months in France, and resided
with them under the name of Crossfield ?
He came with some of those persons with
whom he certainly was not upon very good
terms, as is clearly proved by the demea-
nor of those witnesses, and by the express

tions of dislike which they have made
in cowt. Isit to be imagined, therefore, that
if he was afraid of being apprehended for high
treason upon his return into this country,
would be so0 coraplete an ideot as to raise ad-
ditional suspicions to these which they had
before conceived 2—that he was a person ob-
noxious to the government of this country,
and therefore could not venture lo return to
this country under his own name?

But I will suppose that 2 copy of this mus-
ter-roll was to be sent to this country; then
recollect another fact, which shows how com-
pletely the probability is with mein the reason
w ﬁr. Crossfield should insert the name of
Wilson in the muster-roll at Brest—Paliner
has stated, that at the time when he last saw
Mr. Cmsl‘xeld, all his property had been as-
signed over for the benefit of his creditors,
and that he was thenindebt. You know per-
fectly well, that the names of prisoners coming
aver in cartels are commonly inserted in the
English newspapers; and, therefore, if the
name of Crossfield had been inserted in the
English newspapers, as returning on board a
ﬂral from France, that was certainly likely
o bring upon him some troublesome creditor,
and he might have lost that liberty to which
he bad been so very latzli restored. Then I
put it to you, whether, taking these facts to-
ghet, it is not infinitely more probable that

fear of creditors induced Mr. Crossfield to
take thename of Wilson at that moment, than
that which l‘:h:d :rdov;_n ) est—the feafr 'c:f
being e or high treason? e
reason ‘rp:sigu is still fagrther enforced by
this consideration, that he is supposed to
have made declarations of his having been ac-

Ily guilty of high treason to those persons
with whom he came over, and who conse-
quently must have had their suspicions still
more excited by his changing his name.

. Gentlemen, I have now taken such a brief
and imperfect view of the case as I have felt
myselfable to take, certainly not in the man-

i which I could have wished to have
one it, because I could have wished to bave
discharged my duty to the prisoner with infi-
nitely more effect than I have powers to dis-
durie it; but I trust that the observations
which I bave made 10 you will not be totally
without their effect; and 1 have the less
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anxiety, becanse I am sure the opening of
the prisoner’s casc by my learned friend Mr.
Adam, cannot have failed to have (gmduced
the strongest conviction in your minds; and I
should have been extremely rcluctant to have
gone over all the ground which was so ably
trodden by him, because I should have risked
weakening the impression which I am sure his
address to you must have made.

Give me leave, then, gentlemen, in a single,
word, to recall your attention to the nature of
the proof which bas been given by the crown
in support of this indictment.

here must be two witnesses to an overt
act, or one witness to.one overt actand another
to another. It appears to me, that the evi-
dence for the crown can be supposed to apply
to only one of the overt acts in the indictment
—To that one, I contend, they have nol pro~
duced two witnesses; because one witness
only speaks to the identity, and another
speaks to the transaction; and that witness
who speaks to the identity, absolutely ex-
cludes all idea of any criminal coucern in the
transaction; and, indeed, he who does nct
speak to the identity does not impute to the
person who is supposed to be the prisoner any
criminal concern in the transaction.

This being the case, I contend, that the
defect is not to be cured', and cannot be cured
by any auxiliary evidence whatever—that the
only witness who has attempted to prove
confession of an overt act is Le Bretton, anz
that the overt act which Mr. Crossfield is sup-
posed to have confessed to Le Bretton, is not
one of those overt acts upon which the crown
have offered any evidence. .

Therefore, gentlemen, the question is,
whether the prisoner stands in that condition
that he is to be considered as provably
attainted of open deed of compassing and
imagining the death of the king according to
all the strict requisites which the wisdom of
the law of England has provided. I submit
to you, that the crown have completcly failed
in establishing that proof, and that therefore
he is intitled to your acquittal,

Gentlemen, you cannot but feel impressed
upon your minds on the one hand, the im-
portance of this casc to the public, and on the
other, the deep and the last im})ortxncc itis
of to the prisoner at the bar. If the prisoner
is guilty, and is proved to be so by evidence
which at once satisfies the requirements of
the law, and completely convinces your minds,
unquestionably it imports the public, that by
your verdict he should be pronounced to be
guilty. But unless the crown have given that
proo{ which does amount to that complete
demonstration which the law of England re-
quires, sure I am you will not pronounce the
verdict which must shed that man’s blood—
that verdict which if pronounced, in a few
days the awful sentence of the law must be
executed upon him. He wust be hanged by
the neck, but not until he is dead; he must
be cut down being yet alive; hc muyst be em-
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bowelled, and dismembered. So awful and
80 dreadful a sentence will awaken in your
minds all the caution you can possibly apply
to this case, and weighing it with that cau-
tion which I am sure you will apply twoit, I
trust you will pronounce a verdict of xor
GUILTY.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—Mr. Crossfield

you have been heard in your defence by your
counsel, you have also a right to be heard in
your own n, if you think fit to offer any
thing to the jury.
. Prisoner.—My lord and gentlemen of the
Jury,T have nothing to add to what has been al-
ready stated by my counsel, except, that how-
ever, occasionally, I may have appeared
imprudent in words or in actions, I am
totally incapable of the atrocious crime laid
to my chuge? Farther I say not, but rest my
case satisfied with my own innocence and the
Justice of an English jury.

Mr. Attorney-General.—As 1 find Le Bret-
ton is now come, we will, with your lordships
permission, ask him a question or two.

John Le Bretton, called again—Examined by
M

r. Law.

Do you know Mrs. Smith, No. 17, Great
Hermitage-street P—By sight.

Where Crossfield lm{gecf ?—I do not know
that he lodged there.

Do you remember having any couversation
with her, in which she made any inquiries
about your examination before the privy coun-
cil ?—Yes ; | remember she asked me two or
three times what I had said.

Are you sure that the conversation began
by her asking you, or your voluntarily telling
her ?—By her asking me.

You are sure of that >—I am certain of it.

Do you remember her saying any thing

articular respecting the evidence you might

e galled upon to give in this place against
any person? Was any thing said about the
manner in which that evidence should be
given, favourably or otherwise >—Before I was
subpeenaed she said she hoped I would not say
any thing to burt the prisoner.

Did you say any thing in answer to that ?
—I toldb her 1should speak the truth if I was
called upon; I did not know whether it wouid
hurt him or not.

Was that the whole of what you said ?—I

believe thatis, as near as I can recollect, that |

I would speak the truth.

Did she inakc any observation upon that *—
Yes; she said “truth is not always to be
spoken you know.”

X Atre you sure she said so?>—Most certainly
am.

And that she began theinquiry of her own
accord, as to the examination betore the privy
council ?—Yes.

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—Mr. Guracy, do
you wish to make any observations upon this
evidence?
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Mr. Gurney.—No, my lord ; 1do not think
any observation necessary.

Rerry.

Mr. Attorney General.—Gentlemen of the
jury;—When I rise to address you in this
stage of the business, which you are met to
determine upon, I can assure you that there is
no man who feels more than I do, an awful
sense of the importance of the duty which
you have to execute.

Gentlemen, you will permit me to say far-
ther, that if there be a circumstance to which
at this moment, when I am rising with a full
conviction in my own mind that I am entitled
to ask at your hands, upon the evidence which
you bave heard, a verdict of guilty,—I say if
there be a circumstance, to which I can
look with satistaction at this moment, or to
which 1 can hope to look with_satisfaction at
any future period of my life, it is this—that
the constitution of my country, in the admi-
nistration of its justice, protects those, whom
itism dnt{ to prosecute, against any error
into w{ich may fall, either in matter of law,
or with respect to the conclusion that ought,
as to fact, to be drawn from the evidence ; by
interposing, between my observations and the
fate of the prisoner, the advice of the wisdom
that presides here, and the conscientious dis-
charge of your dutjr as a jury, which Tam
sure the country and the prisoner will receive
at your hands.

Gentlemen, I know too well the operations
of my own mind, guarding it as much asIcan
against fall impressions, not to feel that I am
unable sufficiently to protect my judgment
against the tendency which a prosecutor's
view of the case has to mislead it. When I
call therefore upon you, on behalf of the
country, for a verdict of guilty, it is, and ever
will be to me, a most lasting satisfaction, that
between the judgment that I form, and the
fate of that individual, you are first to receive
the advice and direction of those whose duty
it is, according to the constitution, to advise
and direct you; and you are then to deter-
mine whether this prisoner is or is not guilty
of this charge.

Gentlemen, T agree to every observation
which has been stated to you, with respect to
the importance of this case : but this is not a
case important only on one side. Gentlemen,
the fate of Mr. Crossfield, who stands now
before you upon his deliverance, is the fate of
a person whose life is undoubtedly preciousin
the eye of the law, whose life ought to be
precious to your consciences, because it is
precious in the view of that God who made
you and him. You will however recollect
also, that you owe a duty to the country, by a
! verdict according to evidence, to give pro-
tection, according to law, to the life of the so-
vereign, whose life, I may venture to state, is
at least as dear to the law of England, as that
as any man who is his subject. The suhject
and the sovereign are entitled to receive from
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you the protection of the law : ifinthiscasea
verdict of not guilty be due to the person who
stands before you, God forbid that any consi-
deration of the importance of the life of the
sovereign should induce you to deal out the
least injustice tothe unfortunate prisoner, who
now stands at your bar. But a just verdict
the country hath a right to receive at your
hands.

Gentlemen, with respect to the law of this
case, it appearsto me that this case has no dif-
culty, in matter of law, in it. This is notacase
of such treason as is sometimes represented as
constructive treason, and by a variety of other
names,which occur in the books and in the his-
tory of legal proceedings in this country. But
it is a case in which no question of difficulty,
with respect to the law, can be stated to a
Jury of the country ; it is the simple case of a
direct attack against the life of that person, to
compass or imagine whose death, when a
measure is taken for that purpose (whether
the measure be effectual, or not effectual for
the purpose), is treason under the express let-
ter of the law. The questions therefore,
which you have to try, I apprehend are these :
Did the prisoner do any such act as any of
those which are charged in this indictment?
Did he do any such act with the intent charg-
ed by this indictment? Isit proved that he
did such act with such intent by competent
and sufficient legal evidence? And this last
question, I apprehend, I may state to you as
including the sense of the statute of Edward
Srd, when it speaks of the-person indicted
“ being provably attainted of open deed, by
people of his own condition.” That the fact
was done, you must be satisfied before you
can convict; that the fact was done, with
the intent charged by the indictment, you
must also be satisfied; if your minds are sa.
tisfied on these points, it only remains for you
to consider, under the advice which you will
receive in matter of law, whether the fact is
proved, and the intentis %reoved, according to
the rulesof that law, the benefit and protec-
tion of which you are bound to dispense to
this prisoner.

Gentlemen of the jury, this case |has been
very ably stated to you on the part of the pri-
soner ; that statement has consisted partly of
genersl observations upon a general view of
the case,and partly of particular remarks upon
the particular expressions, and the particular
contents and import of the evidence, which
has been given by each and everysof the wit-
nesses.

Gentlemen, you will give me leave to do
now,—what I attempted to do in the outset—
to lavout ofthecase entirely the fact, thatthere
.ever did exist such a person as the man whose
name you have so often heard, I mean
Upton.

Gentlemen, I opened this case to you by
smingé as strongly as I could, that if he
were here to give his evidence, it must have
been most anxiously watched; it appeared

Jor High Treason. '
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to me, at least, that when a man came, charg-
";13 himself, out of his own mouth, with an
offence the most heiunous that can be stated,
not merely in a political view, bul in a moral
view—for this is not a mere political offence,
as affecting the king as king, but Jooking at
it with a view to the character of those who
admit themselves to be guilty of it, it is as
enormous a moral offence as it can enter into
the heart of man to endeavour to per,

—when such a man came to give evidence,
his testimuny must be heard with great jea-
lousy. When the witness must have been

‘bound to admit in his testimony that be had,

to a certain extent, embarked in a project to
murder an individual in the country, I am
sure, gentlemen, [ shall not withdraw from
what I have before stated in the outset, that
if you could not find, in the rest of the evi-
dence laid before you, sufficient reason to
affect the life of a third person, I should never
have asked you for a verdict against the life
of a man upon any credit you could give to
such a witness alone.

Gentlemen, I lay out of the case also all
the cvidence, which has been offered to you
on the part of the defendant with respect to
the malice, with which this man, Upton, has
been suppused to act. In the first place,
with regard to the present prisoner, sift the
evidence from the beginning to the end of it
(I beseech you to do so with respect to every
particular, in the whole of the evidence,
where your minds feel a leaning in favour of
the prisoner), I think I may state to you that
there is not a single tittle In it that amounts
even to evidence, deserving the name of sug-
gestion, or even of insinuation, that Upton
ever had any malice whatever against Cross-
field, the prisoner. With respect to the other

rsons, whom he accused, I mean Smith, Le

aitre, and Higgins, it is extremely obvious
upon the evidence (for God forbid I should
seek to conceal from you any fact thut does
appear the fair result of the evidence), that
between him and some of those persons, if
not all of them, there had been a quarre),
which, if you please so to take it, led 10
t rancour, and great malise upon his part.
g:: of the witnesses has told you, that with
respect to Le Maitre, at least, a reconciliation
ha‘ret:ken lace. I think I might ask you,
supposing &is was & question between, not
the present prisoner and Upton, but between
Le Maitre, iliggins, and Smith, and Upton,
if he had been examined as a witness, whe-
ther any thing at all conclusive is proved, after
it is established that a man brings forward a
charge, actuated by a purpose of malice in so
doing? That you are bound as men eof con-
science to sift a charge, so brought fo!
to the hottom ; that you are bound to see that
the malice of the man’s mind does not mis-
Jead him in point of veracity; that you are
bound to su that it may mi him in
int of veracity; that you are bound to be
Jealous, lest that malice may creats in his
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wmind the prejudices that may lead him to

beyond the truth, when he is charging the
person accused, is that, which it is not only
my duty to admit, but it would be my duty,
in'a case which called forit, to press most
strongly in favour of the

attention.

o Buh on th&o
of Eogland, nor the language

neither

4

is false; thatit is therefore false, because

who makes il is malicious. The ma-
ice may be his reason for bringing forward
the charge, but it will always be a question
for a jury to determine whether, supposing
the malice to be the mative for his bringing
forward the chasge, there is or is not ev)-
dence of the truth ofthat;:::r‘se, which ma-
lice leads him to bring f« . Now I beg
your attention o the evidence itself, as to
this matter: throughout all that has been
stated, on the part of the prisoner, with re-

t to Uptou’s malice, if it even applied to
xc(}onl‘l’dd. which there is no pretence in
the world to say that it does, there is not the
least admission in all the which
Upton bolds upon the subject, that the charge
which he had made was not true. He (Upton)
has stated & reason, and a very bad reason,
undoubtedly, for bringing forward that charge
ofﬂt,in whichheﬁmse‘ If participated, but
peoducod, any. thing ko xa Mosistion ther

, any an o that
the charge itself was oot true. The amount
o(dlhefuid h'tll:lu'i.z it is truelghs_tlhavo
brought forward insist upon
the truth of the charge. t::rliau myself
in the guilt. Tdo not pre 10 say
was innoceace any where. I assert that there
was guilt every where. It may be true that
1 have a maliclous motive for bringing it for.

ggins, whether he was or was
pot unfriendly to them, orany of them, at the
time be brought forward the charf against
all the four, there is not one single tittle of
evidence, not oue from the beginning of this
cause 0 the end of it, which even imputes to
him—nay, the tendency of the questions put
by my learned friends, in their examinations,
and cross-examinations, does not impute to
him that he had any malice against the pri-
:_‘o:er, against this cixzigidv;‘idnal, upon whose
you are now {o nilemen,
suppose you take him tobemandu
u\.be&uguuntedhimtobe,what
has that fact to do thhthituflel’_ Have I laid
before you one Nngle'ordo evidence, as to
tl'ntmu;’oéd:‘ghummgdebefou'hu:yma—
ore any istrate in iv
Wmncil? Before the p:?)‘;wmcd ? Ormad':m
any where? Have I not put the case to
dnuxinsthuﬂthumn have heen
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should be forgotten—that it should be for.
n wholly—if a single syllalle of it has
ound its way into the evidence? I have en.

Upton. I have proved, indeed, sometmrﬁ-
aﬁnr facts, with respect to certain things
which were in his possession ; with reference
to which facts I shall have to trouble you
with some observations presently; but all
testimony as to his declarations you may wt-
terly disregard ; and when you come to de-
termine betwoen your country and the pri-
soner, you will be 50 good as o decide this
case, sssuming as a fact that Upton never in
his life knew m{‘thing relative 10 the trans-
aclion, except what is proved to have
in the of the prisoner; and he
never uttered one word about this matter, ex~
cept what he is proved to have uttered in that
;xncef“ ?enuemen,u}‘un con‘tlont 0 go
er, can agree t,as to you
should not only belicve that he hupw' no-
thing more; but such is the nature of the
proof in this case, that you should even act
upon the supposition that if he had been here
Kl.uent, in order to be examined, he might
ve spoken favourably for the prisoner. I
have no objection to taking it even in
that point of view. The proof is such, that
even then the result of it cannot be misun-
derstood. The case comes to this, Is there,
upon the evidence, independent of all the
transactions in which Upton may or may not
have had a concern, sufficient testimony to
establish that the person at the bar did con~
ire, either ‘\:lilth Le ml:m:c, Smnfl;m
iggins, or with any other sennm.
purposes mentioned n’n the indictment ? Or is
there upon the evidence, independently of all
such transactions, sufficient testimony to es-
tablish that he, if not in conspiracy with them
or others, did any such acts as can be con-
s against bim alone in the
indictment, for such purposes? My lord, I
bope, will go along with me, by-and-by, in
what [ am about to state to ; or, on the
other hand, I trust he will which I
am sure I need not entreat him to do, and
which I shall be most thankful to him for
doing, be will correct my view of the subject,
I say, did the prisoner conspise with the
ge;som named, or with any uther persons ? If
ith, Le Maitre, and Higgins are as iono-
cent in fact, as I am bound at this moment to
suppose that th‘ejv are; yet, if this prisoner
conspired with Upton, Palmer, or any other
msonl,ui:chrgedintheﬁnlover_tm
id in the indictment, and if the conspiracy
was with the intent charged in the indict-
ment ; and if there is legal evidence both of
the fact of the conspiracy, and of the inteny
with which the conspiracy is charged to have
been entered into, then the prisoner must ba
found guilty. I say, moreover, that, putting
all conspiracy eut of 1t;he cas¢, aud supposing
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that no man living, except the ptesent pri-
seuer, can be ch: with any guilt, yet if
this prisoner did that which is stated as the
second overt act, or if he did any such acts as
are stated in the record, where the purpose
of Kutting the poison in the arrow is left out;
if he empl Hill, for instance, as to the
drawings or model of the instrument, whether
in concert o¥wmot in concert with other per-
sons, who did or did not know his intent, if
such circumstances be proved sufficiently,
though against him ningly, and his acts are
proved to have been done with the intent
charged in the indictment, and proved by
1 evidence; I say, moreover, that then
also you are bound, speaking always under
the correction of my lord, to find the prisoner
guilty, I agree that, if neither the facts of the
conspiracy, nor his own acts, as inthe
record, are made eut, or if they are not made
out as connected with the intent charged in
charg 1t tho dictaent, they 870 o exa-
in the i y are not esta~
blished by legal formal testimony, yon can-
not convict the prisoner. There may be very
inconveni

ience, perhaps, in the state of
the law with respect to Xtomdm? in
cases of this kind; but God Almighty forbid
that I should ask you, or that you treat
me otherwisfe Iu;: :'i:h nomcﬁ of in-
tion, i i you to any man
:‘ﬁ% upon auy other state of the law than
such as it is, when you are sworn to decide

upon the facts according to it.
Gentleme':l o:“the jury, the ﬁntl q:eyaion

to y s counsel, by wa

g‘f“genm observation, is this : it is said, witz
what motive could the prisoner touibly do
these things P Why, how is it possible for men
in courts of justice, adminds! the haw, to
answer that question better than by referring
to the motive, to which the law ascribes
such facts? If you should be satisfied, in the
that theso things were meant, the
cenclusion of law upon the case is, and it must
be the conclusion of fact, that the motive was
that which the law calls a malicioas one.
Geontlemen, the this does not
depend upon the evi of the sailors from
Brest—the purpuse was at Jeast a secret one.
Why was it a secret purpose? You will re-
collect that the first witness, Dowding, speaks
te you with regard to the -&pliudon made to
him by Upton, and also the prisoner Cross-
field (for it was proved afterwards by Mr.
Palmer that Crossfield was the person who
went to Dowding, with Upton and with him-
self); that he tolls you that he inguired for
what putpose the tubs was wanted ; and that
the answer was, that, with respect to-the pur-
, it was a secret. I repeat to you, gen-

pt!?:len, what I observed ia opening the pro--

secution, and I sabmit to your caudour that
the observation is fair, that when you see an
imstrowuent framed, such as that which has
been described, calculated to be used for such

dangerous perposes ag Mr. Mortimer proved

A. D. 1796,

u?on.hlsouu\ Jast night that it was caps
of being applied to; when you see that a fea-
thered arrow was intended to be fabricated,
capable of being used for the most mischiev-
ous ; and when you see, beyond all
question, that the prisoner at the baris im-
plicated in the fact of being concerned in the
framing and fabrication of ti:ae things; and
when you hear besides the testimony of four
persons (if I am to reckon Mr. Winter as one,
with respect to whom I shall say a word to
you presently), or the testimony of three pe:-
sons, against whose imegrity, against the
K\;:ity of whose motives there has not
n even a suspicion intimated in this
court; when you hear from them for what
purpose of mischief theee things were
stated out of the mouth of the prisoner him-
self to h“etl;b:mi fnm;d and fabricated, I re-
peat to you that, in such circomstances, some
attempt t to be made on the of the
prisoner (and none has been made) to satisfy
Jour consciences what was really the purpose
mtended by those who fobru‘les' thesethings,
if the purpuse intended was not, in truth, that
which is cha upon this record, that
which the prisoner has fifty tirmes over, if
ywbegive credit to Mr. Winter, avowed it
to

Gentlemen of the jury, you have heard ob-
servations upon the state of the times, when
this accusation was bmu%ht forward. You
have heard that the times had a tendemcy to
encunrage plots. You have heard of the
trials for high treason. You have been pmin.
mind of the event of those trials for bigh
treason. The juries of the country adminis-
tered the justice of the country; and of the
administration of the justice of the country, I
am not the individual who means to s
otherwise than that it is well admini .
1 know that the eonstitution of this country,
the life of the sovereign, every blessing which
we can enjoy in the country, is finally to find
its security in the verdicts of juries. Buthow
do any observations upon moo? trials, either
with respect to the magnitude of them, ot the
nature of them, or the event of them, or upon
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any transactions respectix:f them, apply to.
emen,

this sort of case? Gen did those
trials feduce Upton to stand forward 1o
theee people with a plot? Beitso. Butdo you
thinkthatthose trials;orthe transactionswhich
hat relation to them, induced all these brass-
founders to conspire? That they induced
these sailors when at Brest, to conspite ? And
that, in order to help out Uptow’s story, re-
ted to have been made out for his own
safety (though I de not see how that could
have been so effectually put in dunger, as by
his own relation of his own guiR), alt these
brass-founders and sailors havé been induced,
by the state of the times to give the evidence
which you have heard? Surely there are, in this
case, citcumstances of the most si;lfnlar kimd
that ever hap , if Upton coined the whole
of this plot, ore 0o less than four brass
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founders in England who relate that, in fact,
application was made to them for the purpose
opﬁbtimti such an instrument, as he says
was intended to be framed. There are, then,
very singular circumstances in the conduct of
the prisoner. You find theprisoner absconding
as if he was guilty; you find the person avow-
ing the plot which Upton was bringing for-
ward : laring his guilt; making declara-
tions respecting the purpose of the fabrication
of this instrument, and the nature of the in-
strument, such as you have heard: aud you
find three or four witnesses coming along
with that prisoner from a distant country, un-
impeached, and unimpeachable in character,
swearing before you and before God, to his
declarations of his guilt, as declarations so
seriously made as to impress them in the man-
ner they have mentioned. Can all this origi-
nate from the times, and the state trials?

Another circumstance has been stated, of
improbability arising from the nature of the
place where this plot was to be executed; I
mean Covent-garden theatre. The theatre has
been mentioned, as you recollect, by two or
thres of the wilnesses who came from
Brest. Why, gentlemen, God be thanked, it
is pe the best security weall have against
the wickedness of men who are disposed to
act wickedly towards us, that such p
of the heart are not always conducted under
the influence of the wisest heads; but I see
no improbability in this. I kvow, from
the history of wransactions in this country,
that in open day light, that in the open
streets of this town, through a very con-
siderable part of this town, the person of
the sovereign may be attacked, aud yet
that it is impossible to find out the indi-
vidual who is guilty of the outrage. With
respect to the place, therefore, it zpun to
me to be a place as well adapted for such a
purpose, considering how Mr. Moctimer
states that it could be executed, as any other

‘l“n’cc. gut whether the luehewu well or
Judiciously chosen or not for the purpose, I
am persuaded my lord will tell you, if a step
was taken for the fabrication of this instru-
ment, that that step, though an injudicious
one, is a sufficient overt act (if it be suffici-
ently proved) to manifest that compassing
and imagination which makes the crime
within the statute.

Another observation was stated to you,
that you had herea strange set of conspirators,
jgnorant of the nature of air;gum. If they
were ignorant of the nature of air-guns, they
took some pains 1o inform themselves of the
nature of air-guns, and to remove that igno-
rance. They applied to Cuthbert, who, you
recollect, informed you that an air-gun
been shown to two persons that came to
him; but Mr. Mortimer must have satisfied
you, if that fact to which Cuthbert deposed
.was: a fact which showed the ignorance of
the persons concerned, that at least they had
become so wise in this profession of making
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air-guns  before the model was finally
delivered to Hill, that though Mr. Mortimer
tells you it is not very skilfully done, yet
he says that from that model he should
collect that an air-gun was intended to be
made: that thengh it is not the handy work
of a skilful artist, it is a sufficient paper to
enable a person, understanding the subject,
to fabricate an air-gun: and verbal in-
formation, Mr. Mortimer says, even that part
of the wooden model, which has been pro-
duced to you, might be adapted to the fabri-
cation of this dan, 18 instrument.

Gentlemen, it farther been stated to
you, by way of a general observation, that
Crossfield and Upton's acquaintance had been
very short. Now that tends a little againsta
former suggestion, that he could have malice
aguinst Mr. Crossfield. No circumstance has
even been hinted at that could, in that short
scquaintance, infuse into his mind any malice
agrinst the present prisoner. Short how-
ever as their acquaintance was, they had be-
come excessively intimate: for it does not
depend only upon this fact, vis. that Mrs.
Upton has sworn that she has oflen seen
them together, but itis clear that, short as
their acquaintance was, they were inlimate
enough together to set about the fabrication
of an instrument, c:_pablc at Jeust of being
applied to purposes of extreme danger. Their
acquaintance was l:.(nf enough (that is out of
all question) to lead them together from
Upton’s shop to one brass-founder’s in the
city; to lead them ther to another brass-
founder's; and from him again to a third ;
from him 10 a fourth; and frem him to Hill,
and there to deliver to that person the Ty
which will be exhibited to you, and which [
have now in my hand, which contains the
drawing of the wooden part of this instru-
ment. 1 think you will see clearly that their
acquaintance had been long envugh, and sui-
ficiently intimate to introduce them to so
much of connexion with each other, as to in-
duce Mr. Crossfield to become a o the
fabrication, or at least to the drawing the
model of this instrument, containiug the re-
presentation of the figure of that arrow, which
:}fh( be replete with poison, as Mr. Mortimer

s you, and at all events was replete withy
infinite danger.

Gentlemen of the Jury, another observa-
tion has been made, which is this ; that there
was no proclamation for Mr. Crosseld till
thc month of February. Be it so. Io the
first place, you will recollect that Mr. Palmer,
who was called to you, and 1 say no mere of
him than that he was an unwilling witness ;
that Mr. Palmer informed you that he had
undertaken to procure his attcudance ; and it
is not immaterial that be had undertaken to
procure his attendance too, accordin{: to his
evidence as a witness. Moreover, | appre-
hend that any man who understands a sub-

ject of this kind, will go along with me

in believing that & proclamation with &
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reward, is that which is full as likely to
send the person described in it out of the
country, as to procure his attendance in
R; and whilst Palmer's engagement to
procure the attendance of Mr. Crossfield
stood good, till there was no hope that that
sttendance would be procured according to
that promise, I must take leave to state that
it would have been a very imprudent measure
to have issued such a proclamation. But if
this be otherwise—how can such a circum-
#tance blow out of court the effect of all the
gest of the evidence, which has been given you
in this case? And with respect to fact, if
there would be any justice in the observation
which I have been making upon general prin-
ciples, does notthe conduct of Mr. Crossfield,
wﬂen this proclamation is issued, most dis-
tinctly and clearly prove that it was notsa
measure calculated to procure his attendance ?
The prisoner, you have secn, left London,
and went to Bristol, when this matter was
first brought forward by Upton. It is stated
by Palmer, that he went there for the purpose
of considering whether he should not establish
himself there in the medical line; he intl-
mates that that was his purpose. Now you
will permit me to submit to your judgment
this observation; that it is unpossible but
that the prisoner, before he wem there, must
bave known that Upton had made a charge
sgainst Smith, Le Maitre, aud Higgins : that
fact, beyond all doubt, he must know. Then
either he knew 8mith, Le Maitre, and Hig-
gnno be innocent, or he new nothing of
e matter with respect to them, and he did or
did not know himself to be innocent. Ifhe was
himself innocent, you will be pleased to re-
collect that itis proved, beyond contradiction,
that he had taken this part at least with
Upton, namely, to go to all the brass-
founders, and to proceed in the fabrication of
m Mumwh e :ot;eshe be;tin_t to which it is
e did p A eing a to
drawings, from which H%ll fabricated
thdwooden'bomodeldls. He fv;as certainly then a
person could give information upon this
subject. It was aﬁgs‘;lemely due to S:g?tb, Le
Maitre; and Higgins, that Crossfield, if he
knew as much of this matter, as it is proved
beyond a question that he did know; and if
be knew the transactions, up to this pe-
rlod, had been commected with no manner of
guilt, it was his duty to them to have
come forward, and to have stated the
transactions as they were, and to have as-
sisted in clearivg these men, who have been
ted this day as innocent. Ifhe was
innocent himself, he came forward without
doy danger. If he was guilty, or if there
were circumstances that would implicate him
in a strong suspicion of guilt, he might have
& reason for not :})pﬂting at the privy council
8s a witness. He however to Bristol
n the errand which has been mentioned.
e names of any persons whom hesaw there
dre not mentioned in evidence : his making
VOL. XXVI.
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any inquiry, in reference 1o the purpose for
which he went there, has not been given in
evidence. He comes up to town: he does
not go to his lodgings in Dyer’s-buildings: be
does not even call there, during the whole
time he is in town: he goes to a lodging in
Wapping, a singular removal for a medical
man who meant to settle at Bristol,according
to Palmer's evidence. The evidence of
Palmer, who had been with him at Bristol,
who states his privity to his purpose of going
to Bristol, who had seen him at Bristol, his
farther evidence, if I take it rightly, is this,
that, having undertaken to bring him before
the privy council, he pever saw him when
he was in town, butat his own chambers.
Then he gues down to Portsmouth. It
does not become me to represent to you, be-
cause I think the evidence does not authorize
me to do it, that the captain of the vessel
might not know his name; and I shall re-
mark to you more fully gresemly, with re-
spect to the absence of this and other cap-
tains. I think thatin the absence of these
captains, whatever they might probably know
favourable to the prisoner you ought to con-
sider them as knowing, and give him the be.
nefit of all the supposition that you can make
in his favour. I will the case then, if
you please, that captain Clarke knew the
name of the prisoner: it does not appear whe-
ther the rest of the crew did know it or not :
but it appears that he went by the name of
the Doctor, from the time he embarked at
Portsmouth till they went to Falmouth. He
appears to have been repeatedly on shore at
Portsmouth, and it is fit I should state that
for his benefit. At Falmouth, as the evidence
stands, he never was on shore but once,
Whether you ought to collect from the nature
of the account that has been given, any reason
to suppose that he remained on for the
purpose of concealment, I rather leave to
your %udgmmt to decide, than to take upon
myself to determine. However, this is clear,
that there is, in point of fact, no one witness
who hears this man say any thing with respect
to his own sitvation, as connected with this
project, till after they had sailed from Fal-
mouth ; and it is a material thing that the
eonversation of this man relative to this pro-
ject, when he says that Pitt would send a
frigate after him if he knew where he was, |
begins two days after the vessel had miled
from Falmouth, upon a voyage, which, as one
of my learned friends most truly states to
you, generally endures fifteen or eighteen
months, or more, and in the course of which
there is no land to touch at. Having left
Falmouth, he begins the conversation with
one of the persons, in which he says, that
Pitt would send a f'rigatc after him. He is
afterwards captured, and carried into the har-
bour of Brest: while he is there, it a;:rears
now to be in evidence from the defendant’s
own witnesses, that he stood at least in a si-
tuation of so little dislike among the persous
N
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stated that be might have had a situation of
advantage there. Gentlemen, you will re-
ocollect, with reference to that, that itis proved
by other witnesses, that he stated be&te he
left Brest that he had settled matters to his
satisfaction, and, having settled matters to
his satisfaction, what is it that he does? Heo
assumes the name of Wilson; and he not onl
assumes the name of Wilson, but he does this
also, he takes the name of Wilson, as a per-
sen of that name captured in the ship Hope.
Now, an observation has been offered to your
attention of this sort, namely, that he was
afraid of his creditors in this country. Sup-
posing he changed bis name to Wilson, on
aecount of his creditors in this country.
what occasion had he to state that he was
captored in the ship Hope? Would his cre-
ditors have found him oul more readily by the
pame of Wilson, captured on board the Po-
mona, than by the name of Wilson captured
on board the Hope? It is impossible for me
to account for that circumstance. Itis my
duty to mention4o you what my leasned friend
who spoke last swted—that government
koew the names of the persons who came on
shore in this country.—It might be his pro-
ject to take the name of Wilson, as captured
in the ship Hope, with a view that it might
not be understood that the person who came
on shore at Mevagissy, was not Wilson cap-
tured in the ship Hope, but Crossfield cap-
tured in the ship Pomona; and I dismiss that
part of the case with saying, that I cannot
comprehend why the ship Hope was inserted
with reference to any purpose in which the
creditors could be concerned.

But, gentlemen, consider what is stated by
Penny, whose testimony is totally uncontra-
dicted, whose character is wholly unim-
peached, and, which I have therefore a right
to sai before a British jury, is perfectly unim-
peachable. The prisoner spplies to him in
the course of the voyage home—and what
does he say to him ¢ Does he sy, I beg you
will not mention that I have taken the name
of Wilson as captured in the ship Hope—for
fear my creditors should lay bold of me?—
No:—He says, “ You remember what I
stated to you on board the Elizabeth.” What
was it he stated on board the Elizabeth?—
That which Isay is a confession af the fact
chgrgﬁg.—lie did not tell him on board the
Elizabeth, that he was afraid of his creditors,
and therefore about 1o change his name to
Wilson, and substitute, instead of the Po-
mona, the name of the ship Hope; but he
tells him that he was the persun en in
this scheme of assassinating the king, by
means of a tube and barbed arrow—and that
is the information which Penny is desired by
the prisoner to forget in the course of this
voyage.—Now, why he was to forget that, is
a question which your consciences must de-
termine.

But this is not all:—When Le comes on
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shore, be is taken into custody, in conse-
quence of an information given by Winter,
who states a foolish story of a hare; and [
am_ready to admit, aud think it becomes me
to do so, that that seems to mmnd at leasy
8 circumstance of such improbability, that,
if this case depended upon Winter’s mumox
(though I believe a great deal of it, and I wi
statc my reasons by-and-by why I do s0) X
should think it an extremely hazardous thing
to come to a conclusion against the prisones
upon his evidence alone. Winter went before
the istrate; and, whether Winler's un~
derstanding is consideruble, or whether it is
of that ordinary sort, thal entitles captain
Collins to call him a foolish fellow,the fact i
that the man’s mind was so much impreua
with the truth of what he has related hers
to-day, that he did think himself bound to
state the facts to a msgi.s\nte. and, wise, o
mad, or foolish, or whatever you please to
call him, such an understanding, as he has,
has been at least fortunate enough to conceive
of this business as the understanding of
three other sensible men have led them to
conceive of it, who, in point of fact, cenfirm
him in every circumstance that he has stated,
except one, and that is the fact of the king
having been actually shot at.—Now, the pri-
soner koew in this stage of the business,
whether he came to this country for the pur-
pose of avoiding his creditors, under the name
of Wilson of the Hope, or whether he came
to this country under this name for the pur-
pose of concealing a person, who was a

to the transaction charged upon this record.
He now knew that he was accused of this
most heinous offence.—W hat woald have boen
the conduct of Mr. Crossfield, if it was false
that he had been party to this transaction? if
it was false that any such declarations had
been made in France, as these four witnesses
bave spoken to? I should be glad to know
whether it was not, in the natural course of
transactions, that Mr. Crossfield should bave
said—Let me go to this magistrate:'I did
leave the kingdom of Great Britain for
foolish reasons, for reasons against the in-
fluence of which Palmer the attornay, ought
to have protected me, I did leave that

under circumstances of some degree of suspi-
cion; but I have been an unforty man,
captured with my fellow prisoners in Brest. §
am ffe‘l‘lre that neither Winter nor any qttlla‘etof
my fellow prisoners, eoming home with me
in this ship, can add to the suspicion by any
information that can be given as to what my
conduct in France has been.—But is that the
case>—No—on the contrary, instead of meet-
ing the investigation of the trate, in-
stead of avowing his innocence in his
transactions in France and in this country—
though he knows. that the is made by
one of his fellow prisoners, who came over
with him, the mode which he takes to.getrid
of the effect of the charge, as he is conveying
to prison, is what has been stated by two
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witnesses. Questions are put whether he was
not drank, and whether he did not fall asleep
within half an hour after he spoke of the

istols and the post-boy : With to the
:;Tect of the answer t0 these two questions,
that is for

‘you to judge of; but there is no
evidence that he did not understand what he
said. He attempts to corrupt the officers, and
follows that up with a conversation, which I
wish to represent accurately, because it ap-
Fﬂ to my 'u:(fment excessively material.—
o sy, you had better than have five shillings
from those who are to pay you if you carry
me to gaol, have two guineas a piece from me
to let me escape—The officer inquires what
he would do with the post-boy?—His answer
is to this effect—Lend me that pistol, and I'll
settle that.—This has been spoken to by two
witnesses.—Now, I put it 10 you, as men of
conscience, is this the conduct of an innocent
man? Is it ot the conduct of a man guilty
of something? If it be, I say it is conduct
which proves to demonstration the truth of
svhat witnesses, who come from abroad
bave ssid. It does not prove the truth of
what the witnesses here have said; but it
proves a strong suspicion in the mind of the
prisoner, that, when the persons here, who
mvere capable of being brought forward as wit-
were brought forward to speak te
facts, and those facts should be connected
with the effect of the declarations made
sbroad, something would be proved, from
:hb:hh lnmjm'ymi it in:'gr,ft.l:at the fact, of
[ e is guilty, is the fact charged upon
this record. gy
Gentlemen, you will allow me now to draw
your attentionto material and weighty ob-
servations, which have been made to you
upon that sort of evidence, which has heen
w'm:id, in \he‘ oourselof this business, confes-
sional.—Gentlemen, I repeat to you again, on
behalf of myself, and every individual in the
country, that the acquittal or conviction of a
single pritoner is nothing when compared to
the sacrifice of a great glmnciple of justice. 1If,
therefore, there is not legal clear evidence to
convict this prisoner, if he is not ¢ provably
sttzinted” according to the true meaning of
these words, which my lord will state to you
presently,—you may perbaps sce, that there
sasy be persons in this country who are in
great peri fmmh:hc madlx‘inntions of 9thehr:
+—you may per see that persons in t
highest simpt:omp:re in the most peril, be-
cause they are not defended by that law,
which says, that as to offences against our
fellow mz;ﬂs, one witness is sufficient.—
You may see all this; but you must not
therefore convict that man. The evidence
must be such as the law requires to satisfy
your consciences : whether it wisely requires
ouch evidence, it is not for you to consider.—
All that I ask of you on the other band, is,
that you will attend to the consequences of
not_convicting, if the evidence be legal, be
safficient in point of law, in a case of 30 mach

importance as this,
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" Gentlemen, it is very true that confession,
as evidence, is open to all the weighty obser-
vations which have been stated from the
authors, whose works have been quoted to
you.—They speak the lan of common
sense in strong terms. With respect to high
treason, the books go beyond what has been
stated ; if there was no evidence but confes-
sion, 1 am ready to admit, if that coufession
bad been made before twenty witnesses, yet
30 much hasthe law guarded the party against
the uences of mere confession, where
there are no facts and circumstances, estab-
lished by testimony which corroborates it,
that it would he insufficient. The law has
said that no man shall be convicted of bigh
treason, bul upou his own confession before a
magistrate, or in open court—Therefore, gen-
tlemen, if I had called these witnesses
Franoe to state to you that this party did make
such and such declarations, and had proved
nothing else in the cause, my lord would have
told me, the moment 1 had stated my case,
that it was due from him to the justice of the
ocountry to tell the prisoner that I ought to
give no evidence against him—But it is far
otherwise, when evidence of confessions is
epened—uot to prove the fact done, but te
prove the intent with which the fact was done,
—an intent that never ¢an be, ar but seldom
can be, collected otherwise than from such
evidence: it is far otherwise when a great va-
riety of facts and circumstances have been
proved; and when a confession is made,
proved by a great number of witnesses, shat
confession consisting of very particular and
very singular circumstances, and those very
perticular and very singular circumstances
indenting, as it were, and squaring with the
facts which have been proved, in such a
manner that it is absolutely impossible, in
the nature of things, that 2 man could make
the confession, who had not been connected
with the facts otherwise proved, and of
which he gives an accountin the confession.
Gentlemen, it is said, and said truly, in
those authors, that there is danger of
Keljury where you have nothing to go upon
ut confession. But this never applies to a
case where a great number of facts and cir-
stances are proved; where the confession
connects itself with those facts and circum-
stances; where the proof of those facts and
circumstances by other witnesses supports
the truth of the confession, and the truth of
the confession, aids, assists, and holds up the
proof of those facts and circumstances;
where the danger of perjury therefore is
?voided ll:y 3:: very nature of thfe ut;a:ts con-
essed, correspondence o matter
cont'maedJr wi‘::‘ exflsung facts; ‘l::'x:gm tberefue
& greatnumber of persons ing to confes-
sig'ns ; where \hepeeonfesm are made at
different and at various times, yet all corres-
ponding and connected with each other, as to
the substance of them; where the confessions
are aided by the demeanor of the party, and
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where theconduct of the party gives proof that
the confessions he bad made are founded in
truth. To illustrate this, if Penny bad been
called to say, that, when he was on board the
Elizabeth in France this prisoner said so and
80, and nothiug more had passed, that confes-
sion would bave one degree of weight. When
it is proved, not only that he said so and so0, at
such a time, but that an application was made
%0 a man, in the course of the voyage home,
not to disclose the confession that he had so
made, that circumstance adds another degree
ight. When the substance of the con-
fession spaken to by that one individual, is
spoken tp by three or four other indivi-
duals, the matter acquires a still greater de-
ree of weight, th:\‘:gh, afler all, if you put
all (the canfessions) together, theywould
not be sufficient evidence in the case of
treason. But, when you have witnesses
speaking to these facts, which are the overt
acts,—witnesses speaking to the facts of two
or three persons applying to Hill, semetimes
two, sometimes three, to the four brass-
foundess to whom applications were mmnde,—
apd when itis that one of the persons
e, in each and every of these applica-
tions to the brass-founders, and in the appli-
cation to Hill, was the prisoner at the bar,—
when you have two witnesses to the facts,
and the person is agcertained, and confession
is addef;l‘,:u which shows the inﬁt with which
these were done, I say the conspiracy is
most completely proved nnco«‘lﬁ to faw
(supposing Smith, Le Maitre, Higgins
are perfectly innocent) and not_only the con-
spiracy, but the sole acts of this
amounting to treason, are proved accordi
law. What are these confessions? are
they stated in a loose moment? are they
casual confessions>—They are repeated con-
fessions—in four or five instances: they
make mention of circumstances as fac
which never could be mentioned at all, if they
did not exist, and which are proved to have
existed: it is proved for instance, as the
matter of the. confessions imports, that, in
Koinl of fact, applications were made to these
rass-founders ; that applications were made
to Hill ; it is proved that drawings existed—
drawings which described the form of an
arrow, s barbed arrow, which described a
tuhge, a featlfxered arTow ; “gx which detrc:ibul
the parts of a wind-gun.—Now, men,
attend to the civcumstances thats:?o stated
in all the confessions of the prisoner, the con-
fession to Dennis, the confession to Le
Bretton, the confession to Penny, the con-
fession to Winter—Do not the confessions to
these persons in Breat harbour most minutely
cone;rond with facts, models, and drawings
ved to have been done and made in Eng-
d? Perhaps you may not give Winter’s
testunony any considerable credit. I will
stale 1o you a reason upon which I submit
you eught to give him credit, notwithstand-
10g what you may think of the rate of his un-

to
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derstanding. Is it not one of the mest ro-
markable things that ever happened, if Mn
Crossfield bad hadtl;‘o connexion '&?
u charged in this indiciment, e,
?n rest, should, in the very terms of his
confession, de:crib& clmosht;ctgﬂn minutest
accuracy, every w is
u| n&’is peper? ;8 s of am
a barbed asrow—be sol.alurgoon; he
draws the form of it, to show it, as feathered;
to Winter: he speaks of the po arrow+4
he speaks of the tube? he speaks of a wind-
Eun; he describes, not only the instrament;
ut almost every particular which actwally
belongs to, and appears in the drawing now
pruduced to belong to, the construction of it
—Geontlemen, it is said, and said
truly, that the weight of confession dep:n

high | upon the mind receiving the confeseion, and

the mind conveyinietho confession. But did
this ever happen before in any case, thats
man should in no less than four instances,
address his confession, at four different
times, to four different persons; thai these
four different persons should with
respect to the state of his mind when he
was conveying the confession, and that the
state of their miss, whea they were receiving
the confession was precisely the same, as to
each and every of them? These ﬁmt‘mwu,
understanding him to be conveyin state
of fact asto &ue instruments, all agree that
the impression upon their minds was thst
which they bave stated to you to-day and
yesterday, it was an impression that he was
confessing himrﬁciptuon in the guilt now
upon

Gentlemen, the declarations of persons in
a case circum as this is, are not, I
appreherd, to be considered as confession
of facts; they are not confeasios of ths
facts; but they are declarations evidenciag
the l:dtenhon wsth whig: the ftc;l, otherwise
proved, were done, ppose, for instance,
that a man were to point a musket towards

his majesty, and any other who bad
the honous 10 be atiending him any where,
Two witnesses swear to fact that

musket was pointed in such a manner,

thata
Jjury is satisfied that it was pointed at his ma-
Jesty, and not at the o:lémmr
instrument not bein, y di

bat, the
|

»
remained to be tried with what intent it was
Loimed at his majesty. Is the state of the
w of this country such, that that fm:{r
senting the musket bhaving been proved by
two witnesses, cvidence of ?e:hnuons bythe

party with respect lo his intent, connec

themselves, as Me. Justice Foster puts it, wi
circumstances proved and with facts proved,
is not sufficient to establish the intent?—is
it to be said, that, it having been shown by
the two witnesses, that the was %0
pointed, the testimony of twenty witnesses,
proving that they had heard the men say
that he meant to discharge it xt the king te
kill him, docs not amount to legal evidencs
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of his intent?—IJ cannot s0 understand the
law of England : if I am wrong in that, you
‘will bear from the wisdom that administers
the law here, that I am o, and will undoubt-
edly give the prisoner all the benefit that re-
sults from that correction.

What was Crol 's case, which my lord
may recollect ® said, “IfI go to Eng-
land, I will kill the king” The fact of his
coming to and was proved: mere words
do not amount to treason : this fact was there-
fore proved : quo animo he came to England,
was established by proof of his own declara-
tion of the intent with which he would come:
the fact of his coming to England, the overt
act, it might be necessary to prove by two
witnesses ; but it is not in the nature of things
that the lsw should be 50 absurd as that this
should be held by it, that, where the fact is
distinctly proved, as laid in the indictment, a
man shall not be at liberty to explain his own
jotent by his own declarations, or that the
law should shut out evidence of those decla-
rations, when other witnesses speak to them.

ing stated to what I conceive to be
the rule of law with respect to confessions,
uukdq the m:cdtion of my lord, the c:sei, I
take it, as proved against the prisoner, is this
—That he was concerned, together with Up-
tl:p snd others g(:‘hett:;t Le Maitre, Smith, or
iggins belonged to fhe conTnc or not, is
not ial for your consi etatzm)inthe
forming of an air-gun ; that is, to in the
technical lan of the law, his heart com-
passed and imagined, at least, the furmation
of an air-gun; and here I go most distinctly
along with the learned judge, whe intimated
yesterday, in strong and express terms, and
which perhaps he will repeat agsin to you to-
day, that if we get no farther than to prove
that Me. 'IC d went to the brass-foun-
der’s.and went to Hill’'s, and made a model,
and meant to fabricate anair-gun, and did be-
gin to fabricate.it, we have no case of treason
against Mr. Crossfield. We must make out
that these mcasures were taken with intenmt
to effectuate (whether sufficient or not to ef-
fectuate it, will hardly be necessary for me to
discuss, after the evidence given by Mr.
Mor\me&‘mth intent to bring ebout the
death of the king,

Now, with reapect to the fact, that he was
concerned in the fabrication of this instru-
ment—it is beyond a doubt that three per-
sons were at Dowding’s; that three persons
were at Flint's, is unquestionably proved;
that three persons were at another brass-
founder’s, is ug wﬁonab:{ proved ; and that
two weat, [ think, to 's, Palmer not be-
ing one of the men, is also beyond doubt.
o o

sites Al Te beyun! ubt,
tf Palmer's evidence be taken to be true, that
Mr. Crossfield was 'one of the ns whe
‘was conoerned in the fact. The is proved
by three witnesses, viz. Dowding, Flint, and
Blaod, and by another Brass-founder. The
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fact of applications to brass-founders to make
such an instrument as this, is proved by four
witnesses ; and if it be proved Mr. Cross-
field was one of those persons, I take it, if we
stop there, the case, as to fact, is made
Bland’s evidence is extremely confirmed by _
Palmer’s evidence ; for Bland states-that two
ons came to him, the one of whom was
pton: he did not know the other person.
Palmer states in his evidence, that two per-
sous went to Bland's, that he cameto Bland’s
after these two persons, and that the two per-
sons, who were there, were Upton and Cross-
field. Besides this, it is proved in point of
fact, that all the three were at Hill’s ; and Pal-
mer proves the fact, that Crossfield was one
of the persons who was at Hill's, What was
done at Hill's, it will be material for you to
attend to, when my lord comes to sum up.
There are more than one person to speak teo
one or other of the facts chnr?d; that is, to
the fact of going to the first brass-founder’s,
then to the fact of going to the next brass-
founder’s, Lo the fact of going to the third and
fourth brass-founder’s, and te the fact of
ing to Hill's; and Hill states, not only that
Upton took part with respect to the drawing,
but he expressly states as I took his evidence
(if I am incorrect, I hore wy lord will set me
right, and that you will not do me the injus-
tice to sy, am intentionally inconet:g,
that the stranger, who, it has been proved,
was C , did something to the drawing,
as well as Upton. 8o he states, though itis
not to prove that fact, because I
apprehend there can be no manner of doubt,
t, in point of law, if the purpose of Upton
was to fabricate this instrument, with the in~
tent which we have charged in this indict-
ment; and if Mr. Crossfield, knowing that
purpose (of which it will be for you to
attended himtothese places,and went
the consultations along with him, he is just
as guilty as if he been the spokesman
upon each and every one of those occasions.
God forbid, gentlemen, that I should press
the case more slron‘ﬁlay”thnn I ought; but I
must remark that witnesses, the brass-
founders, speak, one afler another, to circum-
stances that require observation. One tells
you, that the who came, said that the
use for which the instrument was t be made
was a secret ; another seems to me to prove
that their enquiry about the and
their enquiry as to the time it would in
s be uudcl:o trb:m : has
purpose it was to prisoner
not explained, nor why there should be any
anxiety about the time to be employed in
making it. But when that time ismade a
circumstance for enquiry, it seems to me that
the instsurnent must have been to be fabri-
utedtobel ready athm time, which &
party was looking to, for seme purpose
tobeurriedi‘:;geﬂ’eet.—ﬂillm'd it was to
be for an electrical machine : to one witness
they ropresented it, you see, to be for s secret
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purpose ; to another, the use of it is falsely

represented. All these witnesses épetk ofa

tube; and the declarations of Mr. Crossfield,
made in France, mention a tube, as well as
@ barbed arrow,

Gentlemen, as to the evidence of the wit-
nesses to the prisoner’s declarations abroad
is it possible that that evidence can be false b
Upon the supposition that it is not true, is it
not the most marvellous thing that ever hap-
pencd in the course of human events, that the

. circumstances detailed in the declarations
spoken to with respect to the existence of a
tube, with respect to the existence of the in-
tention of employing an arrow—a barbed
arrow—a feathered arrow, in the form of a
harpoon—should every one of them receive
the semblance of truth so strongly from the
fact that Upton, who was along with them at
these brass-founders’ houses, should actually
have in his possession such a brass tube as
was mentioned; from the fact that this same
Upton should have in his ion this draw-
inﬁ of an arrow, in the minutest circumstance
tallying with the effect of those declarations,
which the witnesses from France inform you
were there made by the prisoner ?—1Is it to
be accounted for, in the pature of human

things, that the prisoner could state himself,-

in these declarations, to be one of the persons
40 assassinate the king with instruments, such
as he describes in those declarations, and that
instruments, or models or drawings of instru-
ments, tallying with that description, should
be found in the ion of Upton, who was
with him when he called at these brass-
founders’ houses, if the prisoner did not mean
to speak that which was the truth, and which
he knew was the truth? Such a coincidence
of circumstances seldom happens to make
the truth of declarations, and declara-
tons are seldom found to correspond more
exactly with circumstances which actually ex-
isted. Such an instance very rarely occurs of
declarations so made good by the actual exis-
tence of facts, as that which is furnished by
this case.—Then, gentlemen, this comes at
last simply to the question of intention. I
before mentioned that I had some observa.
tions to make to you about our not calling
the captains. Gentlemen, it is perhaps one
misfortune, if I dare to use such a word with
respect to any provision of the law of my
country; but it certainly is a circumstance
rossib y to be occasionally regretted that the
aw has ordained that the prosecutor shall not
add to the list of witnesses which he has de-
livered to the prisoner. I am therefore
bound, in the discharge‘of the duties of my
office, to determine between the difficulty of
trying fpersons upon such evidence as I can
bring forward, or the delaying a trial without
@ possibility of determining when I shall be
able to bring forward more evidence.—I add,
ntlemen, that in this case of high treason,
meant most studiously to abstain in opening
it—and I hope my lord will go along with me
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in thinking that I have not failod of my pur-
pose—most studiously to abstain fromstating
to you the substance of any conversations, or
declarations, or language, seditious or not se-
ditious, which this prisoner might have used
when he was abroad, or when I could have
placed him in other situations, if they had not
a direct application to the subject now before
you, and did not amount to declarations upon
the very point now before you.—Perhaps,
g‘nﬂemen, 1 did the prisoner no injustice in
t respect. I might have known—I do not
inform you whether I did or not—I might
have known that I could have called a wit-
ness to prove the fact of the prisoner's singing
that son%of “ Plant, plant the tree,” some
part of which has a very strong application
certainly to 2 general purpose, bosuge' to the
existence of kings—it 1s, to state it altogether,
the most complete epitome of anarchy that
ever saw in my life.  You will observe; if you
cast your eyes over it, that it contains, in the
shape of a song, the averment of an overt acy
of every species of treason known to the law
of England. I did not wish orifimily to
bring forward such facts as these; I thought
it not otherwise than fair, as between the
country and the prisoner, to abstain from do-
ing so.—I know that there are individuals in
the country, who may blame me for not
pressing prisoners up to the extent, in which
they may wish that Ishoulddo so. I am
satisfied, upon reflection, and I have formed
my own determination upon that subject, that
& lenient administration of the law, is the
wholesome and salutary administration of the
law : it is that which is congenial to the cha-
racter of Britons; and I am persuaded that a

mi e of justice by lenity, will never
deeply affect the administration of justice in
the country. On this account, I did not

choose originally to bring forward such evi-
dence ; but when captain Collins was called,
and when I was willing to give credit on be-
half of the prisoner to this extent—that you
should believe that every man, whom I either
did not call, or could not call, had nothing to
say but what was favourable towards the pri-
soner ; when captain Collins was to be brought
forward to give such an account of the

meanour of the prisoner abroad, as I was
taught to expect, from what had been opened,
he would have given, it was my duty to ask
Mr. Cleverton, when he had mentioned the
circumstance of the republican so:r (for ¥
would not originally bave introduced it) whe-
ther that song was not sm:goby the prisoner.
Ilisnovbeoomer.rtof evidence; itisa
declaration in evidence of the genersl senti-
ments of the prisoner, if you think he enter-
tained the sentiments that song expresses;
and I say that that song amounts to distinct
evidence that the writer of it, or he who adopts
its sentiments (to what extent this prisonetr
adopted them, is for you to determine, and not
for me to decixie) is a man not only not friendly
to the constitution of his country, or to the
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being ofa king, bul capable of proceeding to
any extent in overturning every establish-
ment, civil, and religious, in the country. [
think it my duty, however, on the other hand,
to suy to you, with respect to all persons not
¥roduced who either could be produced be-
ore 1 delivered my list of witnesses, or could
not be produced because I had delivered my
list, you must do the justice to the prisoner
to persuade yourselves, that no one of them
could have said any thing, other than favour-
able to him. .
But, gentlemen, when that is done, it is for
you to decide this great case.  The direction,
which you may receive here, in matter of law
and as to the sufficiency of the evidence, if
wrong, may be co . Itis the boast and
lory of the constitution of England, that we
o not in this country pi ‘3:0“ those
foolish theories of perfection, which are not
made for man. The constitution of England
is founded upon principles which regard those
ho are to live under it, as being but men.—
¥hene are no parts of our institutions, in
which we do not acknowledge the infirmity
of the wisest, and the highest,—and best of
those who may be called to administer them
—In the administration of justice, prosecutors
and juries, we acknowledge, may err; and it
is perhaps the highest commendation that
can be stated of those sitting above me, that
they are always anxious to set right the et
fect of their mistakes, and are never influ-
enced, in the execution of their duty, by a
false pride to be unwilling to see, or, seeing,
to correct their errors.—I have said here,
that you have a clear case before you. You
will have the judge’s direction in law: if you
are satisfied by that direction, as to the mat-
ter of law—if you are convinced by it, that
the evidence offered is competent and legal
evidence, to be offered as proof, I must then,
ﬁtlemen (Iam saying this in circumstances
that distress me; but I am bound to do my
duty firmly to m‘y country, however painful 1t
may be to myselt), I must then call upon you
tolay your hands upon your hearts, and either
to say that the prisoner s guilty, or that these
sailors, who come from Brest with the inform-
stion which they have given you, are, every
one of them, perjured.
Gentlemen, the law of this country, in its
nignity, wishes every prisoner a good de-
verance : it is the humane language of the
w—after he has pleaded, it says to him,
God send you a deliverance.—My prayer
is, that you may be able to find in this evi-
dence, that which will justify you to God gnd
ur country in acquitiin, prisoner ; but,
l’f?you- canoot ﬁnﬁu u§ the evidence, it is
likewise my duty to my country and to every
jndividual who lives in it, to entreat that you
will most seriously recollect in what a situa-
tion of peril, danger and hazard, incapable of
being descri ou place the country, and
the sovereign of it, if the case be such as
ought to satisfy your consciences, and, being
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such, you should hesitate about pronouncing
the verdict of the law ! may God direct you -
in the execution of this duty! I am sure the
country will be satisfied that you mean to
execute it with integrity; and, feeling that
confidence, I shall rest upon your conclusions
with the most perfect satisfaction.

Mr. Adem~—My lord, my learned friend
Mr. Gurney desires me to state one circum-
stance that he omitted to mention, which ac-
counts for Mr. Crossfield’s knowledge of this
supposed conspiracy to assassinate the kin,
by the means of an air-gun and a poison
arrow—that immediately upon the apprehen-
sion of Smith, Higgins, and Le Maitre, all the
circumstances to which Upton had deposed
were published in the newspapers,

Mr. Atlorucy—Gcmal.——r J:) not know the
fact; but it is very probable.

Mr. Justice Grose.—1 dare say they were.

SuMMING-UP, '

Lord Chief Justice Eyre.—Gentlemen of
the jury,—This prisoner, Robert Thomas
Crossfield, stands indicted, together with
three other persons who are not now upon
their trials; namely, Paul Thomas Le Maitre
John Smith, and George Higgins, for that
they did maliciously and traitorously compass,
imagine, and intend to briag and put our so-
vereign lord the king to death.—This indict-
ment states, as by law it must do, those lead-
ing facts which are the evidence of that com-
passing and imagining, and in the language
of the law are called the overt acts: that 1s,
the acts by which the secretintention is made
manifest. Those acts arerequired to be proved
by two witnesses ; i.e. by two witnesses to
some one overt act, or by one witness to one
overt act, and another witness to another
overt act of the same species of treason.

The different acts which are charged upon
this prisoner, and the other prisoners, from
whence this ch of high treason is deduced
are, first, that they, together with others,
conspired, combinetf, consulted, consented,
and agreed to procure, make, and provide, and
cause to be procured, made, and provided, a
certain instrumentfor the purpose of discharg-
ing an arrow, and also a certain arrow to be
charged and loaded with poison, with intent
to discharge, and cause to be discharged, the
said arrow 8o c and loaded with poison,
from and out.of, and by mecans of the said
instrument, at and against the person of our
lord the king, and thereby to kill and put to
death our said lord the king. You will ob-
serve, that this is a special and complicated
description ; the overt act cunsists of a con-
spiracy to prepare an instrument of a particu~
lar description, and for a icular purpose :
the particular description is, that it should be
an instrument to discharge an arrow, hut it is
not every arrow according to this description,
it is an arrow 1o be loaded with poison, which
arrow is to be discharged by means of this in~
strument—this is the first overt act charged
in this indictment,
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The next overt act charged is, that these
ns employed and engaged one John Hill
to fashion two pieces of wood, to be used as
models for making and forming certain parts
of the said instrument from out of which
and by means of which, the said arrow was sv
intended to bedischarged. This overt act does
not go to the whole extent of the former,
for it only charges the persons indicted with
the particular fact of having employed Hill to
- make two pieces of wood as ls for form-
ing parts of the instrument, but still the in-
strument referred to is the same instrument
as specially described in the former charge,
and the purpose referred to is the same
cial purpose. It therefore amounts to this;
that if they did not conspire to form the
whole instrument with the arrow loaded with
poison, yet that they did employ Hill to make
two pieces of wood as medels for a part of
that instrument which was to be employed in
discharging the poisoned arrow. It also adds
that they delivered to John Hill a paper with
certain drawings thereon, drawn and designed
as oi;sltructions and directions for making such
modél. :

The next charge is, that they consulted
among themselves and others coneerni::g
their traitorous killing and putting to dea
the king by means of the instrument aforesaid,
and how and where such killing and_putting
to death might be most readily and effectually
accomplished.

This is so stated because if persons who
conspire the death of the king, and had meant
to do it in this particular way, by procuring
such an instrument to be framed, had only
once consulted how they were to bring 1t
about, the mere consultation is cértainly in
law a and sufficient overt act to maintain
the chare of compassing the death of the
king; this you see would rest upon consulta-
Pbe Jext charge is, that th loyed

next c 1s, that they emplo

Thomas Upton“ug:eassist in making the zaid
instrument, out of which the sald arrow
was 5o intended to be discharged at and
lajninst the king for the traitorous purpose

oresaid ; and that they delivered, and caus-
&d to be delivered to Upton, a certain paper
with figures and drawings thereon, drawn
and designed as instructions and directions
for making such instrument, and also certain
pieces, that is to say, two pieces of wood as
models for the g and forming certain
parts of the said instrument.

The next overt act is, that they delivered to
Thomas Upton a certain metal tube to be used
by him in the making and forming the said
instrument, out of which the said arrow was
so_intended to be discharged.

These different overt acts have all of them a
connexion in one respect or another with the
particular instrument especially described in
the first of the overt acts, which was an in-
strument to be used for the purpose of dis-
charging an arrow, which arrow was to be
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poisoned. But I suppose those who have the
conduct of this prosecution, aware of the dif-
ficulty that there might be in proving that in-
strument in the precise form in which they
have there stated it, and also tirat it was to
operate lz means of an arrow to be poisoned,
have, in the subsequent overt acts, very much
narrowed the description, and they have
therefore contented themselves with stating,
that these persons did conspire together to
procure an instrument to be made, not saying
of what kind, nor describing its operation, but
an instrument to be made for the of
killing and putting to death the king, and
they then follow that up with overt acts si-
milar to those already stated, only referringto
the instrument as described in this latter part
g th'g indictment. In substance there are

erefore two distinct charges, one a charge
of their having been concerned in consulting
about framing, and in framing either the
whole or parts of the instrument specially de-
scribed for the purpose of throwing a poisoned
arrow, the other that they have been con-
eerned in procuring an instrument, though
perhaps not for the purpose of throwing a
poisoned arrow, yet intended and calculated
lkqsomemannertoprocure the death of the

ing,

Ggentlemen, this is the substance of the in-
dictment, and the evidence on hoth sides has
been laid before you,and it is a satisfaction to
me to find that no question of law can pos-
sibly arise in the case, except it be a Juestion
whether there are or are not two sufficient
witnesses to the overt acts charged, for as to
the ch of compassing the death of the
king, it 1s perfectly well understood; and
what are and what are not overt acts of that
charge, are also well understood, and it has
not even been questioned whether any one of
these overt acts, if proved, would be a suffi-
cient overt act of that charge of conspiring
the death of the king ; they are indeed all of
them acts directly and immediately conducing
to the purpose of an attack upon the king's
person, to the horrible purpose of deliberate
assassination of our most gracious sovereign.
I have now two duties imtgosed upon me; the
first is, to recapitulate the evidence as cor-
rectly as I have %leen able to take it ; the next
is to point out to you for your assistance the
a¥plieation of that evidence to all, or to
of those overt acts, some or one of whic
must be proved in order to constitute prodf of
this indictment.

The first witness called on the part of the
prosecution was John Dowding; he said,
that in September 1794, he worked with a
Mr. Penton, a brasssfounder, No. 32, New-
street-square; that on the 8th of September,
he was called into the counting-house ; there
he found three men, one of w was lame,
and whom he has since found to be one
Upton; they asked the witness whether be
could make them a tube? he inquired what
sort of a tube? they said it was to be three
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foet long, five-eights of an ipch in the inside
bore, seven-eighths the outside, and one-
gighth of an inch thick: they said it must be
uite perfect, and quite a smooth cylinder in
the inside; and they asked what the price of
it would be? he told them he could not tell:
they asked if he cpuld tell them within a few
shillings? he said no, he could not: he
showes them a piece of a cylinder, they said
that would do provided it was thicker, and by
being thicker it would be smaller in the bore:
the witness said he must make a tool on pur-
pose if they wanted to have it quite perfect in
the ingide, and he could not answer for what
the expense would be; if they would tell
him the use of jt he should be better able to
judge how to make it, and weuld make it
much better for their use: the answer was
{rom Upton, he said that that was a secret;
ut he said that the other persons secmed to
join in what Upton then said ; he said he did
not undertake the job ; he told them that he
was busy, aud it was not worth while to un-
dertake it : he sajd the{ then produced a tube
which they had before bonght at his master’s
shop, which they returned, and took the
. woney back, 2 small sum, I think about eight-
pence or ten-pence. .
" He was asked his cross-examination
as to his knowledge of the other two persons,
be said be had never seen them before; that
they all stayed in the place while he was
talking with them; that there were women
lackeriog brass in another room, but he
does not know that any ooe of them went
put to speak to those women; and there is
evidence of any thing of that sort ; he said
ﬁz coyld not charge his memory with any
thing particular that was said by the other
m

en.
. The next witness, Joseph Flint, is a brass-
founder, in Cock-lane, gnow-hill; he said,
that on some day in the month of September,
but he conld not fix the day, after dinner, he
was called down by his apprentice, and he
found three persons present, one of whom
was lame, he observes he limped as he went
out: they asked for a long pistol barrel; be
producedy them a musquetoon barrel, butthey
said that would notdo: they did not want it
plugﬁed up at ane end ; he told them he sup-
posed they wanted a strait cylinder ; they said
they did, that they wanted it to be five-eighths
of an inch diaweter in the borg,and one-eighth
of an inch thick ; they said ift be would cast
and bore it, they would finish it themselves :
be told them he should not undertake it un-
Jess they brought him a pattern? one of them
asked whether a rocket case would notdo ; he
said it would, provided the ends were l{:lugged
up; hesaid at that time the length of the
instrument was not mentioned : one of them
asked the witness how longhe would be making
it? heanswered about three days. Hesaid the
lame man seemed to be the trincipal, but that
bhe was not the man who asked in what time
it might be finished, vherefore one of the other
VOL. XXVI.

A. D. 17%. (194

-men must of course have asked that question.

He said, in September 1795, he saw Upton,
but he could not take upan himself to say
whether that was the Jame man he saw at his
house.

The next witness is James Bland, a brass-
founder, in Shoe-lane, Fleet-street; he said,
that in the month of $eptember 1794, but he
could not fix the day, two men came into his
shop, that in about five minutes after they
were gone out, a third came in, and asked
where those two men were gone ? the witness
showed him which way they went, and that
man followed them :.he said that when those
two persons were in the shop, they asked him
for a tube, or a barrel ; he told them if they
wanted a barrel they must apply to the watch-
makers, if they wanted a tube to the drawers ;
he said that they went away, and then it was
that the man came in and asked for the two
gentlemen, and followed them ; he said that
the third person he believes was Palmer; he
told them they were gone down the lane, and
he went that way ; he did not then know Pal-
mer; he saw Palmer since before the privy
council, and he said one of the others wasa
lame man.

The next witness is David Cuthbert, who
lives at No. 9, Greyhound-court, Arundel-
street; he is a mathematical-instrument-
maker ; he said he knew Upton, he had called
upon Upton to subscribe to the relief of the
wives and children of personsin custody some
time ago for high treason; that he had no me-
mory of what had esassed atthat time. The se-
cond time he called to know how the subscrip-
tion went on, and they had some conversation
about the Corresponding Society. Upton, he
said, was a watch-maker, andy he gave him
an invitation to come and see an engine of
his, which was an air-pump and an air-gun ;
he said he explained them to Upton; that
Upton came agaiu next'day with another per-
son ; he said Upton had displeased him with
the turn of his conversation, and he did not
like him nor his acquaintance. The other

erson talked of being fond of shooting, said
e had met with aninjury by the explosion ofa
gun,and had lost three fingers, but the witness
said he did not look to see whether that was
sa or not, and there is notin the evidence any
thing which has served to apply that circum-
stance to either this prisoner, or to any other
rson; he said that man handled the gun:
{;pton asked the witness whether he wanted
a job; he said he had more business than he
could do : he said he had no conversation with
the other about the properties of the air-gud,
and never saw that man since;. he he
should not have known him if he had met him
at the end of six hours; he does not know
that he should have known him if he had met
him a minute afler, but he took him to be a
much taller man than the man he afterwards
saw at the privy cuuncil; that Upton, in his
Jjudgment,did not appear to be then acquainted
with the properties of air.
0]
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The next witness is Peregrine Palmer; be
describes himself to be an attorney, in Bar-
pard’s-inn; he said he has been acquainted
with the prisoner sixteen years, that he was a
physician; that he had resided in a number
of places during his acquaintance with him;
that the last place he knew him to Jodge at
was Dyer’s-buildings; that they were upon
terms of great intimacy, and were both mem-
bers of the Correspomiing Society; he had
seen him there, and believed he was a mem-
ber—the witness himself was a delegate and
chairman of a committee ; he said he might
have seen Crossfield there three or four or
five times, that they were of the same divi-
sion; he said he knew Upton; that in the
beginning of Scptember 3794, he accom-
K:qu the prisoner, Crossfield, to Upton’s;

said that they all went together afterwards
to a house in New.street, or New-street-

uare, which he thinks was a brass-founder's
what passed there he does not know; Upton
arpeared to him to have some business with
the brass-founder ; they were there but & few
minutes, but he can recollect nothing; as to
himself he said there was nothing transacted
by him, that it was Upton’s business ; he said
that he had not the least recollection of what
passed; he said he would not swear that no-
thing was produced to that man, but he does
not know that there was; that from thence
they went to another brass-founder’s in Shoe-
lane ; he himself did not go into that house at
first, they were in the house a minute or two
before him ; he went in to inquire after them,
they were gone; he overtook them in the
same street, and then they went to Cock-lane,
to a person in the same line of business;
they all three went into that house, and some
directions were given by Upton about some-
thing in the way of Upton’s business ; he said
he-had no recollection of any thing that was
said about a brass tube or a model, but that
there might be such a conversation; that he
does not recollect having the tube shown to
him at the privy council; that he had seen
Crossfield’s writing, but could not say whe-
ther certain rs produced were of his
hand-wriling ; he does not take upon himself
to swear that ;l‘::g were ; on the contrary, he
says he is not sufficiently acquainted with the
hand-vmtmg to form any belief upon the sub-
Ject; he said some g:pers wcre shown him at
the privy council, he does not recollect that
ever he saw them before; he said they were
but & few minutes in Cock-lane, he recollects
nothing that + he said they wentafter-
wards to Hill's, a turner, in Bartholomew-
close, he recollccts Upton's giving some in-
structions to Hill, something of a model or a
pattern was mentioned, and he thinks he pro-
duced a drawing as instructions for something
that Hill was to do, but he cannot say whe-
ther it was left or not; he said he thinks that
Upton made it at the time in the house; he
bas no recollection of any brass tube being
produced there; he saidy he thought they
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parted somewhere thereabouts, and that the
meeting with Upton was accidental ; he said
Upton lived in Bell-yard, that be might bave
seen Crossfield once or twice at Upton's be-
fore that; the prisoner at that time lived in
Dyer’s buildings, and lived there at the time
when Upton’s information was given; he
said that heand Crossfield went together soon
afterward to Bristol, thatit was many months
before the proclamation was issued for appre-
hending Crossfield, he thinks it was in the
month of October 1794 ; he said the prisoner
had a wife, but he believes she did nol reside
with him in Dyer’s—buildinis; he said he left
the prisoner at Bristol, as he understood he
had some idea of settling there; that he
came back to London again about the time
of the witnesses being examined before the
privy council ; that he did not then ludge in
yer's-buildings, nor does he know where he
did lodge; he thought he received one letter
from him from Bristel, but did not believe
he had written to Crossfield there ; he said he
might see Crossfield afier his return two or
three times at his own chambers; he after
that saw him no more till he saw him under
examination at the privy council; he said
Crossfield was much in the habit of comin,
to his chambers; they were upon terms
great intimacy ; Crossfield was in an ill state
of health at that time, and was forced to take
large quantities of opium ; that Crossfield was
acquainted with Upton; he thought Cross-
ficld became acquainted with Upton by seein,
him at the Corresponding Society; he sai
he saw an electrical machine at Upton’s
shop; he said Upton became disgraced in
that society, that L Maitre, one of the per-
sons now charged in this indictment, was
Earticularly offended with him; he said be
ad attended the society in August and Sep-
tember 1794 ; lLie then stated the occasion of
Upton and himself and Crossfield being t‘?e-
ther that day; he said that Upton had a
watch of his to repair; he thinks he and
Crossfield had dined together somewhere in
the neighbourhood of Temple-bar, and he
meant to call on Upton for this watch; he
said he had no particular recollection who it
was that spoke to them in New-street-square
whether it was the master or the servant;
that his reason for not going into the second
house was, that he had a necessary occasion
to stop; he said that he and Crossheld meant
to have gone together into the city, and ha
Bening to call upon Upton for the watc
pton said he was going that way, and wou
accompany them, whicﬁ was the occasion of
their being togettier that day ; be said he saw
Crossfield pu%licly about the time of Smith
and Le Maitre being taken into custody; that
he and Crossfield went soon afler that to
Bristol, that Crossfield bad an intention three
or four months before to go to Bristol, tbat
he meant to analyse the waters, and if he
found any success he thought of settling
there; that be saw him gvery day while he
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stayed at Bristol, and that he appeared there
as publicly as he had done any where else;
he thinks Crossfield remained at Bristol after
bim two months, and returned to town ahout
the time that he, the witness, was examined
before the privy council; he said, as well as
he recollects, the last time he saw Crossfield,
was on the last day he was before the privy
council, in the month of January; that the
reward for apprehending Crossfield was pub-
lished a considerable time afterwards; he
said, upon his farther examination, that when
he was first cxamined before the privy council,
he mentioned his knowing Crossheld, and
undertook to the privy council to endeavour
at least to find Crossfield ; however, he says
notwithstanding that he did not produce
Crossfield at the privy council, he thought he
saw him in the early part of the last day when
he went to the privy council; that when he
was first examined, he told Crossfield of the
circumstance of his (Crossfield’s) attendance
being required at the privy council, and of his
having said he would endeavour to produce
him, but Crossfield said he was 'going abroad
88 surgeon to a ship, and that his staying in
town might be the means of preventing his
voyage, and therefore Crossfield did not
choose to go, and he says he did not men-
tion to the privy council his having scen
Crossfield.

The next witness, John Hill, said he was a
member of the Corresponding Society, of Di-
vision No, 6, that he knew Upton a gttle, and
he knew Palmer ; that Upton, Palmer, and
another man, came to his house in Bartholo-
mew-close, in September 1794 ; Upton asked
him whether he could turn in wood ? he said
yes; he then asked him if he was ready to
do a job for them ? he said yes : Upton began
to describe what he wanted ; the witness said
be did not understand him ; that Upton then
gave him a sketch, he believes the sketch
which is now produced in evidence, and he
thought it was made in his' presence, and
upon a piece of paper that belonged to him,
and with his pen and ink; he asked Upton
what it was for; Upton said it was for some-
thing in the e]ectrifyini machine way; he
was to take it to Upton’s house, and he would
see him paid; he said the stranger did some-
thing towards making that sketch, what it
was in particular he could not recollect, but
he thinks he did something; that it was done

rincipally by Upton’s direction ; he said he
SOes not recollect that Palmer did any thing
to it; he said a piece was to be made straight
like a round ruler, and there was something
to be done from it in brass work ; he said he
carried the models home to Upton's, three
days after; he found him at cards, and deli-
vered the models to him; this he said was
about the middle of September; he said
there were some imputations upon Upton in
the Corresponding Society ; that Higgins, one
of the persons indicted, said something which

- affronted Upton, and they were about to in-
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vestigate Upton’s character, whea he chose
to save them the trouble by taking himsel€
away; that Higgins said, as he went out,
there he hops off: he said, that after Upton
was apprehended, he one day called upon the
witness ; they were here going to enter into
evidence of some declarations that were mads
by Upton, but I thought it not proper lo
receive that evidence under those circum-
stances.

The next witness was John Le Bretton;
his account is, that he sailed in the Pomona,
a South-Sea whaler, from Falmouth, on the
Southern fishery, round Cape Horn; the pri-
soner came on board a week before the:
sailed from Portsmouth, which was the 9
or 30th oi" January; that the prisoner was
surﬁeon, and was called the Doctor ; he said
be did not know his name ; they sailed upon
the 18th of February from Falmouth, and
were taken on the 15th by a French corvette,
and carried into Brest; they arrived there
upon the 23rd; he said that when the list
was made out of the prisoners to be sent on
shore at Brest, the prisoner wrote his name
Robert Thomas Crossfield, and went in the
first number of the prisoners; that when he
went away, he wished them a good bye, and
said he was happy in going to France, he
would sooner go there than to England; he
afterwards saw him in the corvette; he said
he heard the prisoner say he was one of those
who invented the air-gun to shoot or assassi-
pate his majesty: the witness asked him
what it was like? the prisoner answered, that
an arrow was to go through a kind of tube by
the force of inflammable air, that he described
it with his finger to be like one of their har-
poons ; he said that when this prisoner was
to go home by the cartel, he then gave his
pame in H. Wilson ; that he helped to make
out the list, and he put down his own name H.
Wilson: he also described himself in that list
as having been captured in the Hope, and as
being a nger; he said that there wers
twenty-lgrea men belonging to their vessel;
that Mr. Charles Clarke was the captain, who
likewise came back in the cartel: he was asked
about Clarke; he said he saw him at Christ-
mas, and he, as well as he recollects, was not
examined before the wvy council; he saw
him aflerwards at Mr. Whité's, and on
the ship, and at his lodgings in Wapping; he
said he once saw him at Mr. Smith’s, but
that he did not then lodge there; that he saw
him when he was fitting out his ship, and
may have talked with him, but has no recol-
lection of any particular conversation about
Crossfield, excepting that he said he had been
examined at the privy council; he did not
inform him of the subject of his examination,
and he says he did not ask him whether he
had not overheard his conversation with Cross-
field ; that, you see, comes to be material, be-
cause Mrs. Smith has been called for the pri-
soner, in order to fasten a contradiction upon
him with respect to that circumstance; hs
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daid uitain Clarke was néver so inquisitive
as to ask him what he had said upon his ex-
amination, nor did he ever tell him; he said
he had not seen him above two or three
times, and he was now out of England; he
said that he was frequently in company with
Crossfield at Portsmouth before they sailed ;
hie was on shore with him twice on two dif-
ferent evenings : the witness said he was boat-
steerer, an officer on board this vessel; he
went on shote at Portsmouth to buy necessa-
ries, and he said Crossfield appeared there
publicly ; he said the ship was loaded
with casks of water and p ions, and
the captain’s private trade, and also a
little private trade of some of the officers,
what that was he does not take upon
himself to know; they put into Falmouth
by stress of weather on the 2nd of February ;
they sailed again on the 13th; Crossfield was
never on shore at Falmouth, or at most but
once; at first he said there were only their
ship’s crew on board the French ship after
they were carried into Brest, and that they
were all concerned in a scheme to seize the
French ship, Crossfield and all; there were
some foreiiners on board who would not a
to it, and therefore the scheme failed; they
first went into the roads at Brest ; they had no
concern with any other English prisoners till
they were put on board the prison ship the
Elizabeth ; that Crossfield was one of those
who were put on board her; he mentioned
two other vessels lying near them, the
L’Achille and the Normandy ; that Crossfield
spoke French, and sometimes served as an in-
terpreter; captain Cleverton, the master of
another ship, was on board the prison ship;
he thinks Mr. Cleverton messecr with Cross-
field ; there was also a captain Collins there ;
whether he was on board or not he does not
remember; he was afterwards removed from
the Elizabeth to the Peggy; that the Active
Increase was lashed to them ; that there were
three prison ships lashed toéethcr, and that
they were all on board ; Mr, Cleverton was at
the hospital for sume time; that captain Yel-
lowly commanded one of the cartels, and he
said he knew that the prisoner's name was
Crossfield, and he made no secret that he knows
of about his name ; he said their private trade
was in a few trunks, some part of it was sold
on board the prison ships, by the indulgence
of the person who took them: that they per-
mitted the crew to take possession of some
part of the private property. He was asked
whether he had not some words with Cross-
field about it, he said no, and that he never
heard of Crossfield’s threatening to inform
the under-writers of this transaction, about the
private trade which was said to bave been
n this way embezzled, and which was sup-
posed to be insured. Ido not see that any
thing turns upon that; there is no contradic-
tion introduced.

Thomas Dennis, the chief mate of the
Pomvuna, said, that he sailed in her from
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Portsmouth ; that the prisoner sailed on board
that vessel as sur ; that he went by the
name of doctor ; that he did not rightly knéw
kis name till he got into France; thut he had
never séen the prisoner before he came on
board; that the night after they sailed from
Falmouth, the prisoner said that if Pitt knew
where he was, he would lave sent a fii
after him; that Pitt was to have been shot
going over Westminster Bridge, but had
avoided it by gaing;nother way ; that his ma-
jesty was to have beéen assassinated by & dart

lown through a tube, and that he knew how
the dart was constructed, and something he
mentioned about a harpoon: he said, that
when they were taken by the French, he
shook him by the hand, and said he wished
they might get safe to England, he was happy
he had got out of England, and was going to
France. This witness mentioned the circon-
stance spoken of by the other witness, that
when the list of prisoners was delivered in at
Brest, he delivered his name R. T. Ctossfield
andsaid he had no occasionthen to beashamed
of his name. When thelist was made out for
the exchange of prisoners, and the prisoners
were to go to England, he said he changed it
wp{{‘;red jlmmn, aﬁd d&;,cribed gimhseifh:sd ding
ca in the rig, and this id in
his own hand ; w;gen thg list was called over,
he answered to the name of Wilson, an
walked aft. The witness was afterwards cal-
led before the privy council, in order to give
them information respecting this transacs
tion.

Upon his cross-examination, he said, they
got into Brest oh the 22nd ; that there was &
plan to rise; he thinks Crossfield had en-
gaged to be one; Crossfield was one of those
who messed in the cabin ; and Crossfield and
the rest that were there were to seize the
ship ; he said thatthere werethree prison ships
together ; the Hope brig, captain Falconer, he
said, had been taken within a day or two after
they were taken, and Mr. Cleverton was in
her; he said that some of their private pro-
perty was saved, nothing of his was insured ;
that captain Clarke might have sumething in-
sured; what were saved were sold on board.
the prison ships; he sald he had no words
with Crossfield on that account, nor any
quarrel, nor did they converte much; that
his station was the deck, and the ductor’s was
below ; that he had heard Crossfield had said
it was owing to his negligence that the ship
was taken ; Crossfield had never said it ta
him; he said Crossficld was not rémoved
from the vessel on account of 4 quarrel be+
tween him and Le Bretton, and there is 1o
evidence of uny such thing, He was asked
about the state of gheir provisions; he
said they had bad provisions, but with theic
money they could purchase ; he ;and
there was & scheme for his obtaining his %-
berty, by getting & certificate that be was an
American, and which Crossfield was inclined
to assist hjm in; that Crossficld mcast to get




go1) Jor High Treason.

his liberty by insisting that be was a nxtu-
Bulm}d Ht;!lander; an| rth:t he wtl;ote to Ley-
en for the purpose of getting the necessary
evidence to support that s;fetegsion; he said
Crossfield sait he had interest en in
France to procure all of them their liderty;
he said Crossfield had a good deal of levity
:’be:rt him, and talked and rattled a good
James Winter described himself to be the
ownet of the Susanngh, & vessel from New-
fop?‘d,lland to Spah;:‘til board of which h: was
with his property, was captured and car-
tied into %test; ie was taken upon the 6th of
December, andartived at Brest upon the 18th
and was on board the pri nshfg for some
timé ; that upon the 20th of March they were
put on boad a cartel in Landernau river ; that
Crossfield came on board and dined, this was
on the ¢nd or 3rd of Aptil; captain Yellowley
introduced the prisoner the name of
Crossfield, but the prisoner auéhed, and said
that his name was not Crossfield, but Tom
Paine; he said that after supper he sung sedi-
tious songs ; then he said that he had shotat
his majesty, but unluckily had missed him.
At another time the witness asked him where
it was that he had shot at the kini, the pri-
soner said it was between Buckingham-house
and the Palace; he said that this kind of
conversation passed every day for five months
the prisoner did not say with what weapon he
had shot at him, but said he would show the
witness something like & n, about a
foot and a half lon‘P, made ofiron; he sald he
had put poisoried darts into this gun, and had
shot at & cat, and the cat efpired in great
nies in a short time ; that he said it would
kill a mat 4t thirty yatds distance, and no-
body could see that he had done it; that he
repeated these kind of things fifty tithes ; the
tss said there were nine of them that
dined together ; that this sort of conversation
frequently happened : that the ptisoner shew-
ed him in what manner this arrow was made ;
he said that when the arrow struck the part it
was aimed at, the poison would come out of
the dart; that Crossfield said he was the per-
son who ordered the poison to be made up,
and that he got it at a chymist's shop; that
Crossfield said he had fired at his majesty,
but did not say with the dart, but it was
damned unlucky he had missed his aim; he
said nobody was present when he showed the
witness in what manner this arrow was to act,
thatit was in a private conversation between
them ; but hé said once in A ,afterwards
he corrected himself to July, Crossfield said
e hoped he should live to see the day when
the blood should be over his ancles in the
sireets of London, of the kibg and his party ;
a pentléman present said God forbid, omtters
may be dotre more easy.  Then the witness
went back to what he had stated before
andl said, that he went to the chymist’s hith-
,and ordered the poisoh to be made
with that he had Killed the tit; hs
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Crossfield said that after he had shot at his
thajesty, he was obliged to make off to Ports.
mouth, where he on board 2 South-
Sea man ; that two of king's messengers
were after him; the witness sard that captain
Collins wished to have the cutting off the kins
and Pitt, and the parliament; that Cro

said have 9aticnce, I h;;peto have the cutt,
off some of them m by and by; he sai
that ont the 27th of August, when the cartel
left Brest, Crossfield said every thing is now
settled to my sati ; one of the
captains endeavoured to stop his mouth,
and prevent him from talking, but he said
the French had given bim great encourage-
ment; that from the 18th or 19th, down to
that time, the prisoner had been very close;
he said they were three days on their

and they landed at Men.iissey; that nothin
ﬁndmthccouneoﬂ € passage mraterial,

e witness went immediately to a justice of

ce, and ﬁve information; upon that in.
ormation, he said a warrant was granted, but
before the watrant could be executed the ves.
sel was gone to Fowey, and there it was the
prisoner was apyteben&ed. .

Upon his cross-examination he said, that,
he was fifty-nine years of age; that he had
tesided at Newfoundland; that they were
part of the time on board the Berwick, captain
Alexander, nine of them he mentioned, thetwo
Byrons, Collins, and several others that came
over in the cartel; he said he told the justice
the names of those ns, and that they
were of the society of Crossfield; he menti-
oned their landing at Fowey; he said
Crossfield was apt to drink ; that the company
that used to mess with them wmust have
known of the general conversation, but that
he does not think that they knew any thing
about the mention that was made of the dart,
because that was in private. He was then
asked whether he himself had not told a sto;
of a hare, and he gave ussome particulars o
that story, and that certainly raises a conside-
table d of doubt whether this man is

fectly and l(:intil'ely to behdepended upon,
n ct to his capacity, the story was cer-
hin‘;;s?foolish one‘,m?l:zugh not absolutely
impossible to be true; but he added to it,
that [there was a notion that the place was
troubled, which leads to a suspicion that he
himself conceived there was som su-
tnatural in the event which he ted,
his would be & strong mark of a distempered
imagination. You recollect that a wit.
ness for the prisoner said, that Winter de-
clared that the hare was a witch or a devil in
the shape of a hare. That which d
from this man bhimself, in the course of his
evidence, conterning the plaec being troubled,
commects cl’osegy with what the witness
related; and the whole, taken together,
tnarks so strongly dt.h&} this man's mi;:l is not
pet com ut it must weigh against
the credit of mmmnym though there
shuoM be no reason to but that he
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means to speak the truth. This man has
given very material evidence against the pri.
soner; but it can hardly be thought, having
this cloud thrown over it, a sufficient foun-
dation for a verdict in this important cause.
:::ween the king and the prisoner at the

Richard Penny, the next witness, describes
himself to be master at arms of the Daphne ;
he said that vessel was taken by the French,
and he was put on board the Elizabeth; he
said he heard Crossfield singing in his bed a
song which occasioned his asking him some

uestionsthe next morning, as the song wished
3Amnation to a king; he asked him what

ing he meant; Crossfield said the king of
England ; uKon his remonstrating with him,
Crossfield threatened to have him put in
irons, and then he said he was one of the
three that attempted to blow a dart at his
majesty, in Covent-garden; that Tom
Paine’s works were what he would be
verned by, and that if ever he arrived in Eng-
land, he would attempt the like again: he
said that when they were coming into Meva-
gissey, the prisoner said to him, young man,
were not you on board the Elizabeth, he an-
swered that he was; the prisoner then de-
sired that he would take no notice of what
was said on board the Elizabeth ; the witness
said he mentioned it at Portsmouth, in con-
sequence of which he was sent to Plymouth,
where he made an information ; he !said they
were cagtured upon the 22nd of September,
1794 ; that Crossfield came on board in the
month of March, and remained about a month
aboard ; that he messed with Dennis, captain
Clarke, and others ; that the mess consisted
of seven; he said he recollects that on
board the Elizabeth, Crossfield was once
in close conference with the French officer.

The next witness is Walter Colmer; he is
a person who was employed to apprehend
this prisoner, and to convey him from on

the cartel at Fowey to Bodmin gaol ;
he said the prisoner was put into a post
chaise, with another constable to attend him,
and he swears that upon the road the prisoner
told him that he would give him and his
partner each a guinea to let him go, that they
would only get a few shillings for carrying
him to Bodmin ; after that he offered them
two guineas each; one asked him what they
should do with the driver, the prisoner said 1f
they would let him have one of their pistols
he would soon settle that matter ; he was
asked whether the prisoner was notin liquor,
he said that be might be a little in liquor, but
he did oot think he was much.

[The Chief justice being reminded by Mr,
Gurney, that Colmer said, that when he asked
for the prisoner, he answered to the name of
Crossfield, added,] I should have stated to you
that Colmer, in part of his evidence, said
that the prisoner, when he was apprehended,
answered to the name of Crossfield.
Elizabeth Upton is described to be the wife
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of one Thomas Upton ; she gave an account
of having missed her husband from the 22nd
of February last, when he went out ; she said
she never saw him afterwards, but that his
hat was brought home b{a waterman; she
said he gav:gher a seal before he went out,
and she believes, having heard nothing of
him, that he is not nowalive ; she saidthat he
was 8 sober man, she never saw him dis-
ﬁuised in liquor; she knew Crossfield, she

ad seen him at her husband’s house fre.
?enuy; and also Palmer, she has seen him
there in company with Crossfield; she said
she thought she recollected having seen the
two models, which are now produced, lyi
in her husband’s shop, at the House in ge‘l‘ﬁ
yard; she said she known Hill; thay
something like those models were brought
home by Hill one night; but she has no re-
collection of having ever seen a tube, which
was now shown to her, nor the paper which
bas been produced: she now lives in Gray’s
Inn-lane.

George Steers lives in Gatwood's Buildings
Hill-street, Finsbury-square ; he said he hap-
pened once, though not a member of the Cor-
responding society to be at one of their meet-
ings in the latter end of the year 1794, some-
where about the month of August, there he
saw Upton, he observed Upton was lame: he
observed that he held something in his hand,
at first he thought it was a walking-stick, but
it turned out to be no walking stick; there was
a fellow clerk along with him; he asked Up-
ton whatit was. he did not give any answer;
he asked for what purpose it was intended ;
Upton showed it him in his bhand, he then
gerceived By the light that it was wmade of

rass; that the tube which is now produced,
is in appearance the same, but he cannot un-
dertake to say itis the same.

William Henry Pusey said he was with the
last witness at this meeting of the Corres-
ﬁonding Society; that Upton was there;

e saw under his coat something which re-
sembled that tube which is now produced; he
asked Upton what it was; Upton pulled it
farther out, but!gave noanswer, only shook his
head; that the thing when produced, did oot
appear to him to be solid.
ward Stocker, the other constable, who
was not called immediately after the first,
said that as they were con:eej'ing the prisoner,
to Bodmin gaol, he offered them a-guinea
a-piece, and afterwards two guineas a-picce,
to let him go, and said it wasbetter to let him
go than to take a little money to carry him
to gaol, and that he was man enough for both
of them, by which I suppose he meant that
:lhe l:;i“ltm:ss might ‘x_n e ‘t]hat ebxcuse, that

e t away from them by superior
force ; C%‘l)mer a.s)yxed him what they were to
do with the driver, be answered, if you will
give me one of your pistols I'll pop at him,
and settle the matter; that he could give
them a draft on some person at Fowey ; the
witness asked whether he knew any inhabi-

.
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tant of Fowey, he said no, he did not know
any inhabitant, but it was a person in Fowey,
who would answer his draft; he cannot say
that the prisoner appeared to him to be in
liquor, but that he afterwards did fall asleep,
and slept soundly a great part of the way ; that
they set out about nine o'clock in the
evening.

Harvey Walklate Mortimer is then called;
he is a gun-smith in Fleet-street, and has
been ncar thirty years in the business ; he has
been used to the construction of air-guns : he
has frequently constructed them in the form
of a walking-stick ; he says they will not take
eflect entirely without explosion, but in the
open air; when the air has a free current you
cannot hear it; in a room it makes a noise,
like the clapping of a hand ; that in a theatre
it would make less noise than in a small
room; that it has so little recoil, that if
you were to hold it before your eye with a
.Eh” between you would not perceive that it

urt the glass, and he said a very accurate
aim may be taken; he said the tube of an
air-gun might be so constructed as to dis-
charge an arrow. A drawing is produced to
him of two arrows, one barbed, the other not;
he said the barbed arrow might be so con-
structed, that the barbs might collapse, and
80 be put into this tube, and when forced out
again, they would regain their position; the
springs must be weak, but they would act
upon a joint, and, being made weak, they
miﬂu be pressed in; he says undoubtedly
such an arrow might occasion death; heis
shown those two pieces of wood ; he said that
they certainly might make a cylinder, in the
form of the longest of those pieces ; that the
small end of the models mark the size of the
‘bore, and that if this was designed for a

iston to eondense the air, it would be to
put on occasionally upon the air-gun, and

be says that they night condense the air suf-
ficiently to charge a brass tube with con-
densed air, 80 as to discharge an arrow three
or four times without re-charging it; he was
asked 1o look at the paper, and see whether
he could take upon himsclf to say, that the
models were made from the drawings in that
-paper; he said he could not take upon him-

f to say, from the appearance of the paper,
that they were made from those drawin?,
that without something having been said, he
should not have known for what that paper
was intended, or what it was to represent ; he
said that they make now their air-guns ina
‘neater form than this, in the form of a walk-
‘ing-stick ; that the recipient for condensed
‘air may be within the tube, and the con-
denser either within or without. He was
asked as to the possibility of some matter
‘being enclosed in the barb of the arrow, and
which, though the arrow was discharged
might not be lost till it struck the object, and
then it would part with that matter; he said,
be believes that an arrow might be so con-
structed; he went inlo & more particular de-
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scription of his air-gun, which I do not think
extremely material, and 1 did not encourage
him to go farther into it, because I did not
wish it should be'very particularly takendown
to inform the world of that which it is better
the world should not know ; but he said that
which is material to the subject of our in-
quiry, which is, that upon looking at these
mod{ls, he does believe that they are models
of part of an air-gun; he said that if he had
not seen them along with the tube, he should
not have been, so well satisfied, but that it is
very satisfactory to him, seeing them along
wi;i the tube, that that was the purpose for
which they were constructed, but that with-
out the tube it would be his belief that they
were intended 8s parts of an air-gun. That,
you see, is very material, because the very
point of the overt act is, that these were
models of part of the instrument, which might
be used for the purpose expressed in the overt
act, namely, to destroy the king.

Mr. Ward was then called; he said that
upon the 12th of September, 1794, he saw
the paper which has been produced, which
hasa ﬁpgurc of a harbed arrow upon it, in the
possession of Upton, at Upton’s own house ;
and he thinks he saw hkewise the other
paper, but he did not see the tube. On the
Saturday, which was the next day, he went to
give information of it; and he saw Mr. Pitt
upon the Wednesday following, when the in-
formation was given.

Mr. Palmer being again brought up to be
asked a question that was omitted, said that
Crossfield’s circumstances were bad ; that his
Kropeny had been assigned for the benefit of

is creditors.

Gentlemen, this is the evidence on the part
of the prosecution. .

On the part of the prisoner James Parkin-
son was the first witness called, who described
himself to be a surgeon ‘and apothecary in
Hoxton-square ; he said that in August 1794,
he was a member of the Corresponding So-
ciety; that Higgins and Smith were members
of the general committee; that enquiries
were instituted in the committee by Higgins
and Smith at the request of the committee of
Correspondence, injo the character of Upton,
upona charge of having set his house on fire;
that there wasa meeting, at which Upton was
present; I think this was all that he said
upon his original examination,

Upon his cross-examination, he was asked
whether he had not been at some time in
possession of a paper intitled La Guillotine, or
George's Head 1n the Basket ; he said he had
such a paper, but that he did not receive it in
the socicty ; he said he had heard that Le
‘Maitre and Upton were reconciled ; he said
that he did go to Hill after these people were
apprehended, to bear all that he coul collect,
in order to give the privy council all the in-
formation be could; that he never heard of
any quarrel between Upton and Crossfield,
and_that Hill expressed uneasiness about
having turned these models.
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The next witness was Jobn Bone, who
lives at No. 8, Weston-street, Southwark, a
muslin clearer; he said he was 2 member of
the Corresponding Suciety in the months of
August and September 1794, and a member
of the general committee; that Le Maitre,
Smith, and Higgins were members; and that
there were disputes between them and Upton
some time after the commencement of Au-
gust; that they originated in Upton’s bad
character; that Higgins and Le Maitre were
taken ,up upon the 27th or the 28th of Sep-
tember: that Smith and Higgins had at-
tacked Upton’s character, and there was a

t dispute with considerable violence,
tween Le Maitre and Upton, he believes
that was on the 4th of September; thatit
threw the whole asserobly into great agita-
tion ; that a letter had been sentin, reflecting
higbly upon the society; that when it was
known that it was written by Upton, and he
confessed it, Le Mailre was very severe upon
him ; that he called him a man, considering
him as unworthy the name of acitizen; he
said that Upton threatened to be revenged of
Le Maitre ; that Le Maitre said to him if he
had any thing to settle, it would be betler to
do it at another time, and he gave bim his
address; the same evening Higgins moved,
in the lfem:ml committee, a vote of censure
ppon Upton, which was discussed, and Upton
going towards the door, Higgins said that if .
they meant to do any thing upon the vote of
eensure.they must be quick, for that he was
hopping off; this put Upton into a great rage,
and-he called Higginé a wretcb, for reflecting
ypan bis natyral infirmity ; that Higginsmade
answer, perhaps I ought to tcll you you lie,
but it shall suffice al present to say I did not
mean it so; Smith said if Upton’s name was
kept in the printed list of the Socisty his
name should not continue there; and that
the l;fhl before these people were appre-
hended the list was ordered to be published
without Uplon’s name,

John -Huttley, a watch-spring maker, in
Great Sutton-street, Clerkenwell, said he saw
Upton in September 1794; that their conver-
sation turned upon Higgins, Le Maitre, and !
Smith having been apprehﬁ::!ed. Upton said |
it was. their own fault, they had made free
with his character.

William Brown said he kaew Upton ; that
in Septcmber 1795, he asked bim concerni
what Crossfield was detained for, Upton sai
he could not tell; he asked if he knew what
was the chief accusation against him, Upten
said he did not know ; he asked him it he
knew Le Maitre, Higgims, and Smith, Upton
said yes, too well, they were three damoed
villains, and had used bim in the moet vil-
laineus maoner; that they still continued to
hurt his character, and that they bad attacked
him in the street, calling him an inforaer,
and brought a mob about him, and that if
they did not desist, be_should certainly use
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some means; he told Upton that he pust
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make -some allowance, considering the ill

usage he had given them, by Jaying against
them an accusation apparently unfounded s
Upton said he was unacquainted with the

former part of the story, and that he would
relate the whole; that prior to all this busi-
ness there had been a subscription for the fa-~
milies of the state prisoners; that subscrip.
tions were received at his house as well as at
others ; that Higgins, Le Maitre, and Smith
bad accused him of being a thief, and an in-
cendiary; that the society had refused to
give him a fair trial upon it, and that they
still conlinued abusing him in every public
company ; the witness told him such accusae
tions as those, in his judgment, could not axise
from nothing at all ; that Upton then said -he
would tell Eun what it alluded to; he had
once a house in Cold Bath Fields, which was
burat down; he was advertised, and a reward
offered for apcrrehendi him ; that he
with a friend of his, that his friend should
produce him, that they might get the reward,
and when they had got the reward the Phee.
nix Office could make nothing against him,
and he appealed to the witness whether, as
he was acquitted in the eye of the law, any
man ought publicly to accuse bim. All ths
but a little way, because there is nothing
at points directly one way or the other te
the question, whether any charge which was

b t against Le Maitre, Higgins, aund
Smith was or was not well foumlegs; he onl

gives the reasons why he is at enmity wi
them, and why he thinks they have used him
ill; and, as far as he was concerned in it, &
sort of apology for bis bringing forward a
charge which, whethar true or false, perhaps
otherwise he might not bave done.
Jobn Cleverton said he was a prisoner in,
Brest, at the time Crassficld was theze, op
the same prison ship, froma the 19th of
February to early in May : he does pot recel-
lect.any declaration respecting the king, but
be has frequently heard Cre siBg repub-
lican song: that he never heard him make
any declaration as to any plot there was
against any bedy; that there were other ca
tains of vessels, captain Clarke, captain Bligt:
Mr. Dennis, a man of the name of Denton,
and Mr. Widdiman, who used all to mess to-
fether; he said Crossfield was n very joliy
ellow ; that the sick priseners werc sent to
the hospital ; he himself went to the hospital

‘on the 19th of May; that he came over in

the same cartel with the prisener; he seid he
knew that in the month of May the prisoner
signed his proper name Crossfield, because he
signed it to some instrument of his at his re-
quest; they used to call him doctor; there
was no icular intimacy, he said, between
Crossfield and Dennis, or Le Bretton: the
witness said that they afterwards landed at
Fowey; that to the best of his judgment
Crossfield appeared glad that he was got over;
e said he himaself, at the Lime he was aken,
was going to the Canasies, as ageat 10 a
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house in 84. Johmnwstroet, to adllect wines for
the government ; he described Crosafield as a
man who d bard; he mid he does not
remember hearing Crossfisld say sny thing of
having settled any affairs in France to his sa-
tisfaction ; he does not know neither that he
mbe name of Wilson into the list, but has
that he did; there were no quarrels
sbout republican principles ; then he is asked
whether a song that is shown him was one of
the songs Croasfield sung? he said he never
beard him sing that song but once or twice,
the chorus in particular, he said, he had a re-
colbctlimf ; that song was read. Gentle.
men, not repeat it to you, itis not at
all eseential to the cause, and it were better
that such songs should have no circulation; a
more A seditious song, dmin&emote di-
reclly at the whole constitution of ofovem-
meat of this country, consisting King,
Lords, and Commons, could not bave been
domposed : it was truly said by Mr. Attorney
General, that it was an epitome of every thi
that could be imagined to besedition ; thoug
the name of our king is not in terms menti-
oned, yet Mr. Cleverton, if he had recollected
himself, could hstdl&“have thought himself
Jjustified in saying this man had ne-
ver-seid any thing reflesting upon the king.
Anthony Collins, the next wilness, said he
was a captain of one of the prison ships, he
explained that by saying that they were cartel
ships that were in the river, and the French
converted the cartel ships into prisons; he
said that he heard there was a medical man
oa board one of the other ships, and therefore
he invited him on board his ship, and that
turned out to be the prisoner C ; that
be considered himself as much indebted to
bim for his care and attention in his profes-
sion, and he thinks he saved the lives of fifty
or sixty people by it? he messed in the cabin
with him ; there werc the two Byrons and
some others ; he had not known him before ;
e says, for want of better employment, they
too much ; he solemnlyavows he never
beard any thing of plots against the govern.
ment; that the witness, Winter, was some-
times at that mess, and told rids 3 stories,
one was, the catching the devil in the shape ofa
very e diplensed wba they atcrptod s
very m! is when they attempted to
contradict him; and be said he was the com-
mon langhing stock on board ; he believed he
was somewhat flighty, whether from the loss
of his proye;t‘y( be understond he had lost
a deal of property) or whether the effect
of his imprisonment he could not tell; he
walked about in the night talking to himself,
and slept very little ; be never had any con.
versation with Winter about Crossfield : the
witness lived mostly with Crossfield ; he said
Crossfield mentioned the derangement of his
circumstances, but did not mention the oc-
casion of his leaving England, or whether
that was the occasion; ho™sung sengs, but
noas. of them sgaiast the. government; he
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does not recollect any such song as that the
chorus of which is,  Plant, plant, the tree;”
he did hear that Crossfield put his neme down
in the list, when they were to be exchanged,
H. Wilson, it did not surprise him st all,
having communicated to him the embarrass.
ment of his circumstances he ascribed it to
that; he said his conduct was uniformly that
ofan orderly and good subject; that he repro.
bated the war, and called it an unjust war : he
said he has often heard him say that the com-
mandantbad offered to let him stay,and togive
him an establishment to superintend the hos-
pitals, but he declined it, rather wishing to be
at home, and 1o rejoice in returning
home ; he said he never saw Mr. Cleverton
above once or twice, for he was part of the
time on board one of the other ships, and
part of the time at the hospital, sick.

Elizabeth Smith is then called, whoisa
widow, living at No. 17, Great Hermit:ge
street, Wapping, where she has lived for the
last eight years, having lived in Red Lion-
street the seven preceding years; she
said she has known Crossfield five years, that
he was very often to and fro, that he was a
man of Jevity, but by nomeans of a harsh and
severe temper; she knew uﬁn Clarke of
the Pomona, she bas known him two years ;
she had also seen the witness, Le Bretton,
that he was before the mast, with captain
Clarke; that he used to come to captain
Clarke; she remembered his coming after his
return; he told her she might expect captain
Clarke soon, for he had been examined at
Guildhall or somewhere. Le Bretton said to
captain Clarke, that he had heard
describing a gun to him, thathe, Clarke, wag
present, which Clarke denied. LeBretton said,
several times, he hoped he should hang him.
Croasfield, she says, lodged with her st three
different times, under the name of Crossfield ;
that the last time he lodged with her was
about a month before he went out ; she ssys
on Christmas day Clarke dined at her house,
and Crossfield dined with him; that was the
day before Clarke went on board his ship;
that Crossfield did not join the ship for five
weeksafter, at Portsmouth ; that he went by
the name of Crossfielkd while at her houss,
and she apprehends he went to the Change,
and other different places, with the company
in the house, particularly captain White : one
day Croesfield came in when captain Clarke
was speaking to some gentgmw to recom-
hima and Crossfield said perhaps he
might go with him: she said Crossfield wasa
good natured man, who would hurt nobody ;
she denies that she ever asked Le Bretton te
be favourable to Crossfield, and that she never
said truth was not to be spoken at all times:
she said she never spoke either to Le Bret-
ton or Dennis in that manner, that she had
:ot seen them since Le Bretton was about the

ouse,

They then cull five witnesses to the pri-
sowner’s character, .

P
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Muvs. Watson is the first witness; she said
Crossfield lodged at her house in Dyer’s-build-
ings, that herlodged there by his own name;
that he came on the 26th of July 1794, and

_ataid two months, that he kept nothing locked
up, thathe was a very careless kind of man, but
bebaved extremely well; she never saw him
afterwards, and no inquiry was ever made
about him.

Mrs. Beasley said, she had known him four
years, he had the character of a humane
goo«d natured man.

Mr. Wyld, a surgeon, in the Kent-road,
said, he had known him three years, and
gave him a very good character for his good
nature and humanity.

Mr. Wilson, a surveyor, in Dorset-street,
said he had known him from a child, that he
was an exXcecding good man, and he never
thought he could commit any crime.

Mr. Hepburn, a surgeon, in Great Hermi-
tage-street, said he has known him four years,
he had attended the family where Crossfield
lodged, he thought him a light, easy, good-
natured man.

They then, on the part of the prosecution
called up Thomas Dennis, and John Le Bret-
ton, in order to confront Mrs. Smith.

. Thomas Dennis said, that Mrs. Smith made
jonquiries of him what he knew about this
charge agaiust. Crossfield P and she said, she
hoped that he would not declare any thing to
burt him. He said, there were warm disputes
at dinner, that there were three or four ca|
tains of ships present: she said she would
say any thing to save him ; and that captain
Smith, who was present, said, Mrs. Smith
you ought to he ashamed of yourself to say
such a thing. He said captain Clarke, cap-
tain Smith, and a young gentleman that had
apartments there, whom he believes to be a
wharfinger, were present at this time.
- John Le Bretton said, that he very well
knew Mrs. Smith; that she asked him what
he had said, and she said she hoped he would
not say any thing to hurt the prisoner; that
he told her he should speak the truth, and
did not know whether it would hurt him
or no ; to which she answered, that the truth
was not always to be spoken ; so that you see
~ here arises a question, whether Mrs. Smith
has materially impeached the credit of Le
Dretton, or whether Le Bretton and Dennis
together have materially impeached the credit
of Mrs. Smith, that is a subject which is en-
tirely for the consideration of the jury : when
you ure ascertaining what is the true state of
the facts in evidence, you must make up your
minds as to' that, whether you will consider
Mrs. Smith as having materially impeached
the credit of Le Bretton, or whether you
think upon the result of the evidence Le Bret-
ton and Dennis together have impeached her
credit ; if it be true that she tampered with
these witnesses, and said she would say any
thing for this man o save him, instead of im-
puciing the credit of the witness, she is her-
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self discredited : all that I shafl say upen it s,
that this man Dennis, who I do not find is
impeached at all by her evidence, does aver
that it was so, and does boldly appeal to
persons who were present at the time, who
at least hereafter, it not now, might contradict
him if he did not speak the truth.

Gentlemen, I have now sone through the
evidence ; I told you I should first recapitilate
the evidence, and then endeavour to inform
you in what manner this evidence applies to
establish the whole or any part of the overt
acts contained in this indictment, and there
appear to me to be two overt acts, or rather
two different sets of overtacts, varying only as
to the description of the instrument, one being
coupled with the poisoned arrow, the other
not; in other respects it is in tnith but one
set of overt acts, they are both of the same
nature, they both charge a conspiracy to pre-
pare an instrument to destroy the king, and
they both of them charge the employment of
Hill to make models for a part of that instru-
ment; and either of them, if they were made
out satisfactorily, would certainly be sufficiens
to support this indictment.

First then, you are to consider whether
there is any evidence before you of this con-
spiracy to procure the instrument described
to be made, being described two different
ways.

(ou are next to consider (if you are satisfied
that there was a conspiracy in which this pri-
soner was involved to prepare such an instru-
ment), Whether the purpose for which it was
to be prepared is sufficiently ascertained by the
evidence.

Thus far is clear, that three people, of whom
one was by the positive evidence of Palmer
fixed to be the prisoner Crossfield, did go,
upon the duy mentioned by the witnesses, k
think one of them said the fourth of Septem~
ber, to three different brass-founders, and
did there apply to have a brass tube made, of
a particular description, which they gave
when they went to the first man ; and thoughy
they desired to have a cylinder very correct,
and very exact, yet they did not think fit to
disclose the occasion for which they wanted
this cylinder, in which there is certainly an
air of mystery. It appears that when they
were at another brass-founder's, they said
that it was wanted for something belonging
to an electrifying machine belun?ng to Up-
ton ; if it had really been wanted for that pur-
pose, one can hardly see a good reason why
there should be any.secrecy when they were
at the first brass-foundcr“)s .

It appears too, that three ns, one of
whom imom to be CrossﬁelJ(lbe lame man,
Uptan, is, I think, spoken to by all of them)
went afterwards to Hill's, to get a model made
for part of something ; perhaps when you com-
s:re that part of the evidence with the evi-

ence arising from the application to one of
the brass-founder’s, it may be explained how
they camo \o apply for. this_woodeu snodel 3
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u recollect one of the brass-founders said,
could not undertake to make it unless they
would produce him a model, or a pattern ;
they asked him whether a rocket case would
pot do? he said it might do if it was closed at
the ends ; whether that would or not have
done I do not know, but they did not agree
there, and the question is whether that did
not suggest the hint for getting somethin
done in wood from whence the brass-wor
might be cast, which was afterwards to be
made use of? three persors went upon this
errand ; there is a question in the evidence
whether Crossfield ought to be taken to be
consenting to what was done at that time,
sy, ing he was there; and the witness,
Psm,‘ has certainly introduced circum-
stances to render it doubtful, though all these
threé persons were l;:resent, whether more
than one of them took any part, for he would
have you to understand that it was an acci-
dental meeting of the three; |that Crossfield
and he were dining together, that they went
to Upton's only for the sake of his getting his
walcg‘mand that it was merely by accident,
they bein ing into the city, that they
ith Upton ; and perhaps the situation
of the different places they went to may in
some measure correspond with that, for they
seem to have begun in New-street, then to
have gone to Shoe-lane, and then to Cock-
lane, which seerns to be all in one direction.
Oa the other hand, though Palmer hag said
this, there certainly are circumstances fit for
your consideration, to fix if not upon Palmer,
at lcast upon the other two, the having a good
deal to do with the transactions at these brass-
founders, and particularly atHill’s ; one of the
brass-founders told you that one of the men,
who could not be Palmer, for he disavows it,
and who was not the lame man, asked in what
time the thing would be finished, which could
be nothing to him, unless he had somethin
to do with the general purpose for whicg
they went there ; and as to the transaction at
Hill's, both Hill and Palmer say that this
man, who turns out now according o the
evidence of Palmer to be Crossfield, did take
some part in muking the sketch by which
Hill was to work ; now that seems very in-
consistent with the notion that it was purely
an accidental meeting, and they were
there only as companions to Upton, who was
doing his own business, without any partici-
pation whatever with them in that business ;
o be sure it is not absolutely impossible that
when an aukward sketch was magu'ng, a man
who was not immediately concerned in it
might take a pen and make a stroke; how-
ever, it is a circumstance that is to be weighed
in the case upon the whole of the evidence,
as tending to show that these three persons
were at all these places for the purpose of
procuring, first of all, this brass cylinder to be
made; and in the next place procuring the
model to be made, from whence s brass cy-
linder was to be made by some other person.
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Supposing you see reason to belicve that
this prisoner was consenting to that which
was doing at threse houses, principally by Up-
ton, that he was there consenting to it, and
taking partin it; the consequence would be
that then there would be evidence for your
consideration to prove that there was an
agreement by the prisoner among others, for
the procuring an instrument to be made, which
constitutes a part of one of the overt acts;
and that there was by the prisoner, as well as
by others, an actual employment of Hill to
make a part of this instrument ; another, and
the most material part of the overt act is the
purpose for which it was to be made; the
whole of the overt act must be proved, and
the evidence will or will not amount to such
proof, as it shall or shall not turn out to your
satisfﬁction, that the purpose for which this
instrument was to be e was, to assassinate
the king; asto which this part of the evidence
has noapplication ; you are referred therefore
to declarations which have been made by this
prisoner when he was out of this country,
when a prisoner on board a prison-ship, as
evidence sufficient to satisfy you for what
purpose he had agreed with ‘the others to get
this instrument prepared, and to get Hill to
exccute the model.

The evidence that you have heard, is from
four different witnesses; John Le Bretton,
Thomas Dennis, James Winter, and Richard
Penny. It bas been observed with great
truth that the accounts are not uniform, that
sometimes he spoke of having attempted to
assassinate the king, at other times of baving
invenicd an instrument for the purpose of as-
sassinating the king, at other times of having
actually shot at the i&ing, and of an intention
to shoot at him; these declarations unques-
tionably are not uniform, they are also open
to the objection that they are very extrava-
gant in their nature, probably some of them

alse ; that it would be excessively absurd in
a man in the situation of the prisoner to use
such expressions, if he were guilty ; almost as
absurd as to use them, if he was not guilty;
and it would be very difficult to imagine that
he should do that. They assist that observa-
tion by what is very fairly argued for the

risoner ; that a man of a light wild cast, sub-
Ject to be intoxicated, a talking rattling mas
if he did say any thingeof this sort, would
hardly be supposed to be serious in what he
said; or mean to expose himself to a charge of
30 heavy a nature, as that which these decla~
rations will jmport. You will be disposed to
give a great of weight to the observation
which arises upon the nature of those decla-.
rations ; on the otherhand, undoubtedly there
is a most remarkable coincidencein every one
of these declarations, with respect to the na-
ture of the instrument which he talks of, and
the manner in which it was to_be used; for
the accouants given by all the four witnesaes
speak of a dart to be blown thr::ﬁh. a tube,
and the use of it to be as expre in these
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declarations, for the purpose of assassinating
the king. )

A man may have a bad habit of talking
very wildly and extravagantly, but to account
for these declarations without imputing guil
there must be an impression upon the mi
of the prisoner almost to insanity ; otherwise,
how is it to be believed that he, an innocent
man, should always recur to this, that this
should always make a part of, or be referred
to in these declarations, that there was an
air-gun he had invented, which was to ope-
rate by the means of throwing a dart by the
effect of condensed or inflammable air.

Gentlemen, those declarations have been
as it scems to me improperly called confes-
sions, they are not properfyetconfessions which
import a particular charge first made, and an
acknowledgment of that charge; they are de-
clarations made by the prisener at different
times, upon different occasions ; which declar-
ations referring to former existing facts, are
the explanation and connexion of thuse fa
which serve to make those facts intelligible;
whatever question may have arisen at any
time respecting the admission of confessions
in high treason, I take it that there never was
a question made whether when facts had been
stated, the explanation of those facts might
ot be taken from the mouth of the prisoner.
According to the rulesof evidence what a pri-
soncr has said respecting a particular fact is
admissible evidence, not in the nature of a
confession, but as evidence of the particular
fact; and that it is therefore agrecable o the
general law of evidence to receive such decla-
rations in all cases whatever, in order to ex-
plain and to establish the true state of any
matter of fact which is in dispute, or the sub-
Ject of inquiry beforea jury ; as far, therefore,
&3 regards the admitting these declarations of
this prisoner asevidence for your censideration,
1 have no doubt in stating it to youlas my
opinion in poing of law ;—if my brother and

r. Recorder see any reason to hesitate upon
it, they will give you their opinion;—but I
#ee no reason to doubt, but that all these de-
clarations are evidence in law, in order
to explain the facts that had been beforestated,
and to give them their proper sense and their
proper bearing ; and the only question will be
as to the effect of them, and whether they do
or do not sufficicntly satisfy you (it being first
established to your satisfaction that this pri-
soner was one of those who were concerned
in going to these people, and using the means
to get an instrument prepared, both by in-
quiry for a cylinder, and also by bespeaking
a model), I say, whether they do or do not
sufficiently satisfly you for what purpose that
cylinder was procured, and for what purpose
those parts of that instrument were ordered
to be made; whether for the purpose, that
when the instrument was completed, it should
be used for the dan and traitorous pur-
pose m:lputed by the present indictment.

Gentlemen, this is to be inferred princi-
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pally from the substance of the evidence of
the prisoner’s declarations; but on the part of
the prosecution they have also endeavoured
to strengthen that inference, by showing yom
in evidence, what the conduct of the prisvper
has been; and they say, and they say truly,
if they make out that the conduct of the
prisoner has been, that he has either ori-
gli:ully withdrawn himself from justice, or
that he has taken pains to secrete himself

from justice, after he was ;s that
those are circumstances which do at least it
fera conmol?m of very

It, and
:.’heteol;-e tl?: other reason ass for the con-
uct party, very much corrobora
and supporting the c of the
guilt that is imputed to him.

You have heard & number of obser~
vations upon the particular parts of thé evi-
dence, as to the prisoner’s conduct, reugect-
ing his originally withduwin{ himself from
this couatry ; it will be a point for you to se-
tisfy yourselves about, whether he did with-

draw from this country under the apprehen-
sions of being involved in this charge, or whe-
ther he withdrew from this country merely

on account of the pressure of his circum-
stances ; they conclude on the part of the
Pprosecution, that he withdrew from this coun-
try on account of this charge, and they do
it upon the ground principally of Pal
mer’s evidence. Palmer having represented
that he and Crossfield went away to Bristol
soon sfter Le Maitre and Higgins were
taken up, and that though they returnedagain,
he never returned to his old lodgm
but went to Wapﬁinﬁ; and that he k&
the place where he lodged a secret, even
from Palmer, which is a circumstance that is
a little difficuit to account for, considering the
intimacy he admits to subsist between
considering that Palmer communicated to
Crossfield that the privy council kad made
inquiry after him, and that he had undertaken
to produce him before the privy council, and-
he knew that Crossfield did not choose to
before the privy council : they infer that

true reason for his not going to his former
Mtp':ﬁ was because he wished tosecrete him-
self’; that the true reason for his going after
wards onboard theshi wasbecause he wished
to get out of the reach of the privy councils
the circumstance of Palmer not knowi
where he lodged, can hardly be accounted for
in any other way, than by Palmer’s not wish-
ing to know it; to be sure ifhe had known
it, 1t would be more difficult to avoid those
inquiries that might be made after Crossfield,
he having undertaken to produce him.

Un the other hand, opposcd to this, is the
account given on the part of the prisoner by
his witnesses, that in truth he ori ::{!ly
withdrew from London only in order to settle
at Bristol if it should appear eligible ; that he
came back to London and lived publicly at
no means to conceal himself,

Wapping, usin|
Pt ity offered bg accident of

till am oppor




2177 Jor High Treason.
ing on board captain Clarke’s ship, and that
went on beard because he not stay

in this country, baving been obliged to assign
the whole of hi perty for the benefit of
his creditors, Tbefwt,withcl;:xecttothﬂ,
d s partly upon the it due to
mer’s evidence, and more especially to
Mrs. Smith’s evidence, because she took upon
herself to say, that Captain clarke mentioned
bis wasting a surgeen in the presence of
Crossfield, and that Croesfield said perhaps
he might go with him-~the credit of Mrs.
Saith will depend wpon whether you think
she is & fair witness speaking the truth,
or whether you think she comes under that
bias iugmed,hy Dennis in particular, and the
other witness, that she coines resolved to say
whatever she could for the benefit of this
man; that is a point entirely for you to
settle ; if this man withdrew from the
that he thought himself in of being appre-
bended under this ¢ , that is a strong
corroboration of all the rest of the evidence.
On the other hand, if he withdrew from the
mere pressure of his circumstances, be will
avoid all the inferences that have been made
from his conduct in that particular. Then as
to the rest of his conduct, he appears by the
evidence of onc of his own witnesses, when he
was on board the prison-ships, to have been
& man of dangerous principles by the lnns:nﬁe
he beld, by the republican songs which he
sung, and above all by that republican son
which islaid hefore you. Gentlemen, it woul
Dot be fair in pointof atgument (and in times
like these we feel the full force of the objec-
tion), to draw a partieular conclusion in
mof of a particular offence, from & man’s
ing tainted with such unhappy yrlnciyila ;
therefore, upon this evidence I lay very little
stress. Upon the whole of the evidence of
the prisoner’s conduct while he was
abroud, it does not appear to me to afford any
answer to this charge. When it is urged to
be a-strong corroboratien of it‘”perbaps it
hardly goes quite to that length, being, in the
result of it rather evidence of character, than
of matter of fact referable to this ¢ 2
When the prisoner returned to England, and
when he was apprehended in consequence of
Winter’s information, his conduct seems to
be more difficult to be reconciled with his in-
nocence, and there is no contrariety im the
evidence with respect to thai, for it is estab-
lished against him that he would have bribed
an officer to have let him go; and he talked
in & way which leads one fo suppose that he
would not have hesitated to have done some-
thing worse, in order to have got out of the
custody he was then in.

This cannot be accounted for by supposing
he was under any apprehension of being
sent to gaol dy his tors, for there was no
reason to suppose this was a ¢ made

inst him by creditors: on the other hand,
the circumstances plainly deneted he was
under & charge of a very different nature.
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Constables, not a commaon officer, came for
him by the name of Crossfield ; he certainly
answered 1o the name of Crosshe ; it would
have been vain indeed to deny his name at
that time. Under those circumstances, he
made that offer, which certainly is imputable
to him asl evidgnc; ofa co‘t:lsciousned :ls of vu”
t guilt; whether it applies directly to
mf this charge against him which is
;:ivunder your consideration is for ywr
ent.
ntlemen, considering the declarations of
the prisoner as evidence sufficient in ity na-
ture to prove the use and application of the
instrements that were proposed to be made, §
am of opinion thet, upon the whole case be-
fere you, there is evidence proper to be sub-
mitted to your consideration to prove the two
overt acts to which I bave applied the evi.
dence on this indictment. Though I state to
you that there is evidence for your considera.
tion, it would not be for me, after: having
beard his defence and commented upon it, to
state, that the evidence is sufficient to satis
your consciences-—that is your business;
only say, that in law the evi will be suffi-
cient to be left to nlveout consideration to prove
the overt acts, unkess he gives a sufficient an-
swer. Now, then, the question will be, what
answer the prisoner has made: hehasansweted
partly by very able observations from his couns
sel, partly by evidence. The learned counsel
(Mr. Adam) who opened his case told you,
that he ht with him into this cause no
other duties than those of the advocate-—I
think he did not do himself justice when he
said that, for I think from his mabher of
treating the subject, he brought with him the
duties of & good subject and of a good eitiken;
one whom hothing could tempt to éndeavour
to sap the foundations of the law and the eon-
stitution of the country under which we live ;
he admitted distinctly that the enly question
was, whether the were guilty of the
fact,—whether any of the overt ects were
sufficiently proved. To the first and most
general o tieon made for the prisoner,
that as the crimme is enotmous, and dreadfully
enormous indeed it is, so the proof ought %o
be clear, I most cordially subscribe.
m::l:wuponthe Kamcuhr: olar ‘:lml:et:lom‘tr the
o

evidence I shall leave themt to your consider-
ation with only one observation upon them,
which is, that- observations upon detached

arts of evitlence ¢an seldom go for much,
Eemuse the fact that results is not frem an,
one particular plece of evidence, but it
from the whole evidence takenr together—
from the chain of cirgumstantes which a
great number of facts given in evidence do
ultimately form ; from thence most frequestly
the fact results Whid:ti:elthetl:‘m‘llt porgof in
the cause, it is ve any
one parti piec?ofe idence, and thetefore
1 cannot admit that it ¢an tly be said

kmnmylhhgwbkhpmedat first brass
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founder’s, and at the second, and so on, con-
veyed no proof? it certainly did convey proof
which was material, but only material because
it wasalink in the chain which was after-
wards to be formed upon which the general
result was to be taken. You have certainly
been addressed with a great many very proper
and weighty considerations upon the nature
of the declarations, of the confessions as they
were called, of the prisoner; you have heard
them, and will give them all the weight they
deserve. I am inclined togoasfarasl ros-
sibly can, with respect to all possible allow-
ances that can be made for such declarations
as are here given in evidence, allowing for the
possible mistake of the rarty who made these
declarations in point of lan, and expres-
sion, and sllowing for mistake in point of ap-
prehension of the party who hears the declar-
ation ; - with all these allowances still the
question will be whetber, in respect of the co-
incidence which I have observed upon, you
can explain the whole of these declarations,
and avoid making the conclusion from them,
that this man did distinctly acknowledge that
he was one of the three that had contrived an
instrument which was to be emK!oyed for the
purpose of assassinating the king. If you
are of opinion that these declarations, upon
the strength of the observation made by the
counsel, have ‘not sufficient weight in your
minds, and do not satisfy your consciences

of course, without going farther, there would
be an end of Lhis c;‘:e ;%ecwu. undoubtedly,
the case rests botls upon the credit and upon
the effect of those declarations made by the
prisoner: if the observations made by the
counsel should not have sufficiently explained
away these declarations, you will then consi-
der how far the facts laid before you in evi-
dence on the part f the prisoner will assist
these observations, or will defeat the effect of
this evidence.

They begin by mllinf to you witnesses to
prove that the whole of this charge originated
in malicey conceived by one Upton, who is
not here, against Higgins, Le Maitre, and
Smith, in conseluence of a quarrel that they
bad in a club, which they called the London
Corresponding Socicty ; and they have cer-
tainly given evidence that there was a quar-
rel, which ﬁroceeded to a considerable length ;
it is enough, without going into the particu-
lars of it, to state that there was such a quar-
rel; but the difficulty in this part of the case is,
supposing that this was clearly established,
(and let 1t have what weight it will when
those persons with whom this man is proved
to have quarrelled shall come before a jury
to be tried), what application can it have to
the present case ? because, if you are to sup-
pose this whole . charge originated in that
quarrel, what is to become of all those cir-
cumstances which have an immediate aEpli-
cation to the prisoner Crossfield, with whom
Upton has not quairelled. Recollect the ob-
servation which was made by the attorney-
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gonl, and which does bear directly against
is prisoner, because with him there was no
quarrel, that it would be the strangest thi

in the world if all these circumstances, whi:E
are in evidence inst Crossfield, should
have bhappened by accident, Crossfield
baving no wanner of implication in the
business; and that he should have made
any of these declarations which are in
evidence, when in truth there was no
bottom at all to any part of the case~when
this whole business originated in a quarrel
between other people ; if the case were other-
wise, and there was really a foundation for the
charge, but the charge had first been brought
against Higgins, Le Maitre, and Smith, in
consequence of a quarrel, that would make
the whole case intelligible. The attor-
ney-general’s observations certainly deserve
weight; for it might he, that though Upton
brought forward this charge in order to vent
his malice against these people, yet that it
was a charge founded in fact, in which this
prisoner was implicated : how to reconcile it
to that which is now suggested, that it is all
invention is to me, I confess, totally impossi-

ble; if you can do it, he will have the advan-

of it.

ta§$(>s't.lle purpose of explaining the conduct
of Crossfield at Brest,p and fn his pa:

home, they have called two witnesses, of the
name of Cleverton and Collins. I feel it dif-
ficult to state to you any direct result from
that evidenee; in truth the two witnesses do
not agree in their representation of this
man’s conduct ;—Cleverton admits him to
have gone strange lengths, tbottlgh he never
happened to hear any of those things which
the other g le have charged him with hav-
ing said : lgins, on the other hand, repre-
sents him as an orderly decent man, discover-
ing no enmity, no aversion to the government
simply blaming the war, and he certainly
speaks of him handsomely in other parts of

- his conduct, at the same time that he was in

his private character light, apt to drink and
to rattle, but upon the whole he describes him
as an innocent subject, and as a man in some
respects of great merit: these two wi
therefore, differing a deal in their testi-
mony, it is difficult to draw any particular re-
sult from their evidence a plicable to this
case; the utmost that can be made of it is
that, sometimes, in some companies, he did
sing republican songs, in others he did not—
that in some places he was reserved and care-
ful of his conduct, in others not so. There this
must rest, except as to the effect of what I
censider as a very good character given of
him by Mr. Collins.

I have already observed to you upon the
evidence of Mrs. Smith, and upon the evi-
dence of Mr. Palmer, whose evidence has
been used for the prisoner, to constitute a de-
fence upon that part of the case which respects
the proﬁbility of this man’s having fled forit,
when the accusation sgainst Le Maitre,



Higgins, and Smith was made. I do not
think I can add any thing, therefore you will
Judge of it; I mention-it now only as beinfl a
part of the defence, you will consider what
effect it ought ta have.

They then proceeded to establish the cha-
racter of this prisoner, which is certainly a
proper head of evidence, sometimes ex-
tremely useful, sometimes of weight enouih
almost to weigh down any thing that can be

, said against a man. With regard to this per-
son’s character, they do not carr{ ita great
way; they represent him as a light man,
a man of levity of maners, very careless, apt

to drink, and distressed in his circumstances,
but Fomi natured, humane, and as they think
not likely to do an ill thing. And I think it
right to add here Collins's account, which I
think goes as much in favour of his character
as any part of the evidence; because a man
who will in such a situation as he and every
Enil‘i’:!:‘rrisoner werein, whenrequested, come
on a sick ship, and devote his time and
attention to the care of a crew who were not
able to pay him, and will take upon him a se-
vere duty, and be thereby the means of saving
a great many lives, has in that respecta great
deal of merit, and indeed, such a character as
they describe him to be of, in other respects
is a character which leads one to be surpri
that a man of that description should enter
into such a conspiracy as this is, for undoubt-
edly it is the conspiracy of dark and malig-
nant minds, «nd very unlike that of a man of
the character which they prove him to bear.
I can only say with respect to this, that in
some cases good habits, manners, and princi-
ples are tainted and corrupted by circum-
stances ; and I am afraid that nothing has
done more towards corrupting them than the
effusion of modern political principles, which
have unsettled men’s minds, and have pre-
pared them to conceive that new duties belon,

to them, and to entertain but loose notions o

the means by which the speculative good that
they proposeto effect may be brought about :
whether any such circumstances have entered
into this business or no I do not know ; this
man was in a situation, certainly, to be deeply
tinctured with republican notions: and the

could not be carried into the excessinto whic

they are carried in_that song—that execra-
ble composition, which was laid before you—
without a dercliction of all principle, without

a man's having by degrees prepared himself

to become, from a humane, tender, d-

man, capable of doing friendly offices
and bearing his part in the society in which
he lives—to become a downright monster—

not a citizen, not a mano, but, I repeat, a

downright monster.

Gentlemen, I shall have dischar, my
duty when 1 bhave told you, that the ew-
dence which is before you is evidence proper
for your consideration, as proof of these
overt acts. I should think you would be
disposed, principally to-confine your atten-
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tion to the evert act, as to the instrument last
described in the indictment ; my rcason for
thinking so is this, because, if I recollect
right, there is but one witness that speaks of
this instrument to be put in operation for the
purpose of throwing a poisoned dart, and that
witness is Winter. Now, independent of all
objection which might arise from there being
but one witness to this fact, there certainly
are some ezceptions to Winter’s testimony ;
and if it stands alone, with regard to the cir-
cumstance of the poisoned dart, it would be a
difficult thing, perhaps, for you to satisfy
yourselves to rely upon his evidence as to that
part of the case; but the instrument more
generally described remains the substance of
another overt act, proved by other witnesses
as well as by Winter, upon which, therefore,
it seems to me that it would be the safer
course for you to proceed. The observation
was fair with to Winter, that though
he might be a very flighty man, yet that he
must ﬁave received some impression from
what passed between him and Crossfield, im«
porting some charge against Crossfield, of a
very criminal nature, from the circumstance
that he immediately, on his coming on shore
went and gave information before a justice,
and that circumstance is corroborative, at
Jeast, of the evidence of the other witaesses,

_though it may not be sufficient to entitle him

on account of the natural infirmity beloniing
to him, to full and entire credit, for the whole
evidence he has given, and, I think it would
not be right to press his evidence much far.
ther. I conclude, therefore, whatI have to
offer to your consideration by stating to you,
that in consideration of law, the train of evi-
dence, which has been laid before you, is suf-
ficient to be submitted to your judgment as
proof, by two sufficient witnessess, of these
two overt acts the consriring to pre an
instrument, pot particularly described for the
purpose of destroying the king; and the hav-
u;_g employed Hill to make a model for a part
of such instrument.

With regard to the weight of the evidence
as sufficient, or not sufficient to satisfy your
judgment as to the truth of it, and as to the
entire effect of it, that is exclusively your pro-
vince, and I have never an inclination to in-
terfere with the province of a jury, upon any
subject, and least of all upon a subject of this
nature, in which the interests of the publicare
80 deeply involved, and in which the life of
an individual is concerned; it is a sacred
trust reposed 1y You. And now, gentlemen,
after having heard all that can be said upon
this subject it is your prevince to make true
deliverance betwecn our sovereigu lord the
king, and this prisoner at the bar.

The Jury withdrew at six o’ clock to consider
of their verdict, they returned into court
twenty minutes before eight, with a ver-
dict of Not Guirrr.

The prisoner was immediately discharged,
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Thursday, May 19th 1796,

Paul Thomss Le Maitre, John Smith, and
George Higgins were set to the bar.

The first twelve gentlemen in the panel
who ap‘pwed, we:&es:om as ttk:eJ ury; tk:;
Clerk of Arraigns charged the jury wi
the prisoners in the usual form.

Mr. Attorney General—Gentlemen of the
Jury ; —In the discharge of my official duty, I
felt myself bound, under the then circum-
stances of the case, to l‘f before a grand jury
of the country, an indictment against the

isoners at the bar for high treason. The

w has ordained that no man shall be indicted
or tried for that offence, unless there are two
witnesses to an overt act, or one witness
10 one overt act, and one witness to another
overt act of the same species of treason.

1 had oocasion to lay befere & jury a case
against a person, who was indicted together
with those now at the bar.  Upon that trial I
stated what I believed to be a fact, which had
been very niceol‘y examined into, thet a person
of the name of Upton wasdead. In conse-

vence of a conviction that he was so, I stated
te that jury, that it was not in my power to
uce him.

In the course of that trial some suggestion
was made, that that person was living, in con-
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sequence of which I have thought it my duty
to m%uire farther into the subject. Itisim.
possible for me to n{, that contrivance may
not elude the most diligent, and the best con-
ducted enquiry; but I am satisfied, as well
as I can of any such fact, that that
man is not in existence: being so satisfied,
the lay informs me, that the prisoners ought
not to be put on their trial, and that they
ought not to be put in jeopardy, unless there
be that quantity of evidence, which is required
by law in this sort of case—It is therefore,
my duty not to give you the trouble of hearing
insufficient evidence, and the prisoners at the
bar are therefore entitled to that acquittal,
which, in consideration of law will make them
innoceat.

. At thesame time I am bound to say, that
if it shall hereafter appear that those, who
have come forward in the most solemn man.
ner to induce the belief of that man’s death,
have practised an imposition, and have de-
prived the country of the benefit of that man’s
testimony ; and the person, who has been tried,
and those who now stand upon their deliver,
ance, of an opmunity of meeting it, I'shall
hold self od, if I continue in the
office which I at present unworthily fill, to
bring those persons to condign punishmeat.

The Jury found the prisoners Nor Gorrry—
and they were immediately discharged,
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PROCEEDINGS
ON THE ‘

TRIALS OF THE DEFENDERS. '

612. Trial of James Werpon for High Treason, béﬂ)re the
Court holden under a Commission of Oyer -and Termi-
ner and General Gaol Delivery in and for the County

of the City of Dublin,

in the Kingdom of Ireland, on

Monday December 21st, and Tuesday December 22nd:
36 Georce III. A. p. 1795.*

{Comx1sston.— Monday, December 14£h, 1795,

Mr.BaxonGeorgemns the)u:goofthe
commission, and Mr.
Justice Chamberlain and Mr.
Finucane,

IN the latter end of the month of August
1795, several persons were taken ioto cus-
tody in the city of ‘Dublin upon charges of
high treason, and in the ensuing commis-
sion of Oyer and Terminer held in Oc-
tober, Vills of indictment were preferred

them and others not then in cus-
tody, which were returned by the Grand
Jury to be true bills.

prisoners in custody were then
bror httothebarofthecounfonhe pur-
pose of having counsel and agents assigned.
—They were severally called upon to name
their own counsel and and such as
}hﬁz named were assigned by the Court, as

ollows :

Counsel for Thoras Kennedy, George Lewis,

Patrick Hart, Rdward Hanlon, Thomas Cooke,

John Low -—Hesu-s Cuarran_[afterwards
. Master of , and M¢Nally.
Agent.—Mr. A lﬁl‘d
Cuuml  for Thomas Michsel Ma-

irev.- Mosers, M/Nally and Lysaght,
gm gm —Mr. M. Keumyey vioe
Counsel for Henry Flood.—Messrs. Fletcher
sajudgeofthecourtof(}ommon

Ageut —Mr. g Flood.

In the interval between the October com-
mission and the present, a person of the
name of James Weldon was apprehended
upon a charge of high treason, and he,
together with such as had been previously

* Taken by William Ridgeway, esq. barris-
tor at law.
VOL. XXVL

in custody, were served with copies of the
indictments and the captions f, five
days before the first day of this commis-

Thls day the prisoners who had been in
custody at the last. commission were seve-
rall ed and pleaded Not Guxlty »

u thg y p:;:ob the oy f

r. eway moved that the caption o
the indictment might be read. The Court
ordered it to be read, but the clerk of the
crown said beforhag;tdnot in court: whereupon
it was sent being broughtin, it

to be on paper.~The counsel thau?:
objected toits bemghrud and moved that the
indictment be quas| edformtofsupﬁon .
He said the on vught to make part of
the record, and beannesed tothe indictment.
Hereitis neither—the capti isupon pcper,
whereu the reeordsthzf is couﬂare:;dw;
pcrchmt as theindictment is,
c;puon hereis detachedfrom the indictusent.
In several cases in the State Trials, in the
rebels casein Fost.4 28,and in Hardy’s case,}
the caption and indictment form one conti-
nued narrative, and it would be absurd, if it
were otherwise. In Fost. 4,§ the cupuon
sute& “ the bill hereunto annexed is a true
bill, &c.”

Mr. Attorney Generel}—My lords, the

prisoner hls been served with a copy of the

® The prisaners had upon the ﬁmdtyof
the October commission, presented petitions
stating that they were m:{fot their trial,

and praying they might be tried in that com-
mmﬁﬁ. Ed.

+ Ant2, Vol. 18, p. 830.
Asnté, Vol. 24, P 25 2924,
g Anté Vol. 18, p
|| Arthur Wolfe afterwuds Viscount Kil-
warden, and Lord Chief Justice of the court
of ng’s Bench,

Q
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caption and of the indictment, which is all
that is required. He bas no right to_look
into the record. He might as well ohjec
that the indictment consisted of sev
skins of ent, when it is 00 Jong to
be contained in one. .

The Clerk of the Crown said, that the

tion did make part of the record.

r. Ridgeway ~1If the officer assert as a
fact, what every man who has sight must
be convinced is not so, I know not how
10 answer. . X i
- The Coxrt said, that upon this point,
they must be satisficd with the averment
. ir officer, and desired him to proceed

und rea the caplion. ]
- This was sccordingly done, after which
the indictment was read, and the prisoner
1 .was asked, was he guilty, or not ?
.+ Mr. Ridgeway saul he intended to plead
- that there was no caption to the indict-
ment,but that his client wished for his trial
and instructed him to waive objections in
point of form, which he had thought it his
- duty lo state. .
prisoner then pleaded Not Guilty.

James Weldon was then'put to the bar,
. and desired to name his counsel; he named

Mr. Cwrran and Mr. M‘Nally, who were

accordingly assi to bim:—Immedi-

ately after this, t Clt'l:k of the Crown was
praceeding to arraign the prisoner.—

Mr. M‘%cllya—hiy lonl‘;n;o:hjec( to the

r's being arraigoed at this time; I
K:u only been assi this momu‘xs it
is impossible I could be pre, to advise
him in his plea. It may be said, he was
served with a copy of the indictment; but
I apprebend, counsel are not at liberty to
consult with a prisoner in custody for trea-
son, until they are assigned ; therefore, I
submit, he o::ﬁlll:dto be allowed five days
before he is upon to plead.
Mr. Attorney General.—My lords, if the
. isoner want time to prepare for his de-
: m. I bave no objection to any thing that
is ressonable. He might have consulted
with counsel after the copy of the indict-
ment was served upon him ; for although
only two counsel are allowed to plead in
court for him, yet he may have as many to
advise with as he pleases, and directions
w.;'o given, that counsel should be admitted
to him.
Mr. Justice Chamberlain.—In fact this
man has not had counsel assigned till this
morning, and as the Attorney General does
::‘t“mm to ohjec:}t',i I think it would be
r to L] t.

Mr. Ju;’:l?teepof?:mccnc.«!fhe act of par-
liament is not ptory as so the assign-
ment of counsel hefore pleading.

Mr. Baron George—No objection is
made to allowing the prisover time.

Mr, Attorney General then said, heintend-
ed to have Weldon tried-fiyst, and therefore
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all the other trials must be postponed. He
mentioned Saturday for the arraignment
and trial of Weldon, which day was accord-
ingly appoinled. But on Fridsy Mr. At-

torney General moved o pastpone the trial

to Monday, lest an objection should be

made, that the prisoner not five clear
]

r. Baron George.—There is another
reason for postponing the trial ; if it began
on Saturday, itmight last lill Sunday, which
might be ive of inconvenience.
Therefore let the trial stand for Monday.}

Monday, December 31,

The prisoner being put to the bar, Mr.
M‘N-l} applied to hava the caplion read.

Mir. Attorney [

pr ve

the caption read, he has anattested copy, and
can avail himself of that. P

Mr. M‘Nally cited Fost. 2. 298. 230, to
show that the caption is necessary to assist
the prisoner in pleading.
The Court said the caption ought to be read.
The prisoner must be furni with a copy
of the whole record; how can he know whe-
Aher he has such a copy unless the whole re-

co{dﬁb: i accordingly read, and
mnnon was ap-
and

Boneted to the Todictment] T+

“ Be it remembered thatatan adjournment
“ of a commission of oyer and terminer and
« general gaol dcllva?hekl in and for the
“ county of the city of Dublin io that part of
“ the kng’s courts Dublin where the court of
“ kinF’s ch usually sits on Monday the
« 26th day ef Oclober in the year of our Lord
¢ God one thousand seven hundred and nimety
“ five and in the t;i:;y—nixth year of the reign
“ of our sovereign lord George the Third king
“ of Great Britain France and Ireland De-
« fender of the Faith and soforth before Wil-
“ liam Worthin, lord mayor of the said
“ city Michael Smith esq. one of the barons
‘“ of his majesty’s court-uf exchequer in the
‘ said kingdom of Ireland Mathias Finucanc
“ esq. one of the justices of his maej
“ court of Common Pleas in the said king-
“dom of Ireland and Denis
‘: one other ofth; barons ofu: said court
‘ exchequer in the kingdom of Ireland,
¢ others, their fellow justices and
“ gioners of our said ing i
“ the whole county of the said city
“ assigned by the lettess
“ lord the king under
‘ said kingdom of

:

“ then being .
¢ Ireland, and the chancellor of the said lopd




229)
‘e thckladdnuidki for  the time
“ enr) Richard carl
“bdguﬂ

of

wmphrey earl ofhnabmv‘t:,gh
« Richard lord viscount Fitze William sir Wil-
% liam York them beiog chancellor of the
Prleariighergviur ol '
L ) ! o
“dmee‘l.hrofthouif:‘mlbe king'o&his
« court of Exchequer time being War-
« den Flood then being. chief justico of the
+ court of chief place.ol owr said jord the king
« in his said kingdo justi
- of his said court of chief place
« boine Rickard Rigt
“mnﬁnuid i
« the rolls in the said ki
» being Richard Aston then being chief justice
“ of the courtof Cemmon-pleas of our said lord
 Jenioe 5 the o “"'of"c..,""“.mx" o biess forthe
© justice oot or the
« tisne being Edward Willis then being chief
* baron of the court of Ex of the said
“ lord the king and the chiet baron of the
“ said comrt o for the time being
¢ Richard Mountney being second baron
,% of the said court of Ex: Arthur Daw-

of the said couet of Com-
mh‘:lfthenbeingthird
# justice Common-pleas
# Christopher Robinson then being second
“i of the said court of Chief Place Wil-
“ Jizsm Scott then being third justice of the
# said court of Chief Place and the justices ,of
¢ the said courtsof ChiefPlace, and Common-
“ mdthcbuw‘:lof&h:hund mt: of
“ respectively time being
“ and in the said letters named to in-
# quire by the outhe of snd lawful men
s of the said county of the city of Dublin
“and by other ways means and methods
“ whereof the truth may the better be known
¢ as well within liberties as without of all
4 treasons misprision of tresson insurrec-
# tions rebellions coumterfeits clippings wash-
. anlawful and other falsifying
of Great Britsin or other money
e prings ndof all e
- oy h
“mmWnu killings mbbcines
- Jurs } unlaw-
e oyl
¢ vouts crimes deceits injuries es-
“ capes and other offences and causes what-

“ soover as well against the poace and com-
“ mon law of the said ki of Ireland as
“ against the form and of any statute
“ act ondinance or ied made

“ ordained er confirmed by any person or per-
“ sons within the said county of the city of
“ Dublin in any wise done committed or per-
# petrated or thereafier to be done committed
“or trated and of all accessaries 10 the
« o and every of them within the
# said county of the city of Dublin as well
“wﬁhnlibsm::\‘xon by whomsoever
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“and howsoever had done perpetrated or
“ committed by any person or persons upon
“ any person or persous at any time howso-
“ ever and in any manner whatsoever, and
“ that the said treasons and other the premises
“ to hear examine discuss try finish execute
“ and determine according to the laws and
« customs of the said kingdom of Ireland and
“ to deliver the ganl of Newgate in the coomty
“ of the maid city of Dublin of ali the prisoners
“ and malefactors therein as often as occa-
« sion shouM yequire. ' It is presented upon'
“ the oath of twelve and lawful men of
“ the body of the said ceunty of the city of'
“ Dublin whose names here follow that is
Robert Powell Daniel Dickenson
“ James Mills Andrew Cal Hall Lamb
“ James Blacker Richard Witson William-
“ Henry Archer Joshua Manders Robert
“ Ilanna Francis Hamilton' Mark Bloxham
“ Lewes Hodgson John Gorman William
“ Evans Robert Newell William Lindsey
“ Willism Berry John Duncan William
“ Crombic Willam Duncan Richard Cran-
“ field Bladen Sweny in manner and form
“ bere following that is o say

County of the City ) * The jurers of our
of Dublin, to wit. ; “ Jord the kin, ncon
“ their oath present that an open public
“ war on the 20th day of August in the
“ thirty-fifth year of the reign of our sovereign
“ lord George the third by the of God
“ of Great Britain France and Ireland king
“ defender of the faith and soforth and long
“ hefore was and ever since hitherto by lan
“ and by sea and yet is carried on and prose-

“ 15 say

“ cuted by the persons exercising the powers
“ of t in France, a our most
“ serene illustrious and excellent prince our
“ said lord the now king and that James
“ Weldon, of the city of Dublin yeoman in
“ the said county of the city of Dublin a
“ subject of our said lord king of his

“ kingdom of Ireland well knowing the pre.
“ mises but not having the fear of God in his
% heart nor weighing the duty of his allegiance
“ and being moved and seduced by the ‘insti-
“ gation of the devil, as a false traitor of our
“ said lord the king his su e true lawful
“ and undoubted lord the cordial love and true
« obedience which every true and dutiful sub-
“ jectofoursaid meteiEn Jordtheking towards
“ him our said lord the kingshould bear wholly
“ withdrawiog and contriving with all his
“ strength intendingk\he peace and common
« tranqullity of this kingdom ofIreland to dis-
“ turb and the government of our said lord the
“ king of this his kingdom of Ireland to
“ subvert and our said lord the king from the
“ regal state title honour power im

¢ crown and government of this his ki

“ of Ireland to depose and deprive and onr
¢ said lord the king to death and final des-
“ truction to bring he the said James Weldon
 on the 20th day of August in the thirty<ifht
“ year of the reign of our said lord the king

’

&
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“ antl on divers other days and times as well
“ before as afier that day- st Suffolk-street in
¢¢ the parish of St. Andrew in the city of
“ Dublin, and in the county of the said city
“of Dublin aforesaid with force and
:mm falgely wickedly and u-atl:orousl '21;3
cempass imagine and intend the sai
“thelnugthe:gln:d therehis supremetrue and
“ lawful lord of and from the royal state
“ crown title zwer and’ government of this
“ his realm of to depose and 'hokl:lfvl
¢ deprive and the said lord the king to ki
to_death and ‘that to l and
:bnng lobleﬁ‘ect his most ncnv(i!l wicked and
treasonable imaginations compassings
“ aforesaid he the said James Weldon as such
“ false traitor as aforesaid and dunnﬁthe said
::mbetveenpt_nntil;lelotdldngfm the said
Enonsexenmn wersof government
“ Princetowitgntbep:aidsothg:: of Au-
“ gust in the thirty-fifth year of reiﬁn
“ aforesaid at Suffolk-street aforesaid in the
¢ parish aforesaid and in the county of the
“ city of Dablin aforesaid with force and arms
* falsely maliciously and traito did join
*“ unite and assotiate himself to and with di-
* vers false traitors to the jurors unknown and
“ did then and tirere with such false traitors to
¢ the jurors aforesaid unknown enter into and
“ become one of a party and society formed and
¢ associated under the denomination of De-
“ fenders with design and for the end and
< purpose of aiding assisting and adhering to
“ the said persons so exercising the powers of
¢ government in France and so wagin §m.rn
¢ aforesaid against our said sovereign lord the
“ now king m case they should mvade or
“ cause to be invaded this his kingdom of Ire-
“land and afterwards and during the said
“ year between our said lord the king and
“ the said persons so exercising the powers
“of government in France and enemies
“ of our said lord the king on the $0th day
“ of t-in the auJ 85th year of the
“ yeign of our said lord the king and on divers
« other days as well before as after that day
“ with force and arms at Suffolk-street afore-
“ said in the parish of St. Andrew aforesaid
“ and county of the said city of Dublin afore-
¢ said hethe said James Weldon as such false
“ traitorasaforessid infutther prosecution of his
¢ treason and traitorcus aforesaid did
¢ with divers other false traitors whose names
“are to the jurors of our said lord the
“::lg as yet unknown then and there meet
“ assemble to confer treat and consult
“ for and about the adhering to joining aiding
“ and assisting of the said persons exercising
ernment in France as
ng enemies of our said Jord
“the king as aforesaid in case they should
“ invade this his kingdom of Ireland and af-
“ terwards 1o wit on the twentieth day of Au-
“ gust in the thirty-fifth yearof the reign afore-
¢ said ard on divers other days as well before
¢ as after that day with force and armsat Suf-
“ folk-street aforcsmid in the parish of St.
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“ Andrew -dfoveshid in the éity: of Dublin
« aforessid and of tha of Dublin
« aforesaid the said James W. a8 such
“ false tmitor as aforessid in farther

¢ tion of his treason and trzitoreus

« aforesaid did then and there ¥

¢ other false traitore whese names to the said
*¢ jurors are yet unknewn wickedly snd trai-
o associate and unite himself %o and

g
g
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of
“ said thirty-fifth year of the reigo
“ ami oh divers other days and times a3
“ before a8 after that day with force amd
“ at Suffolk-street afovetmid i the parish.

agd
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¢ don as such false fraitor as aferesaid in
“ ther proseeution of his trezson and waito
“ rous did then and theve with divers
¢ other false traitors whose names to-the said
# jurors are yet waknown wickedly and traitor-
# ously associate and wnite with divers ether
¢ false traitorsto the said jovorsas yet unkmown
“ and did along with such falss titors to
* the jurors aforesaid unknown enter iato
“ and become one of a party and seci

“ united and sssocisted ander the

“ nation of Defenders with design sad for
“ the end and purpose of sabveriing and
“ gverturning the protestant religion in
« kingdom by law established and s
“ ctated and united as aforeseid did
“lhmondwenmg:;sudtimu-

g

>

1
gle

“ berate the meuns and memsures: for
« affecting his aforesnid traitorows and mefs-
“ ricus and purposes and afterwards
“to wit on the 20th day of August

4 rish of St. Andvew aferesaid in the ety o
« Dublin aforessid and in the . the
“city of Dublim sforessid the James
« Weldon s sach false traitor s aferessid in
 forther presocution of his tresson sod trat-
« torous purposes saidand then and there
« with divers falve \raitors whoss mames to

i
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“ the said jurors are yet unknown wickedly
“ amd tani inwiuhenlinu:‘rm-
“ cursone William Lamier who aiding and as-
“ sisting to the seid so i

¢ said 35th year of the
“ divess sther days a3 well

James Woldaw for High Transon.

-“ gnd there trai

fore ds after that

¢ enlist the aaid Willi
“ one of a pariy and society formed for

. |« ofsdnu-ur:g' the government of
“ghhki m of I dusol:yhvutl-
n-

“ blished did thea and there tmaitorously e

“eas;ge procure and enlist the said
“ William Lawler to join himself to and be-
“ come one of a party or society formed and

« united for the of subverting the go-
“ vernment of %&hﬂu
¢ law established and ds to wit onthe

“ 10 the said jurors are yet unknown wickedly
“ and traitorously in order to ‘enlist and pro-
“ cure one William Lawler to be aiding and
: 0 9 nfto the oos ine the
powers of government in France ene-
“ mies of our said Jord the king as aforesaid
“in case invade or canse to be
“ invaded this his kingdom of Ireland did then
y administer an unlaw-
« Purpor ollgwing hat ' sy T W linee
“ tistomm |
« ¢ Lawler, of m ovngoodwii{:ndcomnt,
“¢do swear to be true to his majesty king
:: the third, ,vl;"d:.’lxlive t:
same government— swear to
“ ¢ true, auding and assistant to every brother
% ¢ bound to me by this application, and in
“‘weryjkmofmiclezmdniuﬁrum
“ ¢ tion, January 1790—And in every amend-
“ ¢ ment hithmo—Andwillbe:adiemw
“¢my committees, superior commande!
“‘n’tloﬁmhdlhwfulwmeﬁngll:i
“ ¢ not otherwise, nor will I eonlmtola
« ¢ society or apy brother of an unlaw

“ ¢ laws and my committes to
“ ¢ whom I ined brother, nor
“¢in any violation of the laws, but o pro-
“¢tocs my life nn:‘ympcny,andthe

“‘:n“cll psoperties ‘my brothers—Aand [
“ ¢ will subject myself to my committee men
“ ¢ inall lawful ings and not otherwise

B P
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s¢ ¢ government—T likewise swear I will meet
“ ¢ when and where my committee will plense,
“ « and will spend what is pleasing to presi-
4 ¢ dent and company—I will not quarrel nor
‘¢ strike any person whatsomever, knowin,
“ ¢ him to be soch, but will live loving! ms
¢ ¢ ftiendly with every one under that -
“< m:naﬁon—l will xf:ot risc any fight or quar-
“¢rel on account of my present intrus, or
¢ ¢ back that for unto my brotherhood.’
¢ the said jurors of our said lond the kingupon
“ their oath farther present that an open and
“ ic war on the said 20th day of August
“ in the 35th year of the reign of our said lord
“ George the third and soforth and long be-
“ fore and ever since hitherto by land and by
“ sea hath been and is carried on and prose-
“tuted by the said persons exercising the
¢ powers of governmeut in France against our
“ most serene illustrious and excellent prince
“ George the third now kiog of Ireland and
“ goforth And that the James Weldon
"¢ 5 subject of our said lord the king of his
¢« kingdom of Ireland well knowing the pre-
“ mises not having the fear of God in his
“ heart nor weighing the duty of hisallegiance
“ but being moved and seduced by the in-
¢« stigation of the devil as a false traitor
¢ sgainst our most serene and illustrious and
¢« excellent prince Gm the third now ki
“ of Ireland and so and contriving u‘;ﬁ
¢ with all his strength intending the peace of
% this his kingdom of Ireland to disturb and
¢ the government of this his kingdom of Ire-
“ land to subvert be the said James Weldon
¢ on the 20th day of August in the thirty-fifth
« year of the rcign of our said lord the now
“ LnF and on divers other days and times as
“ before as after that day with force and
“ arms at Suffolk-street aforesaid in the pansh
¢ of St. Andrew aforesaid in the cityof Dublin
« aforesaid and coux:'tglof the said aity of Dub-
¢ Jin aforesaid unlawfully and traitorously was
¢ adhering to aidinf,and comforting the per-
.4 sons exercising the powers of government
¢ in France and being enemies of our said lord
“ the king as aforesaid and that in the prose-
-4 cution performance and execution of the
“ said trattorous adhering of him the said
-# James Weldon to the persons exercising the
“ powers of government in France and being
¢ enemies of our said lord the present king to
% wit on the said 20th day of August in the
.4 said thirt{-ﬁﬂb year of the reign aforesaid
-¢ at Suffolk-street aforesaid in the parish
- ¢ aforesaid and in the county of the city of
“ Dublin aforesaid with force and arms falsely
-4 maliciously and traitorously did join unite
“ and associate himself to and with divers
- ¢ false traitors to the jurors as yet unknown
¢ and did then and there with such false trai-
¢ tors to the jurors aforesaid as yet unknown
“ enter into and become one of a party and
“ wcietyfomedmdaswchtedundertgede-
¢¢ pomination of Defenders with d:u;‘fnand for
¢ the purpose of aiding assisting and adhering
“ to the said persons so exercising the powers

And | “ said thirty. fifth year of
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“of government in France and 50 waginjz war
“ as aforesaid with our said soverei the
“ now king incase they should in or cause
“to be invaded this his kingdom of lrclund
“ and afterwards and during the said war be-

“tween our said lord th‘ge g udof\hc smid
“ persoms %0 exercisi wers -
“ ment in France u:llgenemz of our said berd
‘% the king on the 30th day of Augwst in the
reign of our seid
“ lord the king and on divers other days as
“ well before as after that day with force and
“ arms at Suffolk-stroet aforesaid in the.parish
“ of 8t. Andrew aforesaid and souaty of the
“ said city of Dublin aforessid he the said
“ James Weldon as such false traitos asafore-
‘“ said in farther prosecution of his treason and
“ traitorous purposes aforesaid did with divers
“ other false traitors whose names are tothe
¢ jurors of our said lord the king as yot um-
“ known then and there meet and assemble to
“ confer troat and consult for and about the
“ adhering to joining aiding and assisting of
“ the said persons exercising the powers of go-
“ vernment in France ss atoresaid and being
“ encmies of our said lord the king as aforc -
“ said in case they should invade or ¢ause to
“ be invaded this his kingdom of Ireland.” -

The same overt acts were stated in support
of the second count, and in the sasme manner
a8 set forth in the first.—The indictment con-
cluded in this way—* against the duty of the
allegiance of the said James Weldon against
the peace of our said lord the king his
crown and dignity and sgainst the form of
the statute in such case made and provided.”

Clerk of the Crown.—How say you, James
Weldon, are you guilty of this treason in
manner and form as you stand indicted and
arraigned or not? .

Mr. M‘Nally.—My lords, I submit to your
lordships that this indictment must be quash-
ed, the caption annexed to it being illegal
both as to form and ﬁmﬁu . ﬂ:\: st
error that appears upon o cap-
tion, is thst[:t lays no wenue ; itdoesnet show
whether the bill was found b lt)h‘:’gnd jury
of the city or of the county of . 1 am
aware that by a statute this court is taken to
be in the city and the county; locally it is in
the county of Dublin; uﬁ&ully it min ei-
ther; but the caption doesnat set forth any
oounlybien the margin: if it d)d‘;'} admit it
might be uunecessary to repeat that county in
theg caption ; but all that is siated in the body
of the caption is, % the place where King’s.
bench usually sits” without avesring it o be
in the cily of Dublin, where the offence is
supposed to be committed. $ndly. The cap-
tion states an adj t of a session, but
does not state when the vriginel session be.
gan, Str. 865. ¢ Hawk, 369, Srdly. It does
not state that the grand jury were sworn and
charged, 4 Bl. Com. Fost. 4.* 3 Hal. P. C.

* Vol, 18 p. 333 of this Collection.
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Y. 8. 6. 9. The caption states that it
is presented upon the oath of twelve men
that is to say, and it sets out the names of
twenty three ; this is repugnant, for the Jatter
t is contradictory to the former. 4thly.
g“hreeapﬁon does not state t&ee ndditli;ans of
the jurors ; the precedent in the appendix to
4. BJI‘.ICom. states the foreman to bea baronet
aud the rest are esquires. The necessity of
the addition is obvious ; it is 10 ascertain the
idemity of the grand juror, for many ohjec-
tions may lie against him, he might be an
eutlaw, convicted of treason or felony and
consequently disabled from serving upon &

Mr.p.?;tmey Gemeral .rose {0 answer

these objections but was stopped by the
Caounrt. .
+ Mr.Justice Chamberlein.—The court do not
thiak the objections founded. It is taken for
granted, that the csption is part of the indict-
ment; itisnot; it is only the style of the
court, and where captions bave been quashed
1t has been upon certioreri, or writ of error.

The prisoner then plcaded in abatement—
¢ And the ssid James Weldon says, that he
is not a yeoman, but a soldier in his majesty’s
7th tegiment of dragoons.” .

Mr. ditarney Genmeral.—~1 demur to this

lea.
r Mr. Justice Chamberlain.—Then you admit
that he is nota yeoman ?
Mr Au General—Is the plea so my
lord? 1 had misconceived it.

[Then the plea was read, and after some
conference among the counsel for the
crown, Mr. Attorney-general replied, and
averred ¢ that the prisoner is a “ yeo-
‘man” and this he prayed might be
tried by the country; The counsel
for the prisoner joined the similiter—
“ And the said James Weldon doth so
likewise.’]

Court.—You the usual process?

Counsel on bo‘”\l?sidea said, certainly ; and
the attorney- general prayed that a jury might
be returned instanter.

It then became a question to what time the
plea related ?—whether it meant, that he was
a soldier at the timewhentheplea was putin—
or attbe time when the indictment was found ?

Mr. Curran.—The meaning of the plea is,
that the prisoner never wasa  yeoman” either
at the ume of his arrest, the time the indict-
ment was taken, or at this day. It is a sort of
objection to the identity, that he is not the
man presentod by the inquest as a
“ yeoman,” for he is a soldier.

A panel was then retarned by the sheriff

“ and twelve: persons were sworn totry the
issue, whether the prisoner be a  yeoran.”
. Mr. Attorney General.—Gentlemen of the
jury. The ner is indicted for high trea-
son, and he 1s described in the indictment as
2 “ yeoman ;" an issue is now joined upon
that description and jf it be found for him,
the indictment must be quashed.

James Weldon for High Treason.
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Thé law requires, that an indictment must
set forth whata party is; the prisoner is des-
cribed as a yeoman ; we shall produce a wit-
ness to show what he is, and you will deter-
mine whether he be a  yeoman,” or not. The
objection is as frivolous as cau be conceived ;
it 1s a disgrace to justice that such objections
are allowed, and I say this to shuw you thay
if there be any doubt in the case, you wil
lean against the plea. What was the mean.
ing of the word “ yeoman” 100 years ago, or
what was the meaning .of the Saxon word
ﬁvmnn, is not now the subject of inquiry.

'e will show that the prisoneris a soldier
aregiment of borse; and the wards yeoman
and labourer have been agplied indiﬂimnd
as sufficient descriptions of personsin his s\-
tuation.

The counsél for the prisoner may show from
black letter books, what was the meaning of
the word “ yeoman” many yearsago; but it
is sufficient to describe a man to a common
intent, and in the known use of words at
the time of the indictment found. The word
“ ycoman” is applied to many different situa-
tions, as a person having land and entitled to
serveupon ajury. Ifthat be the aipmpriated
meaning, it has not .been so taken lately.
There are yeomen of the king’s guards—so are
the attendants upon the lord lieutenant’s per-
son, and a variety of others in different situa-
tions. Therefore the insignificant word cannot
be now made a ground of objection, this man
bein% described with sufficient particularity.
An objection might be made to a description
of a man as one kind of artificer, when in
truth he was of another, but the sawe objec-
tion cannot be made to the words yeoman or
labourer.

Tresham Gregg, sworn.—Examined by Mr.
Prime Serjeant [James 'Fil;gcraldj

Are you gaoler of Newgate ?—I am.

Do you know the prisoner #—I know the
prisoner, James Weldon, since he was com
mitted to gaol.

How long since is that ?—About a month.

Had you any conversation with him ?—I
asked him what business he was of. He said
he was a breeches maker from the county of
Meath, but that he had been a soldier fortwe
years : that he was a soldier in the black-horse
and was taken in Cork.

Tvresham Gregg cross-examined by Mr.
Curran,

By virtue of your oath, do you know what
a yeoman is >—1I do not.

Mr. Curran.—Then you may go down and
inquire before you come to prove that a pri-
soner is a yeoman.

Here the evidence closed.

Mr. Curran.—Gentlemen of thejm}’. The
law requires that there should be a determi-
nate degree of certainty in the specification,
not only of every crime, with which any man
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is charged, but alsoof the personcharged ; and
itis not for us W eay, uuta.nry certainty which
be required in favour of life, or any ob-
Jjection permitted by the law, is frivolous, or
i ful to the jurisprudence of the coun-
try. Itis a known fact, that the certainty of

lean in favour of the prisoner.
gentlemen, there is no doubt in the case:
your cath 13, to try whether this man bea
yooman. Our society is divided into different
degrees, and the inferior orders with regard to
one another, and the peers who are above
them bave correlative appellations. The name
of yeoman is 3 known and defined name. It
is not to black letter that I shall refer the
Courtor to books thatareaslittle known as the
iation of the word; but to the com-
mentaries of judge Blackstone, who bas not
written many ‘ﬁth 1 Bl Com. 406.
“A is he that free land of forty
illings by the year; who was anciently
thereby qualified to serve on juries, vote for
knights of the shire, and do any other act,
where the law requires one that is probus
& legalis homo.” He 2dds in the ensuing pa-
Tagraph, ¢ the rest of the are
tmlan:‘ artificers, and labourers; who (as
well as all others) must in ce of
statute 1 Hen. 5. c. 5. be o by the name
and additionof their estate, degree, or mys-
tery, and the place to which they belong, or
where they have Leen conversant, in all origi-
ginal writs of actions‘,:genonal appealaamd
Sndictments upon’ which process of outlawry
may be awarded ; 'in order as it should seem
to prevent any clandestine, or mistaken out-
, by reducing to a specific certainty the
sgn_on who is the object of its process.” Thus
unmm&the man of property in land,
from who earn money by tradesas a
tradesman or artificer, who must be described
by their degree or mystery. From this res-
pectable authority and the plain sense of the
case, the jury will find fur the prisoner.  You
are not to calculite consequences. If theman
is entitled ta the benefit of the objection, you
are sworn to give it to him, and you are net to
depart from that oath upon being told, that
the objection is frivolous or disgraceful to jus-
tice.

lM;. J u:;i&q Clwmbc&-lain.—l wismtcoun-
se] in speaking to this point, would argue,
whether we are to advixep:’he Jjury up:l:s:lhe
common acceptation of the word, or whether
we are bound by the strict letter of the law?

Mr. Baron George.—Shakspeare seems to
have considered a soldier synonymous with
yeoman, and Dr. Johnson in his second defini-
tion of the word, says, “ it seems to have been
anciently a kind of ceremonious title givea to
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soldia.r:; whence we have still yeomen of the
¢ Tall yeomen seemed they, and of great might

“ And were enranged ready still fosr fight.”
PENSEL.
“ you, good Jeomen
“ Whose limbs were made in glud.,

us here,
¢ The mettle of your

e
Smaxsrrang Hen, V.

Mr. Prime Serjeant—My lords, yeoman is
at this day the description of a man
who is not a gentleman, or an esquire; for if
s man h.tr:de i n’n:e addition from his
:xjsury. , OF CI8! is 2 yeoman. The

es of law must adapt themselves to the
growing occasions of the limes, and that nsan
will be effectually described as s who
has acquired no_other addition, ‘; which he
could be discriminated. In common reasog, it
is to be considered as the general ‘description
of a man, who has not acquired any other. A
seldier most unquestionably cannot be a de-
scription under which a man in-
dicted. Burgess is not a good description,
nor is citizes, nor servent, neither can a sol-
dier be, becauseit isnot general enough upon
which to arraign a man.

Mr. Soliciter General [John Toler, after-
wards lord Norbury and Lord Chief Justice of
the Court of Common Pleas].—The single
nzwsﬁon is, whether under the statute of ad-

litions, 1 Hen. 5, this description be suffi-
cient? The authority of Shakspeare and John-
son is decisive to show, that a soldier in‘a
yeoman. 9 Inst. 668, If a man be named' a
yeoman, he cannot abate the writ. Is this
such a name as the prisoner may be known
by? He has given no evidence of his being
ofanyartongstery and it is impossible for
those mcern for the crown tt? ow in all
cases true art or mystery of a person ac-
cused. Before the statute of Hen. 5, no de-
scription was peoeﬁ,md it was enacted to
remove.objections made in outlawries. But
where a party is forthcoming, the argument
is doge away. Yeomas is a generic term, in-
cluding many and s fully sufficient
to answer the intention of the statute.

Mr. Saurin same side.—This plea is founded
upon the statute of additions, by which it was
provided that persons indicted, should be de-
scribed either by their state and degree, or by
their mystery or trade, if they were of any
my ortrade. Ever since the statute was
enac.‘:{ it bas been in the option of the pro-
secutor to describe the person accused by his
rank, or by his trade; it is not necessary to
describe him by both. Fi?m lord th:ake’s ar-

ment upon the statute it appears that state
g:-l po::un one and &e same thiu:s:
“The state or degree wherein a subject stand-
eth.” There are many persons who have no
trade, and who must be described by some
raunk, A soldier is no trade, and he stands
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in the natare of a servant taken into the pay
of the crown, and does not come within the
descrirption of mystery or trade, a servant is
nut of any mystery or trade. See then the
alternative offered to the prosecutor. Where
a pdrt{ehas oo trade or msstery, he must be
described by his state or degree in the com.
munity. What are they? If under the rank
of nobility, they are divided into baronets,
lm(i‘ghts, esquires, gentlemen, and yeomen,
and there is no other description under the
rank of nobility by which he could be de-
scribed. Here we have shown that this man
was not of a trade by which he could be de-
scribed, and therefore he must be described
by his rank and condition, that is a yeoman ;
and if he be not a yeoman, of what other rank
fshe? A gpeoman’is the lowest rank in the
community. Between fenlleman and an,
there is not a ¢lear line of distinction, by
which a gentleman could plead in abatement,
if indicted as a yeoman. In confirmation o
this, I appeal to the uniform usage for many
years, during which numbers have been de-
scribed #s n, where they were not of
higher rank in the community. Therefore I
#ubmit, that it is incumbent upon your lord-
ships to inform the jury, that upon the evi-
dence, the rank of this man is no;ll;li]gher than
that of a yeortan ; that there is cient evi-
dence to show that he is of that inferior rank,
and no evidence to show he is of any higher.
" Mr. Justice Chamberlain.—Is thereany pre-
tedent of an indictment describing a man as
& soldier?

Mr. Justice Finucane.—Tt aﬂsears from
Kelynﬁuthat“ sailor” is a good addition, and
Hawkins in explaining the word mystery, says

trade, or occupation.

t. Kells and Mr. Ruxton said a few words
on the part of the prosecution. There being
no precedent of an indictment against a man,
s & soldler, was a strong argument to show
it was no good addition; and as to sailor, it
Tuay be observed, that it is a sort of mystery,
for dailors serve a regular apprenticeship.

. _Mr. Justice Chamberlain.—The inclination
of some of the court, ~-indeed | may say
1t s, at present, the opinion of all the court,
that yéoman within the common acceptation
of the word, is a sufficient description of'the
person :—We mean'to tell the jury so, and
after that to adjourn the court, and take the
opinion ofall the judges this evening; and in
tase we should be wrong in the opinion now
51;\;50, we shall take their advice how to pro-

Gentlemen of the jury;—The issue you
are to decide upon is,—Whether the prisoner
18 a yeoman according to the strict legal defi-
nition of the word 7—Upon the authority of
judﬁe Blackstone, who is certainly a very high
authority in the law, the prisoner does not
Q) to be a yeoman. But according to
the best writers in the English language, he
is 2 yeoman. * It scems to have been an-
Giently a kind of ceremonious title given to
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soldiets, whence we have still yeomen of the
gll;\ard." Our present opinion is, that entitlin
the prisoner by a general title of courtesy is
sufficient within the statute of additions. All
society is divided into peers, baronets, knights
uires, gentlemen, and , tradesmen,
and artificers. Al the time of finding this
indictment, which is the material time for
You to attend to, the prisoner was not an arti-
ficer. He had been bred a breeches maker,
but two years before he had given up that and
became a soldicr, so that, at the time of find-
ing the bill, he could not be entitled a trades-
man or artificer, nor a gentleman, not an es-
%uire. Therefore under the common accepta-
on of the word, I think him sufficiently des-
cribed, and I am strongly fortified by this cir-
cumstance, that no precedent is
where a man is desetibed 'as & % soldier” i
an indictment. There may be a renson f
sailors, because they serve an apprenticéship,
Upon the best English authoritres yooman is a
title of courtesy. If we are wrong in this
opinion we shall ‘be set right by the judges,
who will be summoned this evemng. ’

The jury retired and after some deliberation
brought in a verdict, that the prisoner is a
yeomun, ,

The court immediately adjourned.

Tuesday, Dec. 22d. 1795.

Mr. Justice Chkamberlain.—We are to inform
the prisoner and bis counsel, that nine of the
Jjudges met at lord Clonmeli's, and they were
unanimously of opinion, that the direction
given to the jury was right.

The prisoner then pleaded, Not Guilty.

The sheriffs returned the panel, which
was called over in the following order:

Sir Pdward Crofton, bart. sworn.

Sir James Bund, bart , challenged perempto-
rily by the prisoner.

Willam Bury, esq. sworn.

Huﬁh Carncross, esq. challenged perempto-
nly by the prisoner.

William Cope, esq. sworn.

Meredith Jenkin, esq. challenged perempto-

Mrily b’é theﬁopnso' ner.
o rofton, esq. sworn.

Ra;%:lx Hauwnvm, . sworn.

Thomas Howison, esq. set by on the part of
the crown.

Samuel Middleton, esq. challenged peremp-~
torily by the prisoner.

Thomas Read, merchant. sworn.

William Sparrow, mcmhm(hswom.

Joseph Dickinson, esq. challenged pereatp-
torily by the prisoner.

James French, esq. sworn.

William Galway, merchant, challengel pe-
remptorily by the prisoner.

Isaac Maunders, merchant, challenged pe-

remptorily by the prisoner.
R
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John Minchin, meschant, challenged pe-
_remptorily by the prisoner.

Simon Ve;-poi merchant, challenged pe-
remptorily by the prisoner,

Charles Henry Sirr,* esq. challenged pe-
remptorily by the prisoner.

Ralph ;lulbern, merchant, sworn.

Mead Nessbitt, merchant, setby on the part of
the crown.

Heary Pettigrew, merchant, sworn.

Thomas Prentice, merchant, set by on the
part of the crown,

Thomas Wilkinson, merchant, set by on the

it of the crown.

William Blair, merchant, sworn.

Thomas Palmer, merchant, challenged pe-

. templorily by the prisoner.

Goodwin Pillsworth, merchant, set by on
the part of the crown.

George Carleton, merchant, challenged pe-

remptorily by the prisoner.
John dmith, t, sworn.
THE JURY.
Sir E. Crofton bart. W, w, mercht,
William Bury, esq.  Jas. French, mercht.
William, Cope, esq.  R. Mulhern, mercht.

organ, Crofton, esq. H. Petligrew, mercht.
R. Hautenville, eqsq w. Blairg,nmetcht.
T. Read, mercht. John Smith, mercht.

The prisoner was then given in charge to
the jury by the clerk of the crown, who read
the whole indictment.

" Mr. Raxston opened the pleadings.

Mr. Attorncy General —My lords, and gen-
tlemen of the jury ;—In this case it will not
be necessary for me to do more than state the
several circumstances which may be material
to explain the evidence that will be produced ;
and even this statement is rendered necessary
rather from the importance of the case, than
any difficulty which will occur. Were I to
follow my own discretion, the case is so simple
a8 0 need no statement, but merely to pro-
duce the witnesses upon the table.

Gentlcmen, the prisoner stands charged
with the highest crime known to the law;
the indictment stales two species of that
crime, 1st compassing aud, imagining the
death of the king:—%ndly. adhering to the
enamies of the king. Gentlemen, the charge
of compassing the death of the king, it may
be necessary to explain in a few words; very
Sow 1 sha]l use, because it will be the duty of
the court to explain to you, the law upon that
subject ;. therefore I .shall only say so much
as will enable your minds to apply the evi-
dence 10 the charge stated in the indictment.
The law bas made it a capital offence to com-
Ppass or imagine the death of the king. Our
mild laws, gentlemcn, make the imagination
of no other offence penal ; the crime must be
committed in every other case. But the per-
son of the king issacred. So much depends

~ ® The celebrated Town Major of Dublin.
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upon bis life, that for the sake of the Fublic,
their tranquillity, the preservation of their
lives and properties, the lew has guarded the'
life of the king in a peculiar mamer.  Any
act, which in its pature tends to bring the
life of the sovereign into danger, will support
the charge of compassing his death. It is not
Decessary, that the party accused shall have
entertained the design of putting the king to
actual death—of depriving bim of life ; It is
sufficient in the eye of the law, if the man has
determined to act in such a manner astobring
that topass. As tolevy war; to change the
government, which cannot be undertaken
without hazardingthe king’s life; to bring war
upon the kingdom must expose his life, and
even though the party had, in his own mind,
predetermined not to put theking to death, yet
M be does those acts which endanger his iife,
be is guilty. But,gentlemen, the law which
is thus careful of the sovereign’s life, guards
with equal care the lives of the subjects,
who may be accused of intending to com-
mit such a crime. Though the law makes
the imagining the king’s death a crime;
yetit takes care that it shall be &t:‘oved by
such circumstances as evince the of the
intention. There must be what is called an
overt act stated upon the indictment; and
that overt act must be proved from which it
can be collected, that the design was taken to
com and imagine theking’s death.

The other species of treason with which the
prisoner is charged is, adhering to the ene-
mies of the king—to persons in a state of war
with these realms, Gentlemen, itis needless
to say any thing in explaining the nature of
this crime :—it speaks for itself. These, gen-
tlemen, are the two ¢ s, that he did
compass the king’s death, and that he adhered
to the king’s enemies.  Adhering to the king’s
enemies is evidence also of the compassing of
the death of the king; because it is impos-
sible to adhere to the enemies of the kin,
without exposing that sacred life to danger.

Gentlemen, I shall state the overt acts
which are to support these ! There
are :}ht of them. If any one of them be
pruved, and the inference which the indict-
ment charges, be drawn from it, though there
be no evidence of the other seven, the priso-
ner must be found guilty. The first overt act
states, that he associated with divers traitors
unknown, and becume one of a under
the denomination of % Defenders” for the
purpose of assisting and adhering to the per-
sous exercising the powers of government in
France. The second is, that he assembled
with others to consult about adhering to the
French. Thirdly, that he associated with per-
sons called “ Defenders” for the purpose of
overturning the government of this kingdom
as by law established. The fourth overt act
is, that he united with % Defenders™ for the
purpose of overturning the Protestant refi-

ion. Fifthly, That he enlisted one William
wler to aid the persons exercising the
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owers of government in France, and admi-
gutered' d to him an oath, upon which I shall
presently make some observations. The
sixth overt act states, that he enlisted Lawler
to adbere to the French, should they invade
this kingdom, and that he administered a ca-
techism for that purpose. The seventh is
that he eniisted, corrupted, and procurec‘
Lawler to become onc of a party formed for
purpose of subverting
ighth, that be cnlisted him for the purpose
of overturning the Protestant religion. Such,
gnﬂemen, are the facts to be proved against
e prisoner at the bar. I have stated the
outlines of them. Some or one of them must
be proved to sustain the charge. The same
overt acts are laid as applicable to each of the
species of reason charged against the pri-
soner.

Having stated, thus bricfly, the charge and
the nature of it, it becomes my duty to state
the evidence which will be produced to sus.
tain that charge. Beforc, however, I enter
imto the particulars of that evidence, it may
not be u:rroper to call to your recollection
the state of things in this country at the time
this offence is alleged to have been com-
niitted. In doing this, gentlemen, I shall
state what is a notgrious historical fact—what
cannot be cxcluded from your minds—every
man in the community must be impressed
with it.—For some years there have existed
in this country, a number of persons, asso-
ciated for wid,(ed, and atrocious purposes,
styling thewmselves “ Defenders.” They have
from Uime to time for the last four or five years
imfested almost every part of this, in that re-
spect, unhappy countr&'. It has appeared in
various trials in the different provinces, what
the nature of the association of those wretches
is :—it has appeared with what designs they
associated, and though thoSe who excited
them have not appeared to public view, yet
the manner of exciting them, and the object
.are_but too plain.

. Since the year 1790, there have appeared
- many counties, particularly in the Northern,
Eastern and Western countles{ maly persons
under_the ' denomination of “ Defenders,”
committing various outrages, and who have
directed their attempts most_particularly to
disarm their fellow subjects. It has appearcd
in every investigation of this offence, that
there hiave been in various counties, a num-
ber of - persons calling themseclves ¢ Com-
miltee Men,” who have guided the wretches
they had deluded, directed thcir acti and
prescribed their muvements;—pointed out
the different courscs they were to take, and
administered oaths, “ to be true and faithful
to the Committce Men,”— 1o obey the laws
of the committee in all things."—and these
oaths they have ed with such equivoca-
tions, thal while they bound the parties to the
commission of the most atrocious crimes, the
path should appear to be merely an oath of
allegisnce to the king, and submission to the
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laws of the country. “These tommitiees have
existed in many counties of the kingdom, as-
sociating the lower orders of the pe;rle, by
holding out promises to seduce uneducated
men ;—telling the poor that they would en-’
Jjoy the property of the rich, that they were
no longer to_exist by their industry, and re-:
presenting what they knew must be impos-
sible, that all men were equal.. ‘If it were
possible that such equality could be effocted
the consequence would be the subversion of
all goyernment, and that all would-be reduced-
to a savage state, o
Such, gentlemen, were the topics held out,
In other es they propqﬁued ‘différent
things, and they dared to use the sacred nanie
.of religion,—having no religion themselves,—
to forward the purposcs of their wicked impo-
-sition. It hasappeared in too many instatices,
and I am shocked while T state it, that these
miscreants endeavoured to instil -hatred and
animosity. into the minds of their converts
against their fellow christians, though differ-*
ing in some speculative points, professing the
same religion, worshipping the same God,-and
seeking redemption through the same Jesus
Christ. They represented, that their Protes.
tant brethren were to be destroyed ; and this
they attempted at a time when the legistatere .
has becn session after session, entdeavouring
to put them upon a fooling with themselves,
to do away differences, and to put an end ‘o
distmsl.—-zvhile I say this, -gentlemen, let
no man imagine, that we mean {o impute any
thing of this kind to the gencral body profes-
sing the Roman Cathdlic religion: No, gen-
tlemen, we attribute these abominable prac-
tices to others, who are sccking their own
impious views.—It is a subject so abhorrent
to my nature, that I would not have men-
tioned it, but that it must come out in ovi-
dence; for I would not suffera word toe
my lips, that would tend to divide those, who -
are bound to that law and that goveroment
which we all enjo(y. J.
The conduct of the Committee Men is his-
torically known ; it is proved in Connaught,’
it is proved in several counties of -the North,’
and in Leinster; and it is wonderful. that L
have seen circumstances proved in the most:
distant parts of the West, ng
with circumstances arising in the distant
parts of the North and East—manifest-
ing most clearly, that there was a8 umited
scheme to subvert the religion and the
vernment of the country, by exciting sedi
smong the lower orders of the poople. How
these schemes were set on foot so universally,
whether by French gold, or democratic clabs,
is meither for you, gentlemen, nor me now to
inquire—whether by the United Society ot
Il)lzblin, orBelfast, I will not troublc you at pre-
sent with taking notice, or inquiring. ¥ only
wish to impress upon your minds, that itis a
fact historically known, that thete does exist
in the country such a scheme ot rebellion and
insurrectign.—Farther to furward this plan,

-
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they baselovied m the poor wretches
they seduced; a man sworn pays a shilling to
the person administering the oath; the Cor-
mittegyman, receives the shilling, and if he.

swear many, the consequence is, a consider-

able income. In fact, the practice became
common, and they spoke of a Committee Man
in a village as they would of a shoe-maker.
“Where are you #’—¢ To the Defender-
makw."-fmshgﬁi that D%feﬂeder};:a%er_ the
person a shilling, as i obtajned
ol ’
y men, it is necessary I shou

state these facts to you.. I hope in doing so,
1 do not my duty. I do not meanto
Touse. yaur passions upon this subject, and if
1 did, I could not. e statement 1 have
made eannot affect the pri , unless it be
proved that he is such 2 man as is charged by
the indictment, and it was necessary to state
what [ heve, that you mipht understand the

1gese and ings of the “ Defenders,”
which will be proved in evidence.

Gentlemen, the crime with which the pri-
soner is chasged, is of the most awful nature
1n its consequences both to him, and to the
public. The ch:r‘ge is this, that the man at.
the bar is guilty of a crime, the end and ob-
Ject of which was the destruction of the go-
vernment under which we live—the destruc-
tion of the life and liberty of every man livin
undes it—the destruction of our laws, whicg
have boen the envy of every one for seven
hundred years. But this crime is greatly ag-
gravaled, if it be capable of aggravation, by
the peculiar situation in which the prisoner
stood. The prisoner at the bar was, at the
lime when thleus offence was c‘tl)]mmi'tlted, a dra-
goon eerv, is majesty in the 7th regiment
of Gu.ldsl,':im in this city—placed in ag' situa-
tion to defend his —sworn in the pre-
sence of God, for whom he seers to entertain
a reverence, to defend his king and
country.  Such is the man, upon whose life
Your verdict is now to pass,

Gemtlomen, having stated the situation in
which he was placed, and the duty he parti-
cularly ewel 0 his king and country—having
stated that he had solemnly sanctioned that
duty in the presence of his God, it is the less
g;o that he shauld commit the crime, If

wever he shall hiva.committed the crime,
then he will be less an object of mercy.

en, it will be proved, that this man
adminiswered an oath t0 a person of the pame
of Williams Lawler, which oath went to bind
that 1o be.& ¢ Defender ;”—and now
baving mentioned themame of the person, wha
is the witness:for the proseculioh upon this
trial, I shall stase to you the nature of the
evideres be is t0 give, and the manner in
which she erown became acquainted with the
clesvi‘fu of the:bonspirators.
sHiam Lawler, the wilness, is a native of
this eity'y he.is by trade & guilder; served a
re wappeiticeship to that trade—aRer
which' he.pmetised-at 1t for sowe time in this

rd
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city, and then went to Lopdon sthey.
o Tlme,m e

his father had removed.
the misfortune, and it is common to others,
as well as him, to read the words of that ce-.
lebrated apostle, Mr. Paiua — to bave his
i on somewhat heated by his writings, .
and he became a member of the London Cor-.
responding Society associated to imprave our
constitution. There his principles were not
much improved ; he ‘;eturned.to Dublip, and
e a member of a reading society ;—it
was called the Telegraph Sociely; and ako
of another society of an admirable name,
if it imported nothing more; that was. the
Philanthropic Society, where there were read-
ings and instructions, which, if followed,
would have left the jury no constitution, no
law, upon which to hear the attorney-general.
state a case in the court of King’s-bench, In,
that society they received instructions from
Mr, Burke, now a fugitive in America. The.
“ Defenders” having broken out with unusual.
violence last summer, approached the capital,
and to disturb the outlets of the city.
Lawler, a member of the society, and a re-
publican, desirous enough (1 will not attempt
to conceal it) of disturbance, was asked by
some of the associates, or a discourse arose
among them, Kennedy, Brady, Hart, and
others, touching the ¢ Defenders” —.
However the subject was first introduced, it,
was proposed, that Lawler should become a.
% Defender,” and for that purpose, some of
these excellent clubbists (he will inform you
who they were) proposed bringing him to the.
prisoner, then quartered in Dublin. Accord~
ingly Lawler was brought by two persons of the
names of Kennedy and Brady, to the prisoner,
(v>vpposite the barrack-gate, where the prisoner
eldon was;—they sat for some lime to-,
ther. Weldon was then quartered in the
E:mck, but had a lodging within a door or
two of an ale-house. Kennedy and y.
bring Lawler to this lodging ; r they had
sat some time drinking punch, one Clayton
came in, and they proposed to swear Clayton
and Lawler. Am’dm& t::(yl.wem swarn,
by the prisoner at the bar, upon bewg
sworn, they paid their shilling a piece.
discourse arose, after the swearm%ctwchmg
the object and nature of the “ Defenders”
pursuits, and in the course of that conversa-,
tion, the prisoner did avow, that there would
shortly be a rising in the North, which would
be joined by a person whose name Weldon
did not disclose—a rising to effect 7 force .
the purposes of these associated “ Defenders®
—and the other persons Kennedy and Brad
did unite in declarations of that sort, It mﬂ
appear to you, geatlemen, that being thus
united  Defegders,” Lawler was hrought 1o .
three different meetings, where ¢ Defendery”.
were assembled, parli:ufuly at a publicshause,

in Plunket- street—there were eighteen. or -

nineteen together, and there a discourse arose,
an.&ea_ proposilion was made, for buying pow-
der and procuing arms, for the purpose of

2



g
rising to ssise the castle of Dublin, of seduc
the army from their duty, and by terrily::
the industrious citizens of this town into
:he ‘ htl:atbetbe uimy h&d betrayed them
put into the possession

&nd,ordagovmentofmiscmnn such as

ese.

. S8uch, genllemen, are the facts, or prety
nearly fs:‘} do mot pretend to say they are

recisely) such as will appear in evidence. I
will now state the oath administered to
Lawler by the prisoner (to whom he had
been brought by Kennedy and Brady); the
cath was this, ¥ I William Lawler of my
own good will and consent, do swear to be
true to his m:fsx king George 3Srd.” —
The oath whi c prisoner himself had
taken, but with s little additiog to it, well

worthy your attention, it ap to
me that what wudesigned to cover the guilt,
is, if T uaderstand it, the strongest manifes-

tation of it. “I will be true, while I live
under the same guverament”—The first
is an oath of allegiance, but not that of re-
maining under his government; implicative,
demonstrably, of a design to change the
vernment :—it is not limited to the life of
w but while the government remains;
when the oath was administered, the pri-
soner explained it, knowing that the object
was, to appear 0 be takinﬁ an oath of alle-

while he was intending to destroy the
E’ng—'l'his, said he, is put in to deccive the
army, that they may not discover the conse-
quences. “ I swear to be true, aiding and
assitifig to every free brother”—thatis 4 name
for & Defender” known among themselves
~—“ And in every form of aritle from the
first foundation 1790, and every amendment
hitherto, and will be obediant to my com-
mil superior commanders, and officers, in
all lawful proceedings and not otherwise™~-
Here shere is the same sort of concealinent,
that is introduced in the part concerning the
‘lfmg, and, gentlemen, you must perceive, that

pr mean P ge ac-
cording to their laws—- nor will I consent to
amy society,-or any brother of an unlawful
character, but will observe and obey the laws
and regulations of my committee to whom I
belong determined brother”—[Here Mr. At-
tarney-general statod the remainder of the
osth a8 set out in the indictment]. This,
gentlemen, was the cath as the
witness will m&lz the prisoner, to Lawler
and Clayton—an oath that needs little com-
ment; 1t is im ble to read it, without
putting the ction u

bk
obedience to other laws those of | and
the comery.

But if there were any doubt
uponthia,uwillbemmoveqlgypcmli‘laﬂn

atechism‘.b:hmh was sdministered e
tosted ot the same time. It is pretty much
the same as bas ared in several counties
of the kingdom. It is plain, that there was
but one National Convention in the world at

the Lime; that of France, apd if you are sadis-

James Weldon for High Treason.

| two or three meetings of the ¢ D&?‘“"
e | hitherto, possibly, cg:xceiving that the ¢

A. D. 1796, [2sa

fied of these avert acts, beth specics of treason:
will be proved, eo:;’whg e King's death
and adheriog to his enetmies, | Mr.
Attorney stated the catechism, es in the in-
dictment]-—Whether ——gs moan kings, yow
will determine. A stroke is made §iral i the
paper aud immediately after and closa to it,
are the lowauxgs, being the fipal lettess.of the
word kings. You are to detesmine how they
mnt(}oﬁuntw,vheﬁhe&:nhthnwtd
not. \ing & pats

you will’::wp;in“;g whay the object
dency of the force witended 1o be raised was;,
whether it be no} manifest, that there was an
object by force to chango the. government,

iH

selves as g s, and | _
tyranny, which is exercised in & ne
oountry, and usiug as a prctance the,
name of freedom.

Gentlemen, I have told you, that afier this
oath was administered, the witness amen

A1

¥

fenders’ might be used for the purpose of ob:
taining wha%hwu their grand object, a reform
9fthondlpw;dmfuqd&henn::lb‘a-ﬁhg
it a republic, & men, - 88 Hioed
self in the govemp;‘e‘;'t‘.‘ But after attending
ane or two' nieetings; he found the pursans
assembled had ohjeots differeat frong
what he had conceived. was eawtiomed
to take care how he should say, he was &
Protestant, and some of thosa miscresnts, de-
partin ﬁ'o::e that religion of which they plof
to mewbers, formed designs o!
ng ! brethren. Genw *
tlemen, let me repeat it agmp, for I eanpat
tepaatumqm thet we do ne\ sup|
tha:danyed : .:lg well-minded C i
could entertain & :design—tmy
men, whose minds are easily heated, formm;g
thero are, unjettered xvﬂlﬁn men,
without religion, m of A\ :lowrer

people—these are
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their trials, and the prisoner Weldon is first
brought up.
3 ntlemen, I have

One piece of evidence,

o-itbrt?:me, which if 1t should appear in
the light I state it, is of the utmost importance
to this case. Welon was a private in the
7th dragoons, which was ordered to Cork,
there to embark for foreign service. Thus
taken from his gainful situation of a committee-

or def aker, i:n:e::d necessaryb to’

t some n to ‘him. He
T P e ot

ho might become a Committee-man,
Kennedy was seized, and in the fob of his
breeches wete found the oath and the cate-
chism, which Weldon administered to
Lawler. So that here is a fact, which could

not be mads for the occasion-—-a fact disclosed

before Kennedy was- seised——that the osth’
was delivered over to Kennedy, which is fully
and clearly corroborative of the testimony of
Lawler. Woe will now call him, and we doubt
not you will examine this case, so important
to society, with all due deliberation, and find
such vordict, as will do you hoaour, and the
public, justice, :
William Lawler sworn.—Examined by Mr.
Solicitor General.

What has heen {moccup.ﬁon—m u
lgh:eed\omy&lde —1I was bred in the gilding

Did you work at that trade in England or
?--In both places.
First in Ireland, then in England >—Yes
Sir. ‘
¥You served an apprenticeship ship here ?—
es.
f'l’c:lrhom P—-‘thteh:int partto Mr. Robinson
o ; the second part to Mr. Wil-
liamson o;!Gnnon-stmL part
.gid you work at your trade in England?

—Yeos,
When did you return ?—About two years

Ago. ~

When did you go to England ?~About the
your 1791,

During the time you were in England, did

belong to any political society >—The
mdm Ootn'poncﬁng society. '
Upon your return to Ireland did you
bring ani letters of introduction ?—One.
To" ? — To "Archibald Hamilton
Rowan:*® C
F Bubopgate srect, Lundoo, proter.
of street, , printer.
1 sup you delivered tnot letter P—1
delivered it to a servant of Hamilton Rowan.
I called in about a week and saw him.
- Where was he then ?—He came out of a
back parlor, and we both went into the front
w‘mfo
Did you ever see him afterwards?—Yes I

# See his trial, anté Vol. 29, p. 1038.
$ Bea his trials anté, Vol. 29, pp. 133, 185,
Vol. 23, p. 1013, and a, p. 1813. posi.
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saw him in the street, and then in Newgate, -
After your arrival in Ireland, did you
ggeome a member of any society }—I did,
ir. '
Of what society ?—1I do notrightly recollect
the name of the first, but after it was dis-
solved: .

Where did it meet P—At my rooms at one
Galland’s in Crane lane and in Hocy's—court.’
When that was dissolved, I become a member
of another.

What was the name of the second society P
~The Philanthropic society ?

You do not recollect that the first had any
particular name ?—1It had a name, but I do not
recollect it. .

Do you recollect the name of any particu-
lar gentleman of that Philanthropic society ?
- wasa Tclegmt:ic society.

But do you remember the names of any
persons belonging to the Philanthrupic su-
cieg ?—There was Burke and Galland in it.

hat Burke P—Of the college.

What is become of him?—I do not
know, but am informed be is gone 1o Ame-

rica.

You afterwards became a member of the
Telegraph society ?—They were both much
about the same time.

Was there any particular object of this so-
ciety.

itness.—Of the Telegraph ?

Mr. Curran.—1 trust the gentlemen con-
cerned for the crown will endeavour to keep
the witness, whose evidence they are apprized
of, to the strict rule of not drawing from him
any answer, of the legality of which there
may be a doubt. It is too general to ask what'
the object oi a socicty was. I do not state this’
formal"y to argue upon it ; but suggest it to
their candour. .

Mr. Solicitor Gencral.—If I koew of any
other mode less leading thanthat which I have
used, I would adopt it; but upon some
points it is impossible to put a qguestion
without in some measure suggesting an an-’
swer to it. ’ '

Mr. Curran.—If T am pushed to the neces-
sity of arguing the ground of the objection, it
will require very little to be said in support
ofit. This man says he was a memberof a
particular society, and he is asked wha( was
the object of that suciety, although the pni-
soner was not a member of it.

Mr. Justice Chamberlain.—You have net
laid a foundation for asking this question, m-
Jess you establish a privity between this so-
ciety and the prisoner.

Mr. ‘g.oﬁc:‘lor Geuml.—kllf I were dx;vm to
argue this question, 1 could support it by very
recent zbjadiutions. To show the general
schemes of treason, it is competent to exa-
mine as to the object and design of the per»’
sons cha as traitors; it was the uni
practice n the cases of Hardy and Tooke.®

® Anté Vol. 94, p. 199, and Vol, 25 p. 1.

—— ——— — . ap——




But it is not kind to embarrass the Court, if it
can be avoided, ) )

* Was there any other sociely, besides the
Philanthropic and Telegraph of which you
became a member?—Not till I became a
mewmber of the Defenders.

Did they call themselves Defenders?—They
met in several parts of the town.

You say irou were of a society called De-
fenders?—I believe about a fortnight after
the FPerm militia left Dublin, Brady and

Kennedy called upon me to go to Weldon to
be sworn asa Defender.

. Court.—You cannotascertain the time more
particularly >—No, my lord. .

Court.—Neither the month, nor the dayP —
No my lord, for Brady was to have brought
me- to Han‘on, but he leaving town, Brady
brought me to Weldon. :

Mr. Solicitor General. —Who was Kennedy?
—He wasan apprentice to Mr. Kennedy, the
glass-cutter in Stephen-street. :

What was Kennedy’s Christian name?—I
do not know.

Mr. Curran.—It strikes me, that thisis not
a fair examination, to examine the witness to
the acts of two strangers unconnected with
the prisoner.. 1t is evidence to say, that two
persons carried him, the witness, to the pri-
soner—but to say they called upon him with the
intention of having him sworn is matter of opi~
nion, and the evidence ought to consist of facts.
- Court.—Unless the witness was sworn, the
evidence will signify nothir:‘g.

Mr. Solicitor General.—You saw Weldon
the prisoner?—Yes.

° Where was it 2—At the stables belonging
to the horse-barrack.

Court.—Were Brady and Kennedy along
with you?—Yes my lord.

« Mr. Solicitor General.—When you met
Weldon, where was he ?—He happened to be
in the stable ?— On Brady’s asking for him he

. came out; Brady introduced me to him; we
then went to a public house.

Before you got to the public house, did
Weldon say or do any thing?—No to me.
He only asked me how I was, and shook hands
with me.

Did nothing particular pass in the manner
of introdacing you?—No, sir; not there.

When you arrived at the public house,
what happened there?—~When we went to
the public house, a naggin of whiskey was
gl:‘eld for; we went into a back parlour.

y told Weldon he should go for Flood,
who promised to meet them.
T B Tl

—Yes, e wol
%or Flood P &

’* Court.—Did he mention his christian
‘mame?—No, my lord, he did not.
> Mr. Solicitor General.—Did Flood come ?—
Weldon desired Brady not to be long. Afier
#me-time a little bey came, in, and told Wel-
his supper was ready. Weldon said that
was his little boy, his son,

Jawes Weldon for High Treason.
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What happened next?—Weldon went to
get his supper.

Did Weldon returnafter ?—Brady returned
first, and Clayton along with him.

A4 Juror.—You were left alone then ?~Ex-~
ceg} Kennedy. :

r. Solicitor General—Did Weldon retarn
afler any interval P—He did sir.

. How long after’—Inabout a quarter of an

our. . .

When he returned, what happened ?—After
hesat down, and took a glass of punch, he
said, “ We bad better make these two.” .

Whom did he mean ?—Me, and Clayton :—
Brady asked him if he had a prayer book ?
We g;: saull‘ he had. book 1—He did

" Did he take outa prayer ?—He did ang
laid it upon the tabl‘t):.

What hapﬁened afterthe book was produc-
ed-?—He pulled out some papers and desired
Claiton and me to take hold of the prayer
booDoin ourri }u hands. .

recollect any conversation particu-
larly riol:ﬁve to the object of swearing ?—Not
before he put the oath.

Were you t6ld the purpose for which the
oath was given ?—Yes.

Were you informed of it before >—Yes.

IYon-were broughtto Weldon to be sworn?
-l WaS. .

1le administered the oath?~—He did.

How did it I;?in ?~It began «1, 4. B”

You?ha;e bad an opportunity of secing the

—Yes. : -
hat was it ?-—He said it was a test. .
. Should you know the paper again ?~-Yes,
sir,

[Here a paper was produced, beginning I, 4.B.
c. which the witness said was same
paper he had seen with Weldon.] '

Mr. Solicitor General.—You were swornto
the contents of that paper? ;

Mr. Curran.—I object to this as & lead-
it:_g question, Were you sworn to the contents
of that paper? What is theanswer, but I was
or I was not.

M. Solicitor General.—You say you were
sworn to that paper ?—I was to two. .

Is this one one of them ?—It is. .

Show him the other: Is that theother?
—Yes, Sir. : ’

he t beginning I, 4. B. was thenread.
USeepl:E:; thesl‘ndictg:ent.]

Mr. M'Nally. 1 object to this paper going
in evidence to the jury, on account of a va-
riance between it and the indictment the cath
in the indictment is}* I William Lawler.” This
paperis L, A. B. . .

r. Solicitor GGencral. How were you swérn
tothat paper P—Did you pronounce yourname
—Yes : I William Lawler.

[The second paper called the catechism, was
then read.  See it in the indictment.}

Mr. Solicitor General.—After you ‘were
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sworn what happened nextP—Afler I was
sworn to these papers? o

Yes ; what happened ?—Brady asked him if
he knew of any man to head them when they
were %0 rise. Weldon sald, there was one
in the North, but did not mention his name.

Had you any further conversation? Re-
member such as you canP—He told us after,
that before the time there would be letters
sent through the country to tell them when
\h‘a were to rise. .

het farther happened ?—He was asked in

what manner every one would become ac-
quainted with it—or how would they get to
knowit? :

By whom was he asked >—I belleve by
Kennedy.

You are sure the question was asked ?—Yes
the questioh was asked.
" What answer did Weldon make?—He
taid the committee-men would acquaint

them.

What farther ha upon that occa-
sion >—Nothing, I beheve,of any consequence.

At that meeting P—No, sir.

You got no instructions of any kind ?—
Wefl;l:;e was to tell Brady of any meeting of

rs.

peCmn.-aDid Weldon tell Brady so ?—Y
my lord; he said he believed there woul
be 3 meeting in the next week in Thomas-
street of Defenders, but did not mention the

ace.

Mr. Solicitor Gemeral—You have sworn
to two papers, which have been read; had
you sny opportunity of seeing these papers at
any other time and with whom ?—1I saw them
with Kennedy afterwards.

Did you ever hear Weldon say ln{ thing
of them?—Weldon told me he would give
these papers to Brady before he left town.

Court.—Did he say he was leaving town?
—Yes, my lord, to go to Cork.

- Mr. Solicitor General.—Had you any inti-
mation from any body then present of any
meeting to be had?—Brady of a Sunday
brought me to a meeting.

Court.—Did Weldon say for what erpose
he would leave the papersP—He did not.
‘Hﬂe'dtoldusthesignssoastoknowaDe-

er.

Mr. Solicitor General.—Tell the J\{V and
thed Court what tl;; signs w::e?— eldon
mid, sup you happen to be in company
and wantpt.:e know a Dp:fender, the sign is to
put the two hands joined backwards upon the
top of the head, and pretend to yawn, then
draw the hands down upon your knee or upon
the table. Then the other answers, by draw-
ing the right hand over the forehead and re-
turning itupon the back of the left hand. The
r:rsou in answer or reply to that draws the

ft hand across the forehead, and returns it
1o the back of therighthand. Upon shaking
hands, they pressed the thumb of the right
hand upon the back of the left, and not to
be afiaid to hurt the person, and if they asked
what was the pass word ¢ Eliphismatis.”

Trials of the Defenders— {256

Did betell you any thing else’>—No, he
did not,

I observe in that oath, there is & sentence
to be true to Gcot?: the third, was there any
conversationt sboul that?—At the time he
finished it and we kissed the book, he asked
if we liked it? We said we did. He turned
about, and lodked to Brady, who said, « they
knew what they canme here for. I told them
before they came.”

Did atg body at that time talk about the
words ¢« George the third” in the oath?

Court.—That is a leading question.

Mr. Svlicitor General.—Was there any con-
versation about the oath?

Mr. Curran.—~That is not a way in which
to&n a question in a case of life.

r. Soficitor General.—1 will argue it if
the Court have any doubt, and assign my
reasons,

Mr. Curran.—1I say s leading question
is not to be put, and a question to which the
answer is yes, or no is a leading question.

Mr. Justice Chamberlain.—A leading ques-
tion is that which suggests the answer. Now
if he answer yes to this question, and stop
there, ttint will not do—This question then
does ot suggest the answer.

Mr. Solicitor General—~What did he say?
~He said, laughing, that if the king’s bead
lwere ‘off dto-xlx:orrow morning we were no

onget under his government.

&CL that explaining the oath?—The test
that he }mt first. I asked him, was he not
afraid of keeping these papers about him in
conse?uence of being in the horse. He said,
no; for they were never searched; but he
did not care who saw (he first r, for the
small Eaper was the principal. The first
paBer. e said, was ?gna cloak for the army.

id he say, why? account of swearing *
them to be true to the king. He said, he
had sworn several of them, and that they
would have some objection to part of it, but
for that clause.

Court.—Was it to reconcile them ?>—Yes.

Mr. Solicitor General.—Weldon said he
would hand over the papers to Brady ?!—Yes.

Did you ever see them afterwards ?—With
Kennedy.

When?—About a fortnight after Weldon
went out of town,

How came they into Kennedy’s hands ?—I
do not know.

Did you know them P—I challenged them
at a place in Drury-lane; Murphy lived in
i:hqn;lch-street ; heand I were together, and

Sal(l———

Mr. M‘Nally objected to this evidence,
and the witness was stopped by the Court.

Mr. Solicitor General.—Did Brady ever
give you any intimation of any other mcet-
ingP—He brought me to one in Plunke:-
street.

%o a meeti ;fe what 2—Of De'rendm.m
ere an the same t that
were with Weldon? periots prosed




b 'm:

-

"Court.~When was this? —1I cannot re-
collect.

* Mir. Selicilor General —Who was at that
meeting?—Kennedy was along with me &t
the same time. '

* There were a good many there ?—There was

a many there,

m‘; therye any thing done at that as-
sembly ¢

Mr. Curran.~Do the counsel think that
evidence ?

Mr. Solicitor General.—I do.

Mr, Curren~—What | affect a man's life by
whiat was dene at meetings, when he was an
hundred miles off ! .

Mr. Jolicitor General—I think it evidence,
though the couneel asks the question with
some astonishment. It is a rule of law,
settled in a variety of eases, and recognized
in the very last, thal it being once esta-
blished that' the prisoner belonged to a so-

ms————
r.Justice Chamberlain.—We areof opinion
m this is evidence, that there isa foundation
id for it, by swearing that Weldon said, there
were to be subsequent meetings, and thatthey
should havenotice of them from Brady; that is
& foundation to let in evidence of what is done
st those mestings.
My. Solicitor General. -~ What happened
at that subsequent meeting >—They were

putting down money on the table, and I
was asked for six- , a8 & collection for
powder—

Court.—~Wheo asked you?—Brady desired
me to put down six-pence. 1 told Brady
X hsd not six-pence. Kennedy said he
would lend me one; he gave me a shilling ;
1 laid down tbe shilling and took up sixpence
and gave it to K . I was teid, that a
mai of the name of Loekington then in the
reom was 2 Captain of Defenders.
penci? Wit porder dd you meanT-Gon:

ou mean P—Gun-
powder. lmnnoodfmn’itbem, tirat they
wanted powder, as they were going out to get
arms, bot not that night.

Did you unders from the company (ll‘eé

y di

what they wanted the arms? — T

not say.

: Mr. Baron George.—His conclusion, or his

opinion is not evidence; but ask himras to
ts done, or the conversations held.

Mr. Solicitor General.—Did any thing
more pass>—I understood there was to bea
meeting. Brady and Kenuedy both told me
Wisere was to be a meeting after that.

Where did they tell you that?—At the

Did you see any of that company ar any
ether and where?—I did.

Where P—At Stoneybatter the corner of
Arbour-hit.

Who gucg notice P—1 do not know.

You saw same company’—8Some of
them, Maie, Lexry, Cookd and others.
M. Baron: ke got notice
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from Brady, who. was the person authorized,
it is pot evidence.

Mr. Solicitor General. — Did you see
Bradmr Kennedy afterwards }—1I did.

Where ?—At their own place in Stephen-
street. v

Were Brady. and Kennedy at Stemey-
batt:_t:';;-No, 9{. the

O at people was subsequent meet-
ing ?—Of Defenders. beeq

r. Curran.—The Court desired you nos

to give ¢vidence of that.

Mr. Solicitor General—1 hope the Court
have laid down 1io rule upon the subject,

Mr. Baron :Geerge.—We think yoa have
not laid any foundation for the mesling at

- Stoneybattes.

M. Solicitor General.—My lords, I sabmiy
this is evidence. Upen all occasions where
the proceedings of any society ave let in, all
their acts n'eh thg::by madeh(:i‘;lenco. And
so it was in the State Trials , respecti
the Loadon Corresponding Seciety, and lhgxsr
conduct was evidence of overtacts. I have
established the fact, that there was a meeting
of a body of men ealled Defenders: this man
was adm!i‘\wd ‘i‘a:'o them, and the evida(llce
goes to show, subsequent mectings uader
the same appellafion and obligationgsdid as-
semble, and did do certain acts which wilk
illustrate the charge against the prisoner.

Mr. Baron George.—I do not say, whether
they may not be evidenee; but I think you
bave not yet laid a foundation to let in evi~
dence of the meeting at Stoneybattsr.

Mr, Solicitor General.—You saw the oath
a‘terwards in Kennedy’s hands; ﬂmﬂ- what
occasion >—Upon a meeting with Murphy.

Where?—At Dsury-lane in 8 workshop.

You said there were certain sigas commu-
nicated by Weldon by which a Defender
miﬁht be known &—Yes. o

id you see them made use of upon any
occasion and whbere ?—Hart has asked me i

Mr. M*Nally objected 10 this conversatjon
as not having been at a meeting. :

Witness— y is brought to a meeting
unless introduced by a person who isa membher.

Conrt.—What do you mean by that}—
There must be somc person in the placc whe
will know him.

Mr. Solicitor General—Know him 1o be
what ?—A Defendér. - -

Somebody went with you to StoneybatterP
—Yes; Walsh,

Who is he ?—A tailor,

Was he at the former meeting ?—~No.

How did you know him ? —As being of the
Philanthrepic Society.

Was he a Defender t—He was from the

s he used. .
bat Walsh is be ?—A tailor in Fisham-
P yom koo ther person by the

Did you know any o y
signs !—Hart and Cooke.
ere ﬂ of the meeting at Stoneybatter ¢

one Leary a shoe-maker.
8
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Court.—Did you see them make the signs ?
—Cooke came gul of a place where he held a
achool in Stoneybatter, and shook me by the
hand as a Defender. i

Mr. Solicitor General.—Was the meeting
at Cooke’s house P-—Not as I know of.

Where was the meeting at Stoneybatter?
—At Murp‘v's, an inn wliere cars set up.

Court.—~Was Cooke at the meeting ?—Yes.

Mr. Solicitor General.~-Who else?—Walsh
and Hart.

Did they all make the signs ?~Not there;
they did at different times.

Am I to understand, that you frequented
thm meetings as a Defender yourself? —
1did.

How long did you éontinue to be a De-
fender !—I cannot rightly tell. .

Cannot you say how long?—I believe about

three months.
Court.—--What were the si made useof
at Stoneybatter ?.—-Shaking the hands.

Mr. Solicitor General.—Any thing else }—

0.
How did you shake the hands?—-By press-
inﬁ the thumb upon the hand.
n the manner Weldon had told P—Yes.
Mr. Justice Chamberiain.—Now we think
there is a foundation laid to let in the pro-

ceedings there.
Mr. SolicitorGeneral.—What were the pro-
ceedin

?-—-Hart brought in a young man and
swore him. I saw him lay a small paper upon
a book.

What kipd of swearing was it that was made:
wse of.-~] do not know. He told him he was
brought to be sworn to be a Defender ; he was
not inclined to be sworn at first : Hartsaid he
was to become a Defender, as the object was
to get arms to assist the French when they
would come.

Was that man sworn ?—Yes.

In the same way that you were?—He told
him the signs.

Did you see them shown to bim ?---I did.

Court.—-Did you see him sworn?---I did.

Coust.---In the same manner as before P—--
I cancot say. There was a small paper laid
upon a book : T was near the door and could
not get near him, there being many in the
room and it a small one.

Mr. Solicitor General.-——You say you coun-
tinued a Defender three months?-—-I did, I
believe.

What induced you to cease being a De-
fender? Did you tell any body you were a
Defender P—-I did.

To whom?—To Mr. Cowan in Grafton-
street, after there was a- meeting in Drury-
lane at one Nowlan’s.

Who were at that meeting ?—Hart, Cooke
Dry, Turner, Lockington, Kennedy, an
Flood, and Coffey.

What w;u done there?~-We met for the

urpose of getting arms.
P It was soon aftegr that meeting you told Mr.
Cowan ?=-On the Monday.
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Why did you tell him ?-~On aocount of what
I heard Hart declare.

What was that declaration?-~He tapped
me on the shoulder, and I followed him to o
window. He asked me, if Dry and. Coffey
were not Protestants. Isaid I believed they
were. He said he would not sit in company
with them.

Was this said aloud ?-—No it was net.

Then I have no right to ask it.  Did
hear any thing said aloud ?-~They said
would meet on the Suuday following, but
could not hear rightly what passed g’om at-
tending to Hart,
twice for being from the company. ~
" Did you hear any thing pass *——Coffey was
in the chair, and wanted o know, how many
Defenders tlicre were in Dublin, that these

might be officers put over them, thas
m:ght be all ready.pu they

ou mentioned before, that there was a
conversation about subscribing for powder;
was there any conversation ugon a subse-
quent meeting upon thatsubject ?---Not about

taking arms.
Alﬁ)ru -lane ?-—Neo.

Where ?—-At Stoneybatter. ,

What did you hear there?—-1 beard Hars
desire some of them to go home for pistols
and arms, that they might go out to take arms
that night.

To whom did hesay that?~-To the com-
pn:‘{, at the house where the young lad was
made a Defender ; and after sitting some time
and the others not returning he thought they
would not come back ; he then desired every
one remaining to lay their hands upon the
table, and swear on their oaths to appear
there on the Monday following with pistols

to &o get arms,

hat oath did he meen ?—The Defender’s
oath, that they had taken. Hart was a com
mittee-man it was said, and any person
obliged to attend him when required.

You saw Hart exercisc the':a‘ne ofa com-
mittee man by swearing another /—1 did.

Court-—-Did Hart himself say he was a
committee-man ?-—-No, he did not.

Mr., Solicitor General.---Y ou heard no other
conversation at that meeting ?---In about half
an hour after, I said I would go home—Walsh
came out and said

[Counsel for the prisoner ohjected to this
evidence as private conversatiun.]

Mr. Solicitor General —~Why did you acase
to be one of the body ?—In consequence of
what Hart declared.

[This was also objected to.]

You say there was to be a rising and seme-
body would head them in the North whom
Weldon did not same »-—So he said. .

Did Brady say any thing about the same

subject ?---No, he did not,
Was the molive of the rising mestioned at
the time?-—It was, he said,

would be
letters sent, .
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But what was the motive ?---He did not say
for what it was. :

"Wilkam Lawler cross cxamined by Mr,

Curran.

What religion are you of ?--—-A Protestant.
- Harve you always been a Protestanf?-—Yes.
Have you always professed that religion?
~-Except when I was asked what religion [
was among the Defenders, I said I was a Ro-
‘sman, in consequence of what Brady suid to
me

You are not, sir, upon a cross-examination
under colour of an answer to_give illegal evi-
dence. I ask you, except in the case you
‘mention now, have you always professed the
Protestant m‘iiion P--Yes, sir.
Do you think you know the principles and
Erau s of what that religion are?—I was
rought up to be a Protestant, and do not like
20 change.
Were you taught to believe that there was
.2 God P---Yes, sir.
Were you taught that there was the suffer-
ing of his Son for the redemption of mankind?
—Yes, sir.
Do you understand that your belief of these
sacred doctrines is the foundation of the oath
z::xh ?ave taken P-—When I had taken the

Iask you is it ::le foundation of the obli-
gntion of your oath P---Yes, sir.

Hava you never, uponany occasion, declared,
that z:u did not beleve there was a God ?
. h witness hesitated some time.]

r. Attorney General.—-1 do notknow what
the consequence of the question may be, but
it exposes the man to punishment.

Mr. MNally.---I am prepared to show that
this question is legal.
Mr. Curran.—Since the question is objected

I will not pressit. I will not ask you
:‘In(het ou hpave deliberately denied the yex-
istenceot a God.—Since this protection is put
about you, T am sure it is necessary for you.

Mr. Attorney General—-1 did feel that it
wasa question which ou§ht not to be put;—
I have no reason to conclude what his answer
would be.

Mr. Curran.—After this kind of argument
1 feel a sort of indecorum in pressing it.

Mr. Prime Serjeant.---If this sort of use be
made of the question the Court will determine
upon it.
~ Mr. Justice Chamberlain.—--If he be exposed

.\0 teraporal punishmeat, he is not bound to
answer.

Mr. Curran.-~It would be adifferent thing ;
and a man might say, it is my misfortune to
-be converted by arguments of atheists. He
smight have read l%:me D miracles, and
.adopted his notions. But I do not press it.
-You have said that Kennedy and Brady
.¥ought you to the prisoner's at the bar?—

[

- Had you known hit before i---Never.
: You said, a8 you discovered thtir purposes,
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you discontinued? —Afier what I heard from
Hart, I went to Mr. Cowan and told him.

After the conversation with Hart, you told
Mr. Cowan ?—Yes.

Was not that a conversation in which he
communicated the bad purposes of the meet-
ings ?—I did not like the idea of massacreing
all'the Protestants.

Wasit by Hart, that idea was communicated
to you?—It wes, .

And as soon as that was communicated to
you, you furmed the design of quitting them ?
—Of telling what I heard.

When was the first time you knew of their
bad designs >—I knew if they were to rise,
that some persons were to be destroyed; but
I did not think they would destroy all the
Protestants.

When did you fisst understand that any de-
sign of this kind existed ?—From the meet-
ings I used to go to. .

ow long after Weldon had gone to Cork ?
—-’}’Il:at Ito 2 ? ] bei be
at you knew of any persons being to
destroye{l P—I knew a{ that mecting when
Weldon was present.

How long after Weldon’s going to Cork was
it, that you had this conversation with Hart ?
~—I do not recollect.

Compute ?—I may think wrong.

Think of it }—I know the day of the month
Hart told me, but I do not know the day of
the month Weldon went out of town,

It was some time after, however ?—It was.

Weldon said there was to be some meeting?
—He said he believed there would be a meet-
ing in Thomas-street, and when there wati
he would acquaint Brady, and Brady woul
acquaint us. :

you know how soon after that Weldon
went to Cork P—I donot.

Do you know how long before the nest
mecting he wentaway?—I cannot tellexactly;
it might be a week or a fortnight. .

He had gone to Cork before?—I believe
so0.

Who gave you notice of it?—I was with
Brady and Keonedy, and they brought me
there.

Did Brady say Weldon desired him to bring
you ?—No. .

What did he say ?—He said there was a
meeting of Defenders in Plunket-street, and
asked me to go there. . .

He did not say Weldon desired him to bring
you ?—No. .

You said there was no mention at the meet-
ing in Plunket-street of the French ; that was
not until the meeting at Stoneybatter ?—It
was at the meeting at Stoneybatter.

Do you recollect the distance of time be-
tween the meeting in Plunket street and at
Stoneybatter ?—I cannot tell.

I do not mean the day of the month; uor
what month it was ?—I cannot tell the time.

Did you make any speeches at Plunket-
street >—No, sir.
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Was there any secretary there taking down
ootes ?—Not as [ saw,

Was there any chairman putting questions ?
- was 2 man at the opposite side of
the table, near the grate, and he put down
mhctcdy upon the table, which he had col
: 3 be said it was a subscription for pow-

or.

The pext meeting was where }—At Stoney-
batter,

Do you remember whom vou saw there?—
Hart, , Cooke, and Walsh.

These were all you recollect ?—Weldon

was not there P—No, sir.

Then there was no at Stoneybatter,
who was present at communication with
Weldon *—No.

Stoneybatter was the first place you heard

an m;xlnion of u:efhencml; ?—It was.

ect zounel y se 1t Is very ma-
terial; did Weldon tell you that any part was
%0 be taken by Cooke?—He never meationed
his name.

Nor by Hart? —No.

Nor by Walsh »—No.

That you are clear of ?—Yes, sir.

Who was it that started any mention about
the French ?>—Hart.

Did he addresy himself in the way of a
speech to the chair?—There was no person
sppointed in the place. But the young man
was t in to be sworn, he appeared shy
at first, and Hart told him the motives of be-
coming s Defender.

It was addressed to the young man?—Iit
was, but we were all present by.

Did a::{ one else join in it ?—No.

He said we might get arms, and assist the
French; and no other person said any thing
upon the subject —No, sir.

Then your evidence comes to this—That
the only mention made about the French was
at Stoneybatter; that Hart said it to the
young man, and no one made any kind of
reply. Whe did you understand from Brady
had told him oty the meeting in Plunket-
street !—I was walking with him, and he told
me tbuoh was a meeting there, and asked to

there.

Did he say who told him of it ? —No, sir.

I suppose you are perfectly impressed with
the enormous nature of the cri;n: of makin
an attempt upon the person of his majest
—At thntpti:n‘:’ll:e said we all lived y

I did not ask you as to that. But did you
not conceive it to be a crime to make an at-.
tempt upon the life of the king?—Not at
that time,

Mr. Curran.—I am sorry there was such a
a time; go down young man.

A Juror.—Do you now think it an enor-
mous crime P—I certainly do.

Gliver Carleton, Es%.‘Swom. Examined by
Mr

- Uran.

What is that paper in your hands?—I had
got a warrant frum alderman James, against
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Brady, Kennedy, Walsh, and ¥Floed. -‘The al-
dermandesired me to send for nvy officers; I
did so, and dispatched them to di t parts.
I went myself with two of them to Kennedy's
the glass man in Stephen-street, st half pest
five in the morning—

You were at that time in & public office P—
Yes. We knocked at the somme time.
Two boys came down at a back door in Dru-
ry-lane. I asked them their namos; they
said Kennedy and Brady; I took them into
custody. I bad been desired to examine the
fob of Kennedy's breeches, and I should find
there the and the catechism. I did

Wh tbeb‘:&‘tn:e papers mng them

ere t
to the witness P Tbeuthem .

What was done with Kennedy?—I
took him and Brady into custody and brought
them to the Castle guard.

What became of Kennedy P—1I saw him in
Newgate some time ago.

Ol Cakdo, B e cusmiced by

How long have you known Lawler P—I do

no:lknowhunu 1 (hine of i ?
ave you ever heard any thing e

I never asked any person about him; nor
ever heard any thing about him. .

You know nothing of Weldoa?—No.

Court.—W ho informed you, that you would
find these papers upon Kennedy ?—Alderman
James, who desired me to be particular in
searching Kennedy, for I would find them in
his b}eechcs en::d bo?.

A Juror.— yisa —He is a very
young man—S8o is Brady.

Juror.—~What age may he be?—I am a very
bad judge of the age of a person.

DerFENcE.

Mr. Carran.—My Londs, and Gentlemen
of the Jury; I am of counsel in one of those
cases in which the humanity of our law is,
very fortunately, joined with the authority
and wisdom of the Court in alliance with me
for the purposes of legal’ protection. Gentle-
men, I cannot however but regret, that that
sort of laudable, and amiable anxiety for the
public tranquillity, which glows warmest in
the breasts of the best men, has perhaps
induced Mr. Attorney General to state some
facts to the court and the jury, of which no
evidence was attempted to be given. And I
make the observation only for this purpose,
to remind you, gentlemen, that the statement
of counsel is not evidence—to remind you,
that you are to give a verdict, upoa this so-
::lmn and t:)mtxg:l:ewm ou':'a::n‘u g.mded sim-

y upon the evidence w been givea
my:xpo; for such is the oath you have taken,
I make the obscrvation, not omly in order to
call upon you to discharge any impressi
not supported by testimony, but to remi
you aiso of motly:er incontrovertible maxim,
not only of the bumene law of England, but



man is, the more
be the svidence upon which be is convicted.
The charge here is a charge of the most enor-
mous criminality, that the law of any country
€30 know—no lessthan the atrocious and dia-

ought to be sacred. ner is chﬁ
with antertaining the guilty purpose of

stroying all ovder all society, for the
wel mofwhiehdnpenonohbokiag is
held Therefore, gentlemen, I presume
to tell you, that in proportion as the crime is
atrocious aad horrible, in the same proportion
should the evidence to convict, be clear and
irresistible. Let me therefore endeavour to

i the duty I owe to the unfortunate
man at the bar (for unfortunate I consider
him whether he be convicted or soquitted), by
drawing your sttention to a tion of
the facts charged, and comparing it with the
evidence add to support them.

The charge gentlemen is of two kinds—two
species of treason —! upen the statute
85 Ed. 8. One is, compasiing the king’s
death. The other is a distinct treason—that
of adbering to the king’s enemies. In both
cases, the criminality must be clearly csta-
blished, under the words of the statute, by
having the guilty men convigted of the offence
by provable evidence of avert-acts. Even in

case of treason and it is the only one,
where by law the imagination shall complete
the erime, there that guilt must be proved and
can be gtoveable only by outward acts, made
use of by the criminal for the effectuation of
his guilty . The overt acts stated
here are, that he associated with traitors un-
known, with the design of assisting the
French, at war with eur government, and
therefore a public enemy.—2ndly, Consulting
with others for the purposs of assisting the
French. 3rdly, Censulting with other traitors
to subvert the government.—4thly Associa-
ting with Defenders to subvert the protestant
religion.—5thly, Enlisting a person stated. in
the indictment 10 assist the French and admi-
nistering an oath to him for that purpose.
6thly, . Eanlisting him to adhere to the French.
7thly, Corrupting Lawler to become a Defen-
der.—8thly, Enlisting him by administering
an oath for similar

laid. Thelaw rgnimum there should be
stated:upon record such an act as in point of
law will amount to an overt act of the treason
charged a8 matter of evidence, and the evi-
deace edduced must with the fact

pples o s, toat whether the
every case ap to , that w the
fact charged be sustained by evidence, is for
the consciemce and the of the jury, sco-
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cording totbede‘p-oofcreditﬂwy ive W
the testimony of it. In treason thgl;vut
act must sustain the crime, and the evidence
must go to support the overt act so stated. If
this case were tried at the other side.of the
.water, it does not strike me that the very ir-
relevant evidence given by Mr. Carleton could
bave supplied what the law requiresl—uc
concurring testimony of two witnesses. I can-
not be considered, 1 I should be A
to put any sort of comparison between such a
person as Mr. Carieton and the first witness
who was called upon the table, Gentlemen
oft!mJuz,‘ym have an important province
indeed— Mﬁfumddeag.oyunmtodecide
upon.. previous to that must consi-
der, what degree of credit ought to be given
toa m:ﬂhe circu hr:sunm oftlind:"n;
noss against the prisoner. It

appear to me, that his evidence merits small
coosideration in point of credibility. ,But
even if he were as deserving of belief as the
witness who followed, and that his evidence
were as credible as the other’s was immate-
rial, I shall yet rely confidently, that every
word if believed does leave the accusation un-

supported.

‘(’}emlemen, I will not affront the idea
which ought to .be entertained of you, by
warning you not to be led away by those

hantoms which have been created by preju-
Sice, and a;i lied to adorn the idle tales drunk
down by fo! Er, and belched ‘up by malignity.
You are sensible that you are discharging the
greatest duty that law and religion can repose
in you,and I am satisfied you will discard
your jons, and that your verdict will be
foun not upon suslon or prejudice, but
upon your oaths and upon justice. Consider
what the evidence in point of fact is.—Lawler
was brought by Bradyand Kennedyto Weldon,
the prisoner, in Barrack-street; what Brady
seid to him before, if it had been of moment
in itself, I do not conceive, can possibly be
extended to the J)risoner, who did not assent
to the words and was not present when they
were uttered. Lawler was carried to the pr-
soner at the bar to be sworn ;—And here give
‘me leave to remind you, what was the evi-
dence—to remind you that the expressions
proved do not bear that illegal import which
real or affected loyalty would attach to them,
and therefore you will dischargeall that cant
of enthusiasm from your minds.—I wish that
I were 30 circumstanced as to be entitled to an
answer, when I ask Mr. Attorney-general,
what is the meaning of the word Defender?
I wish I were at liberty to appeal to the sober
understanding of any man for the meaning of
that tremendous word. I am not enti to
put the question to the counsel or to the court
~abut I am entitled to call upon the wise and
ve consideration of the court to say, whe.

r the zeal of public aocusation has affixed
any definite meaning to the word !—I would
be to know whether that expression,
which is annexed to the title of the highost
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- his big! bligati
muylinghimthe ‘ender of the religion of
country, in common parlance acquired
any new combination, carrying with it a
crime, when applied to any other man in the
community >—Let me warn you, therefors,
inst that sort of fallacious lexi hy
which forms ncw words, that undergoing the
examination of political or intem-
perate zeal, are considered as having a known
jon,-——What is the word P—A word that
be discarded, when it is sought to af-
fix to it another meaning than that which it
bears in the cases where it is used. Let me
remind you that a Defender, or any other
term used to denote any confraternity, club,
or society, like any other word, is ;ri»itnry,
-but the meaning should be explicit. And,
therefore, with to this trial, you are
to reject the word, as having no meaning,
unless from the evidence you find, it bas in
the mind of the party a definite explication ;
~For observe that the witness, such as he is
—such as he was, with all his zeal for the
fartherance of justice, which he was once
ready to violate by the massacre of his fellow
subjects—with all his anxiety for his sove-
reign’s safety, whom he was once ready to as-
sassinate, he, I say, has not told you, that
either Brady or Kennedy or any other person
stated what the principles were that denoted a
fender.
ut I will not rest the case of my client
upon that ground :—no, it would be a foolish
kind of defence, because words might be
used as a cloak and therefore might be colour-
ably introduced. You, gentlemen, are then
to consider what this oath, this nonsensical
oath, which so far as it is intelligible is inno-
cent, and so far as it is nonsense, can prove
nothing, you are to consider, whether, inno-
cent and nonsensical as it may appear, it was
yet a cover and a bond for treasonable asso-
ciation—It is not in my recollection, that any
evidence was fgiven, that the oath was con-
ceived in artfully equivocal expressions, for
forming, under the sanction of loyal language,
s treasonable association.—Is one of the pac-
ties laughing, evidence, that it was treason-
able, or the bond of a criminal confederation ?
—Itis not. Isit treasonable to say, * that
were the king's bead off to-morrow, the alle-
§jance to him would beatan end "—It is not.
he expressions may bring a man into disre-
pute—may lead the mind of a jury into a sus-
picion of the morality of the man who used
them—but nothing more. It may be asked
why should there be any thing insidious }—
‘why, but to cover a treasonable purpose, are
all these suspicious circumstances ?—It is not
for me, nor is it the prisoner’s duty to account
for them in defending himself against tins
charge; because circumstances are not to
render innocence doubtful, but it is full
proof, establishing the guilt aod the treason
indubitably, which the law requires. There-
fore, I submit, that even if the evidence
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could be believed, it doss not support the
overt acts. Waa there a word of violating the
person of the king ?—Any affected misrepre-
sentation of any abuse of guvernment?—
Have you heard a word stated of the king net
being an amiable king? Any words contu-
meliously uttered respecting his person—dis-
respectful of his government—espressive of
any public grievance to be removed, or
o be attained ?—Not a word of such a subj
—Nothing of the kind is proved by this soli-
n%witnen in all his accuracy of detail.

as there any proposition of assisting the
French in case they invaded this kingdom ?—
To supportthat charge a nonsensical catechism
is —There it is asked, “ Where did
the cock crow when all the world heard him ?*
—\X‘h&t kind of old women’s stories are these
to e an im jon upon your minds ?-—
Well, but what Soes that mean? Why, can
you be at a Joss I—It means to—kill the king !
—Look at the record—it the persons

h, and the

with compassing the king’s
question a t':ge crowing of a cock is the
evidence against them.

Gentlemen, you all know, for you ste not
of ordinary description, that the statute of
Fdw. 3rd was made to reduce vague and wan-
dering treasons—ta abolish the doctrine of
constructive treasun and to mark out some
limited boundaries, clear to a court and jury.
If a man has been guilty of disrespect 1n
point of expression to the government or the
crown, the law has ascertained his guilt
and denounced the punishment. RBut all the
drewdful uncertainty intended to be guarded
against by the statute, and which before the
passing of the statute had prevailed in case of
treason, and which had shed upon the scaf
fold some of the best blood in England, would
again run in upon us, if a man were to suffer
an ignominious death under such circum-
stances as the present, if equivocal expres-
sions should be taken as decisive proof, or if
dubious words were to receive a i
from the zeal of a wituess, or the heat, passion
or prejudice of a jury. The true rule by whish
to ascertain what evidence should be deemed
sufficient against a prisoner is, that no man
should be convicted of any crime except uj
the evidence of a man subject to an indi
ment for perjury, where the evidence is such
as if false, the falsehood of it may be so

roved as to convict the witness of petjury.

t what indictment could be supported for a
laugh, a shrug, or a wink?—Was there any
conversation about killing the king ?—No :—
but here was a laugh—~there was an oath 1o
which we were sworn—~and then—there was
a wink; by which 1 understood, we were
swearing one thing and meaut another.—Why,
gentlemen, there can be no safety to the ho-
nour, the property or the life of man, ina
country where such evidence as this shall be
deemed sufficient to convict a prisoner. There
is nothing necessary to sweep a maa from so-
ciety, bwt to find 8 msiscrum of sufficient
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enonnilx, and the unfortunate accused is
drifted down the torrent of the credulit{ of a
well-intending jury.—See hew material this
is, Weldon was present at only-ene conversa-
tion-with the witness. Itis not gretended by
the counsel lior thl: crown, that ¢ “7 cki)h %s to
sny personal evidence against Weldon does
not stand upon the first conversation. Was
there & word upon that conversation of ad-
hering to the king’s enemies? It was stated
in the case, and certainly made a strong im-
pression, that Lawler was enlisted in order to
assist the French.—1I heard no such evidence
given. The signs of what he called Defenders
were communicated to him ; the oath which
he took was read, and he was told there would
bea subsequent meeting of which the witness
showld receive notice from Brady.
Gentlemen, before I quit that meeting at
Barrack-street, let me put this soberly to you.
‘What is the evidence upon which court
can leave it to you to determine, that there
is equivocation in the oath?—It must be in
this way: you are to consider words in the
sense in wiich they are spoken, and in writ-
ings words are to be taken in their common
meaning. Words have sometimes a technical
sease for the purposes of certainty—They may
also be made the signs of arbitrary ideas,and
therefore I admit a treasonable meaning may
be attached to words which in their ordinary
signification are innocent.—But where is the
evidence, or what has the witness said to make
you believe that these words in the oath were
used in any other than in the common ordi-
nary m‘:rution P Not a word as I have
heard. Weldon can be affected only per-
sonally either, first upon acts by himself, or
by other acts brought home to him from the
circumstances of the case.—I am con-
sideri?g it i:od that twog'old v;aey, and I submit,
that if 1t stood upon the evidence, respectin
the conduct of the prisoner at mﬁm%
along',utlher% could not be s %oubf!. as ttg‘ hi;
uittal. It is » therefore, that
.qshould take wmemoﬁce of the subse-
quent part of the evidence. The witness
stated, that Weldon informed him, that there
wonld be another meeting of which, he the
witness, should have notice. He met Brady
and Kennedy, they told him there was a
meeting at Plunket-street; and here give me
Jeave to remind the court, that there is no
evidence, that there was any guilty purpose in
agitation to be matured at any future meet-
ing—no proposal of any criminal design.
There ought to be evidence to show a con-
nexion between the prisoner, and the subse-
quent meeting as held under his authority.
It is of great moment to recollect, that before
any meeting Weldon had left town, and in the
mention of any meeting to be held, letit be
remembered he did not state any particular
subject, as comprehending the object of the

. What. ed ? There certain)
Wmnﬁ tmetmt—but therey
was not a word of assisting the French—of
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subverting the religion—of massacreing the
Protestants—of anygc'riminal design whu%eva.
~—There was not any consultation upon any
such design. I e this distinction, and
rely upon’it, that where consultations are
overt acts of this or that species of treason, it
must be a consultation by the members com-
posing that meeting ; because it would be the
most ridiculous nonsense, that a conversa-
tion addressed from one individusl to another,
not applied to the meeting, should be called a
consultation—But in truth there is no evi-
dence of any thing res%ectin§ the French ex-
cept in Stoneybatter—There for the first time
the witness says, he heard any mention of the
French. Here, gentlemen of the jury, let
me beseech you to consider what the force of
the evidence is. Supgosingothat what one
man said there to another about assisting the
French, to have been criminal, shall Wefdon,
who was then for a week, 100 miles from the
scene, be criminally affected by what was cri-
minally done at Stoneybatter? It is not only
that he shall be criminally affected by what
was criminally done, but even to the shed-
ding of his blood, shall he be affected by what
any individual said, who casually attended’
that meeting !—Have you any feeling of the
precipice to which you are ied, when
called upon to extend this evidence in such a
manner P—without any one person being
present with whom the prisoner had any pre-
vious confederation! You will be very cau-
tious indeed, how you establish such a pre-
eeduelnt. Ho:lv] did Weldor?n cg\l;lt:oct hl;m;:‘l{
with any other meeting Y, v
there m{l be another meeting, you shall have
notice—It would be going a great way to af-
fect him in consequence of that. I lay down
the law with confidence, and I say there is no
doctrine in it, so well ascertained and esta-
blished, as that & man is to be criminally af-
fected only by his own acts—the man to be
charged, must be charged with overt acts of
his own. There is no law—no security—no
reason in that country where a man can be
mowed down our foolishly crediting the
evidence, not of acts of his own, but of the
acts of others, constructively applied to him,
who did not attend the meeting, nor was ever
aware of it.

If a man were to be to the penal-
ties of treason hatched and perpetrated in his
absence, every member of society
liable to be cut off by mere suspicion. I
say, no man could go to his bed with an ex-

tation of sl:edpmg in itagain if he were
iable to be called upon to answer a charge of
suspicious words, spoken when he was 100
miles off, by miscreants with whom he had
no connexion. Good God! Gentlemen, only
take asunder the evidence upon which you
are called upon to take away the life of this
man.—% You, Weldon, are c| le, and
shall answer with your blood, for what was
done at Stoneybatter.”—¢ Why, that is very
bard, gentlemen, for I was not there—I was
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100 miles off’—# Yes, but you were there—
in contemplation of law—consulting about
the abominable crimes of compassing the
king’s death,and odherinf to his enemies.”—
¢ How, gentlemen, could I be there ?—I knew
not that there was any such meeting—I was
not present at it,”—*¢ Aye, but you were there
in contemplation of law, because you told
Lawler, that Brady would inform him, when
there would be a meeting in Thomas- street ;
and becawse told him so, you shall be
answerable with yourdlife for :}m is done at
any meeting, at any distance of time, at any
place, by st ywhom you bave never
seen or heard of.—You have put your name,
you bave indorsed the treasonable purpose,
and through whatever number of persons it
may pu:,ll:he growing inlerestdof your crime
is sccumulating against an must
it with yourWhm is i::“mn o’f
"—Gentlemen, before we shali have
m.ned to l“sehed blood in spon-wh:le deatly
and slaughter are yet not matter of pastime
us, let us consider maturely before we
establish a mle of justice of this kind.—Ter-
rible rules, as we have seen them 10 be, whea
weigbed upon the day of retribution. I con-
fesait is new to me. Whatever doctrines I
heve lcarned, I have endeavoured to learm

them from the sense, and of
the Bngh hvg:dl htvebcmhmnyhught,thu
no man’s life shall be sacrificed to the i

ln::ly M’nadéolinm, and uh:l. ::‘en lz_e, 'It,
heedless! di?ped the s o i
showld not anawer oritvithhisbhsd,s.hu
w wn under the culture of other hande
to crirne, and from crime to trea-
208 ; he shall not be called upon to answer
ff:'r" the }:ieked f;ults of c?usl and :‘:iden:-l
. Na, emen,—1I say it with co
dnn«f—tbes::t which n:kesy a man guilty
must be his own ; orif it be by participation,
‘it must he by actual participation, not by con~
struction; a construction which leads to an

endless confounding of persons and things.—
I£ T do an act myself, J am answemble for it:
- —~1f I do it by anether I am answerable also.

If X srike the blow, I am answerahle: If I
ls',"umd‘an ana:}:,;n&he strikl:tbeblow, v:t.:
my sat, aught to cbarged wi
the criat:ninality of it.c;gut if Ihgo'.h'::: au;
crily of nien, 10to & or a play. an
a crime be there eommit\ed,&misnopviu—
Giple of law which shall bring hometo, me the
iy conduct of those men which they may
Ppursue at any distance of time.—What pro--
teztion gnanienb:gcn;m have- from uy‘:_
Qischarging perha ineffectnal office of
my duty ighi., it the rule laid dewn that
mevvordhosﬁorwunﬂhy: roan with
whem be ever bad a conversation, shall affect
him at any distance of tims? Consider what

will bathe co of establishing the pre-
cpdent, that s man shall always be res ble
fonhcaneﬂhendevww&hln once

belonged. Suppose » szan heediessly brought
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jury and the Court. I'say the object

>

(72
ing forward —supposs there was what h
?sumd,n society of men calling tbn:

selves Defenders, ami answering m fict o

the very st pictare drawn of them.

Will you give it abroad, thatif a man owmee

belongs to a criminal confederacy, his case s

desperate—his retreat is cut ofi—that ¢

man once present at & meeting to subvert the
wernment shall be answerable for every

m done at any distance of time by this

flagitious association. What is the law in

this respect ?—As in the association there is
peril, s0 in the moment of retreat there is

safety. What could this man have done A—

He c‘:zuad the ¢ity—he went to another part

of the kingdom, when the treasogable acts

were committed ; yes, but he was vi

among them.—What constitutes a man vir-

tuaily t, when he is physi absent ?

What 1s the principle of law by which he shall

be tried? It can alene be tried by that, by

which the roandate or authority of army man is
beought home to him.—By previously sug«
gesting the crime, by which he becomes an
accessary the'f;t,bymi thenfmm:
pein in treason: for by saggesting
crime he proves the concurremce of his wit
with that of the committing the crime.
~/This is a maxim of law, that which i ordi-
nary felonies makes a man an accessary, in
treason will constitute him a principal, be-
g:use in troason ‘:hlednﬁ:re nomcssar;i;:i
ppose & meeting held for one purpose,

-bzll'y distinetc%imeiseommiuéd,mm

who ase at the first meeting accessaries ?—

Certainly not; because they must be proew-

pincipal he must be geadesnods Anfing 408

principal, he must idin

assisting—that is pot proved. What tl%enis
the accessorial guilt? Did the prisoner write
to the others?—Does he to be the
leader of any fraternity—the comductor of
any tressonable meeticg? No such thing,
I say when be guitted Dublin he had no -
tention of giving aid, or countenance to atty
meeting; the connexion between him and
the socreties ceased, and there is no evidence
that he had any kmowledge of any of their
subsequent acts. Unless there be positive
ﬂidnceﬁaimt him, you ought to consider
him eut of the sphere of any association.——

But still you make him auswerable for whas

was dope : if you do that, yow establish arule

unknown to the sense or humaniy of the
law; ¥ hhn“awu for what was

done, not by bi , but by other persons.
Gentlemen, I feel that c'&mscl, anxious as
they ought te be, may be led farther thaw
they intend ; in point of time I have pressed
h&uMleupon thcpa.timceo«:_f:ht;
of the trial is, whether the guilt of amy

Gy i el e ey b2
int of Jaw brou oare to the pri
voendeumzec%tosubni’t vhat the chh

t 1o be clear and the evidence y
that though the meslings at whisly
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Lawler sitended wepa guilty, yet the prisoner
tieing absent, was nots:ﬂ"etg by the!:- crimi-
nality. Give me leave now, with deference,
tto consider tlf:,;ue l‘;t ulm'other poiu;d of view,

then, w a8’ red in evi-
denee“’ , the meetin thenmlv‘pupgnnol in the
estimation of law ﬁ\ul&g If these meetings

guilty

are not provabl treason, there can
be no r&tnﬂedy guilt upon ‘the gisoner, even
if the communication between them and him
were proved. If there be no direct and ari-
inal guilt—if they do not that, which, if
. Emo by him, would amount to an overt act of
treasan, Mim’, it cannot extend to
him. Therefore let me suppose, that the pri-
soner were at the time present at thuse
neem;g' Be pleased to examine this, whe-
ther if he were, the evidence given would
amount to the proof required. 1 conceive
that nothing can be more clear than the dis-
ﬁncﬁop‘:stl:gewte casual, indﬁ;:thx:’-
conveying a deliberate
mw purpose. ‘.Toygee evidence of
overt acts, the evidence must be clear and
direct.  How is Hensey's® case ?—a species
of evidence was adduced which it was im-
ible for any man to deny: actual proof of
g::lewondence found in his own writing and
possession. How was it in lord Preston’st
¢ase?—evidence equally clear of 2 purpose
tod upon ; qoing to another country’ for
&‘t treasonablé purpose. In every case of
‘i;hich we read memorials in the law, the act
§ such, that no man could say it is not an
overt act of the means used by the party in
effectuation of his guilty intent. ButI w‘;dd,
t a deliberate purpose expressed and ac

pon is different from a casual, indiscreet ex-
ssion. Suppose now, that the meeting were
indicted for compassing the king’s death,
and that the overt act ¢ is, that they
consulted about givirig aid to the king's ene-
mies actually at war. The guilt of all is the
of efch, there is no distinction between
. If that meeting held that consultation,
ey are all guilty of thiat species of high trea-
pon. But if the evidence were that at that
meeting which consisted of as many as are
now here, one individual turned about to ano-
ther, and said # we must get arms to assist the
French, when they come here.” Would any
reasonable man say, that was a consultation
to adhere to the king’s enemies P—a mere ca-
sual expression, not answered by any one—
not addressed to the body?—Can it be sus-
1sined for & moment in & court of justice that
it was a consultation to effect the death of the
king, or adhere to his enemies ?—No, gen-
tlemen.—This is not matter of any deep or
profound learning—it is familiar to the plain-
est undesstandiog. The foolish language of
‘obe servant in your hall is not evi to
the other servants in_your house:
It is'not the guilt of the tagt. Iam aware, it

® Sex it, am?, Vol. 19, p. 1341, -

Y 4 Seaitente. Vul. 19,p. 646,
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be the guilt of the rest; it may become,
m. Bu:fur:zlyoupo:xh: I%e.kto'

you with the confidence that my own convie-
tion inspires; that your lordships will state
to the jury, that a consultation upon &
subject 1s & reciprocation of sentiment upon’
the same subject. Every man upde {
the meaning of a consultation: . there ls-
no servant that cannot understand it. If a,
man said to another, ¢ we will comspire 10
kill the king,”—no lacquey could mistake"
it. But what is a consultation?>—Why such"
as a child could not mistake if it

before him. One saying to anather, ¢ wa
are here together, private friends—we'a
at war—the French may land, and ¢ §
they do, we will assist them.”—To make
that a consultation there must be an assent,
to the same thought; upon that assent
the guilt of the consultation is founded. Iy

that proved by a casual expression of ona

\

man, without the man to whom it was di< .

rected making any answer, and when in fact
every other man but the perton using the ex-
pression was atteading for another pu y
—But if there be any force in what [ have
said as applied to any man attending ‘there,
how much more forcible will it ap 'whe%
appliod to a man, who was 100 miles distan
from the place of meeling. * If the law be
clear, that there is no treason iu heating
treasonable designs and not consenting therets
—though it be another offen less he
goes there knowing befbre hand, the meetin
was to be—here, gentlemen, see how carefi
the law is, and how far it is from being un-
provided as to different cases of this kind ; if
a man go o a meeting, knowing that the ob-
jectis to hatch a crime, he shall be jained
in the guilt; if he go there and take a part,
without knowing previously he is involved:
though that has been doubted, Fostcr says,
‘¢ this is proper to be left to the jury, thox;&h-
a party do or say nothing as to the consul
tion.” 1f, for instance, a man knowing of a
design to imprison lheidng, goes to 3 meet-~
ing to consult for that tpm':;ume, his goi
there is an obvious proof of his assen
encouragement., This is the law as laid downt
by one of the most enlightened writers in
any science. Compare that docwrine with
what Mr. Attorney General wishes to incul-
cate, when he seeks to convict the prisoner,
There was a meeting in Barrack-street, and
it was treason, because they laughed.—As-
Sancho said they all talked of me, because
they laughed. — But then there is a cate-
chism.—Aye, what say you to that?—The
Cock crew in France — what u%oﬂon
to thatP—Why I say it might be sh,
it might be indecent to talk in this manner—
but what is the charge? That he consulted to
kill the king? Where was it he did that? At
‘Cork! Bat did he not assist ?---No, he was
not there:-—but he did assist, becanse he
commpmmicated sizns, and thus you collect the
‘gullf'Y the party, as the cotoner upon an ia-

(374
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; whe thought a stand-
t&-—-%y—bewwe drops
abbis pofof it gl Tt remids
ncl of his guilt. It reminds

of an moman. gho undertook to
pve that a ghost had appeared.—* How do
ow there was a ghost in the room P
=« Oh! I'll prove to you, there must have
a_ghost—-for the very moment I went

ip, I fainted flat gn the floor I"—So0 says Mr.
'y General. * Oh, I'll conviace you,

he designed to kill the king, for

e ot of the memting; be pasghed when

t 0 meeting ; when

Q. was nni said, srhen the
ead was off there was an end of the

e. In answer to that, I state the

umﬁe sense of the law, that In the
e life of a traitor, it is tender in pro-

a?:ﬁm to the aborpination of the crime: for
Taw of Engl while It suspended the
aword of justice.gver the head of the guilty

tnan, threw jts protection around the inno-
cenl: to save hiam from the danger of
eyidence ; it did more—it threw its pro-

J NIM WHOSE INNOCENCE MIGHT

; BTED, BUT WHQ WAS XOT PROVED 7O BE
3:‘:{9” .. The mild apd lenient policy of the
hw@chatgep a man from the necessity of
P his innocence, because otherwise it
Wm& a8 if the jury were impanelled to
copdémn upon sccusativn without evidence
of it, but merely because he did

not prove himself innocent. Therefore, gen-
tlemen, I.come round again to etate what the
law is.  Inaorder tq make a general assem-
ling and consultatiop evidence of overt acts,
ere must be that assembling and the guilt
must be marked by that consultation in order
o charge any man, who was present and did
ot say any thing concurring with the guilt
of that cansultation. It is necessary that he
should bave notice that the guilty purpose
was to be debated upon :—thal the meeling
Wwas convened for that {»:rpose. But let me
ecall your attention to this, and you will feel
ft bearing strongly upon that case. The
ilence of a man at such s meeting is

criminal .to the degree here charged.
%’n pose " bis diu:ﬁimer neeeslsa;‘;i

p?ose Jaw considered every man as
abetling what he did not disavow, remember
that the wretch now sought to be affected by

is silence at a meeling, was 100 miles distant

m it.. There might have been 2 purpose

m which his soul had recoiled.—Is this

en evidence upon which to coovict the pri-

* soner?~-There 1s no statement of any par-
Jicular purpase—no summons to confer upan

any particular purpose—no autherily given
fo any meeting by @ deputy named-—and let

e remind you, that at the last meeting, if
gq:ewere e gossipings and communi cations
you have , there was not any one man

present who atlended the first mlx& nor
13 ghere any evidence to show, that the pri-
soxer had ever spoken to any ane man who

Trnls of the Diftndérswe - [
pttended the last meeting, upon 3

and yet the monstrous abmn@i‘tym
for is, that although Weldor proposed ng,
su!h;! for discun'wn—tltthongh e propgsq&
no meeting —although he did not know that,
any purpose was to be carried mtoeﬂ'ec:mll)e-‘
cause he was then 100 miles off, he is still to
suffer for the foolish babble of one individuall

to ;nothet. b ings togefber,
ou are to e g.oced ! T,
and out ofthms'ne of this talk, hearsa: tr:%
oonjectum,byou are 1o collect the materials
a verdict, by which fy(:u directly swear, that
the man is guilty of compassing the iing’\
death. But suppose a man were to suggest a_
treasonable meeting—that the ing tak
place and he does not go—the first rroposa
may amount to evidence of treason if jt went
far enough, and amounted tg an incitemen
—but suppose the meeting held be a distinct
one from that which was suggestéd, and tha

ty does not attend, it appears to me
K: th of that meeti mxgnot'bl'e'con i
as his overt act. The previous incitemenf
must be clearly established by evidence,
I rely upon it, that the subsequent acts
that mecting, to which L am supposing he 8i¢
not go, particolarly if it be a meeting at whi
many others were present who were notatt
first, I rely upon it, I say, that no declaration
of any man (and more leddo:f{ ifitbehy s
man nut privy to the original declaration
can be evidence upon which a jury can atta
guilt to the. party. Itis nothing more than
misfessance, which iy certainly criminal,
pot to the extent of-this charge, To
any man by subsequent debate, it must be
with notice of the purpose, and if the meeﬁng
be dictated by himselt, it is only in that poig
he can be guilty; because if you propose &
meeting for one purpose, you shall not be af-
fected by any other—no matter what the
meeting is—howgver treasonable, or bad;
unless *ou knew before for what purpyse
assembled, you cannot be guilty virtually
what they have done, N
Gentlemen, T do not see that any thing
farther occurs to me upon the law of the
case, that I have not endeavoured in some
way to submit to you :—perhaps I have been
going back somewhat irregularly. There re-
mains only one, and that a very narrow suly-
Ject of observation. 1 sald that the evidence
upon which the life, and the fame and the
rmpe of a man should Be’ decided and ex-
inguished, ought ta be of itself, evi of
2 most cogent and impressive nature. Gep-
tlemen, does it appear to you that the witness
whom you saw upon the table comes undet
that description.—Has he sworn truly--Jf
he has—What has he told yoy? As soop
he discovered the extept of the guilt,,
quilted the foaternity —Do jou' believe tha}?
—Hart It;ld him that arc d:lhe ham
were to be massacred. , “ J did ngt like,
be, * the notion of mmaénihgum h*,'-eﬂm
} is the picture be hmnmc AR s~
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witlf the utivom accuracy and precision. His
losdebip alsoread the ‘as stated in the
d, snd then proceeded.)

Franee, if beheve &bnvention
;m ‘that
grﬁb'mm.n mm ol.u’le:tof ‘l?:ll pe?
i te destray n 3 shi [
sEiion, that the blank Esto bey%‘:led up with
‘word “ King,” it goes ta snbstantiate the
SWher-speeies of treason' in the indictment,
bessuse arking ‘is included in the number,
alud ' évery nct donetodethrone the king is com-~
poshendel in that species of treason of com-

Peminghisdeath. Then the other to
'hkhthm-yshemu.mp;';t’lm

with theu?lgnom,tm that the person
Galing it is* to be twe and faithful to king
Goorge the drd, whilst I live under the some
.» These words are descrvingof your
g:sillcnﬁon,hwn';it is ‘:‘ n%iﬁcation of
eagagement, only, whi ives under
:;W::‘dt’ an?(how far o\herp::s
ify & make it pleasin

- tnokm,isdw for your eonElden-
Now, 40 be naeiﬁlm oath were taken
alenc'and by iteelf, fs nothing in the
s bf it, that ceuld tend in any to
wapport the avert acts charged in the indict-
miant.: Putcommecting it with the test taken
&t the same time, i\ deserves a very different
considéribion ; and & wilt be for you, gentle-
een; to consider how far one throws light
m&coﬂmx‘ ‘If the object of them be to
thiaman teo the National Coavention to
Dhby Sipport s wesach charged i the
“treason in in.

dictment.: .
" Hifver the oath was taken, the witness men-

asked the

‘| testimony, it would

uired intelligence of these beingipon .
the person of Kennedy, 1f Lawler boid it 10*
him, of to any other person, it would add fo
his testimony, becanse connecting it wish hisy
estin fortify what he said upon
his direct vestimony, thut he saw them with

'| Kennedy. But consider whether it is possible..

the informstion could have come from'any
other'quaiter. However atthe sane ti
K:umalsotocona‘derwhe\heﬂtmiﬂn '
anafter thought. You are to }
from the whole testimony of Lawler, and the'
credit you give to him. .o
“Theh it'is asked, what is the word Defen-
der. . There is nothing criminal i the - word'
itself;—it is & name ussumed by u set of per-
sons. But the question is, whit are the pur-
poses and designs of these le P-- Of tirag
Youare the proper judges. their desigas,
and intentions were, to adhere to the Prench

put | and to'support them, the charge of adheriiig’

to the king’s enemies is sup o If their
designs wete not such, the indictment js not
supported.  But considering the oath aid the,
test together ; :urpotmg them sdministered,
s sworn by Lawler, thcy show very strongly
what their designs were ;---thal they designed
to adhere to National Convention of
Franee, if you believe those words mean the
oonvention of France,-—and patt is to de-
throne alf kings, if you believe that the blagk
is to be filled up ; that shows the design of
the Defenders, and the witness if beﬁived.
shows the design of this man, in administer-
ingit. What were their designs farther ap:
peers from what Hart declared aloud, at Stv-
neybatter; for he declared aloud that they
were lo get arms to assist the French. So that
there he declared what the object was. The
oath and test declares it also, if you believe the
evidence of Lawler, .
But it is objected, that the acty for which &
man is to answer, must be his own, and that
the prisoner was not preseut at those decla-
rations. But here are bis own acts, if you
believe the witness, for he is charged with adw «
ministering this oath ‘and test, an engage-
ment to assist the Nutional Cohvention, and -
to dethrone all kinmf you believe these ex-
genions, and the k are tu be so applied.
batever the designs of the papers were,
they are declared by the prisoner, 10 be de-
signs of Defenders, and (0 be bis own princi,
i o sciach 18 brough Borme to MR
s own acts, it is t to him:
and the declaration of the prisoner agrees -
with the declamtion of Hart;—if they do,.
Hart is a Defender, and explains what the ob-
ject of the test is, namely, 10 raise arms for-
the French. Bt thisis suid 0ot tobe & con.
spiracy, yniess R wes p eospuliationer _gene.
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WY Jawer Widin R $igh Tréuon. Whnir - .
:Sg,"o w,mﬁv&. z‘“’:::‘: fluenéi px‘m«’mm SN s
tign T, Jhat ‘o iy !bez 'ﬂg dabetubled, &ﬁ?ﬁ#ﬁwgimﬂw ;

i iderice seff, b is N
glou, as :rczl:{nent th:o n- &bin ordir ary o jecuon m g

required one;—it is supple-

. enlgl év ce to sh:;v vivhat the :ﬂtenuon
ger was in administering this oa
Wﬁm believe he did so. s
! is oné of the overt acts, Ahother of

overt acts is, that he 'did with intent to
enlist and persuade Lawler to be aiding the
French, mltorously-udmimster another oath,
H: have heard more tfian once repeatp
striking par(s are thesé :—Lawler
lihds himselfb this instrument, undér the
% ofan oath « to quell a1l nations,”
ethforit all ki ngs, "—and “ to be con-
e’erned :lth e Vatw;ml Co:ln:enmm w
lﬁp,ubn ] 13 perfect! n na
lg - xwp judges whether
it fs tunl, and olmous or not Inmy
, b other possible innuendb could be
 This instrument being entered into

] ope d thinsqng time with the other, may

ment upon the otber:—they

ﬁ:ay ,Nl eous:dered as one and the same in-

eit, and if there be any thingambiguous

a;&!r, xou may col r them. to er,

ether they dv or not bind

’them, undera solemn e ment

[0 ,ihs French, convention. ou be-

£, the lnferencq necessarily follows,

ﬂ:ﬁ’&ﬁ ;nust satisfied of the intent. But

A R woulll be. refinement t6 go farther

. i Jytrument itself, and if you believe
ments were euu'red into b i

& they, were adm tz&:l y the

; .him thereto, I "think ‘upon

2 Of the Instrument jtself, the traitor-

iﬂ!env. is pp ent. But, gentlemen, iti

9“ Q idence, enuse 1 have sai
o gersons, 1 the secrets of the
will sérve you to xpl this paper,
mdam,a the'law of the casé/\s the whold
it;.and I believe thqre nelerwas & case m-
p o law init, ‘plain and m

.

gime 19 the kmg"s edemnes, provi eq

'un gqun as[do
"Bt now mleuFa en, there is certainly

v mateml not only to the pri.
l! it? ecomn;umty amyhhtb,\;ﬁ:u

; ta man, standing in the mul-
o ﬁzfgxw p .uentn&d to?—He is
iqémnn joto court, mlmng him.

% me, of which if convu:te
ot be received; andackno*l

w (b di
£ T
eébe.q hg(k

3

n.—-

| e

¢harge ; because if he were, - mdoubt«ﬂy hii
Wearing to this matter would be more qQués.
tionable, than'if he were at hm [
tlemen, are considerations certainty call
for your deepestattention, Thereis anothet
matter which I must submit to you. ‘and tha¢
is, whether this man’s testimony, id his ac. .
cusstion of the pnsoner, fs in an meuuu
corrohorated m&u circutrstancés’;, for it is
seldom to be found in the Histary of cur hw,
that any jury: has veaturéd, upon the single

nhsupported ‘esﬁmo? of an aéco:nphee, td

ou

ever tg: ¢ treason and eo ofte
unYumshed if the law laid i down unz
veraally, that a jury shouid not ic!upon
wsumon of ‘ap accompl Juries Qo
quently u:t- upon such evﬁ:nca
concurrence of the ablest and best judgs
8d, lfuim

and'it has been detided
countriés, that a jury mayd
duty 1o examine it most ute nnd
myst say, that it has very seldom p
that a j I:E has found a verdlcl of conviction
upon such, single testimony alone. Now u,
whether there be any circumstance to corros
borate him. He said, that the papers, wi
he identified, were in  the ssnon of T
mas Keau h{a H A‘i’&da‘?’m ver Carlet
sworn, that nd thesev to
which Lawler stated he was :"!m:l!"':
possession of Kenpedy. Now,, certunlz, gene
tlemep, it must strike you miost A
that this is more con tory, of tbc te
mon against Kennedy, dnn agunst
teslimony may  be conﬁrmua
sgainst Kennedy, and, not
r{ratthebar There iy evi ncetooonﬁ
is mdn’s testimony as to one person
and ot as to othrers. I must exhon you
to altend to his testimony, and see whethes
it be consisteat in all its , and to recols
féct the inlinner in which it was given, and
rstandings sre 'absojutely coerced
ra, then you mtist fing the pmou:?
guilty, 'Butif from the special circumstanced
x‘ rational doubt rests’ upon your minds, l‘
will be your duty to.acquit the prisoner

VB

r. Baron Geprge—Gentlemen of
an I ami sure with
ly necessary oy
r? w,hat ouh;u lwn':;!s 2:3
ie two judges, who

d’igﬂau ut,p?e Tﬁ:’nlo‘l?srvw

wmm%m
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s g *\of Yhe pgtds tommynicated to
! ‘Bist:'k-at‘t, ~He was known by

v the party to bave been sworn in.
r’uiew were any thing doubtful, I say,
wht ‘passed i those seversl assemblies, to

! whidli'the witneds got admittance, will be fair
- gaatter to byplain what passed at the first.
¢ {i it were proved, that the designs of
subsequent ,;saem&lies, were inno-

gent and lawful, that would, on the part of
- theiprisoner, clear yp the transaction in Bar-
“rack-street, If thiese were any thing doubtful
in ft. Then, gentlemen, if there be any thing
doubtful, and it appears that by the means

. mpnned o him he got admittance into as-
semblies where treasonable practices were
xs‘:- {ﬁ;watd, will not that evidence tp
e object of the proceeding in Barrack-
Therofore you see, that if the ori-
nsaction was criminal, the subsequent
firocecdings ‘cxplain his guilt; and if they
were inoocent, they will shew his innocence.

' going
oW,
rect?

, gentlgmen, I think the Court were

Hghtin letting in that evidence, to give all
e light ;tp the case which the law allows.
Gant yeu sxe 1o consider this case
pnder% ts circumstances; and you are to
- cansider be  satisfied with account

?

gwen by Lawlgr upon the table; you are to
mymg%, wbethupyou think it true or fulse;
hud if, under the circumstances, Sron believe jt
fo be true, you are bound to find the prisoner:

nlx; —sut if you,feel such a doubt as rea-
sonable .men may entertain, you are then
heund to asquit bin.

- (%he Juwy then wetired, and ceme back in
» . sbout tweaty minutes.] - -

Jankts hikde i g Froason,

CACPtes. . fHep

cohuun'ﬁ tﬁegaz and e:g:“‘:i‘? ;‘:qm

of an indictment: if a0y of these essential
requisites be qmitted, the indictment Is yiy-
ated, and the judgment myst be érxes‘w.
Every indictment, and ,th_e:r}:)te every count
ought to have a formal conclusion; hege the
first count has nat such conclusion. It dogs
not say against the allegiaqcp—againgt ; e
[peace—or contrary to the statute. Thergfore
the first count isto be thrown out of consides-
ation, Byt the jury having, notwithstand-
ing the direction of the Court, returped a ge-
neral xerdict, it became necessary to exam
the secopd cqunt, and that is objectional
for uncertainty in the specificafion of the
offence. “The indictment is fgunded upon the
ngtpte, apd ought to umue,t‘%‘w_o ds of it—
The statute says, “ if 2 map b erent to
the king’s enemies, and give ‘them aid and
| comfort either mithin the realim, on elicwhere”
—The dstuncu;lre arficle jo l_li& s%nmm
creates a secongd offence, perfectly distinct
from. the fitst. One offence is ad{lering 40
the kmg's enemios within the yeam: the
other is adhering to them withoyt the realm.
This is somewhat & new casa. ;lﬁw taken
Funs to seprch for &receden_&s of jndictments
ar adhering to the king’s enemijes, and have
found but one jn the reign of Elizabeth, hrs
itis so vagué and such a riddle as,not 4o hel
a moment. ,But referring 1o the.words of the
gtatyte, I wish to know, for which affenge
this man is indicted in the s¢cq w“we
indictment,should state that he adh to
the king’s enemies within Urg,rmld{n. or that
he adheged to them without, according to the
words of the stalute constituting the crime.

* (Cherk af the Crown.—How say ye, gentle- | These is a .siong reasop for this.

;qcr}qf-  Jury, have ye agreed to your ver- | he were.acquijted, he m{:gbt b}:‘mdm d for

djes? , adhering to the king’s, ies without the
Jury—We have. realm, and[he cquldfnotm uterfois acgu¥t,

. JClerk of -the. Crown—Who shall say for | because .he wowld .be .m!d.l.gej dictmgnts
o weze .not the agme. Thesefore ﬁ;is i

- Jurg.~Cpur foreman. ment heing essentially defective i, omitling

B k of the «Crown.—Gaoler, make a bar, | the words of the statyte, the.man js pot con-

set James Weldon forward—How say you, |.visted according %o law, 1 take;shis to be.s

§olegien of the jury, is James Weldon | rule, that whese w0 shings age included
filty of the treasgn whergof he, stands jp- | within.a sentence, geparate in their, nal

dicted, or not? | . ,|'a man.cepnot e indicted indiscrimingte

. Zorewa ty. for both, .but ; the - indigtment , shopld . distip-
The prisoner was thereypon brought back!| guish between .them. (There . might baye

'%o' Newgate, and the Cqurt adjourped to next fgaon.a.tbird.q«mfor hesing, to, the kipg's

SO | snamies withén, the. realm.ar. @ hout, and

(R 24 e}

o Wednesday, December 30th.

] .
.m‘ Weldon was this day ordered up for
g sentence,

i ! -

+ “Hiis indictment was réad, and he was asked
mv. he hid' to s:g? wg;djud ent of death
1d not be pronounced st him ?
M, l&'ng‘o—;gd ‘lcu'd:),'g I :g&uj“l(;umbly
aﬁlt our _that ent
'ty ‘ca "oiightwbea'msted. ﬁEachsc:::unt'.

is in the mature of a separate,
VOL. XXVI. .

| » general vergict would prevent any objecligp.

r. Attorney’ Genera —ﬁy lb:d:,u??:gﬁl
be very unnecessary for me to give you much
trouble. It is said, you should arrest the
judgment for eor in both the counts. Itis
saig each count should be considered in itself
as a complete indictment. _For the substance
of the charge, the rule is so. But where
there are many counts, each specifying an
offence, the indictment have one general
conclusion, going te the w. ole. As here, to
simplify the &lpnsqner is charged with
tomipassing the of the king, and the

U
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next count specifies a new charge, that of
adhering to the king’s enemies. Both being
thus specified, and there being prefato
matter, stating what the prisoner was and his
desi then cowes the general conclusion-
of the indictment, applying to both counts.
If any man of common understanding, clear
of technical modes of reasoning, read thjs in-
dictment, he will find so; and it is according
to the order used since the introduction of the
English law, the conclusion always going to
every count contained in the indictment.
- After having stated what the designs were,
it says, he is guilty of compassing the king's
death, and of adhering to the king’s enemies,
and “then there is a general conclusion
not confined to one or other count, but
going to both offences included within the
same statute. I believe all that which was
30 much to the disgrace of the law, in taking
technical objections, has been exploded, in
a variety of instances; and provided substan-
tial justice has heen done, courts of justice do
‘not attend to objections of this sort, unless
they are absolutely bound so todo. 1If in the
common course of lan, this conclusion
<an be applied to hoth charges, your lordships
will do so,according to the' modes now adopted
ypon cases of this sort, and it will be sufficient
to refer your lordships to your own under-
standing, without farther argument.

- A» to the second objection, it is somewhat
savouring of substance, hat the indictment
should state. whether he adhered to the king's
enemies, either within the realm or without.
An objection of that sort heing made, I ex-
pectedJ that some precedent would be shows,
or some authority that would warrant the
objection. This indictment is conformable
10 the precedents I have seen, and when your
lordships look into the statute, you will find
there can be no ground for the objection—
“ within the realm or elsewhere”—is not part
of the description of the crime, as set forth
upon the face of the statute. The crime is
“ adhering to the king's enemies’—that is
what the statute has declared — ¢ If any
man levy war, or be adherent to the king’s
enemies in the realm, and gives them com-
fort elsewhere”—if he adhere to them, by
giving them comfort in the realm or else-
where—in a word, as if the statute said—
¢« If he give them aid, let them be where they
may”—lel the act-done be within the realm

, of without, he is alike guilty of adhering to

Trials of the Defenders—

rese

the king’s enemies Your lordships see by the
contexk‘ they are superfluous words, because’
it clearly shows, that if aid be given any.
where, the party giving it, will be guilty.

[Here Mr. Attorney-general was st.opped.]'

Mr. Justice Chamberlain. — We will not
trouble you any farther, and it- would not be
fair to the man, if we by our conduct insi-
nuated, that the objections were likely to
prevail. We are of opinion, that the objec-
tions are not founded; that the conclusion
in sense and according to precedents goes to
both counts. So it 1s .in all declarations.
Therefore there is nothing in the first objec-
tion.—We are also of opinion, that thees-
sence of the offence is adbering to the king’s
enemies, and it is immaterial where they are.
It is an offence not constituted by statute,
but an offence at common law, and the sta-
tute only says, that no man shall be indicted
but for treason, as there specified it is not
created by the act—--And indeed, if it were
necessary, it does substantially appear, be-
cause two overt acts state, that an open and
public war is carried on by the French, and
that the prisoner was adhering to the per-
sons exercising the government of France.
So that if it were necessary, it is substantially
charged that he was adhering to the enemies,
without the realm.

Mr. Justice Finucane—I agree, that the
conclusion goes to both counts; and with re-
gard to the last count, I think the statute is
completely complied with in this indictment.
¢ Be adherent to the king’s enemies within
the realm or elsewhere.”-—At the time this
statule was passed, no treason could be tried,
but treason within the realm, and that is the
treason specified, ¢ giving them aid within the
realm” -— then are added the words, “ or
without”—How is the charge here? that the
prisoner at Liffey-street in the city of Dublin
~The locality is annexed to the person ad-
hering, not to the enemy to whom he adhered.
Therefore this is a sufficient charge within
the words of the statute. :

Mr. Baron QGeorge..—~1 concur perfectly
with the rest of the Court.

Mr. Baron George then, after a suitable
and pathetic exordium, pronounced the sen-
tence of the law, that the prisoner be éxecuted

-on the 2d of March, 1796.

Weldon was execuled at the frong of New+
gate, pursuagt to bis sentence.
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Michecd Maguire for High Treason.
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613. Proceedings on the Trial of MicaarL Macuirs for High

+

Treason, before the Court holden under a Commission of

_ Oyer and Terminer at Dublin, on Thursday December
g 24th: 36 GeorcE III. A, p. 1795.*

Counry Cocrr.‘
Thursday, December 24.

MICHAEL MAGUIRE was indicted for
Ksh treason in compassing the king’s death

adhering to his enemies, in support of

which a number of overt acts were stated, the
Ezci])a.l of which was, that in order to enlist

mas Roden, a fifer in the 104th regiment,
to join with, and become a Defender, to aid
and assist the persons ex'ercisi? the powers
of government in France, he did keep and de-
fain him from his regiment for the space of ten
days, and did give him during that time, by
way of stipend, at the rate of six-pence per

e
b indictrnen;lis not %et forth in this case‘i
prosecution having been given up, an

therefore the reporter v%ould nogl.‘ have menti-
oned it,” except to notice & proceeding which
bad the appearance of novelty to some; but
being sanetioned by the approbation of three
Jjudges, may serve asa precedent in cases under
sipilar circumstances.

The prisoner having pleaded not guilty, and
a jury being sworn, Mr. Prime Serjeant stated
the case on the sart of the crown, and the
witness was called.

' Thomas Roden, sworn—Examined by Mr.
Attorney General

Where were you born ?—In Staffordshire.
What brought you here ?—1I - enlisted for a
soldier.

- I what regiment?—In the 104th regi-

ment. .
What was the nature of your
iment?—A fifer. .
id that regiment come td Ireland ?—
Yes, gluse you, my lord, it cane to Belfast.
Did you come with it>—Yes.

- How long ago M—Tliree quarters of a year.
Where did it go to ?—From Manchester.
But after you came to Belfast, where did

you go & ?<To Dublin.
Luol: at the prisoner; did you ever see him

4duty in that

:‘ Taken by Wm. Ridgeway, esqr. barrister
ot L ‘ i

[The witness hesitated.]

Which is the man ; point out Michael Ma-
ﬁnre!;]—l neither see Michael Maguire, nor

urphy. .

De you know Michael Maguire?—If I
should see him, I should know him. .

Do you see him ?

| The Witness looked about, but made no an-
swer.—He was then desired to look
through all the seats, beginning with the
first row, until his cyes reached .the
dock.——After doing so, he sald—I do
not see him].
Look again in the same manner?—I do
not see him.

[The witness was then desired to withdraw,
and the sub-sheriff of the county was de-
sired not to suffer any person to speak
to him.]

Mr. Attorney General.—My lords, if I be-
lieved that the witness had thrown bis eyes
towards the dock, I should desire to have the
prisoner acquitted immediately. Bue the

ntlemen round me say, he did not throw

is eyes to the dock. I shall now desire, as
has been practised at the Old Bailey, that the
prisoner may be brought forward to the front
seat, and that some persons, as nearly of his
own condition in appearance as may be should
be placed there along with him.

This was accordingly done. The gentlemen
of the bar retired from the front scat—the
prisoner was placed there, and five or six per-
sons, taken from the crowd of auditors, were
placed along with him.

The witness was then brought in, and de-
sired to look at the several persons, sitting in
the first seat, beginning at one and looking on
to the other.

The witness did so, and after looking at
them for some’ time, he laid his finger wpon
the head of a person who was not the pri-
soner.

The witness was ordered off the table, and
thé prisoner was acquitted.

Musarny was then put upon his trial, given
in_charge to the jury, and the witness not
being produced, the prisoner was acquitted.

The Court adjourned.
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614. Proceedings on the Trial of Jonn Leary for High Treason,
before the Court holden under a Commission of Oyer
and ‘Terminer at Dublin, on Monday -December 28th :
36 GeorGE III. A. p. 1795.# .

. City Court.
Monday, December 28¢k 1795.

QHN LEARY was arraigned upon the

llowing itdictment, thé caption of which
being the ditite a’ézﬁaf det foftg ifi the case of
Weldon, is omitted.

€ountybdf the City {“The Jorors for our lord
‘ lint to wit. L the King upon their
« oath prevent that g opl#i and public war
“od the twentieth ddy of August ifr the
« thirty fifth year of the reign of our soveteign
“lord Geeorge the third bj. the Grace of God
¢ of Great Britain France andIreland King de-
“ bz?_de,r of the Faith and. so forth and lon
“ befdre wdsatid ever sitice hitherto by lan
“ andl by sea Hath beetr and yet is carried on
“and prosecited by the persons exercising
¢ the powers of government in Franice dgainst
“duf tost serene, illustrious and excellent
¢ prince our said lord the how kihg and that
“ John Lesary of the city of Dublin yéoman in
“ the said coiity of the tity of Dublin a sub-
“ ject of our said lord the king, of hiskingdom
# of Ireldnd well knowing the premises but
“ 1idt having the fear of God in his heart; nor
“ weighing the duty of his allegiance and
“ being moved and seduced by the instigation
4 of the devil as a false trditor of out said
“lord the now king his supreme true lawful
% and undoubted lord the cordial love and true
& obedience which every true and dutiful sub-
¢ ject of our said sovereign lord the king to-
% wards him our said lord the king shoul
@ beat wholly withdrawing and contriving
“and with all his strength intending
f‘ Eeace and common tranquillity of ‘this
% kingdom of Ireland to disturb and the go-
% vernment of our said lord the king of this his
“ kin d%m of Ireland to subvert and our said
¥ Jord the king from his royal state title ho-
% nour power imperial crown and government
¢ of this his kingdom of Irelahd to depose and
“ desrive and our said lord the king to death
% and final destruction to bring he the said
“ John Leary on the twentieth day of Auigust
“ §n the thirty- fifth year of our #aid lord the
% king and on divers other days dnd tites
“ as wcll before as after that day at Suffolk-
“ street in the parish of St. Andrew in the
¢ city of Dublin and in the county of the said
« city of Dublin aforesaid with force and arms
« falsely wickedly and traitorously did com-

¢ Taken by W. Ridgeway, Esqr.

the

¢ pass imagine 4nd intend thé said lord the
¢ king then and there his suprese true and
“ lawful lord of and from tfre ro{al state crowp
« fitle power and goverament of this his réalm
< of Irelan 1 to depose and 'wli deprive arid
“the said lord the king % kil and put te
¢ death and that to fulfd and bring.to éffect
“ his most evil wicked and t le II)?'I-' gi
“ nations and compassings aforesaid ho the'
“ said John Leary as such false traitor aw
¢ aforesaid and during the said war between
“ our said lord the king and the persons so e-
“ercising thé powers of government in
“ France to witon the said twentiéth day of
¢ August in the sald.thirty-fifth year of the
« reign aforesaid at Suffolk-street aforesaid in
“ the patish of St Andrew aforesaid and . in
“ the county of the daid city of Dublin afores
“ gaid with fotos and arms falsely and traiters
¢ orbusly did join wnite and associate himeelf
“ with divers false tisitors to the jorord
« aféredaid as yet unknown and did then and
“ there with such false traitors to the
¢ jurors aforesaid unknown emter into and
“ me oné of a party and socitty
“ formed and associzted under the denemina«
“ tioh of Defenders with desigus aad for the
“ purpose of aiding assisting and adhering te
¢ the said persons so exercising the powers of
« poverninent in France and so waging wat as
«“ aforesaid against ouf said sovéreign lord the
“ now king in case they should invade or txdse
“ to beinvaded this his kingdom of Irelahd
“and afterwards and during the said war
“ between our said lord the king and the said
‘¢ persons so exercising the powers of governs
“ ment in France and enémies of our said lord
“the king on the twentieth day of August in
“ the said lhh'tz-ﬁfth year of the reign of eur
¢ said lord the king ahd on divers other days,
“ as well before as after that day with fotce
“ and arms at Suffolk-street aforesaid in the
¢ parish of St. Andrew aforesaid in the city of
“ lin aforesaid and county of the shid
¢ city of Dublin aforesaid he the said John
“ Leary as such false traitor as aforesaid in
¢ further prosecution of his treason and traitors
¢ ous purposes aforesaid did with divers other
« false traitors whose names are to the jurors
« of our said lord the king as yeturknoWn,
¢ then and there meet and assemble to vonfie
« treat and consult for and about the adhering
“ aiding and assisting of the said persons ex-
¢ ercising the powers of government in France
“ as aforesaid and being enemies of our said
“lord the king in case they should invade
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@ or caase tb be this bis kingdom of
& Ireland and s to wit ort the twen-
« tieth day of August i the thirty fifth year
« of the aforesaid and on divers other
4 days as well before as after that day with
@ foree and arms at Suffolk-street aforesaid in
“ the parish of St. Andrew aforesaid in the
* city of lin aforesaid and county of the
“ city of Dublin aforesaid the said John Leary
“ as'such false traitor as aforesaid in further
* prosecution of his treason and traitorous
¢ purposes aforesdid did then and there with
“ divers othet false traitors whose names to
“ the said jurors are yet unknown wickedly
“and trsitordusly associate and unite
“himself to and with divers other false
“ traitors unknowh to the jurors aforesaid
“end didalong with the said false traitors
“ 1t the jurors unknown enter into and
“ beeome ane of & party and society united
“and assotisted under the denomination
“ of Defénders with design and for the end and
“ purpose of deposing, subverting and over-
“ mming the E:vemmentof thiskingdomas by
“ lawes and so associated 2nd united
“ as sforesaid did then and there and on divers
“ other dxysand times as well before as after
“ thatday with divers other falsetraitors to the
“ jurors aforesaid unknown meet and assem-
* ble to confer consult and deliberate on and
“ sbout the means and measures for effect-
“ ing. his aforesaid traitorous and nefarious
“ gns add and afterwards to
“ wit on the twentieth day of August
“in the sxid thiny-fifth year of the reign
% aforesaid and on divers other days and
“ times as well before as after that day with
“ force and arms at Suffolk-street aforesaid
“in the parish of St. Andrew aforesaid and
% coutity of the city of Dublin the said
S John Leary as such false traitor as afore-
“ said in further prosecution of his treason
®and traitorous purposes did then and there
¢ with divers other false traitors whose
@ names to the said jutors are yet unknown
€ wickedly and traitorvusly associate and
< umite with divers other iyalse traitors to
# the said jurors as yet unknown and did
* along with said false traitors to the jurors
« aforesaid unknown enter into and become
« one of a party and society united and asso-
¢ ciated under the denomination of Defenders
« with design and for the end and purpose of
% subverting and overturning the Protestant
@ religion in this kingdom as by law es-
& tabiished and so associated and united as
= aforesaid did then and there and on divers
% othrer days and times as well before as
2 after that day meet and assemble with divers
& false traitors as yet unknown to confer con-
“ salt and detiberate on the means and mea-~
“sires for effecting his aforesaid traitorous
“and nefarious designs and purposes and
:tﬂerov}m;ds to witun:n th;: s:id mﬁﬂh

t in the 3aid thirty- year
“ d.y!he rei:ngn:foresaid on“;':lms other
* dayses well befure as after that day with
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-“foree snd arms a4 Seffolk-strect aforesaid
'« in the parish of St, Andrew aforesaid in

* the city of Dublin aforesaid and county of
“ the eity of Dublin aforesaid the said fofm
¢ Leary as such false traitoras aforesaid in far-
« ther prosecution of his treason and traitorous
“ purposes did then aud there with divers
“ others false traitors whose namesto the said
& jurors are yet unknown wickedly and traitor.
® ously im order to enlist and procure a lie,
“ subject of our said lord the king then nﬁ
“ there being whose name is to the juro
« aforesaid a3 yet unknown to be aiding an
@ assisting the persons so exercising the
‘ powers of government in France, and ene-
“ mies of our said lord the king as afure-
“ said in case they should invade or canse to
“ be invaded this his kingdom of Ireland dig
“then and there traitorously administer 4
“ certain profession declaration and cate-
“ chism to the said person whose name is
“ to the jurors aforesaid as yet unknown ta
“ the rmport following that is to .
¢« } am concerned—So am I.—With who?
# ¢ _With the Nationa] Convention (meanin
® ¢ therebythe National Convention of France
“¢ —Whatis your designs?>—On freedom,
% ¢ Where is your designs?—The foundation
“¢of itis nded in a rock,.—wlrnat is your
« ¢ designs¥ Cause to quesl 2l! nations. "De.
% ¢ throne all ——gs (meaning thereby
“ ¢ kings), to_plaat the true religion in the
# ¢ hearts, be just.—Where did the cock crow
“¢ when the whole world heard him ?—In
¢ ¢ France—What is the pass word ?—Eli-

| ¢ phismatis.”

“ And afterwards to wit on the said twen-
¢ tieth day of August in the said thirty-fifth
® year of the reign aforesaid and on divers
“ other days as well before as after that day
“ with force and arms at Suffolk-street in
¢ the Parish of St. Andrew aforesaid in the
“ city of Dublin aforesaid and county of the
“city of Dublin aforesaid the said John
“ Leary as such false traitor as aforesaid in
# further prosecution of his treason and trai-
® torous putposes aforesaid did then and there
“ with divers other false traitors whose names
“ o the said jurors are yet unknown wick
“ edly and traitorously in order to enlist pro=
“ cure ‘and cornlct a subject of our said
*¢ Jord the king whose name is to the jurors
“ aforesaid as yet unknown to be aiding ang
“ assisting to the said persons so exercisin
“ the powers of government in France an&
“ enemies of our said lord the king as afore-
“ said in case they should invade or causc to
“ be invaded this his kingdom of Ireland and

4410 bind and engage himself thereto, did then

‘ and there traitorously administer to and in-
“ struct the said subject of our said lord the
“ king whose name to the jurors aforesaid is
“ as yet unknown to rehearse and repeat a
“ certain profession declaration and catechism
“ to the purport following that is to sa ‘
@ ¢ I am concerned.—So am I.—With who ?
#¢ —with the National Conven;ion (meaning -
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¢ thereby the National Convention ,of
¢« ¢ France). — What is your designs? —On
«'« freedom.—Where is your designs?—The
« ¢ foundation of it is grounded ip a rock.—
«¢ ¢ What is_your designs ?—Cause to queal
< ¢ all nations, dethrone. all—gs (meaning
& ¢ thereby all kings), to plant the true reli-
« ¢ gion in the bearts, be just.—Where did
% ¢ the Cock crow when the whole world
¢ ¢ heard him?—In France.—What is the
“e word ?—Eliphismatis.’ .
“ And afterwards to wit on the said twen-
« tieth day of August in the said thirty-fifth
“ year of the reign aforesaid and on divers
“ other days as well before as after that day
“ with force and arms at Suffolk-street afore-
“ gaid in the parish of St. Andrew aforesaid
¢ in the city of Dublin and county of the city
“ of Dublin aforesaid the said John Leary as
& such false traitor as aforesaid in further pro-
“ secution of his treason and traitorous pur-
o« s:)ses aforesaid did then and there with
« divers other false traitors whose names are
“ 10 the said jurors as yet unknown wickedly
“and trai y in order to encourage
“ corrupt procure and enlist the said person
& whose name is to the jurors aforesaid as
¢ yet unknown to become one of a gany or
« gociety formed for the purpose of subvertin
¢ the government of this kingdom of Irelan
& as by law established did then and there
“ traitorously encourage corrupt procure and
¢ enlist the said person whose name is to the
“ jurors aforesaid as yet unknown to join him-
“ self to end become one of a party or saciety
« formed and united for the purpose of sub-
« verting the government of this kingdoni of
“ Ireland as by law established and after-
¢ wards to wit on the said twentieth day of
¢ August in the said thirty-fith year of the
¢ reign aforesaid and on divers other days as
“« we?l before as after that day with force and
¢ arms at Suffolk-street aforesaid in the pa-
¢ rish of St. Andrew aforesaid in the city of
¢ Dublin aforesaid and in the county of the
¢ city of Dublin aforesaid he the said John
¢ Leary as such false traitor as aforesaid in
¢ further prosecution of his treasqn and trai-
¢ torous purposes aforesaid did then and there
« with divers other false traitors whoge names
“to the said jurors are yet unknown wick-
“ edly and traitorously in order to enlist and
« said person whose nawe is to the
¢ jurors aforesaid as yet unknown to be
* aiding and assisting to the persons ex-
“ ercising the powers of government in France
¢ and enemies of our said lord the king as
“ aforesaid in case they should invade or
“ cause to be invaded this his kingdom of
¢ Ireland and then and there traitorously ad-
“‘minister and cause to be adinistered an
“ unlawful oath to the said person whose
““‘name is to the jurors aforesaid as yet
:unlmown to the purport following that is
to say )
‘I, A. B. of my own good will and .con-
@ ¢ sent, do swear to be true to his majesty

. -Triaks of the Defenders— =

(a0

« ¢ king George the third, whilst Ilive uader
“ ¢ the same govrnmenb—ljoro, I swear to.
“¢be true, aiding aud assistant to every.
¢ ¢ brother bound to me by this application,
“ ¢ and in every form of article from its first.
*¢ ¢ foundation, January 1780.—And in every.
« ¢ amendment hitherto— and will be obe-.
“ ¢ dient to my committees, superiors, com-.
« ¢« manders, and officers in all lawful proceed-.
‘ ¢ings and not otherwise, nor will I consent.
“¢to an{ society or any brother of an um-
“¢lawful character, but will observe and.
“ ¢ gbey the laws and regulations of my com-
“ ¢ mittee to whom 1 bS:mg determined bro-
¢ ¢ ther, nor in any violation of the laws but
“ ¢ to protect my life and property, and the
“¢lives and properties of my brethern—
«“¢ And I will subject myself to my commit-
“¢ tee-men in all fawful proceedinf, and not
“ ¢ otherwise, during the reign of his majesty-
“ ¢« king George the third, whilst 1 live under
¢ ¢ the same government—I likewise swear I
“ ¢ will meet when and where my commit-:
¢ tee will please, and will spend what is:
¢ ¢ pleasing to president and company—I will
“ ¢ not quarrel nor strike any person what-
<« ¢ gomever, knowing him to be such, but will:
“ ¢ live lovingly and friendly with every one:
“ ¢ ynder that denomination—I will not rise-
“¢any fight or quarrel on account of my
“we gresent intrus, or back that for unto my
¢ ¢ brotherhood.’ .
“ And the said jurors of our said lord the.
“ king upon their oath further present that an
“ open and public war on the said twentieth.
¢ day of August in the thirty-fifth year of the.
“ reign of our said lord George the third and:
“ goforth and long before was and cver since
¢ and hitherto by land and by sea hath been
¢ and is carried on and prosecuted by the said
¢ persons exercising the powers of government
¢ in France against our most serene illustri-
“ ous and exccllent prince George the third
« now king of Ireland and soforth and that
< the said John Leary a subject of our said
“lord the king of his kingdom of Ireland
“ well knowing the premises not haviog the.
¢ fear of God in his heart nor weighing the
“ duty of his allegiance bul being moved.
‘“ and seduced by the instigation of the devil
“as a false traitor against our. most serene.
¢« and illustrious and excellent prince G
¢ the third now king of Ireland and soforth
¢ and contriving and with all his strength in-
“ tending the peace of this his kingdom of
“ Ireland to disturb and the government of
“ this his kingdom of Ireland to subvert he
¢ the said John Leary on the twentieth day
“ of August in the thirty-fifth year of the.
¢ reign aforesaid and on divers other days
“ and times as well before as after that day
“ with force and arms at Suffolk-street afore~
«“ said in the parish of St. Andiew aforesaid
“in the city of Dublin aforesaid and county
“ of the said city of Dublin aforesaid un-
“lawfully and traitorously was adhering
“ to aiding and comforting \he said persons
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“ oxercising the powers of govemment in | Thomas Prentice, merchanty set by i the
“ Fuince and being “enemies of our | part of the crown, <.
« said Jord the king as aforesaid and that in | Thomas Wilkinson, merchast.

*.the grosecution ‘performance and execution
“ of the said-traitorous adhering of him the
“ gaid John Leary to the persons exercising
¢ the powers of guvernment in France and
¢ being enemies of our said lord the present
“ king and the said persons so exercising the
“ powers of government in France to wit on
“ the said twentieth day of August in the
“ said thirty-fifth year of the reign aforesaid
“ at Suffolk-street aforesaid in the parish
¢ aforesaid and in the county of the city of
“ Dublin aforesaid with and arms
“ falsely maliciously and traitorously did join
“ unite_and associate himself to and with
“ divers false traitors to the jurors as yet uu-
“ known and did then and there with such
“ false traitors to the jurors aforesaid as yet
“ unknown enter into and one of a
& party and society formed and associated
** under the denomination'of Def;n:&ts with
“ design and for the purpose of aiding as-
. sistihg and adhering to the said persons
“ 50 exercising the powers of government
“Cin France and so ing war as aforesaid
“ with our said sovereign lord the king in
“ case they should invade or cause to be in-
¢ vaded this his kingdom of Ireland”

The indictment then set out the same
overt acts as are contained in the first count.

The prisoner pleaded Not Guilty, and the
sheriffs having returned their panel, it was
called over,

Sir James Bond, bart. challenged peremp-
torily by the prisoner, - :

Hugh Carncross, esq. chiallenged peremptorily
by the prisoner. - '

Joa:sh Dickinson, esq. same.

Lundy Foot, esq. sime. ,

Hugh Crothers, esq. sworn.

George Overend, esq. sworn.

Daniel Geale, merchant, sworn.

Samue} Tyndal, merchant, sworn.

William Dickinson, merchant, challenged
peremptorily by the prisoner. -

William Galway, merchant, same.

William Fhompson, merchant, same.

Isaac Maunders, merchant, same.

Robert King, merchant, set by on the part of
the crown.

Richard Jackson, merchant, sworn.

John Minchin, merchant, challenged peremp-
torily by the prisoner.

Simon Verpoyle, merchant, same.

David Weir, merchant, same.

Henry Charles Sirr,* esq. same.

Sﬁma! eton, esq. same.

in Wotdward, merchant, sworn.

Mead Nesbitt, merchant, set by on the part
‘of the erown, :

Joho Rutherford, merchant, same.

QGeorge Armstrong, merchant, sworn.

© The celebrated Town Major of Dublia.

‘| istence of a God, and rewards

Jonas Pasley, merchant, challenged |
-torily by the prisoner. BeC peromp:

Edward Armstrong, merchant, sworn.

Godfrey Pillsworth), merchant, set by on the
part of the crown.

George Carleton, merchant, challenged pe-
remptorily by the prisoner.

William Mullock, merchant, set by on the

: t of the crown. .

John Farange, merchant, challenged peremp- °
torily by the prisoner. .

challenged pe-

Willism M‘Kenzie, merchant,
remptorily by the prisoser.

Archibald Tredenbnick, merchant, sworn .

Edward Whitehead, merchant, set by on the’
part of the crown.

James Atkinson, merchant, sworn.

Hugh Cochran, merchiant, challenged pe-
remptorily by.-the prisoner.

Frederick Dugdale, merchant, set by on the
part of the crown. . ’

Cornelius Gautier, merchant, sworn.
TUE JURY.

Hugh Crothers. Benfamin Woodward.
George Overend. George Armstrong. *
Daniel Geale. - Edward Armstrong,
Samuel Tyndall. Arch. Tredenhick. *
Richard Jackson. James Atkinson.
David Weir. Cornelius Gautier. -

The prisoner was then given ia c to
the jury, and Mr. Attorney General s the

case pretty much to the same effect as in
Weldon's trial, the reporter therefore does not
think it necessary to insert it, particularly as
any thing new whidb arose in the case, was
3“ ly observed upon in spesking to the evi-

.dence. - . .
. William Lawler was produced, but befope

he was sworn,

Mr. M‘Nally—Do you believe in the ex-
and punish-
ments hereafier d—I do.

The witness was then sworn.—Examined by
Mr. Prime Sergeant.

_Of what country are you?—Of Ireland,

sir. :
To what profession or trade were you bred?
—To the Protestant religion. '
To what trade !—The gilding.
‘Where have you worked ?—In Ireland.
Any where else ?—In England. <
At what time have you worked there }—In
hat time did you return ?~Two years.
During your residence in England, were .
you of any society ?—Yes, -
S“Whn Seciety?—The London Corresponding

"Af your rewn to Treland, did you be-
zénumembetofmy society in Dublin t—{

‘the year 1791.
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fpf whet sopielyd—i <a netiknow the aame |
it. .
° \leat became of that®ocisty —¥t was dis-

Didyou become a member of any other ?—
I did. . ‘
Of what ?—The Telegraph and Philanthro-

pic societies.

Thesc were two differest societies ?—Yes.

‘Do you remember the.name of any pecson
~fhowas a member of either, or which ef
them ?— Jobn %::ke"b& m&

-d3o you reeollect / t.
of disguossion, or debate was?—After Burke.
Seund the first meciety was dissoiwed, and he
was expelled the sellege, be collected ten per-

sons,d ‘was eae, and he.told us the ohject of | do
@ath was to ‘get ten, and each of theseten |

was to gel five, as they would have & num-
ber sufficient to take’ castle. ‘One hud-
4ozed wene 10 get soldiers’ clothes, by which
the citizens wouwld shink the soldiess bad

themm. .
In the course of last summer did you:be-:
.come a member.of any other society i—When
we had made up our ten, we were to inform,
Burke, and having made-up my ten, I did in-,
form hlné:nd.hc ot a room in-High-atrast
for the different 1ens to meet in, '
Did they meet?—They did, and ke called,
ber ‘poupoced sy fend, B (heught proper,
P nd he )
and heuwdiayy was elected a.mem Pﬂ'
Pray, sir, have you ever heard of any!
-or get of ‘men, known by the pame of
intifre country P—1I ‘have.
Wete 'you ‘ever admitted & Defender?—1;
‘was,in Barrack.street.
Anttby whom ?~By Wellon.
“Whiat 'Weldon -Of the Black horse.
- Do ‘you reeollect the manmner-im ‘which
you were admitted?—By an oath adminis-
“tered, ordeclaration ; two papers weve vead. °
Where are they P—1I do not know.

- 'I:will-show them .to you-{produeing twol

papers]—Jook - ut these
the papers 1 was swort’ to by Welden.

as auy other communication made to.
You; any sign, or signal?—Weldon showed'
me the signs, so as to know a ‘Defender. i

Lridls of the Befendrrs~— s
Did you evar wee .shose papers.in. the pos-
aesys'iuananymn-aﬂhcmafw L4
—_ Bir. ,
" And you told Aldarman James, that he
would find them with Keunedy ?~Yas. '
‘Where ?—At the post-office.
in what part about Kennedy :—1In his fob.
After you'were swosh in Barrack-sjreet, was
4here any mention of any future meelingd—
Weldon was asked when there wauld be any
aneeting : he gaid these would be @ meeting in
Thomas-stzeet, he believed, in the goprse of

Ahe next - week, and he inform Beady
let us.know.
How seon.afler you were sworn, mas there

any meeting, at which you were present i—d
not know. It was of a Sunday. E
fbe tipe,

Can you form any belief 38 to
e:ﬂbethnrnwuk.ot&mauh?—-nmwhns

er.

‘Where -was that meeting?—Ia Plunkes-
Blreet ; it was Boad andlzmnedyb bt
me there. I was welki on;Swda';.?nd
dhey t me there.

Do you.know Jabn Leary ?—Ves, sir.

Point him out 20 the Court and the Jury 2~
There he is in the dock. . .

Be #0 ,good @s to tell the Cowst.apd the
Jury, who were at the mw:ﬁm P
street, as you know ?—Brady and Keqqpedy-

Who else?—I cannot say exactly.
Can you say, was Leary there?—I think
the first place 1 saw him was at Stoneybatter.
Than am I to undevstand you-o pay, she-
therde was at Plupket-atreet, ot .noti—He
might be there for aught I know.
ad -you do not know lve was st Rlanket-
street ?—I do not.
~ How lon%h:ﬁcr the meoting at Plunket~
Street was the meeting at Stoneybatier :—1
cannot say.
I do not mean that you should tell exaclly
;—It was after the mesting at Plunket-sixaet.
es, sir.
You saw Lesry there ?—Yes.
You are pasitive you aw him there d-I did.
Hew same: you-10.go there?—Walgh, & sai-
lor, told me ofiit.
And &um with him thepa?—Yes. -
In what character-did you go thosai~hs

. iSlow . to whe Jury - Webioh- t0ld us | going to Defenders.
when we were.in company, and wanted %0 PETIONSWOTRML. Ung P
Steow 0 Wur&emm\pwtheﬁﬂmbrou tina young man, Anather,
two hands joined rbaé th f | along with -him. .
the head, and 1to ;pretand (%0 yaws, when to Mguhseany oath Admininnd,.or.my
draw)éhe ‘hazils ‘down upon dkawe, or'| book produced ?—~Hazthadia book i his hand.
upon the tabls. Fhen -the umswer by | The young sman sesmed amwilling st i
s d omet the forshendand | Hart said,theol amas, 10,as8ist, LheyBrencly
returning it upon the back of .thha lefd-hand : | when they would come.
Thee persew’in -anserer; my torthet,dsaws | Did you hear himmake that declarstion ?—
Shodeft hund.acrsmihe endyandireturns | I did, madall present, er -cloe they must.he
it m&kw oo e sttt o | " "Was Leary I ask youagaindeH
8, X y of as  presen § e
the ri tbundﬁtzunthehckofthehﬁ,tﬁi was, P t" 4
Bét 4o bio wfawidisef Insrt 1 tho pesson, s if|| Was Abese umobocmm to ;xhat
the , Edipdie-'| Hart said by any body ?—No, sir.

Aarahe men o, Ariiasijoany
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thing olse?—He bad sent some to get arms
that night, pistols, and swords :—he desired
them to bring what they had, as they in-
tonded to go out that night; that they knew
& young man at oue of the houses where th:‘);
iontended to go. Leary seemed to be a lit
in lia::r at the time.

_After the young man was sworn did any
thing else happen /—Hart gave the signs and
the , Eli is.

- DM he give the same sign that Weldon

gamou ?—He did.
you hear the purport of the oath ad-
ministered by Hart 2—No.

After swearing, was there an'y proposal
made by Hart ?—He desired such of the young
men as were present, who had not arms, to go
and get arms.

Court.—Had any one arms there ?—I had a
sword and pistol.

Mr. Prime Serjeant.—Was there any other
person with arms?—1 did not see any.

Did Hart exercise any authority, or do any
other act?—He o}“t.h a Committee-man, snd
i consequence e persons not returnin,
he desired every person present to come totlfe’
table, and lay their right hands upon it, and
on their cath to come the naxt nightwitharme.

Did the company obey ?—Every one that
was plesent.

Was Leary present ?—I cannot say, he was
present just at that time.

You say, he was present at the time the
oath was admini p—He was.

And at the time the declaration was made
by Hart of the motives ?—Yes.

After that conversation, were any arms
taken?—Not as I know of. I saw Murphy
ﬁn;émwdmmngeu;;n. 1

sny convereation with Leary P!
had, am own place. )

When wasthat ?—In the course of the week

after.

What did he tell of the proceedings of
that night?-.-He nzlw they went to one house,
where was a great noise, and a ringing
of a bell-—that they had a stone %o throw the
penoel in; he had a blunderbuss in his hand,
and bad gone round to the corner of the house

0 aes the person tbe bell; ho could
not see the bell, and belisved it was in the
chimney-~not seeing it, he came back and

struck the pannel with the butt-end of the
blunderbuss, and broke in the pannel, and
also broke the stock of the blunderbuss. .
Court—Where was this house !—At one
side of Blackhorse-lane,
- Court.~Was it the same night?—I cannot

say.

Court.~What night did you understand it
was P—1 understood from Leary it was the
same night that I had left them, that they
had gone out. .

Mr, Prime Serjeant.—W hat more did hesay
was done a&erwudai-—ﬂe said.h° he belr:,n us
stairs, saw the n ringing t an
tripped the legs m under hite.
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I f whether you said he gave any ac-
count of what became of the blunderbuss ?—
He said, that after tripping the legs from under
the man, they took away the arms that were
in the house.

But what became of ‘the blunderbuss he.
had ?—I understood from bim, that he had
left it with a person to be mended,

Did you see Hart afterwards ?—I did.

Mr. Prime Serjeant.—Had you any conver-
saliccz: With\:'im as to what ?

rt—Was Leary present ?

Witness.—No. P

Court.—Then this is not evidence.,

Mr. Prime Serjeant.—My lords, I do not
wish to it. But here was a direction
Fivenw:x and I want to show how it was

ollo up.

Mr. Justice Chemberlain —1I think it is not
evidence, unless Leary was present.

Mr, Prime Serjeant.—Do you know what
became of the arms which were taken that
night P—Leary told me afterwards, when we
were walking up Blackhorse-lane, and we
came to a house, that it belonged to a Com-
mittee-man, and that the arms were lodged
ina hay-stack belonging to that man. .

Court.—Do you recollect the day?—I do
not, it was either of a Monday or Tuesday.

Was it the Monday, or Tuesday after the
meeting P—No. He bad a pair of women's
shoes, which he had mending, and was going
home with them; we went up Blackhorse-
lane, and we turned into a house. There were
some men siting down in a place where
they had drawn home some hay. Leary spoke
to one of. them, who he told me afterwards

belonﬁ::l to the place. He pointed out to me
the e where the hay bad been, under
which the arms had beea put. Butthe hay

was not thea in the place at that time we saw
it. He said the man told him a person came
to take away the arms as the hay was 1o be
removed.,

Court.—You say there was no hay upon the
place where the arms had been P—There was
not. Both the hay and the arms were re-
moved, for I cowld not see any.

Do you say the prisoner told you the arms
had been removed ?—He said, the man who
owned the place told him, that he gave notice
to the people to remove the arms, as he was
to take away the hay. .

Mr. Prime Serjeant.—You said the owner
ofl:’be hay was a Commitiee-man P—So Leary
told me.

Describe the eituation of the house ?—The
house was on the right hand of the lane, but
we went in at a gate, and when we entered
the gate, the house was on the left side.

Did Leaty tell you with whom he left the
blunderbuss?—1 do not recollect.

Did he tell you the place ?—No. .

Were you at any meeling, after the meet-
ing at Stoneybatter ?—I was, at Nowlan's in
Drury-lane.

Were you at any other?—I was at Toole's,

X
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the upper end of Cork-street, where I was
taken.

Did you know there was to be a meeting
there ?—I did.

Did you suppose it to be a meeting of De-
fenders >—It was: after the army had been
after some of them, I saw Murpl:iy, who had
been taken up, and was afterwards let out.

But did you ever tell any person, that there
wolu‘l;:d be a meeting at Toole’s in Cork-street?

Whom ?—Mr. Cowen and alderman James.

You told of this meeting?—I told them of
it before. It was afler I gave myinformation

that these persons went to Toole’s. 1 knew
they were to meet there to be out of the way
~—Dry and others were to meet—but I had

iven informations of them before, and it was

setiled, that I should be there.

You talked of a meeting at Nowlan's P—
Yes @ in Drury-lane.

Who was at that meeting ?—Coffey was in
the chair; D?, Turner, Cooke, Hart, Lewis,
Kennedy, and Flood.

You have seen all these people at different
meetings of Defenders before ?—J] had not
seen Lewis— Leary was not there.

* Do you recollect any particular conversation
with Hart there ?

" Mr. MNally —My lords, I object to this
evidence. The witness has sworn, that Leary
was not present, and therefoe no conversa-
tion can be evidence.

" Mr. Prime Serjeant.—I have the authority
of this Court for this evidence upon the for-
mer trial.

Mr. Baron George.—That came out upon
the cross-examination.

Mr. Prime Serjeant.—When did you dis-
cover all you have told, and why and to
whom ?—I told it to Mr. Cowen in Grafton-
W:Velt\' did tell itA—I

y di itA~In consequence of
what Hart u’;ﬁ' me. e

* What wds that?

Mr. M¢Nally.—T object to that question.

Mr. Prime Serjeant.—This is not to affect
the prisoner. - Surely, the witness may tell
what was his motive.

Court.—The private conversation between
him and Hart was objected to upon the former
trial, and refused to be admitted upon the di-
rect examination. It afterwards came out
upon the cross-examination. Any motive or
avowal by Hart ifi the absence of is not
evidence.

* Mr. Prime Serjeant.—When was the meet-
ing at Teole’s?—On thel&hmlay ofaﬁer. «

as tbere any general proposal ind
"SR L o .

r. — to that.

Ms. Justice CAumberiain—We are of opi-
nion, that aH acts done "at general meetings
are evidence ; but the private declarations of
an individual, nut communicated to the body,
or at all adopted by it, are not evidence.

Mr Prime Serjeant~Was there any gene-
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ral proposal made to the meeting ?—Coffey
wanp' to know, what namber ongefemhn
were in Dublin, that they might have officers.

Was there any money collected —None,
gut t'v:o-peace a piece for the beer that was

rank.

Was there any proposal, or demand for
money at Plunket-street ?7—I was asked for
slx-peuc;. ?—To buy powder

For what purpose P—To A ‘

Was there any money given ?—I said I had
none. Kenn‘ﬁi gave me a shilling; 1 laid
it down and up six-pence and gave it to
Kennedy.

What brought you to Plunket-street?—
Brady and Kennedy brought me there. They
said they were all Defenders.

Court.—Was there any signal made use of ?
—No, there was not.

William Lawler cross-examined by Mr.
M¢Nally,

You have sworn, that believe in God.
Have ?yox& made a;)y tion to the con-
trui— ever. I was at a meeting with
Galland, John Burke, and Le Blanc, who
would wish to me, that there wasno
Saviour. But ] never heard any one say, or
deny, that there wasa God. .

And you always, I presume, have held a
contrary doctrine P

Court —He is not bound to answer that
question.

Mr. M*Neally.—In the ecase of the King .
Taylor, Peake’s N. P. 11, a witness was asked
as to his belief in Jesus Christ, that was nos
thought a proper question. But to ask him
as to his belief of a God is a legal question.®

You said you were tanght to believe in the
Protestant religion, and that there was a Sa-
vio;r ?—I was. wddo dsere

ave you always, you yet to
those opinions l'—ys'l‘bese men, whom I mene
tioned before, had with their dottrine almost
retsuaded me, that there was no Saviour, but
saw since through it. vt

You mentioned the names ¢f Galland and
Jobn Burke; why did you not mention the
Christian name of Galland? As you are &
Christian, do you not kniow the Christian natne
of Galland ?—T1 do not know. ‘

Are there not two persons of that name —
There are; the man I speak of was an em

graver. :
You bave seen through all their false doc-
trine. How loog have you been converted A—
Since that time ; three quarters-of a year.
Was il since you gave information to alder-
len James, o&beﬁ)re 2—It was before. ol
ou were a Christian beforéyou weat
derman James?—VYes, ° ’
Is that the truth Pt is.-
You were bred a carver and gilder ?—I was,

* See Phillipp’s Law of Evideace,-pp. 28
19, 20, Srd edit.. And Peake's Law-of EVi-
dence, 155, ¢f seq : 4th edit, -
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- To whom did.you serve time ?—1 was
bound to Mr. Rmson in &?l:gu-green.

Does he now live in Capel-streetP—I have
seen the name over a shop there, but I.do
mwm he is the man, or owner of

Do yl:u not believe, that the Jack Robinson,
who formerdy lived in College-green, and the
Jack Robinson in Capel-street is the same
person —F believe s0.

Have you never seen him in Capel-street?—
I might, or not in that shop.

Do you pot know, as a gilder, every man of
eminence in that line keeping a shop.?—I do
Dot recollect ever seeing at that place, the
namee of Robinson up, ouly that time.

Do you believe there are two Cowens car-
rying on the same business in Dublia ?—There
are; himself and his son.

They live in one house ?—As 1 hear.

If there were anothes, should you not hear
of it?—1 believe so.

And by the same rule should you not know,
if there were two of the name of Robinson ?—
1 bave heard he is the same person. -

How long did you live with him ?—About

How long were you bound to serve him P—
Seven years. '
‘Then you served anly three out of seven 1—
Thatis all.
. You were a confidential servant to him ?—
" e bad Lhreys a good epition of ‘
o ways a epinion of you as an
bonest and fu’r young mani—I cannot say
that he had at one time, or he would not
base dome what he did.. .
What was that?—He gave mea good horse-

whipping. .

. ’d’?m!l dndm any <harge upon your inte-

grity i—He did. .

- What'was the ?—There werec women
by
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Were you nevér charged with stealing 2
punch-lmfle from Champion ?—Never. -
Wers l;¥on never with stealing a
punch-ladle, which your mistress sent by you.
to a silversmith }—No.
You are an excellent workman P—I cannot

say. -
What made you leave Robinson?—In con-
sewax:nce of that leathering. o
w soon nfuir ‘gdou leftﬂe r. Robinso‘l;‘, did
you to En ?—.After serving the re-
mainsoer of my gme to Williamson in%uﬂon-
street I went to Gallagher, he haviug spoken
1o me before I was owt of my lime.
Court.——Did Robinson assign your inden-
tures ?—I 'was informed he ran away.
di er. M:Nally.—You weat to England?—I
id.
And were a member of the Corresponding
Society P—Yes, :
Did you honour that society with the name
of Lawier?—~No, .
What then ?—With the name of Wright.
What Christian name }—William Weight,
What was your mative for changing you -
?une ?—I bad listed in the 29th regiment « .
oot. -
How long did you remain with that reg. .
ment ?—About a month,
I\”ou were un‘_uueutec_l soldier ?—n-ll \v%. igl )
y. virtue of  your integrily, Mr. Wrgh
Lawler, when yog deserted, did you not breal .
the cath you had taken ?—I do not know wha
oath I took ; but 1 took one. !
After you had deserted, you went into the
Corrmonding Society by the name of Wright?
—I did. -
- Where
met in Bi street.
- Was that the.division you belonged to?-
es. -
Did they meet ia the dsy, or in the night

did it usually meet?—One division

who wsed to work gilding business over | —In the evening.
ﬂnﬁm%&nﬂtbemnm’mgin\lw Is uot Bis one of the mot
T00m over up stairs. There wese some | public streets in London ?—1It is a wide street
small frames mi . Mr. Twiggandone | And a great thol fare 7—There are :
Ryan were called the gilding:room, and | great many passtbere ; but Cheapside is mor.
had somecon n; Mss. Robinson called | public.
me to go to the master for a shilling, and I| After you descried, you went to London to
that afierwasds Twigg informed | conoeal yourself P—I did live these.
him, I was listeni I eaid I was not; they | You went there publicly ?—I cannot sey
brought me wp charged me with taking | publicly, because there was not one ia a hun-
thoso things. I demiod it. Mr. Robinson | dred who knew me. '

brought up a rattan with a fersule uponiit, and
hchgonme. Inthe-evening Mrs. Robinson
brought me some supper. I.could not take it
at the time and got my things and went away ;
T went to a woman, who hal nursed me, and
the in the house not hearing me, I slept
in little-house - all. night, when the
moen went.out in the marning, I told the wo-
man what happened betwscn me and Jack
Robinson

Was that the .only chasge against you?—
Tt was sll,
g: you forgat the punch-ladle, Mr. Lawier ?

\

Did you walk the streets publicly, or go in
a sedan-chair to. the -society ¥—No, nor in a
hackney-coach.

You have led a remarkable life, since you
came to Dublin ?—An honest life ; I never
cheated any man.. e .

How long is it since you were wounded ?—
The Philanthropic Society, Burke, Le Blanc,
Flood, and several mase were together: a
man belonging to Ringsend, 1 can't thiok of
his name, was i custody in a watch-house,
and they agread pu.a mosting to go therc and
take him out, which we did, and ove Thomp-
won, who hada banger, cut me when I weat in.

)

s
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Court.—Was he a man of the watch '—No:
—one of the society.

Mr. M Nally. — Who instituted that so-
ciety?—I acquainted Burke I had mede up
my ten.

yW:‘edyewnonherootﬁmvhichitspmgi
—I up my ten.
d_rhom the proposal for the rescue?—I

1ds

Were you armed as well as the rest ?—I

was,

With what »—Pistols.

How many —-Four.

How mapy ball cartridges had you at that
time ?—Not one.

Were there any shots fired that night ?—
There was a pistol fired.

Who fired 1t?

Witness.—Am I to answer.

Court.—You are not bound to criminate
yoursclf,

Mr. M*Nally.—Do you know who fired the
pistal ?—1 do.

Do choose to answer !—If your lord-
shlr ink I am bound to criminate myself, I
will answer,

Court .--You are not bound to answer to
crihn;ina‘&e ’rself. the

r. M¢Nall ~~Was P"m
of the pollce?l’lwoe that

taken out
night?~1 did pot

see him that night, but I heard he was taken | did
out.

When you heard the shot, you scampered
oft?—I did not scamper off,

Why dldJ:u leave the place ?---Beosuse 1
was cut in the hand.

Who generally acted as ident of the
Philanthropic and Telegraphic Societies ?—
Sometimes one and sometimes another.

Did you know a man of the name of Lawler
there ?~-1 believe I did.

Who was trezsurer ?-—I was to one division.

On your oatl:d was not tlf:; tll:rihmhmpic
Socicty instituted original), purpose of
r;nding. and ‘\y%:e" there l;{;gr:ut;;m tions for
the purpoee o ing a i It was to
actesa Phxlanthmp:g Society, that was the
name they put on it, as lovers of mankind.

Were they to murder on:upcrt of their fel-
low subjects P—They wero all ready to do what
the Telegraphic would do.

Was not the Philanthropic Society dissolved
in consequence of a sanguinary proposal made

by a person ?—The Phllantbrc}ncs were to
meet at Nowlan's on the 23rd of August, the
same day the Defenders were to meet in
Cork-street.

You were 2 member of both societies—
which were you to mcet that day ?-~I went
to Dry,

You went to the Defenders 2>—After I went
there, Dry, Coffey and Kemmedy went with
me to Nowlan’s,

Did you not leave the Philanthropic se.
ciety because they would not doan injury P
Ne

Was not that socialy institated for the par-
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pose of improvement?--Burke :x:l Ls Bianc
roposed reading, writing, learning

E‘rench, which cger they choss, and they

subscribed to buy paper~But it was a closk,

for if any one came in, they could do notbi

to them, as they were only learning to

and write. )

Court..--They were to learn French—-They

were.
Was it through Le Blanc ?.—-He was to have

ulﬁbt i, .

t. M*Nally.—~You wers treasurer to this

society >—Yes: to the Philanthropics; ome

part of it. .
Were you ever examined as a witness ina

co\llqnofjusticebefou the trisl of Weldon ?

—No.

Never in England ?—No, sir.

Was therc ever a charge exhibited against
you in England }—No.

Do you remember the transsction of the
%mmr—mﬂe is not a man in Bog-
land, who would notgive me a good character
as to that.

Were i‘ou evor charged with swealing a
watch P-- Never.

With stealing any thing >—But by Ro-
binson

.

Did_Gallagher throw out any imputation
as to integrity P---I do notmgllecn!uthe

Did you neve; h{]‘r' that h:nowlmed any
charge upon you !-—Not to m ge.

Did :qgotber be, nor his w{fe?—'ﬂwy did
not: afler I left him, he gave me = great
quantity of goods, Mrs. Gallagher said it
was better to keep a trotting-horse than a
gilder, ‘he used so much coals and candles.

Was there any charge of cruelty exhibited
sgainst you in that family I never did any
“t\ﬁ")f cm" charge mad i ?

as there no o ngm you ?—

No. Ifldid, 1 do not think

would give

me‘: stroke of work. b )
ere you never with putting out
an old fm’s eye >—There ‘'was a small

bottle nf eye water, and it was said thero was
spirit of turpentine put iuto it. I was inno-
Y ou have s the priscmer

ou have sai i was not peesent
at Plunket-street i1 did.

What part of Stoneybatter, was the meet.
in& in ?—The corner of Arbour-hill.

s it not at this side of the may-pole?—Ido
not know where the poleis. .

There wasan oath proposed to a person un-
known, did you never ses him afier ?---Never
to my knowledge.

Did you before P—-Never.

Did you ever inquise his nsme ?---No. .

Had you seen that evening before ?
~--Not to my knv'lodtg:. .

Did you see him that evening afier?—In
the course of the wesk sfter.

But after the meeting broke up did. you see
him #---No. - ..

lie was a little in liquor ?—Yes. -
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You were near ‘the doer ; how nesr was he
%0 you?i--1 do not know whether he was in
the room at the time the oath was put.

And you do not knew whether ha heard
the oath put ?--No. .

Nor whether he saw the signs you men-
tioned. Will you swear he was in the room
at the moment the oath was taken i---No.

Youdid not hear the oath ?—No. .

How came it that you heard what Hart said,
and did not hear the oath ?-~There were two
wigdows in the room, and some gotinto the
windows to prevent xleople from looking in,
and some got round him and the stranger.

You were armed ?—Yes.

Where did you carry your arms ?-—-My sword
was under my coat, and l;’istols were in my
pocket. I was desired to bring them

They were concealed i—They were.

Did you take them out P——1I opened my coat
to show them.

Did every onein the room see the arms ?——
Hart did, and several saw the arms, because 1
opened my cost and showed them.

Was any_person armed but you?—
Th;y said they were not.

ou believe what they said ?---1 do.

There was s man there armed with a fiddle ?
—~There was a fiddle playing in the house; I
think it was up stairs.

Nat in the room where you were ?---No.

Where was the house broke that you
spoke of 2—On one side of Blackhorse-lane.

}Vu that matter ever made public?—Not
a9 1 saw.

Nu roward by the owner of it?—Notas I
AW,

Did you ever make any inquiry sbout it,
or the neme of the pemnm:‘booe house it
was?—No I did not inquire. The day Leary
and I were out, he showed me a house at the
right hand, where they had been. There was
& gate opposite to us, and they went over that
gate to the house.

You did not mention a word of this upon
your direct examination ?—X was not as
to that.

You were sworn 80 tell the whole trdh f--1

told nothing else.

When you upon the former trisl,
did you say a word aboutthis house? Did you,
or did you not I did not, but I know it.

3 Ahing of what oo Havs i, when you
an w ve w,
me’;'m‘;fi[ t:::l, Blury':: was expe‘lll;’d ﬁ-omyt::

. Bt did you say sny thing as to Burke's
proceedings?—No, I was notadked, -

Do you ' recoll ;:tmbng 4 0 the last

respecti
f b _ma‘“'&ﬁmﬁmu  Wel-

o—but 3l
dom told ma-when I took ¢he tess, that if the
king's head was off. toamorrow, those was an

end of surallagiance: . :: : .
Did you not - there Wwas a time you
thought littleof kiliuig the hing A ¢ the ine

the oath was put.
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How often have you tendered the oath
yourself ?

Witness.—What oath ?

Have you not been in the habit of admi-
nistering oaths?—At the times the philan-
thropic met in High-street, there was some
little boys carrying about the books. I swore
them not to divulge the secrets of the society,
nor withdraw themselves from it.

Were they members of it 2—They were.
Did you ever administer an ocath, not to
ve evidence against any of the society ?—
urk swore the ten, but I do not remember
what the oath was.

I d@:urt.—Did you swear those little boys ?—

id.

Mr. M‘Nally—Do you recollect sweari
one of these boys with a pistol to his bmutng

[The witness did not answer.]

Have you sworn against any of these litile
boa ?—m not recollect that I did.
ill you swear you did mot?~I cannet
swear that,
You can swear the facts without an inten-
tion of remembering what you swear to.

[Witness did not answer this question,| -

But you do not remember, whether you
have sworn against these little boys or not?
0k you this, ba

ask you ve you not sworn a t
deal, that you do not remember?—I “og:a [ Y
great deal at the Philanthrepic society.

Court—~Do you mean what you swore

here, or 1nformation before the
m{-— o; but what I swore utllem
ic .
Mg. M Have you not sworn s great

deal before the magistrate in your inforura-
tion, that you do not remember this day ?—I
do not think I ever swore Brady, or Kennedy,

or Flood, or Coffey to that.
You gave mznmtwm before & magls-
trate I—I did.
You swore to them: Now, do you remem-
ber, as you sit upon the table, every thing
ou hn;:e*s‘wom in those informations aguinst
[
Or what you have sworn aguinet any of
them ?—Yes, I do recollect.
Do you remember the name of every per~
SR you swore againstf—I do, .
Now mention the names of the little boys
%0 whom you administered oathe ?—I cannot,
Recollect the names of the little boys you
swore?—There is one lives in Castle-street ;
there wasa many, and' I did not know
their names at that time.
Did you-everswear a Philanthropic, a Tele-
hic, or a Defender, never to give evidence
against any member M—At the Telegrapliic so-
ciety, Burke and a great many more were
present; one of the men wanted 10 swear
the members present, and wemt down and
brmiht op s book i two or'threo were sworn,
and he, desired Tue to takeup the book and
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swear, but as I had it in my band, they de-
sired me to stop, for they would not admit
the oath to go round.

Do you recollect the trial of Jackson® in
this country ?—I do.

You recollect a particular witness of the
name of Cockayne + upon that trial ?—1I do.

I ask you on your oath, do know of
any design aguinst the life of nel—
There was .E.Blanc, the Frenchman, the
nieht before Juckson'’s prosecution, and 2 man
who lived in Capel-street, belonging to the
Philanthropic, knocked up against my win-
dow. My wife got up, and asked, who was
e By Bl o b w2
clothes, and 1 any w ns, to brin
them out. I did so. ’l‘hegv tme we sboulg
stop Cockayne from appearing
son. We went to a house at Stephen’s-green,
in the way leading to Leesou-street, where he
said Mrs. Jackson lived—he desired us to
wait till he came back. He went in, and
when he returned, said, Cockayns bad been
there, but was gone. He then weat for Wal-
ler, and brought him. We were walking up
and dowa the street better than two hours,
waiting for Cockayne.

Court.—What was the name of the other
man ?—I do not recollect; he lived ia Capel-
stroet. We got a glass of punch, before we
went to the green.

Who went into the house ?—Le Blanc. We
went aflerwards to Henry-street, to a house
which Le Blanc pointed out, where he said
Cockayus hdﬁadup stairs, and said he would
get in over a hittle glass case: he desired us
20 walk up and down the street, .till he went
for Waller. Ile and Waller returned. After
he valul:gd back\amitli8 ltlmd forwudhefor son;‘e
time, seeing no light up stai t
Cockayne had %ot come tlger?nw e were for
two hoursand a half. Le Blanc said, if he
could see him, h;:ould take hxg“mft :f the

, t0 prevent hisappearing. t if he was
killed, and the Court shuul‘(ﬁmow it, the in-
{ormsf ktionshlgdhad l:eex:h‘(:lomd be rﬂd:hi):t
if we kept him, id not appear, -
800 wuﬂl be acquitted.

You were present, and were one of that
party which went first for the purpose of as-
sassinaling the man, and aflerwards deter-
mined it would be better to keep him con-
fined?>—I do Dot say we went for that pur-

pose. .
You were one of the pasty ?—There were
four of us,

. Mention their names?—The man who
lives in Capel-street, the left hand side, he is
a coach-maker, (Le Blanc) and Waller, who
works al Jackson’s foundery in Church- street,
and myself. . VTt
- Mr.” Prime Serjeant.~Wheresbouts in

® See it, GM?.,VOL 2/, p-783.. -

+ See his evidence on the trial of Jackson,
antd, Vol. 5, p. 815, and his evidence on the
tial of Willism Stone; enté, Vol. 26, p. 1983.

Trials of the Defeonders=

inst Jack- | Y

tsie
Capel-strest does this man live? —He

in Capel-street with his mother, on thejeft.

side, In a gate-way. .
w i1s his mother's name?—I do not

know.

What part of Capel-street is it in? is it be-
tween Essex-bridge, and Mary's-abbey, or
near where the lotiery is drawn ?—I canoot

u‘ou know where the lottery is drawn?l—

Yes; itis this side of the lottery. :
Where did Le Blanc live’—In Golden-
He was an embroiderer ?—Yes. .
Court.—You mentioned that at the meet-

ing in Stoneybatter, Hart said aloud, the

object was to get arms to assist the Freach?—
es.

Was Leary present at that time, or not?—
I cannot say.

One of the Jury—You say, that Hart de-
sired such as had not arms, to go home and
get arms. ‘Therefore 1 conceive, you were the
only person armed,and the others went home
for the purpoee of xﬂi arms?—J was the
only person armed, that I know of. Hart de-
sired them to go for arms, and not findin
them return, he desired those who remuinétf,
to put their hands upon the table. .

ow many remained >——About fourteen. -

How many went away ?— At the time the
young man wassworn, there were iwenty in

the room.

Then there were but six who went for
arms ?—When Hart desired those .who re-
mained 10 lay their hands on the table, 1
beckoned to Walsh, and he came out, but said,
he had a naggin of punch to pay for. I went
home and was afterwards informed that they

w om‘th Stoneyba thal

as the prisoner at tier t
ight }—~He :u there,
as he present at the time, the ocath
was sworn upon the table?—Not that [
know of.

Was the pri ever sworn as & Defender ?

-a:lot as nmf, but whenever ::d met in
streets, he to make sigus, shake
hands as Defenders do.

Bat you never heard him sworn #—Naever.

Mr. M*Nally.—My lords, I omitted Lo exs-
mine the witness as-to the papers: upon the
former :::h his evidence went to show they.
were i upon Kennedy, but notbing
more.

Court.—Examine him. .

Mr.M‘Nally.—~How often have you .seem
these papers tw-Very often..

Can you take upon you 1o swear who mrole

these papers?—To the best of my belief it .

was Hanlon. e
- Did:yéutever see Hanlon write?—No. .
Can youn swear. whose wtiting they ate from
haviog seen;any person write ’-—No.
Is there any private mark upes Ahese
paﬁn?-’-»l would know them any where,
- Is that an answesi-l described -them to
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Ablderman- James, on account of their being
much tumbled.

I ask you, have you any private mark upon
these papers ?>—No.

Have you ever seen them in the
of any other ?—In the hands of Cetfey.

Did any one clse see them ?—George
Lewis,

Will you swear this is the identical paper,
which was in the hands of Weldon, which
you saw in the hands of Kennedy, and in the
hands of Coffey ?~The very paper.

From what mark can you say that, and
that it is not a paper wrote by the same per-
son ?—I took particular notice, at the time
Weldon swore me of the hand the papers
were wrote in, and that they were damaged.

If the same man who wrote these papers,
wrote duplicates, and that they were damaged,
would you swear to them P—1I believe these
are the papers.

Mr. Attorney General.—Upon what occa-
sion did you see thcrsapers in the hands
of Coffey ?——Sunday 23rd of August, when we
wete ot Dry’s in Cork-street, Coffey swore

Lewis upon them, and Kennedy put
them in his breeches fob.

Alderman James sworn.—Examined by Mr,
Saurin,

sion

Do you recollect having received informa-
tion of any papers being in the custody of any
person ?—I do.

From what person ?—From the witness who
is just gone off the table.

Of what papers ¥—He told me of the De-
fernders-oath? that T would, find it

Mr. M Nally.—My lords, 1 object to this.

If the magistrate took down the information,

the writing should h:r{)roduced

Witness.—I had written a memorandum of
it, but do not know what I did withit. I
g;e a co]t?r of it to Mr. Carleton, and fnve

“directions to search Kennedy's fob fora
particular paper.

Mr. Sewrin.---On what day were those in-
formations given I believe on the 2rth or
28th of August last.

Did you ever issue a warrant to apprehend
Lllv)vola i ktelf ?—No. of bis be

you know any thin, is being appre-
hendedf—f;ll.e' etn{c onslzumrda %m 4 of
Angust, was particular in taking a me-
morendum of thnt,p:nd gave me infonrghmion
of several Defenders.

Do you know the circumetances of Lawler's

appreheaded ?—1 do.
were they?—He came to me on
Setnday evening and asked my advice or
oplnioty——*~

Ceurt —This private conversation is not

evidenoe. :

Mr. Soliciter ‘General —My lords; where
it is necessary to show that the witness came

Court —That appearsalready from the testi-
muby of the witiiess bimself.

John Leary for High Treason.

A. D. 1795. - (818

Where was it that Lawler was apprehended ?
~1 believe at Crumlin, I was so fatigued my-
self after the severe duty that week, that I
sent to Messrs. Godfrey and Atkinson to ar-
rest the people assembled at Crumlin.

Oliver Carleton, eeq. sworn,—Examined by
Mr. Kells.

Did you receive any directivns from alder-
man James, with respect to Kennedy ?

Mr. M‘Nolly—My lords, I submit that no
evidence can he given with regard to Kennedy,
who is not upon_ his trial.

Mr. Justice Chamberlain.—Recollect the
tendency of this examination. The witness
gave an account of these papers, that he
saw Coffey swear Lewis to these papers, and
that Kennedy took them up, and put them
into his fob. Surely if it appears they were
found there, it will be some evidence of the
identity of these papers, to go to the jury.

Mr. M*Nally.—My lords, there is no evi-
dence that the prisoner was sworn upon these

TS,
t. Attorney General.—The only object of
Mr. Carleton’s testimony is to let in these
E:pers to be read. What effect they may
ve is anothér question.
Mr. Kells.—Where did you find these
papers >—In the fob of Kenuedy’s breeches.
low came you to search there P—By the
particular ditections of alderman James.
These are the papers ?—They are.

John Atkinson csq. sworn.—Examined by Mr.
Ruzton.

Did you hold any office in this city?—Yes,
sir, constable of the south division.
Did you ﬁet any directions in August last
to apprehend any person?—I did.
Did you execute those orders?—I did.
Whom did you apprehend, and where ?—1I
went to Crumlin, and apprehended five
people, Lawler was one of them.
on took him by the directions of alderman
James P—Yes.
Court.—~Was it so far as Crumlin ?..-It was
near it. ]
Cross-examined by Mr. M Nally.

Crumlin is in the county of Dublm ?—I be-
lieve so.

William Finnegan sworn.~-Examined by Mr.
icitor General,

Where did you live in August last?~In a
place called the Black-quarry-road, in the
neiighbourhood of Stoneybatter: near hand
toit.

There is a road intervening between your
house and Blackhorse-lane ?~-There is a lane,
bat it does not go through. I am nearerGlass-
nevin than Blackhorse-lane.

Was your house ever robbed ?.--It was.

About what time?---1 do not’ know: it
might;be ‘in August, the beginning of the
month, .

$
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* ‘There were some arms takon out }~-There

was.

Have you a bell in your house ?—I have.

Mention what happened at the time of the
robbery -—-It was on Sunday night; that I am
certain of, though the witness said it was
Monda
alarmed me was throwing stones at a window ;
I got out of bed: they &rew 0 hard against
the window, I was afraid of openingit. They
then broke the pannel of the door, and I de-
.sircd the woman to ring the bell,

" Where is the bell situated ?-—In t::dyud,
there is a rope through the house, the
woman rung it from withinside.

Were there arms taken ?—A brass barreiled
blunderbuss, and a fusee, and a couple of
pistols.

What is become of your nephew who was
in the house that night ?~-I do not know : he
made examinations of that: I saw him swear
the examinations.

He swore to the arms ?—1 do not know, I
was not present, when the examinations were
drawn. <

The arms were produced to him P—No, they
were produced to me. .

Did you hear, during the time of the rob-

bery, any person complaining of the ringin
g:'o til;'e be{l ??—When I went out, the door biing

) e
Mr. MNaily.--+ I object to this as illegal
evidence.

Mr. Solicitor General—Did you hear any
conversation going on, while the robbery was
committing >---Not while the robbery was
going on, I did not.

Did you hear the persons say any thing ?—
One of the persons asked me, why I rung the
bell ; I said the reason was, to prevent myself
from being robbed.

Cross-examined by Mr. M¢Nally.

You say it was a woman was ringing the
bell. —It was,

Had she lived with you any time ?—She had.

Who else was in the house?—A little boy,
and my nephew.

Where was the boy ?—In bed.

Where was the nephew?.--He was up,
and threw the blunderbuss out of the window
and it was broke, which displeased them.

The blunderbuss that was broke was yours?
—It was,

Then the door was not broke open by a
blunderbuss ?--No, but by the axle-tree of a
cart.

Who was in the room with the woman who
mg& the bell?- - She was in the kitchen.

as your ne&hew ill-treated that night by
.any person 7—No.

His heels were not knocked from under
him ?—-No.

He never rung the bell that night ?.~No,
he did not.

., What night was this rabbery?.--Elcven
o’clock on Sunday night.’

or Tuesday. The first thing that | trial,

Tvials of the Defendrs— ‘peo
[The papers were then offered to be Tead]

Mr. 34Nally.—My lords, these are
not evidenceto goto the jury. y swnd
in a very different situntion from what they
did when they were read upon the fermer.
ial, or I not make the objection, be-
cause I consider myself bound to submit to
every rule laid down by this Court. R does
not appear that those papers were ever in the

jon of the prisoner, that they were over
shown to him, or ever read in his hearing. It
does not appear, that these papers the

prisoner we